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Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements

The discussions in this Annual Report on Form 10-K (“Annual Report”), as well as in our other filings with the Securities and Exchange 
Commission (the “SEC”) and other written and oral information we release, contain forward-looking statements within the meaning of federal securities 
laws. These forward-looking statements include, but are not limited to, statements concerning our future operating results and financial position, our 
strategy, expectations regarding demand and acceptance for our products, services and technologies, growth opportunities and trends in the markets in 
which we operate, future impacts to our business as a result of economic and market conditions, expected cost reductions, benefits and synergies related to 
our acquisitions and management’s plans and objectives. The words “anticipate,” “believe,” “could,” “estimate,” “expect,” “intend,” “may,” “plan,” 
“project,” and “will,” and similar expressions are intended to identify forward-looking statements, although not all forward-looking statements contain 
these identifying words. 

We may not actually achieve the plans, intentions or expectations disclosed in our forward-looking statements and you should not place undue 
reliance on them. Actual events or results could differ materially from the plans, intentions and expectations disclosed in the forward-looking statements 
that we make. These forward-looking statements involve risks and uncertainties that could cause our actual results to differ materially from those in the 
forward-looking statements, including, without limitation, the risks set forth in Part I, Item 1A, “Risk Factors” in this Annual Report and in our other filings 
with the SEC. Forward-looking statements speak only as of the date they are made, and we do not undertake to update these statements other than as 
required by law.

When we refer to “Verra Mobility,” the “Company,” “we,” “us,” or “our” in this Annual Report, we are referring to Verra Mobility Corporation and 
its consolidated subsidiaries.
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PART I

Item 1. Business 

Overview
We are a leading provider of smart mobility technology solutions throughout the United States, Australia, Europe and Canada. We make 

transportation safer, smarter and more connected through our integrated, data-driven solutions, including toll and violations management, title and 
registration services, automated safety and traffic enforcement and commercial parking management. We bring together vehicles, hardware, software, data, 
and people to solve transportation challenges for customers around the world, including fleet owners such as rental car companies (“RACs”) and fleet 
management companies (“FMCs”), governments, universities, parking operators, healthcare facilities, transportation hubs and other violation-issuing 
authorities.

Our vision is to develop and use technology and data intelligence to make transportation safer, smarter and more connected.

Segments 
Our solutions are offered through three segments: (i) Commercial Services, (ii) Government Solutions and (iii) Parking Solutions.

Commercial Services 
 

Our Commercial Services segment generated approximately $326.0 million in revenue for 2022, or approximately 44.0% of our total revenue. We 
believe that our Commercial Services segment is the market-leading provider of automated toll and violations management and title and registration 
solutions to RACs, FMCs and other large fleet owners in North America. In Europe, our Commercial Services segment provides violations processing 
through Euro Parking Collection plc (“EPC”) and consumer tolling services through Pagatelia S.L.U. (“Pagatelia”). We have long-standing relationships 
with, among others, the three largest RACs in the United States, Avis Budget Group, Enterprise Holdings, Inc. and The Hertz Corporation. We also have 
relationships with key European RACs and the five largest FMCs in the United States. Through our established relationships with individual tolling 
authorities throughout the United States, we provide an automated and outsourced administrative solution for our customers while also providing a value-
added convenience for vehicle drivers and benefits to the tolling and issuing authorities. Our toll and violations management solutions help ensure timely 
payment for tolls and violations incurred by our customers’ vehicles and perform timely transfers of liability on our customers’ behalf, and billing and 
collecting from the driver as applicable. We also manage regional toll transponder installation and vehicle association, a critical and highly complex process 
for RAC and FMC customers, to ensure that the transponder (and corresponding toll transactions) are associated with the correct vehicle.
 

Government Solutions 

Our Government Solutions segment generated approximately $336.7 million in revenue for 2022, or approximately 45.4% of our total revenue. We 
believe our Government Solutions segment is the market-leading provider of automated safety solutions in the United States, Canada and Australia to state 
and local governments. In the United States, we provide government agencies with road safety cameras to detect and process traffic violations for red-light, 
speed, school bus, and city bus lanes. Our proprietary hardware and software technologies provide government agencies the information, data, and 
automated end-to-end administrative capabilities to enforce traffic violations through photo enforcement. On behalf of our customers, we install, maintain, 
and manage automated safety solution hardware and software that processes event data, applies customer specific rules and connects a traffic violation to 
the responsible driver or vehicle owner. Additionally, upon law enforcement’s determination that a violation has occurred, we offer an “end-to-end” 
solution to manage the citation mailing, billing, and other administrative tasks on behalf of our customers. For many international customers, we design, 
engineer, and maintain roadside photo enforcement technology, including both hardware and software, which is sold or licensed to government agencies 
and often maintained with maintenance contracts to support the technology.
 
Parking Solutions
 

We formed our Parking Solutions segment after our acquisition of T2 Systems Parent Corporation (“T2 Systems”) in December 2021. This segment 
generated approximately $79.0 million in revenue for 2022, or 
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approximately 10.6% of our total revenue. Our Parking Solutions segment is a North American leader of end-to-end commercial parking management 
solutions in the markets we serve. This segment serves over 2,000 customers in the university, municipal, healthcare and commercial operator markets. Our 
proprietary software and hardware technologies provides our customers with solutions needed to manage and monetize parking and enforcement 
operations. In 2022, we processed over 163 million transactions using our various parking solutions systems. Each need requires technology solutions for 
parking access and revenue control, single- and multi-space pay stations, integrated physical and mobile payments, back-office parking rate management, 
permit issuance and management, online citation payment, event parking, occupancy, and back-office management of violations, amongst other 
requirements.

Markets and Competition

There is no single competitor that provides a similarly broad suite of solutions across our business segments. However, in our Government Solutions 
segment, we face competition in certain automated safety solutions from other vendors in the areas of red-light, school bus, speed and bus lane photo 
enforcement. In our Commercial Services segment, we face competition from both our own customers, who may choose to invest in their own internal 
solutions, and vendors offering or seeking to offer new technologies or financial models, and we must continue to innovate to remain competitive. In 
Parking Solutions, we face competition from a variety of segment-specific competitors in our markets in the United States and Canada.

Tolling 

The tolling industry is highly fragmented and complex, as it is comprised of more than 80 tolling operators with specific coverage regions and 
disparate technology platforms, processing requirements and business rules. We believe that as state and local governments fund a growing list of 
infrastructure, maintenance and construction projects, there will be an increase in the number of toll roads, including new express and high occupancy lanes 
in urban areas. We expect this trend will also increase utilization of dynamic tolling, which allows toll rates to fluctuate based on traffic trends and real-time 
congestion. In addition, 95% of toll road transactions in the United States are cashless or all-electronic payment. We believe that these trends create sizable 
opportunities for us to expand our tolling market presence while developing relationships with tolling authorities. 

Commercial Fleet 

Our Commercial Services customers consist of RACs, FMCs and other large fleet owners. The approximately $36 billion United States RAC 
industry is highly consolidated, with three companies, with which we have long-standing relationships, accounting for a significant majority of United 
States RAC revenues in 2022. We believe that the above-mentioned trends toward the use of toll roads additionally create significant opportunities for us to 
expand our fleet market presence while developing relationships with both new and existing RACs, FMCs, and other fleet consumers.

Automated Safety 

As cities and municipalities wrestle with the evolving challenges of managing traffic congestion, road safety and accessible transportation networks, 
automated enforcement solutions continue to serve as an effective tool for comprehensive safety and mobility initiatives. In 2020, the Congressional 
Research Service found cameras to be an effective tool for law enforcement and other agencies to reduce the number of traffic-related violations, collisions, 
injuries and fatalities, and the American Association of State Highway and Transportation Officials has called on states to support greater use of automated 
speed enforcement. New York City’s Automated Speed Enforcement Program 2014-2020 Report, noted a 72% average reduction in dangerous speeding at 
its fixed camera locations. Additionally, programs like Vision Zero, a collaborative campaign helping communities reach their goals of eliminating all 
traffic fatalities and severe injuries, across most major U.S. cities and around the world, are driving capital investment to make meaningful strides in traffic 
safety. Public attention given to traffic safety issues for drivers, pedestrians, children, bicyclists and law enforcement is intensifying and governments are 
facing shortfalls in transportation revenue. In this context, smart technology solutions have emerged as an effective and revenue-positive method to address 
traffic safety issues. We believe that as public focus intensifies, the demand for our Government Solutions offerings will grow as well, and that we are 
positioned to take advantage of these opportunities.

7



 

Parking
The parking industry consists of a highly fragmented mix of end customers, including universities, municipalities, private operators, healthcare 

providers and airports, among other industries. These customers each have different parking needs such as off-street parking, on-street parking, permits, 
enforcement and consumer engagement. T2 Systems has customer relationships with approximately 30% of higher education institutions in its target tiers, 
according to internal analysis. The broader parking market in which T2 System’s operates – North American municipalities, universities and healthcare 
providers – represents up to a $4 billion market according to a 2021 market estimate. Parking Solutions market segments are focused on strategies to offset 
costs in reaction to downturns caused by the COVID-19 pandemic and market participants are struggling to attract and retain labor.  At the same time, 
consumers are increasingly willing to adopt mobile solutions to simplify their transportation needs, creating market opportunities to advance self-service 
options. We believe that technology solutions that provide mobile-first, self-service offerings, improve operational efficiency, reduce reliance on parking-
related labor, and commercial models that reduce up-front costs provide solutions for market needs and establish a long-term operating model.

Products 

Commercial Services 

Toll management solutions

We provide fully outsourced toll management solutions for our fleet owner customers, including RACs and FMCs, while also providing a value-
added convenience for vehicle drivers via our established relationships and integrations with more than 50 individual tolling authorities throughout the 
United States. This comprehensive network allows RAC and FMC drivers the convenience of using cashless and all-electronic tolls. Additionally, this 
service helps prevent the liability and business disruption of costly toll violations incurred by vehicles owned by RAC and FMC customers and eliminates 
their need to manage a nationwide program internally. Our proprietary software technology and hardware allow us to effectively match a toll to the specific 
RAC or FMC vehicle and driver so that the toll can accurately and reliably be billed and collected on behalf of, or directly from, the RAC or FMC. Toll 
management solutions accounted for approximately 37.2% of our 2022 revenues. 

Violations management solutions

Our violations management solutions process violations incurred by the drivers of RAC and FMC vehicles by working with more than 8,000 
domestic violation-issuing authorities (more than 400 of which we are directly integrated with) to either pay the fine on behalf of the vehicle owner (for 
which we are able to bill the driver) or to transfer liability directly to the vehicle driver. Vehicle-issued violations include parking and photo enforcement 
violations. In Europe, we specialize in the identification, notification, and collection of unpaid traffic, parking and public transport related fees, charges, and 
penalties issued to foreign registered vehicles or persons on behalf of issuing authorities in 17 European countries. Violation management solutions 
accounted for approximately 4.6% of our 2022 revenues. 

Title and registration solutions

Our title and registration solutions provide RAC and FMC customers with an integrated, end-to-end solution for managing vehicle titles and 
registrations and annual renewals. We provide automated title and registration solutions by leveraging connections with individual departments of motor 
vehicles for electronic title and registration processing in 20 states. Title and registration solutions accounted for approximately 2.2% of our 2022 revenues. 

Government Solutions 

We serve as a value-add partner to government agencies by providing photo enforcement solutions that promote traffic safety and reduce traffic
violations. We work with our customers to identify problematic traffic areas and install, maintain and manage the technology platform needed to capture 
images or videos of drivers committing traffic violations. Red-light cameras are placed at intersections to capture vehicles running red lights. Similarly, 
speed safety cameras are used to capture vehicles exceeding speed limits, either on a fixed basis or in a mobile platform, and often in school zones. School 
bus cameras are fixed to the side of buses to capture vehicles passing school buses with extended stop arms. Finally, bus lane cameras are designed to 
capture vehicles illegally driving in restricted bus lanes. 
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For customers of our end-to-end solutions, we automatically send captured events to the designated enforcement agency of the customer, where an 
authorized individual determines if a violation occurred. Direct service revenue from red-light cameras, speed cameras, school bus cameras and city bus 
lane cameras accounted for approximately 38.3% of our 2022 revenues. Other segment service revenue consists primarily of ancillary revenue streams, 
which comprised 3.2% of total revenue. Product sales to customers are not recurring and are dependent on our customers’ needs, and account for 3.9% of 
total revenue. We expect product sales to be at levels below the preceding three years due to the completion of the New York City camera installation 
program in 2022
 
Parking Solutions
Parking Access and Revenue Control

Our Parking Access and Revenue Control (“PARCS”) technology solutions include both software and hardware offerings which work in concert to 
help our customers manage their gated, gateless and license plate recognition-based parking lot and parking garage needs. We have installed over 2,500 
PARCS lanes to date. Our related software is the industry’s original hosted parking management software, which allows management of our customers’ 
PARCS solutions from a computer or mobile device. 
Pay Stations

Our pay stations hardware technology has interoperability with over 50 third-party systems, as well as our PARCS and parking enforcement 
solutions. They are powered by a highly configurable and data driven software technology which supports the enforcement, mobile payments, and back-
office and accounting needs of our customers. Our fleet of Pay Stations hardware exceeded 16,800 units at December 31, 2022.
Permits & Enforcement

Our Permits & Enforcement (“PE”) software technology solutions allow our customers to control who is parking in their facilities and when and 
where drivers can park using physical or virtual permits, allowing customers to control traffic and maximize their parking-related revenues. This 
technology also provides enforcement officers with real-time information and custom notifications on their enforcement devices. Citations management 
features also help to organize fine escalations and notification letters to parking violators.

Intellectual Property 

We rely on a combination of patents, trademarks, trade secrets, copyrights and confidentiality agreements to protect our intellectual property. We 
take steps to protect new intellectual property to safeguard our ongoing technological innovations and strengthen our brand, and believe we take appropriate 
action against infringement or misappropriation of our intellectual property rights by others. We review third-party intellectual property rights to help avoid 
infringement, and to identify strategic opportunities. 

Our general policy is to seek patent protection for our inventions likely to be incorporated into our products and services or where obtaining such 
proprietary rights will improve our competitive position. We own approximately 82 U.S.- and foreign-issued patents and pending patent applications, 
including patents and rights to patent applications acquired through strategic transactions, which relate to various aspects of our products and technology. 
Our patent portfolio evolves as new patents are awarded to us and as older patents expire. Patents expire at various dates, generally 20 years from their 
original filing dates. While we believe that our portfolio of patents and applications has value, in general no single patent is essential to our business or any 
individual segment. In addition, any of our proprietary rights could be challenged, invalidated or circumvented, or may not provide significant competitive 
advantages. 

Our business relies on both internally developed and externally licensed software, as well as internally, externally and co-developed hardware, to 
operate and provide our systems and deliver our services. We claim copyright on all internally developed software. We generally rely on common law 
protection for our copyrighted works. In addition, we rely on maintaining source code confidentiality to assure our market competitiveness. With respect to 
externally sourced software and hardware, we rely on contracts to retain our continued access for our business usage. From time to time, these agreements 
may expire or be subject to renegotiation.

We have approximately 214 registrations and pending applications in the United States and foreign jurisdictions for trademarks and service marks, 
reflecting our many products and services. These registrations and applications include our historic and acquired brands, as well as Verra Mobility. These 
marks may have a perpetual life, subject to 
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periodic renewal and may be subject to cancellation or invalidation based on certain use requirements and third-party challenges, or on other grounds. We 
vigorously enforce and protect our marks. 

Government Regulation 

We are subject to various local, state and national laws, regulations and administrative practices regulating matters such as data privacy, photo 
enforcement, consumer protection, procurement, licensing requirements, anti-corruption, equal employment, minimum wages, workplace health and safety, 
human rights and the environment, among others. Our operations are subject to regulation by various U.S. federal agencies, including the U.S. Department 
of Transportation, (“USDOT”), the Federal Trade Commission, (“FTC”), the Federal Communications Commission, the Consumer Product Safety 
Commission and the Environmental Protection Agency, as well as comparable international, state and local agencies, including the departments of 
transportation, departments of motor vehicles, and offices of inspectors general, and laws related to financial and banking regulations. Following the 
acquisition of EPC, Pagatelia and Redflex Holdings Limited, now known as Redflex Holdings Pty Ltd. (“Redflex”), and in connection with our European 
expansion efforts, we are subject to laws, regulations and administrative practices addressing many of these same matters in Europe, Australia and Canada, 
including those specifically relating to accessing and use of information obtained from vehicle licensing authorities, as well as European regulations to 
traffic enforcement and collections and other financial and banking regulations. 

As part of our business, we collect, receive, process, use, transmit, disclose, and retain information relating to identifiable individuals (“personal 
information”) and, therefore, are subject to various laws protecting privacy and security of personal information, including but not limited to the U.S. 
Driver Privacy Protection Act, the General Data Protection Regulation (the “GDPR”) in the European Union (the “E.U.”), the Data Protection Act of 2018 
in the United Kingdom, the Canadian Personal Information Protection and Electronic Documents Act, the Australia Privacy Act of 1988, New Zealand’s 
Privacy Act of 2020, the California Consumer Privacy Act (the “CCPA”) and other national and state privacy laws. We are also subject to similar 
restrictions and audit requirements pursuant to our contracts with the organizations from which we gain access to personal information, such as departments 
of motor vehicles and the National Law Enforcement Telecommunications System. Privacy laws and regulations are constantly evolving and changing, are 
subject to differing interpretations and may be inconsistent among countries and state and local jurisdictions, or conflict with other rules. As we expand our 
operations in foreign countries, or as U.S. federal or state law changes, our liability exposure and the complexity and cost of compliance with data and 
privacy requirements will increase. Laws and practices regarding handling and use of personal and other information by companies have also come under 
increased public scrutiny, and governmental authorities, consumer agencies and consumer advocacy groups have called for increased regulation and 
changes in industry practices. Our foreign photo enforcement programs are also subject to regulation in the various countries in which we operate.

Automated photo enforcement camera programs in the United States are typically regulated at the state and local level, not the federal level. Since 
2010, there have been over 1,500 pieces of legislation introduced nationwide related to the photo enforcement industry. In general, photo enforcement is 
administrated by state, provincial or local government agencies, under either state enabling legislation or under home rule authority established under the 
relevant state constitution. Where enabling legislation is not required, local ordinances impose further restrictions within a given jurisdiction. Whether in a 
state requiring enabling legislation or in home-rule states where municipalities pass ordinances permitting photo enforcement, if the legislation or ordinance 
is subsequently repealed, not renewed if required, or if the authority for a local ordinance is revoked, photo enforcement activities would stop. 

State and local regulation affects our Commercial Services segment as well, particularly with respect to tolling. Over the past few years, bills have 
been introduced in multiple states to limit whether and how much RACs can charge their customers for the use of a toll transponder, limit the administrative 
penalties and fees that can be assessed for processing tolls, and/or impose increased disclosure requirements on RACs with respect to tolling or violation 
processing fees. In addition, there has been an increase in interest and greater focus on RAC tolling programs from state Attorneys General related to tolling 
issues from a consumer protection perspective.

Our Government Solutions customers are typically government agencies, and our operations within this segment are therefore subject to various 
procurement laws pertaining to gifts and entertainment, payments of commissions and contingency fees, conflicts of interest, licensing and permitting 
requirements and other matters. These laws are overseen by different government agencies, depending on the jurisdiction, including departments of 
procurements services, contracting offices and offices of inspector general. 
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To successfully navigate this regulatory landscape, we have a dedicated government relations team that works with national, state and local 
policymakers, often with the help of lobbyists and consultants, to track and help support favorable camera-enforcement safety and toll-related legislative 
outcomes. Through this network, we have a presence in most states in which our Government Solutions and Commercial Services segments do business. 
These lobbying activities are subject to state and local regulations and registration requirements. 

In connection with the installation of photo enforcement systems, we or our customers routinely obtain permits from various permitting authorities. 
As a government contractor providing photo enforcement services directly or through subcontractors (including design, engineering, construction, 
installation, and maintenance) in various locations throughout the United States and internationally, we are at times required to obtain licenses regarding 
general contracting, performance of engineering services, performance of electrical work, performance of private investigative work and processing license 
plate and related personal information, and periodically receive notices from regulatory authorities regarding these matters and inquiring as to our 
compliance with the applicable state, local and foreign laws and regulations. 

We believe we are in substantial compliance with the laws and regulations that regulate our business. There are, however, significant uncertainties 
involving the application of various legal requirements, the violation of which could result in, among other things, fines, penalties, revocation of permits or 
licenses, cessation of operations in a given jurisdiction and other adverse consequences. See “Risk Factors” for a discussion of our regulatory risks.

Human Capital Management
 
Our employees are critical to our success as a leading provider of smart mobility solutions. To continue delivering high-quality solutions to our 

customers and succeed in our highly competitive and rapidly evolving market, it is critical that we continue to attract, retain and develop diverse groups of 
talented individuals at all levels of our organization.
 

As of December 31, 2022, we had 1,570 employees, comprised of 1,396 full-time employees and 174 part-time employees. Of our full-time 
employees, 1,032 were located in the United States and 364 were located internationally. None of our employees are represented by a labor union or 
covered by a collective bargaining agreement, except for our 20 employees in Staten Island, New York. We believe our relations with our employees are 
good, and we have not experienced a strike or other significant work stoppage.
 
Talent Acquisition and Development
 

Our success depends upon attracting, retaining and developing a diverse group of talented individuals who possess the skills necessary to support 
our business objectives, assist in the achievement of our strategic goals, contribute their own unique perspective and skill set and create long-term value for 
our stockholders. We have implemented purposeful hiring strategies that include opportunities for internal mobility and promotion and an employee referral 
program, both of which we believe will further strengthen our growing employee base and promote retention at our Company. We have a multifaceted 
talent development framework that includes functional training, management training and targeted development problems, such as our Six Sigma training 
that aims to further enhance operational skills in our Government Solutions business unit. We also develop our employees through an annual performance 
review and assessment process that incorporates a dual-performance rating system and provides each employee with concrete, actionable feedback that will 
enable them to succeed at our Company.  
 
Compensation and Benefits

 
Our compensation programs are designed to align the compensation of our employees with the Company’s and individual performance, and to 

provide a compensation package that will attract, retain, motivate and reward employees to achieve superior results. The structure of our compensation 
programs balances incentives for both short-term and long-term performance. In addition to cash compensation, we offer employees benefits such as health 
(medical, dental and vision) insurance, health savings accounts, flexible spending accounts, life insurance, accident insurance, paid time off, paid parental 
leave and a company-sponsored 401(k) plan, and related benefits for non-U.S. employees. For key leadership positions, we also provide compensation 
packages that include annual incentive bonuses and long-term equity awards.
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Employee Engagement

 
We seek employees who collaborate and value differences, think and act globally, foster an engaging climate, and recognize and develop others. We 

engage and survey our employee population to gather insight, feedback, and data about employees’ engagement, workplace experiences, and manager 
effectiveness. Survey results inform and support corporate, business unit, department, and team action plans, with the goal of enhancing workplace 
satisfaction and overall employee well-being and effectiveness.

Corporate Information

We were originally incorporated in Delaware on August 15, 2016, under the name “Gores Holdings II, Inc.” (“Gores”) as a special purpose 
acquisition company. On January 19, 2017, Gores consummated its initial public offering (the “IPO”), following which its shares began trading on Nasdaq. 
On June 21, 2018, Gores entered into an Agreement and Plan of Merger (as amended, the “Merger Agreement”) with Greenlight Holding II Corporation, 
PE Greenlight Holdings, LLC (the “Platinum Stockholder”), AM Merger Sub I, Inc., a direct, wholly owned subsidiary of Gores, and AM Merger Sub II, 
LLC, a direct, wholly owned subsidiary of Gores. On October 17, 2018, we consummated the transactions contemplated by the Merger Agreement (the 
“Business Combination”) and we changed our name to “Verra Mobility Corporation.”

Our principal executive office is located at 1150 North Alma School Road, Mesa, AZ 85201. Our telephone number is (480) 443-7000. Our website 
address is www.verramobility.com. The information on, or accessible through, our website does not constitute part of, and is not incorporated into, this 
Annual Report.

The trade names, trademarks, and service marks appearing in this Annual Report include registered marks and marks in which we claim common 
law rights, such as Verra Mobility and the Verra Mobility logo, all of which are our intellectual property. This Annual Report contains additional trade 
names, trademarks, and service marks of other companies that are the property of their respective owners. We do not intend our use or display of other 
companies’ trade names, trademarks, or service marks to imply a relationship with, or endorsement or sponsorship of us, by these companies. We have 
omitted the ® and ™ designations, as applicable, for the trademarks used in this Annual Report.

Our Annual Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K, and amendments to reports filed pursuant to 
Sections 13(a) and 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), are filed with the SEC. We are subject to the 
informational requirements of the Exchange Act, and we file or furnish reports, proxy statements and other information with the SEC. Such reports and 
other information we file with the SEC are available free of charge at http://ir.verramobility.com/financial-information/sec-filings when such reports 
become available on the SEC’s website. The SEC maintains a website that contains reports, proxy and information statements, and other information 
regarding issuers that file electronically with the SEC at www.sec.gov. We periodically provide other information for investors on our corporate website, 
www.verramobility.com, and our investor relations website, ir.verramobility.com. This includes press releases and other information about financial 
performance, information on corporate governance and details related to our annual meeting of stockholders. The information contained on the websites 
referenced in this Annual Report is not incorporated by reference into this filing. Further, our references to website URLs are intended to be inactive textual 
references only. 

Item 1A. Risk Factors

Risk Factor Summary

Investing in our common stock involves a high degree of risk. In addition to the other information set forth in this Annual Report, you should 
carefully consider the following factors, which could materially affect our business, financial condition and results of operations in future periods. The risks 
described below are not the only risks we face. Additional risks not currently known to us may adversely affect our business, financial condition or results 
of operations in future periods.

Risks Related to Our Customers, Industry and Competition

• Our Commercial Services and Government Solutions segments have customer concentration that could 
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have a material adverse effect on our business.

• Our government contracts are subject to unique risks and uncertainties, including termination rights, delays in payment, audits and 
investigations, any of which could have a material adverse effect on our business.

• Any decreases in the prevalence or political acceptance of, or an increase in governmental restrictions regarding, automated and other 
similar methods of photo enforcement, the use of third-party tolling service providers, the ability to charge service or other fees to 
customers for services provided, could have a material adverse effect on our business. 

Risks Related to Our Acquisitions

• Our inability to successfully implement our acquisition strategy could have a material adverse effect on our business.

Risks Related to Data Privacy and Cybersecurity

• A failure in or breach of our networks or systems, including as a result of cyber-attacks, could have a material adverse effect on our 
business.

Risks Related to our International Operations

• Our international operations expose us to additional risks, and failure to manage those risks could have a material adverse effect on our 
business.

Risks Related to Our Intellectual Property

• Failure to acquire necessary intellectual property or adequately protect our intellectual property could have a material adverse effect on our 
business.

Risks Related to Our Indebtedness

• Our substantial level of indebtedness could cause our business to suffer and incurring additional debt could intensify debt-related risks.

Risks Related to Our Vendors

• Our reliance on specialized third-party providers could have a material adverse effect on our business.

Due to the risk factors discussed below, as well as other factors affecting our business, operating results, financial condition, financial performance 
or prospects, our past financial performance should not be considered to be a reliable indicator of our future performance, and investors should not use 
historical trends to anticipate results or trends in future periods.

Risks Related to Our Customers, Industry and Competition

Our Commercial Services and Government Solutions segments have customer concentration that could have a material adverse effect on our business.

Our business experiences customer concentration from time to time. For example, our Commercial Services segment is dependent on certain key 
customers, including those in the RAC industry, such as Avis Budget Group, Inc., Enterprise Holdings, Inc. and The Hertz Corporation. The health of the 
RAC industry is impacted by a variety of factors, including seasonality, increases in energy prices, general international, national and local economic 
conditions and cycles, as well as other factors affecting travel levels, such as military conflicts, terrorist incidents, natural disasters and epidemic diseases. 

We also experience customer concentration in our Government Solutions segment. The New York City Department of Transportation (“NYCDOT”) 
represented approximately 19.5% of our total revenues during fiscal 2022, and our contract with NYCDOT, like many other contracts, is subject to unique 
risks and uncertainties, including termination rights, delays in payment and audits and investigations, any of which could have a material adverse effect on
our business. In the future, a small number of customers in our Government Solutions segment may continue to represent a significant portion of our total 
revenues in any given period. The loss of any of our top Government Solutions customers could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial 
condition and results of operations.

Our government contracts are subject to unique risks and uncertainties, including termination rights, delays in payment, audits and investigations, any 
of which could have a material adverse effect on our business.
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We enter into government contracts from time to time with customers that are subject to various uncertainties, restrictions and regulations, which 

could result in withholding or delay of payments to us. For example, as of December 31, 2022, NYCDOT had an open receivable balance of $35.6 million, 
which represented 22% of our accounts receivable, net.

Government entities typically finance projects through appropriated funds. While these projects are often planned and executed as multi-year 
projects, government entities usually reserve the right to change the scope of or terminate these projects for lack of approved funding or at their 
convenience. Changes in government or political developments, including administrative hurdles, budget deficits, shortfalls or uncertainties, government 
spending reductions or other debt or funding constraints, could result in our government contracts being reduced in price or scope or terminated altogether, 
as well as limit our ability to win new government work in the future.

Moreover, if a government customer does not follow the requisite procurement or ordinance-specific administrative procedures, the contract may be 
subject to protest or voidable regardless of whether we bear any responsibility for the error. Our government contracts are subject to underlying laws and 
regulations related to government contractors, and often include other one-sided, customer-friendly provisions and certifications, including broad
indemnification provisions and uncapped exposure or liquidated damages for certain liabilities, which can impose obligations, requirements and liabilities 
on us that are beyond those associated with a typical commercial arrangement.

In addition, government contracts are generally subject to audits and investigations by government agencies or higher-tier government contractors. If 
improper or illegal activities or contractual non-compliance are identified, including improper billing or vendor non-compliance, we may be subject to 
various civil and criminal penalties and administrative sanctions, which may include termination of contracts, forfeiture of profits, suspension of payments, 
the imposition of fines, penalties and sanctions, and suspensions or debarment from doing business for or on behalf of the government in the future. If 
penalties or other restrictions are imposed in one jurisdiction, they could also implicate similar provisions of contracts with other government customers in 
other jurisdictions. Further, the negative publicity related to these penalties, sanctions or findings in government audits or investigations could harm our 
reputation and hinder our ability to compete for new contracts with government customers and in the private sector. Any of the foregoing or any other 
reduction in revenue from government customers could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Any decreases in the prevalence or political acceptance of, or an increase in governmental restrictions regarding, automated and other similar methods 
of photo enforcement, the use of third-party tolling service providers or the ability to charge service or other fees to customers for services provided, 
could have a material adverse effect on our business.

Our Government Solutions segment provides automated safety solutions to national, state and local government agencies, generating revenues 
through automated photo enforcement of red-light, school bus, speed limit and bus lane laws. We sometimes make significant capital and other investments 
to attract and retain these contracts, such as the cost of purchasing information technology equipment, constructing and installing photo enforcement 
systems and developing and implementing software and labor resources. In 2022, revenues from this segment represented approximately 45% of our total 
revenues. Therefore, we depend on national, state and local governments authorizing the use of automated photo enforcement and not otherwise materially 
restricting its use. In states that have enabling legislation, if that legislation is amended, not renewed or is otherwise repealed, use of automated enforcement 
technology can be suspended until new legislation is passed. For example, in 2022, a North Carolina court of appeals issued a ruling limiting the ability of 
local authorities to make certain decisions with respect to funding automated enforcement programs, impacting the viability of automated enforcement in 
impacted jurisdictions.

Ballot initiatives, referendums, opinions of attorneys general and legal challenges can also be used to restrict the use of automated enforcement or to 
impose additional licensing requirements on its use. For example, the Attorneys General in the states of Arizona, Tennessee and Virginia have issued 
opinions that had the effect of limiting the use of these enforcement technologies or impacting the manner in which photo enforcement programs operate. 
Usage may also be affected if there is an unfavorable shift in political support for, or public sentiment towards, automated enforcement, or as a result of one 
or more scandals related to its use. 

Similarly, our Commercial Services business may be materially impacted if there is an unfavorable shift in political support for or public sentiment 
towards tolling or its use is materially restricted or limited, including through the imposition of limits on the fees RAC companies can charge their 
customers for tolling or violation processing services. Any material restriction or limitation on the use of automated enforcement or material reduction in its 
use in the markets we serve, or any similar changes with respect to tolling, could have a material adverse effect on our ability to recoup our investments, 
and negatively impact our business, financial condition and results of operations. Further, 
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our relationships and commercial account agreements with tolling authorities, issuing authorities, motor vehicle departments and other governmental 
agencies significantly enhances and enables our service offerings, and changes in those relationship or agreements could significantly adversely impact our 
business.

We face intense competition and any failure to keep up with technological developments, changing customer preferences and new laws and policies 
could have a material adverse effect on our business.

The markets for our solutions are increasingly competitive, rapidly evolving and fragmented, and are subject to changing technology, shifting 
customer needs and new laws and policies. A number of vendors develop and market products and services that compete to varying extents with our 
offerings, and we expect this competition to intensify. The rapid rate of technological change in our industry could increase the chances that we will face 
competition from new products or services designed by companies that we do not currently compete with. Moreover, we face competition from our own 
customers as they may choose to invest in developing their own internal solutions.

Some of our existing competitors and potential new competitors have longer operating histories, greater name recognition, less debt, more 
established customer bases and significantly greater financial, technical, research and development, marketing and other resources than we do. As a result, 
our competitors may be able to respond more quickly and effectively than we can to new or changing opportunities, technologies, standards or customer 
requirements. In some cases, our competitors may be better positioned to initiate or withstand substantial price competition, and we may have to reduce our 
pricing to retain existing business or obtain new business. If we are not able to maintain favorable pricing for our solutions, our profit margin and 
profitability could suffer. In addition, if a prospective customer is currently using a competing solution, the customer may be unwilling to switch to our 
solution without setup support services or other incentives. Certain existing and new competitors may be better positioned to acquire competitive solutions, 
develop new solutions, modify existing solutions, effectively negotiate third-party licenses and other strategic relationships, and take advantage of 
acquisition or other similar expansion opportunities. Any failure to achieve our target pricing levels, maintain existing customer relationships, generate 
additional customer wins or otherwise successfully compete would have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of 
operations.

Our new products and services and changes to existing products and services may not succeed.
 

Our ability to retain, increase and engage our customer base and to increase our revenue depends, in large part, on our ability to continue to evolve 
existing solutions and to create successful new solutions. We may introduce significant changes to our existing solutions or acquire or introduce new and 
unproven products and services, including using technologies or entering markets or industries in which we have little or no experience. For example, as 
Government Solutions customers increase their requirements related to data security, privacy and IT architecture, we may be unable to develop new 
solutions to keep up with increasing requirements.  The failure of any new or enhanced solution to achieve customer adoption or our failure to otherwise 
successfully monetize our development efforts could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. Further, 
changes to the hardware solutions we offer to our government customers may require certification by a government agency, and failure to achieve such 
certification may result in an inability to operate photo enforcement systems in a particular jurisdiction.  Any failure to evolve existing solutions or create 
new successful solutions could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.
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We regularly pursue contracts and contract renewals, particularly in our Government Solutions and Parking Solutions segments, that require 
competitive bidding, which can involve substantial costs and could have a material adverse effect on our business.

Many of the government contracts and renewals for which we bid, particularly those for certain larger government customers, are extremely 
complex and require the investment for significant resources in order to prepare accurate bids and proposals. Further, a significant percentage of new 
customer growth opportunities in our Government Solutions, Parking Solutions and EPC businesses are only accessible through competitive bidding. 
Competitive bidding imposes substantial costs and presents several risks, including significant time and effort and the commitment of resources, regardless 
of whether the job is ultimately won. We may also be unable to meet the requirements of a solicitation or may have to incur substantial costs to be able to 
do so. These and other unanticipated costs related to the competitive bidding process, including advancing or defending bid protests, and any failure to win 
renewals or new customer accounts through the competitive bidding process, could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and 
results of operations.

Our business and results of operations may be adversely affected by COVID-19, including emerging variant strains, and its impact on our customers.

 
The government and private business actions taken to curtail the spread of COVID-19 continue to have significant negative effects globally. Since the 
outbreak of COVID-19, logistics, manufacturing, and supply chain have been significantly impacted, resulting in global supply shortages. Our RAC and 
FMC customers have been, at times, severely impacted by COVID-19 and related “stay-at-home orders” and travel restrictions. The extent to which the 
COVID-19 pandemic may impact our future operational and financial performance remains uncertain and will depend on many factors outside our control, 
including the timing, extent, trajectory and duration of the pandemic, the emergence of new variants and the impact on our customers, partners, employees 
and suppliers.

Any new or additional measures implemented to contain COVID-19 could have a significant negative effect on our business, financial condition, 
results of operations, cash flows and liquidity position, along with heightening many of the other risks described herein.

  

Risks Related to Our Acquisitions

Our inability to successfully implement our acquisition strategy could have a material adverse effect on our business.

We have grown in large part as a result of our acquisitions, and we anticipate continuing to grow in this manner. Although we expect to regularly 
consider additional strategic transactions in the future, we may not identify suitable opportunities or, if we do identify prospects, it may not be possible to 
consummate a transaction on acceptable terms. Antitrust or other competition laws may also limit our ability to acquire or work collaboratively with certain 
businesses or to fully realize the benefits of a prospective or completed acquisition. Furthermore, a significant change in our business or the economy, an 
unexpected decrease in our cash flows or any restrictions imposed by our indebtedness may limit our ability to obtain the necessary capital or otherwise 
impede our ability to complete a transaction. Regularly considering strategic transactions can also divert management’s attention and lead to significant due 
diligence and other expenses regardless of whether we pursue or consummate any transaction. Failure to identify suitable transaction partners and to 
consummate transactions on acceptable terms, as well as the commitment of time and resources in connection with such transactions, could have a material 
adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

The inability to successfully integrate our recent or future acquisitions could have a material adverse effect on our business.

We have integrated, and may in the future integrate, certain acquired businesses into our existing operations, which requires significant time and 
exposes us to significant risks and additional costs. Further, we may have difficulty integrating the operations, systems, controls, procedures or products of 
such acquired businesses and may not be able to do so in a timely, efficient and cost-effective manner. 

These difficulties could include:
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• combining management teams, strategies and philosophies;

• merging or linking different accounting and financial reporting systems and systems of internal controls;

• assimilating personnel, human resources and other administrative departments and potentially contrasting corporate cultures;

• merging computer, technology and other information networks and systems;

• disrupting our relationship with or losing key customers, suppliers or personnel; and

• interference with, or loss of momentum in, our ongoing business or that of the acquired business.

Any integration-related issues could cause significant disruption to our business, divert the attention of management and lead to substantial 
additional costs and delays. For example, between February 2022 and April 2022, our Audit Committee devoted significant time and resources into an 
accounting investigation of Redflex Holdings Limited, a recently acquired subsidiary, and we were unable to timely file our Annual Report on Form 10-K 
for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2021. Our inability to successfully integrate acquired businesses could have a material adverse effect on our 
business, financial condition and results of operations.

Any failure to realize the anticipated benefits of an acquisition, including unanticipated expenses and liabilities related to acquisitions, could have a 
material adverse effect on our business.

We pursue each acquisition with the expectation that the transaction will result in various benefits, including growth opportunities and synergies 
from increased efficiencies. However, we may not realize some or all of the anticipated benefits of our acquisitions within our anticipated timeframes or at 
all. Furthermore, we may experience increased competition that limits our ability to expand our business, we may not be able to capitalize on expected 
business opportunities, and general industry and business conditions may deteriorate. Acquisitions also expose us to significant risks and costs, and 
business and operational overlaps may lead to hidden costs. These costs can include unforeseen pre-acquisition liabilities, the impairment of customer 
relationships or acquired assets such as goodwill, or exposure to oversight, operational and business control risks associated with a newly acquired 
business. We may also incur costs and inefficiencies to the extent an acquisition expands the industries, markets or geographies in which we operate due to 
our limited exposure to and experience in a given industry, market or region. Significant acquisitions may also require us to incur additional debt to finance 
the transactions, which could limit our flexibility in using our cash flow from operations for other purposes. Acquisitions often involve post-transaction 
disputes with the counterparty regarding a number of matters, including disagreements over the amount of a purchase price or other working capital 
adjustment or disputes regarding whether certain liabilities are covered by the indemnification provisions of the transaction agreement. We may 
underestimate the level of certain costs or the exposure we may face as a result of acquired liabilities. If any of these or other factors limit our ability to 
achieve the anticipated benefits of a transaction, or we encounter other unexpected transaction-related costs and liabilities, our business, financial condition 
and results of operations could be materially and adversely affected.
 

Risks Related to Data Privacy and Cybersecurity

A failure in or breach of our networks or systems, including as a result of cyber-attacks, could have a material adverse effect on our business.

We act as a trusted business partner in both front office and back office platforms, interacting with our customers and other third parties. Our 
customers include large, multinational corporations and government agencies who depend upon our operational efficiency, non-interruption of service, and 
accuracy and security of information. We receive, process, transmit and store substantial volumes of information relating to identifiable individuals, both in 
our role as a back-end or direct-to-consumer service provider and as an employer, and receive, process and implement financial transactions, and disburse 
funds, which requires us to receive debit and credit card information. We also use third-party providers such as subcontractors, software vendors, utility 
providers and network providers, upon whom we rely to offer our products, services and solutions. As a result of these and other aspects of our business, 
the integrity, security and accuracy of our systems and information technology, and that of the third parties with which we interact, including our customers 
and other government agencies with which we work, are extremely important.
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Our cybersecurity and processing systems, as well as those of the third parties with which we interact, may be damaged, disrupted or otherwise 

breached for a number of reasons, including power outages, computer and telecommunication failures, computer viruses, malware or other destructive 
software, internal design, manual or usage errors, cyber-attacks, terrorism, workplace violence or wrongdoing, catastrophic events, natural disasters and 
severe weather conditions. Our visibility and role as a processor of transactions containing personally identifiable information may also put us at a greater 
risk of being targeted by hackers. In the normal course of our business, we have been the target of malicious cyber-attack attempts. 

In addition, numerous and evolving cybersecurity threats, including advanced and persistent cyber-attacks, phishing and social engineering schemes 
could compromise the confidentiality, availability and integrity of data in our systems as well as those of the third parties with which we interact. The 
security measures and procedures we and the third parties with which we interact have in place to protect sensitive consumer data and other information 
may not be successful or sufficient to counter all data breaches, cyber-attacks, or system failures. Further, employee error or malfeasance, faulty password 
management or other irregularities may result in a defeat of security measures or a system breach. Although we devote significant resources to our 
cybersecurity programs and have implemented security measures to protect our systems and data, and to prevent, detect and respond to data security 
incidents, in each case that we believe are reasonable and appropriate, these efforts, and the efforts of third parties with which we interact, may not prevent 
these or other threats.

Moreover, because the techniques used to obtain unauthorized access, or to disable or degrade systems change frequently, have become increasingly 
more complex and sophisticated, and may be difficult to detect for periods of time, we and the third parties with which we interact may not anticipate these 
acts or respond adequately or timely. As these threats continue to evolve and increase, we may be required to devote significant additional resources in 
order to modify and enhance our security controls and to identify and remediate any security vulnerabilities or diligencing those of third parties.

If we are sued in connection with any data security breach or system failure, we could be involved in protracted litigation. In addition, a breach could 
lead to unfavorable publicity and significant damage to our brand, the loss of existing and potential customers, allegations by customers that we have not 
performed or breached our contractual obligations, or decreased use and acceptance of our solutions. A breach or failure may also subject us to additional
regulations or governmental or regulatory scrutiny, which could result in significant compliance costs, fines or enforcement actions, or potential restrictions 
imposed by regulators on our ability to operate our business. A security breach would also likely require us to devote significant management and other 
resources to address the problems created by the security breach. Any of the foregoing could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial 
condition and results of operations.

We are subject to laws and regulations of the United States and foreign jurisdictions relating to personal information, privacy and data security, and 
failure to comply with these laws and regulations, whether or not inadvertent, could have a material adverse effect on our business.

Personal information is used both as part of our business and in our role as an employer. In addition, as part of our Government Solutions, 
Commercial Services and Parking Solutions businesses, we process other data which may be considered personal information or sensitive personal 
information in certain jurisdictions, such as photographs and video recordings. As a result, we are subject to various laws and regulations regarding 
personal information, privacy and data security, including those promulgated by the United States federal government and its agencies, and state, local and 
foreign governments, agencies, and public authorities. Our personal information handling also is subject to contractual obligations and industry standards.
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Laws, regulations and industry standards relating to privacy are rapidly evolving, can be subject to significant change and may result in ever-

increasing regulatory and public scrutiny and escalating levels of enforcement and sanctions. These laws and regulations may also be subject to new or 
different interpretations. For example, in June 2018, California enacted the CCPA, which took effect on January 1, 2020. The CCPA creates several new 
obligations for companies which process personal information. It also gives California residents expanded rights to access, delete and obtain a copy of their 
personal information; opt out of certain personal information sharing and receive detailed information about how their personal data is processed. The law 
provides for civil penalties against companies that fail to comply. The California Attorney General’s regulations governing compliance with the CCPA went 
into effect in August 2020, with additional amendments effective as of March 2021. A violation of these regulations constitutes a violation of the CCPA. A 
new California privacy law, the California Privacy Rights Act (“CPRA”), creates obligations relating to personal information that began on January 1, 
2022, and enforcement beginning July 1, 2023. It substantially amends and amplifies the requirements of the CCPA, as well as creates a new agency 
responsible for enforcing California’s privacy laws. Unlike the CCPA, the CPRA applies to employee personal information in addition to consumer 
personal information. In 2021, Virginia, Colorado, Connecticut and Utah also enacted comprehensive state privacy laws, which become operative in 2023. 
Additionally, dozens of other state legislatures have introduced privacy bills, and Congress is considering several privacy bills at the federal level.

Foreign laws concerning personal information, privacy and data security may be more restrictive and burdensome than those of the United States. 
Given that data is highly mobile and transferable, many data protection and privacy laws of foreign nations seek to have wide extraterritorial jurisdiction 
over conduct occurring outside geographical boundaries of the relevant jurisdiction. For example, on May 25, 2018, the E.U. General Data Protection 
Regulation GDPR replaced the 1995 Data Protection Directive. The GDPR extends the scope of E.U. data protection law to non-E.U. companies processing 
data of E.U. residents when certain conditions are satisfied. The GDPR contains numerous, more stringent requirements and changes from prior E.U. law, 
including more robust privacy and compliance obligations for both companies and their service providers, greater rights for individuals, heavier 
documentation requirements for data protection compliance programs and restrictions on transfers of personal data to non-E.U. countries. Further, our 
customers, through contractual requirements, could require us to comply with certain of these stringent requirements regardless of whether our business is 
actually subject to the GDPR.

The costs are high and deadlines are short for compliance with these privacy-related laws, regulations, contractual requirements and industry 
standards, each of which may limit our ability to compete for new business, do business with certain government agencies or continue to access certain data 
and may limit the use or adoption of our smart mobility technology solutions and services, reduce overall demand for our solutions and services, or slow 
the pace at which we generate revenue. Moreover, if our policies, procedures or measures relating to these issues fail to comply, or regulators assert we 
have failed to comply, with applicable laws, regulations or industry standards, we may be subject to governmental enforcement actions, litigation, 
regulatory investigations, fines, penalties and negative publicity, and our application providers, customers and partners may lose trust in or stop doing 
business with us entirely. We expect that there will continue to be new proposed laws, regulations and industry standards concerning personal information, 
privacy and data retention in the United States, the E.U. and other jurisdictions, and we cannot yet determine the impact such future laws, regulations and 
industry standards may have on our business. Any of the foregoing could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of 
operations.

We are subject to domestic and foreign laws relating to processing certain financial transactions, including debit or credit card transactions, and failure 
to comply with those laws, even if inadvertent, could have a material adverse effect on our business.

We process, support and execute financial transactions as part of our business and disburse funds on behalf of certain of our customers. This activity 
includes receiving debit and credit card information, processing payments for and due to our customers and disbursing funds on payment or debit cards to 
payees of our customers. As a result, we may be subject to numerous U.S. federal and state and foreign jurisdiction laws and regulations, including the 
Electronic Fund Transfer Act, the Currency and Foreign Transactions Reporting Act of 1970 (commonly known as the Bank Secrecy Act) and the Uniting 
and Strengthening America by Providing Appropriate Tools Required to Intercept and Obstruct Terrorism Act of 2001 (the “Patriot Act”).
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We have implemented policies and procedures to preserve and protect credit card and other payment data against loss, corruption, misappropriation 

caused by systems failures, unauthorized access or misuse. Notwithstanding these policies and procedures, we could be subject to liability claims by 
individuals and customers whose data resides in our databases for the misuse of that information. If we fail to meet appropriate compliance levels, this 
could negatively impact our ability to utilize credit cards as a method of payment, or collect and store credit card information, which could disrupt our 
business. Failure to comply with these laws may subject us to, among other things, additional costs or changes to our business practices, liability for 
monetary damages, fines or criminal prosecution, unfavorable publicity, restrictions on our ability to process and support financial transactions and 
allegations by customers that we have not performed our contractual obligations, any of which could have a material adverse effect on our business, 
financial condition and results of operations.

Risks Related to Human Capital Management

We depend on the services of key executives and any inability to attract and retain key management personnel could have a material adverse effect on 
our business.

Our future success depends upon the continued services of our executive officers, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, 
who have critical experience and relationships that we rely on to implement our business plan and growth strategy. Additionally, as our business grows, we 
may need to attract and hire additional management personnel. We have employment agreements with some members of senior management that include 
non-competition provisions; however, we cannot prevent our executives from terminating their employment and may not be able to fully enforce non-
competition provisions limiting former executives or key personnel from competing with us following any departure. Moreover, we do not carry “key-man” 
life insurance on the lives of our executive officers, employees or advisors. Our ability to retain our key management personnel or to identify and attract 
additional management personnel or suitable replacements should any members of the management team leave or be terminated is dependent on a number 
of factors, including the competitive nature of the employment market and our industry. Any failure to retain key management personnel or to attract 
additional or suitable replacement personnel could cause uncertainty among investors, employees, customers and others concerning our future direction and 
performance and could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

A failure to attract and retain necessary skilled personnel and qualified subcontractors could have a material adverse effect on our business.

Our business depends on highly skilled technical, managerial, engineering, sales, marketing and customer support personnel and qualified and 
competent subcontractors. Competition for these personnel is intense. Any failure to attract, hire, assimilate in a timely manner and retain and motivate key 
qualified personnel, particularly software development, product development, analytics and other technical personnel, or inability to contract with qualified, 
competent subcontractors, could impair our success. Additionally, certain portions of our Government Solutions operations are dependent on employees 
and subcontractors who are subject to a collective bargaining agreement. When the collective bargaining agreement becomes subject to renegotiation or if 
we face union organizing drives, any disagreement between us and the union on important issues may lead to a strike, work slowdown or other job actions 
in one or more locations we serve. A strike, work slowdown or other job action could disrupt our services, resulting in reduced revenues or contract 
cancellations. State or local law in some jurisdictions requires that subcontractors for our Government Solutions segment are certified by the jurisdiction, 
and the failure on the part of our subcontractors to obtain and maintain such certification could impact their ability to perform services for us. Further, our
acquisition activity could increase the challenge of retaining our key employees and subcontractors and those of the acquired businesses. The loss of any 
key technical employee or the termination of a key subcontractor relationship, and any inability to identify suitable replacements or offer reasonable terms 
to these candidates, could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.
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Risks Related to our International Operations

Our operations in international markets expose us to additional risks, and failure to manage those risks could have a material adverse effect on our 
business.

We have subsidiaries in various international markets around the world, including in the United Kingdom, the Netherlands, France, Ireland, Spain, 
Australia, Canada and Hungary. The success of our business depends, in part, on our ability to successfully manage these foreign operations. Our 
international operations subject us to risks that could increase expenses, restrict our ability to operate, result in lost revenues or otherwise materially and 
adversely affect our business, including:

• political, social, and economic instability, including European sovereign debt issues and tightening of government budgets; 

• wars, civil unrest, acts of terrorism and other conflicts;

• increased complexity and costs of managing or overseeing foreign operations, including adapting and localizing our services to specific 
regions and countries and relying on different third-party service providers;

• complying with tariffs, trade restrictions, and trade agreements and any changes thereto;

• foreign exchange and other restrictions and limitations on the transfer or repatriation of funds;

• adverse tax consequences;

• fluctuations in currency exchange rates;

• complying with varying legal and regulatory environments in multiple foreign jurisdictions, including with respect to data and consumer
privacy and payment processing, labor matters and VAT, and unexpected changes in these laws, regulatory requirements, and the enforcement 
thereof; and

• limited protection of our intellectual property and other assets as compared to the laws of the United States.

We have limited or no control over these and other factors related to international operations and our strategies to address these risks may not 
correctly anticipate any problems that arise or be successful in expanding our solutions from the United States into new markets. Any failure to successfully 
manage these and other similar risks could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Our growth strategy is, in part, dependent on successfully implementing our international expansion strategy.

Our growth strategy includes expanding our global footprint, which may involve moving into regions and countries beyond those in which we 
currently operate. In order to achieve widespread acceptance in new markets we may enter, we may need to develop new products and services or tailor our 
existing products and services to that market’s unique customs, cultures and standards. Management of these and any future international subsidiaries may 
divert our resources and require significant attention from management. In addition to the risks inherent in conducting international business, expanding 
internationally with new and existing customers poses additional risks, including: 

• lack of acceptance of our products and services;

• tax issues, including administration of value-added tax, restrictions on repatriating earnings, and with respect to our corporate operating 
structure and intercompany arrangements;

• our ability to adapt our marketing and selling efforts to different cultures and customers;

• a different competitive environment, including a number of smaller competitors and a more fragmented business model, as well as 
competition from other market participants; 

• our ability to obtain and protect intellectual property rights to operate successfully in each territory due to pre-existing third-party intellectual 
property rights; and

• an unfamiliar regulatory environment, including different local, provincial and national regulations.

If we are unable to effectively manage these risks, our relationships with our existing and prospective customers, strategic partners and employees 
and our operations outside the United States may be adversely affected.
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In many cases, we will have limited or no experience in a particular region or country where we intend to launch operations. Moreover, learning the 

customs and cultures, particularly with respect to consumer preferences, differing technology standards and language barriers, is a difficult task. Our failure
to do so effectively could slow our growth in those regions or countries. In many of these markets, long-standing relationships between potential customers 
and their local partners and protective regulations, including local content requirements and approvals, and disparate networks and systems used by each 
country, will create barriers to entry. Difficulties in foreign financial markets and economies and of foreign financial institutions, particularly in emerging 
markets, could also adversely affect demand in the affected areas. For this strategy to be successful, we must generate sufficient revenues and margins from 
the new markets to offset the expense of the expansion. Moreover, as the scale of our international operations increases, we will be more susceptible to the 
general risks related to our existing international operations discussed above. If we are unable to further expand internationally or if we are unable to 
effectively and efficiently manage the complexity of our expanded operations and compete in these new regions and countries, our business, financial 
condition and results of operations could be adversely affected.

Failure to comply with anticorruption and anti-money laundering laws, including the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act and similar laws associated 
with our activities outside of the United States, could have a material adverse effect on our business.

Our operations subject us to anticorruption and other similar laws and regulations of multiple jurisdictions, both within the United States and 
internationally, which are often evolving, including the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act (the “FCPA”), the U.S. domestic bribery statute contained in 18 
U.S.C. § 201, the U.S. Travel Act, the Patriot Act, and comparable foreign anti-bribery and anti-money laundering laws and regulations, including the 
United Kingdom Bribery Act of 2010. Our Government Solutions business is subject to a number of international, federal, state and local laws and 
regulations regarding similar matters. These laws and regulations prohibit companies and their employees and third-party intermediaries from authorizing, 
offering or providing, directly or indirectly, improper payments or other benefits to government officials, political parties and private-sector recipients for 
the purpose of obtaining or retaining business, directing business to any person or securing any advantage. 

We use various third parties to conduct our business, both domestically and abroad, and we can be held liable for the corrupt or illegal activities of 
our employees, representatives, contractors or subcontractors, partners, and agents, those of the third parties with which we do business or those of any 
businesses we acquire, even if we do not explicitly authorize such activities or if they occurred prior to our acquisition of the relevant business. Safeguards 
we implement to discourage these practices may prove to be ineffective and any internal investigations may not uncover any such practices that may exist. 
Violations of the FCPA or other applicable anti-bribery, anti-corruption, and anti-money laundering laws by us or any of these third parties can result in 
severe criminal or civil sanctions, or other liabilities or proceedings against us, including class action lawsuits, whistleblower complaints, enforcement 
actions by the SEC, Department of Justice, and U.S. state and local and foreign regulators, adverse media coverage, non-responsibility determinations by 
procuring agencies, and suspension or debarment from government contracts, any of which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial 
condition and results of operations.

Risks Related to Our Intellectual Property

Failure to acquire necessary intellectual property or adequately protect our intellectual property could have a material adverse effect on our business.

Our success depends, in part, on our ability to protect and defend our intellectual property against infringement, misappropriation and dilution. To 
protect our intellectual property rights, we rely on a combination of patent, trademark, copyright, trade secret and unfair competition laws of the United 
States and other countries, as well as contract provisions. We have registered certain patents and trademarks and have applications pending in the United 
States and foreign jurisdictions for some inventions and trademarks, including the Verra Mobility word mark and logo, for which some registrations have 
been granted and some applications are pending. However, not all of the trademarks and inventions we currently use have been registered in all of the 
countries in which we do business, and they may never be registered in all of those countries, and the applications we submit for these protections may not 
be granted. While we make efforts to acquire rights to intellectual property necessary for our operations, these measures may not adequately protect our 
rights in any given case, particularly in those countries where the laws do not protect proprietary rights as fully as in the United States.

If we fail to acquire necessary intellectual property rights or adequately protect or assert our intellectual property rights, competitors may 
manufacture and market similar products and services, or dilute our brands, which could adversely affect our market share. It may be possible for third 
parties to reverse engineer, otherwise obtain, copy, and use software or information that we regard as proprietary. In addition, our competitors may avoid 
application of our existing or future intellectual property rights. Further, patent rights, copyrights and contractual provisions may not prevent our 
competitors from developing, using or selling products or services that are similar to or address the same 

22



 
market as, our products and services. Failure to obtain registrations for the Verra Mobility word mark or logo may have a significant adverse impact on our 
brand. Moreover, some of our trademarks and services are descriptive or include descriptive elements, which may make it difficult to enforce our rights or 
prevent others from adopting and using similar marks. Competitive products and services could reduce the market value of our brands, products and 
services, inhibit attracting new customers or maintaining existing customers, lower our profits, and could have a material adverse effect on our business, 
financial condition and results of operations.

Our measures to monitor and protect our intellectual property may not be adequate to maintain or enforce our patents, trademarks or other intellectual 
property rights. 

Despite our efforts to monitor and protect our intellectual property, we may not be able to maintain or enforce our patents, trademarks or other 
intellectual property rights. Unauthorized third parties may use our trademarks and service marks, or marks that are similar thereto, to impinge on our 
goodwill, cause consumer confusion or dilute our rights in the marks. We are aware of products, software and marks similar to our intellectual property 
being used by other persons. Although we believe that such uses will not adversely affect us, further or currently unknown unauthorized uses or other 
infringement of our trademarks or service marks could diminish the value of our intellectual property and may adversely affect our business. Even where 
we have effectively secured protection for our intellectual property, our competitors may challenge, infringe, misappropriate or dilute our intellectual 
property and our employees, consultants, contractors, customers and suppliers may breach their contractual obligations not to reveal or use our confidential 
information, including trade secrets. Additionally, defending or enforcing our intellectual property rights and agreements, and seeking an injunction or 
compensation for infringements or misappropriations, could result in expending significant resources and diverting management attention, which in turn 
may have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

We have been and may become subject to third-party infringement claims or challenges to the validity of our intellectual property that could have a 
material adverse effect on our business.

We have faced, and may in the future face, claims for infringement, misappropriation or other violations of intellectual property rights from 
intellectual property owners in areas where we operate or intend to operate, including in foreign jurisdictions. Such claims may or may not be unfounded. 
Regardless of whether such claims have merit, our image, brands, competitive position and ability to expand our operations into other jurisdictions may be 
harmed and we may incur significant costs related to defense or settlement. If such claims were decided against us or a third party we indemnify pursuant to 
license terms, we could be required to pay damages, develop or adopt non-infringing products or services, or acquire a license to the intellectual property 
that is the subject of the asserted claim, which license may not be available on acceptable terms or at all. 

Defending or settling claims would require the expenditure of additional capital, and negative publicity could arise, even if the matter was ultimately 
decided in our favor. Any of the foregoing could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Risks Related to Our Indebtedness

Our substantial level of indebtedness could cause our business to suffer and incurring additional debt could intensify debt-related risks. 

We have a substantial amount of debt, including approximately $886 million outstanding under our first lien term loan facility as of December 31, 
2022. Additionally, pursuant to an indenture, VM Consolidated, Inc. issued an aggregate principal amount of $350 million in Senior Unsecured Notes (the 
“Senior Notes”) due 2029. We may also incur substantial additional debt in the future to, among other things, finance our acquisition strategy. We have the 
option to increase commitments under our revolving credit agreement by up to $50.0 million, all of which would be secured. We also have the ability to 
draw an unlimited amount from our first lien term loan facility, subject to the satisfaction of a maximum total net leverage ratio or minimum fixed charge 
coverage ratio, on a pro forma basis, all of which will be secured. Our substantial debt could have important consequences, any of which could be 
intensified if new debt is added to our current debt levels. For example, it could:

• increase our vulnerability to adverse economic and industry conditions;

• limit our ability to obtain additional financing for future working capital, capital expenditures, strategic acquisitions and other general 
corporate requirements;

• expose us to interest rate fluctuations because the interest rate on certain of our debt is variable;

• require us to dedicate a substantial portion of our cash flow from operations to payments on our debt, 
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thereby reducing the availability of our cash flow for operations and other purposes;

• make it more difficult for us to satisfy our general business obligations, including our obligations to our lenders, resulting in possible defaults 
on and acceleration of such indebtedness;

• limit our ability to refinance indebtedness or increase the associated costs;

• require us to sell assets to reduce debt or influence our decision about whether to do so;

• limit our flexibility in planning for, or reacting to, changes in our business and the industry in which we operate or prevent us from carrying 
out capital spending that is necessary or important to our growth strategy and efforts to improve operating margins; and

• place us at a competitive disadvantage compared to any competitors that have less debt or comparable debt at more favorable interest rates 
and that, as a result, may be better positioned to withstand economic downturns.

Restrictive covenants in the agreements governing our indebtedness could restrict our operating flexibility.

The agreements governing our indebtedness limit our ability to take certain actions. These restrictions may limit our ability to operate our 
businesses, prohibit or limit our ability to enhance our operations or take advantage of potential business opportunities as they arise and cause us to take 
actions that are not favorable to stockholders.

The agreements governing our indebtedness restrict, among other things and subject to certain exceptions, our and our restricted subsidiaries’ ability 
to:

• incur additional indebtedness;

• pay dividends or other payments on capital stock;

• guarantee other obligations;

• grant liens on assets;

• make loans, acquisitions or other investments;

• transfer or dispose of assets;

• make optional payments or modify certain debt instruments;

• engage in transactions with affiliates;

• amend organizational documents;

• engage in mergers or consolidations;

• enter into arrangements that restrict the ability to pay dividends;

• engage in business activities that are materially different from existing business activities;

• change the nature of the business we conduct; and

• designate subsidiaries as unrestricted subsidiaries.

Under our first lien term loan facility, we could be required to make periodic prepayments based on excess cash flow (as defined by the first lien 
term loan agreement) thereby limiting the amount of cash flow that can be reinvested in our business. For example, under our revolving credit facility, if 
availability goes below a certain threshold, we will be required to comply with a minimum “consolidated fixed charge coverage ratio” financial covenant as 
calculated therein. Moreover, if availability falls below a certain threshold for a specified number of business days, we could be required to remit our cash 
funds to a dominion account maintained by the administrative agent to the revolving credit facility, which would require daily review and approval of 
operating disbursements by the administrative agent.

Our ability to comply with the covenants and restrictions contained in agreements governing our indebtedness may be affected by economic 
conditions and by financial, market and competitive factors, many of which are beyond our control. Our ability to comply with these covenants in future 
periods will also depend substantially on the pricing and sales volume of our products, our success at implementing cost reduction initiatives and our ability 
to successfully implement our overall business strategy. The breach of any of these covenants or restrictions could result in a default under one or more of 
the agreements governing our indebtedness that would permit the applicable lenders to declare all amounts outstanding thereunder to be due and payable, 
together with accrued and unpaid interest. In that case, we may be unable to borrow under our revolving credit agreement or otherwise, may not be able to 
repay the amounts 
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due under the agreements governing our indebtedness, and may not be able to make cash available by dividend, debt repayment or otherwise. In addition, 
our lenders could proceed against the collateral securing that indebtedness. Any of the foregoing could have serious consequences to our financial position, 
results of operations or cash flows and could cause us to become bankrupt or insolvent.

The agreements governing our indebtedness contain cross default or cross acceleration provisions that may cause all of the debt issued under those 
instruments to become immediately due and payable because of a default under an unrelated debt instrument.

The agreements governing our indebtedness contain numerous covenants and require us, if availability goes below a certain threshold, to comply 
with a minimum “consolidated fixed charge coverage ratio” financial covenant as calculated in the revolving credit agreement. Our failure to comply with 
the obligations contained in these agreements or other instruments governing our indebtedness could result in an event of default under the applicable 
instrument, which could result in the related debt and the debt issued under other instruments (together with accrued and unpaid interest and other fees) 
becoming immediately due and payable. In such event, we would need to raise funds from alternative sources, which funds may not be available to us on 
favorable terms, on a timely basis or at all. Alternatively, such a default could require us to sell assets and otherwise curtail our operations in order to pay 
our creditors. These alternative measures could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial position, results of operations or cash flows.
 
If we do not generate sufficient cash flows, we may not be able to service all of our indebtedness.

To service our indebtedness, we will require a significant amount of cash. Our ability to generate cash, make scheduled payments or to refinance our 
debt obligations depends on our successful financial and operating performance, which will be affected by a range of economic, competitive and business 
factors, many of which are outside of our control.

If our cash flow and capital resources are insufficient to fund our debt service obligations or to repay indebtedness when it matures, we may have to 
undertake alternative financing plans, such as refinancing or restructuring our debt, selling assets or operations, reducing or delaying capital investments or 
seeking to raise additional capital. We may not be able to refinance our debt and any refinancing of our debt could be at higher interest rates and may 
require us to comply with more restrictive covenants that could further restrict our business operations and our ability to make cash available for dividends 
and distributions and payments on our other debt obligations (if any). Our ability to implement successfully any such alternative financing plans will be 
dependent on a range of factors, including general economic conditions, the level of activity in mergers and acquisitions and capital markets generally, and 
the terms of our various debt instruments then in effect. In addition, a significant portion of our outstanding indebtedness is secured by substantially all of 
our assets including our subsidiaries’ assets, and any successor credit facilities are likely to be secured on a similar basis. As such, our ability to seek 
additional financing or our ability to make cash available for dividends and distributions and payments on our other debt obligations (if any) could be 
impaired as a result of such security interests and the agreements governing such security interests. Moreover, as a result of these security interests, the 
underlying assets would only be available to satisfy claims of our general creditors or holders of our equity securities if we were to become insolvent to the 
extent the value of such assets exceeded the amount of our indebtedness and other obligations.

 
Our inability to generate sufficient cash flow to satisfy our debt obligations or to refinance our obligations on commercially reasonable terms could 

have a material adverse effect on our business, including our financial condition and results of operations.
 

We may be unable to obtain additional financing to fund operations and growth.

We may require additional financing to fund our operations or growth, whether organic or through acquisitions. Our failure to secure additional 
financing could have a material adverse effect on our continued development or growth. 

Risks Related to Our Class A Common Stock, Warrants, Related Party Transactions and Organizational Documents
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We are required to pay Lakeside Smart Holdco L.P for a significant portion of the tax benefit relating to pre-Business Combination tax attributes of 
Verra Mobility.

At the closing of the Business Combination, we entered into the Tax Receivable Agreement with the PE Greenlight Holdings, LLC (the “Platinum 
Stockholder”) and the stockholder representative (as may be amended from time to time, the “Tax Receivable Agreement”), which was subsequently 
assigned by the Platinum Stockholder to Lakeside Smart Holdco L.P. (“Lakeside”), as successor in interest to the Platinum Stockholder, on August 3, 2022. 
The Tax Receivable Agreement provides that we pay Lakeside 50% of the net cash savings, if any, in U.S. federal, state and local income tax that we 
actually realize (or are deemed to realize in certain circumstances) in periods after the closing of the Business Combination as a result of the increase in the 
tax basis of the intangible assets of Highway Toll Administration, LLC (“HTA”) resulting from the acquisition of HTA by Verra Mobility prior to the 
Business Combination. We will generally retain the benefit of the remaining 50% of these cash savings.

Under certain circumstances (including an election by us, a material breach of our obligations under the Tax Receivable Agreement, or certain 
transactions constituting a change in control or divestiture of the HTA assets under the Tax Receivable Agreement), payments under the Tax Receivable 
Agreement may accelerate, and we may be required to make such payments in a lump sum based on certain valuation assumptions, including that we and 
our subsidiaries will generate sufficient taxable income to fully utilize the applicable deductions generated by the intangible assets of HTA.

We cannot guarantee that our stock repurchase program will enhance long-term shareholder value. Stock repurchases could also increase the volatility 
of the trading price of our stock and could diminish our cash reserves. In addition, Congress enacted the Inflation Reduction Act on August 16, 2022, 
which (among other provisions) provides a 1% excise tax on net stock repurchases. This provision is expected to apply to any stock repurchases 
initiated after January 1, 2023.
 

In May 2022, our Board of Directors authorized a share repurchase program for up to an aggregate amount of $125 million of our outstanding shares 
of Class A Common Stock. We subsequently paid $50.0 million in May 2022 to repurchase outstanding shares of our Class A Common Stock through an 
ASR, and received an initial delivery of 2,739,726 shares. The final settlement occurred in August 2022, at which time we received 445,086 additional 
shares. In addition, during the second and third quarters, we paid $6.9 million and repurchased 445,791 shares of our Class A Common Stock through open 
market transactions. During the third quarter of 2022, we discontinued open market repurchases and our Board of Directors authorized a second ASR for 
the remaining availability under the share repurchase program. In August 2022, we paid $68.1 million for the second ASR, and received an initial delivery 
of 3,300,000 shares of our Class A Common Stock. The final settlement of the ASR resulted in the receipt of 943,361 additional shares. In November 2022, 
our Board of Directors authorized a new share repurchase program for up to an aggregate amount of $100.0 million of our outstanding shares of Class A 
common stock over an 18-month period in open market transactions, ASRs or privately negotiated transactions. The Company has not yet repurchased 
shares under this repurchase program.
 

The timing, price, and quantity of purchases under the program have been, and will continue to be, made at the discretion of our management based 
upon a variety of factors including share price, general and business market conditions, compliance with applicable laws and regulations, corporate and 
regulatory requirements, and alternative uses of capital. There is no guarantee as to the exact number of shares that we will repurchase and we cannot 
guarantee that the program will enhance long-term stockholder value. The share repurchase program could affect the trading price of our common stock and 
increase volatility. In addition, our repurchases under our share repurchase program have diminished, and could continue to diminish, our cash reserves.
 
Anti-takeover provisions contained in our certificate of incorporation and bylaws, as well as provisions of Delaware law, could impair a takeover 
attempt.

Our certificate of incorporation contains provisions that may discourage unsolicited takeover proposals that stockholders may consider to be in their 
best interests. We are also subject to anti-takeover provisions under Delaware law, which could delay or prevent a change of control. Together, these 
provisions may make the removal of management more difficult and may discourage transactions that otherwise could involve payment of a premium over 
prevailing market prices for our securities. These provisions include:

• no cumulative voting in the election of directors, which limits the ability of minority stockholders to elect director candidates;
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• a classified board of directors with three-year staggered terms, which could delay the ability of stockholders to change the membership of a 

majority of our Board of Directors (our “Board”);

• the requirement that directors may only be removed from the Board for cause;

• the right of our Board to elect a director to fill a vacancy created by the expansion of our Board or the resignation, death or removal of a 
director in certain circumstances, which prevents stockholders from being able to fill vacancies on our Board;

• a prohibition on stockholder action by written consent, which forces stockholder action to be taken at an annual or special meeting of our 
stockholders; 

• a prohibition on stockholders calling a special meeting and the requirement that a meeting of stockholders may only be called by members of 
our Board or our Chief Executive Officer, which may delay the ability of our stockholders to force consideration of a proposal or to take 
action, including the removal of directors;

• the requirement that changes or amendments to certain provisions of our certificate of incorporation or bylaws must be approved by holders 
of at least two-thirds of our Common Stock; and

• advance notice procedures that stockholders must comply with in order to nominate candidates to our Board or to propose matters to be acted 
upon at a meeting of stockholders, which may discourage or deter a potential acquirer from conducting a solicitation of proxies to elect the 
acquirer’s own slate of directors or otherwise attempting to obtain control of us.

Our bylaws include a forum selection clause, which may impact the ability of our stockholders to bring actions against us.

Subject to certain limitations, our bylaws provide that, unless we consent in writing to the selection of an alternative forum, the Court of Chancery in 
the State of Delaware will be the sole and exclusive forum for any stockholder (including a beneficial owner) to bring: (a) any derivative action or 
proceeding brought on our behalf; (b) any action asserting a claim of breach of fiduciary duty owed by any of our directors, officers or other employees or 
our stockholders; (c) any action asserting a claim arising pursuant to any provision of the Delaware General Corporate Law or our certificate of 
incorporation or bylaws; or (d) any action asserting a claim governed by the internal affairs doctrine. In addition, our bylaws provide that unless we consent 
in writing to the selection of an alternative forum, the federal district courts of the United States will be the exclusive forum for resolving any complaint 
asserting a cause of action arising under the federal securities laws of the United States against us, our officers, directors, employees or underwriters. These 
limitations on the forum in which stockholders may initiate action against us could create costs or, inconvenience or otherwise adversely affect our 
stockholders’ ability to seek legal redress. If a court were to find the forum-selection provisions contained in our bylaws to be unenforceable, we may incur 
additional costs associated with resolving proceedings in forums other than the Court of Chancery in the State of Delaware and the federal district courts of 
the United States.

Our only significant asset is our ownership interest in our operating subsidiaries and such ownership may not be sufficient to pay dividends or make 
distributions or loans to enable us to pay any dividends on our Class A Common Stock or satisfy our other financial obligations, including our 
obligations under the Tax Receivable Agreement.

We have no direct operations and no significant assets other than our ownership interest in our operating subsidiaries. We depend on our operating 
subsidiaries for distributions, loans and other payments to generate the funds necessary to meet our financial obligations, including our expenses as a 
publicly traded company, to pay any dividends with respect to our Class A Common Stock, and to satisfy our obligations under the Tax Receivable 
Agreement. The financial condition and operating requirements of our operating subsidiaries may limit our ability to obtain cash from our operating 
subsidiaries. The earnings from, or other available assets of, our operating subsidiaries may not be sufficient to pay dividends or make distributions or loans 
to enable us to pay any dividends on our Common Stock or satisfy our other financial obligations, including our obligations under the Tax Receivable 
Agreement.

The ability of our operating subsidiaries (other than subsidiaries which have been designated as unrestricted pursuant to our ability to do so in 
certain limited circumstances) to make distributions, loans and other payments to us for the purposes described above and for any other purpose is governed 
by the terms of the Debt Agreements and will be subject to the negative covenants set forth therein. Any loans or other extensions of credit will be subject 
to the investment covenants under the Rollover Credit Agreements. The “Debt Agreements” means, collectively: (i) the 
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Amendment and Restatement Agreement No. 1 to First Lien Term Loan Credit Agreement, dated as of March 26, 2021, among Greenlight Acquisition 
Corporation, a Delaware corporation; VM Consolidated, Inc. (formerly known as ATS Consolidated, Inc.), a Delaware corporation; American Traffic 
Solutions, Inc., a Kansas corporation; and Lasercraft, Inc., the subsidiary guarantors party thereto, a Georgia corporation; the lenders party thereto from 
time to time; and Bank of America, N.A. as Administrative Agent and Collateral Agent; and (ii) the Revolving Credit Agreement, dated as of March 1, 
2018, among Greenlight Acquisition Corporation, a Delaware corporation; VM Consolidated, Inc., a Delaware corporation; the other Borrowers (for this 
purpose only, as defined therein) party thereto from time to time; the lenders party thereto from time to time; and Bank of America, as the administrative 
agent and the collateral agent; and (iii) the Indenture governing VM Consolidated, Inc.’s 5.50% Senior Notes Due 2029, among VM Consolidated, Inc., 
Wilmington Trust, National Association, and the Guarantors named therein, dated as of March 26, 2021, in the case of each of the foregoing (i) and (ii), as 
amended or otherwise modified from time to time.

Our failure to be current in our SEC filings could pose significant risks to our business, each of which could materially and adversely affect our 
financial condition and results of operations.

Under the Exchange Act, the Company, as reporting company, is required to provide investors on a regular basis with periodic reports that contain 
important financial and business information. Examples of these reports include the annually filed Form 10-K and the quarterly filed Form 10-Q. The 
timely and complete submission of periodic reports provides investors with information to help them make informed investment decisions. Our inability to 
timely file our periodic reports with the SEC, as occurred with our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2021, could have 
an adverse impact on our ability to, among other things, (i) access our credit facilities, (ii) attract and retain key employees, and (iii) raise funds in the 
public markets, any of which could materially and adversely affect our financial condition and results of operations.

If our Class A Common Stock is delisted from Nasdaq, a market for our securities may not continue, which would adversely affect the liquidity and 
price of our securities.

The price of our securities may vary due to general economic conditions and forecasts, our general business condition and the release of our 
financial reports. Additionally, if our securities are not listed on, or become delisted from, Nasdaq for any reason, including for failure to maintain 
compliance with rules for continued listing on Nasdaq, and are quoted on the OTC Bulletin Board or OTC Pink, an inter-dealer automated quotation system 
for equity securities that is not a national securities exchange, the liquidity and price of our securities may be more limited than if we were quoted or listed 
on Nasdaq or another national securities exchange. For example, on March 3, 2022, we received a notice from Nasdaq stating that because we had not yet 
filed our Annual Report on Form 10-K for fiscal year 2021, we were no longer in compliance with Nasdaq Listing Rule 5250(c)(1), which requires listed 
companies to timely file all required periodic financial reports with the SEC. On March 17, 2022, we submitted to Nasdaq a plan to regain compliance with 
Nasdaq’s requirements for continued listing and on March 31, 2022, Nasdaq granted us an extension until May 2, 2022, to regain compliance with Nasdaq’s 
requirements for continued listing. We subsequently regained compliance with Nasdaq listing requirements. 

Our warrants using the trading symbol “VRRMW” were removed from listing by Nasdaq on December 14, 2018, due to an insufficient number of 
round lot holders following completion of the Business Combination. Those warrants are now quoted on OTC Pink under the symbol “VRRMW.” 
Accordingly, the liquidity of our warrants may be more limited than if they were quoted or listed on Nasdaq or another national securities exchange. Our 
securities holders may be unable to sell their securities unless a market can be sustained.

The valuation of our warrants could increase the volatility in our net income (loss) in our consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive 
income (loss).

The warrants originally issued to Gores Sponsor II, LLC in a private placement in connection with the IPO (the "Private Placement Warrants") are 
remeasured at the end of each reporting period and any changes in the fair value of the liability are recorded as a gain or loss on the consolidated statements 
of operations. Significant changes in the fair value of the Private Placement Warrants may create volatility and adversely affect our net income (loss) from 
period to period.

The change in fair value of our warrants is the result of changes in stock price and warrants outstanding at each reporting period. The change in fair 
value of warrant liabilities represents the mark-to-market fair value adjustments to the outstanding warrants issued in connection with the IPO. Significant 
changes in our stock price or number of 
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warrants outstanding may adversely affect our net income (loss) in our consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss).

Our business could be negatively affected as a result of actions of activist stockholders or others.

We may be subject to actions or proposals from stockholders or others that may not align with our business strategies or the interests of our other 
stockholders. Responding to such actions can be costly and time-consuming, disrupt our business and operations, and divert the attention of our Board, 
management, and employees from the pursuit of our business strategies. Such activities could interfere with our ability to execute our strategic plan. 
Activist stockholders or others may create perceived uncertainties as to the future direction of our business or strategy which may be exploited by our 
competitors and may make it more difficult to attract and retain qualified personnel and potential guests, and may affect our relationships with current 
guests, vendors, investors, and other third parties. In addition, a proxy contest for the election of directors at our annual meeting would require us to incur 
significant legal fees and proxy solicitation expenses and require significant time and attention by management and our Board. The perceived uncertainties 
as to our future direction also could affect the market price and volatility of our securities.

Risks Related to Our Vendors

Our reliance on third-party providers could have a material adverse effect on our business.

We rely heavily on third-party providers, including subcontractors, manufacturers, software vendors, software application developers, and utility and 
network providers, to meet their obligations to us in a timely and high-quality manner. For example, we rely on third parties such as the National Law 
Enforcement Telecommunications System, Polk, DMVDesk, CVR and Dealertrack to provide a direct connection to state departments of motor vehicles 
(and their European equivalents) and other governmental agencies with which we do not have direct relationships for the driver and other information we 
use in our business. Our ability to offer our solutions would be materially affected if this access was unavailable or materially restricted, or if the price we 
pay increased significantly. Our Government Solutions business also relies on a number of third-party manufacturers, including camera manufacturers and 
automated license plate recognition providers, and outsources some engineering, construction, maintenance, printing and mailing, call center, image review 
and violations processing work. Further, if one or more tolling authorities cancels our accounts, or stops providing transponders and we are unable to obtain 
transponders through other sources, our Commercial Services business would be affected. Our Parking Solutions business also relies on a number of 
domestic and foreign third-party manufacturers in the production of our Pay Station, PARCS and PE hardware solutions, and our inability to access third-
party providers could have a material adverse effect on our business. 

We also outsource a meaningful percentage of our software development work to third parties. Some of our agreements with these third parties 
include termination rights, allowing the third party to terminate the arrangement in certain circumstances. For example, the agreements with our third-party 
payment processors give them the right to terminate the relationship if we fail to keep credit card chargeback and retrieval rates below certain thresholds. If 
any of our third-party providers are unable or unwilling to meet their obligations to us, fail to satisfy our expectations or those of our customers, including 
those imposed through flow-down provisions in prime contracts, or if they terminate or refuse to renew their relationships with us on substantially similar 
terms, we may be unable to find adequate replacements within a reasonable time frame, on favorable commercial terms or at all, and our business, financial 
condition and results of operations could be materially and adversely affected.

While we perform some due diligence on these third parties and take measures to ensure that they comply with applicable laws and regulations, we 
do not have an extensive screening or review process and ultimately cannot guarantee our third-party providers will comply with applicable laws, the terms 
of their agreements or flow-down requirements from our customers. Misconduct or performance deficiencies by any of our third-party providers may be 
perceived as misconduct or poor performance by us, cause us to fall short on our contractual obligations to our customers or harm our reputation, any of 
which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

29



 
We rely on communications networks and information systems and any interruption could have a material adverse effect on our business.

We rely heavily on the satisfactory performance and availability of our information technology infrastructure and systems, including our websites 
and network infrastructure, to conduct our business. We rely on third-party communications service and system providers to provide technology services 
and link our systems with our customers’ networks and systems, including a reliable network backbone with the necessary speed, data capacity and 
security. We also rely on third-party vendors, including data center, bandwidth and telecommunications equipment providers. A failure or interruption that 
results in the unavailability of any of our information systems or a major disruption of communications between a system and the customers we serve could 
disrupt the effective operation of our solutions and otherwise adversely impact our ability to manage our business effectively. We may experience system 
and service interruptions or disruptions for a variety of reasons, including as the result of network failures, power outages, cyber-attacks, employee errors, 
software errors, an unusually high volume of transactions, or localized conditions such as fire, explosions or power outages or broader geographic events 
such as earthquakes, storms, floods, epidemics, strikes, acts of war, civil unrest or terrorist acts. We have taken steps to mitigate our exposure to certain 
service disruptions by investing in redundant or blended circuits, although the redundant or blended circuits may also suffer disruption. Because we are 
dependent in part on independent third parties for the implementation and maintenance of certain aspects of our systems and because some of the causes of 
system interruptions may be outside of our control, we may not be able to remedy such interruptions in a timely manner, or at all. Any interruption or delay 
in or cessation of these services and systems could significantly disrupt operations, impact customers, damage our reputation, result in litigation, decrease 
the overall use and acceptance of our solutions, result in lost data and be costly, time consuming and difficult to remedy, any of which could have a material 
adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

General Risk Factors

Uncertainty about current and future economic conditions and other adverse changes in general political conditions.
 

Adverse macroeconomic conditions, including higher interest rates, inflation, slower growth or recession, barriers to trade, changes to fiscal and 
monetary policy, tighter credit, high unemployment, currency fluctuations, and other events beyond our control, such as economic sanctions, natural 
disasters, pandemics, including the COVID-19 pandemic, epidemics, political instability, armed conflicts and wars, including the Russia-Ukraine war, can 
materially adversely affect demand for our products and services. In addition, consumer spending and activities may be materially adversely affected in 
response to financial market volatility, negative financial news, conditions in the real estate and mortgage markets, declines in income or asset values, 
energy shortages and cost increases, labor and healthcare costs and other economic factors, all of which may have a negative affect on our business and 
results of operations.
 

Additionally, uncertainty about, or a decline in, global or regional economic conditions may have a significant impact on our suppliers, 
manufacturers, logistics providers, distributors and other partners. Potential effects on our suppliers and partners include financial instability, inability to 
obtain credit to finance operations, and insolvency. A downturn in the economic environment can also lead to increased credit and collectability risk on our 
trade receivables, the failure of derivative counterparties and other financial institutions, limitations on our ability to issue new debt, reduced liquidity, and 
declines in the fair value of our financial instruments. These and other economic factors can materially adversely affect our business, results of operations, 
financial condition and stock price.
 

If we fail to maintain an effective system of internal controls, we may not be able to accurately report our financial results.

As a public company, we are required to comply with Section 404 of the Sarbanes Oxley Act of 2002 (“SOX”), which requires, among other things, 
that companies maintain disclosure controls and procedures to ensure timely disclosure of material information, and that management reviews the 
effectiveness of those controls on a quarterly basis.  During fiscal year 2021, we identified material weaknesses in our internal controls over financial 
reporting related to: (i) the monitoring and control activities over the acquisition of Redflex Holdings Pty Ltd. due to the lack of sufficient qualified 
accounting resources to timely identify and assess accounting implications of revenue arrangements assumed as part of the acquisition and to provide 
adequate controls over the completeness and accuracy of inputs used in accounting for the business combination; and (ii) the design and maintenance of 
certain revenue and reporting controls related to a third-party application utilized in performing certain control activities and used in the 
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preparation of our consolidated financial statements. As a result of these material weaknesses, management concluded that our internal control over 
financial reporting was not effective as of December 31, 2021.

During fiscal year 2021, we also identified a material weakness in our internal control over the operation of certain controls over the review of the 
accounting for our Private Placement Warrants related to the April 12, 2021 SEC Staff Statement on Accounting and Reporting Considerations for Warrants 
Issued by Special Purpose Acquisition Companies. This material weakness resulted in a material misstatement of our private placement warrant liability, 
change in fair value of private placement warrant liability, additional paid-in capital and accumulated deficit as of December 31, 2020 and 2019 and for 
years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018. We restated our consolidated financial statements as of December 31, 2020 and 2019 and for the years 
ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018 upon completing our management’s evaluation of the SEC Staff statement as a part of our remediation measures. 
As a result of these material weaknesses, management concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was not effective as of December 31, 
2020. We completed the remediation measures related to the material weakness during fiscal year 2021.

We cannot be certain that we will be able to maintain adequate controls over our financial processes and reporting in the future or that we will be 
able to comply with our obligations under Section 404 of SOX. If we fail to maintain the adequacy of our internal controls, we cannot assure our 
stockholders that we will be able to conclude in the future that we have effective internal control over financial reporting, and/or we may encounter 
difficulties in implementing or improving our internal controls, which could harm our operating results or cause us to fail to meet our reporting obligations. 
If we fail to maintain effective internal controls, investors may lose confidence in the accuracy and completeness of our financial reports, the market price 
of our securities may be negatively affected, and we could be subject to sanctions or investigation by regulatory authorities, such as the SEC or Nasdaq.

Litigation and other disputes and regulatory investigations could have a material adverse effect on our business.

From time to time, we may be involved in litigation and other disputes or regulatory investigations that arise in and outside the ordinary course of 
business. We expect that the number, frequency and significance of these matters may increase as our business expands and we grow as a company. 
Litigation, disputes, or regulatory investigations may relate to, among other things, intellectual property, commercial arrangements, negligence and 
fiduciary duty claims, vicarious liability based upon conduct of individuals or entities outside of our control, including our third-party service providers, 
antitrust claims, deceptive trade practices, claims related to invoicing, personal injury claims, general fraud claims and employment law claims, including 
compliance with wage and hour regulations and contractual requirements. An adverse determination may result in liability to us for the claim and may also 
result in the imposition of penalties and/or fines. Like other companies that handle sensitive personal and payment information, we also face the possibility 
of allegations regarding employee fraud or misconduct. In addition to more general litigation, at times we are also a named party in claims made against our 
customers, including putative class actions challenging the legality and constitutionality of automated photo enforcement and other similar programs of our 
Government Solutions customers and consumer fraud claims brought against our RAC customers alleging faulty disclosures regarding our services. 

As a public company, we may also be subject to securities class action and stockholder derivative lawsuits. From time to time, we may also be 
reviewed or investigated by U.S. federal, state, or local regulators or regulators in the foreign jurisdictions in which we operate regarding similar and other 
matters, including tax assessments. 

These investigations can be commenced at the initiative of the governmental authority or as a result of complaints by private citizens, regardless of 
whether the complaint has any merit. At times, we are also required to obtain licensing and permitting, including with respect to matters such as general 
contracting, performance of engineering services, performance of electrical work and performance of private investigative work. Although we carry general 
liability insurance coverage, our insurance may not cover all potential claims to which we are exposed, whether as a result of a dispute, litigation or 
governmental investigation, and it may not adequately indemnify us for all liability that may be imposed.
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Any claims against us or investigation into our business and activities, whether meritorious or not, could be time consuming, result in significant 

legal and other expenses, require significant amounts of management time and result in the diversion of significant operational resources. Class action 
lawsuits can often be particularly burdensome given the breadth of claims, large potential damages and significant costs of defense. In the case of 
intellectual property litigation and proceedings, adverse outcomes could include the cancellation, invalidation or other loss of material intellectual property 
rights used in our business and injunctions prohibiting our use of business processes or technology that is subject to third-party patents or other third-party 
intellectual property rights. Legal or regulatory matters involving our directors, officers or employees in their individual capacities can also create exposure 
for us because we may be obligated or may choose to indemnify the affected individuals against liabilities and expenses they incur in connection with such 
matters. Regulatory investigations, including with respect to proper licensing, payment of wages, procurement practices or permitting, can also lead to 
enforcement actions, fines and penalties, the loss of a license or permit or the assertion of private litigation claims. Risks associated with these liabilities are 
often difficult to assess or quantify and their existence and magnitude can remain unknown for significant periods of time, making the amount of any legal 
reserves related to these legal liabilities difficult to determine and, if a reserve is established, subject to future revision. Future results of operations could be 
adversely affected if any reserve that we establish for a legal liability is increased or the underlying legal proceeding, investigation or other contingency is 
resolved for an amount in excess of established reserves. Because litigation and other disputes and regulatory investigations are inherently unpredictable, 
the results of any of these matters may have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Risks related to laws and regulations and any changes in those laws could have a material adverse effect on our business.

We are subject to multiple, and sometimes conflicting, laws and regulations in the countries, states and localities in which we operate. We are 
required to comply with certain SEC, Nasdaq and other legal or regulatory requirements. Compliance with, and monitoring of, applicable laws, regulations 
and rules may be difficult, time consuming and costly. 

In addition to the laws and regulations discussed elsewhere in these risk factors regarding data privacy, foreign operations and other matters, we are 
subject to laws regarding transportation safety, consumer protection, procurement, anti-kickback, labor and employment matters, competition and antitrust, 
payment processing, intellectual property, environmental matters, and other trade-related laws and regulations. Certain of our operations are also subject to 
oversight by the USDOT, the Federal Communications Commission, the U.S. Consumer Product Safety Commission, and the Environmental Protection 
Agency, as well as comparable state and local agencies, including departments of transportation, departments of motor vehicles, professional licensing 
authorities and offices of inspector general. Our Government Solutions segment is also subject to laws related to the use of automated traffic enforcement, 
the capture, access and retention of data and matters related to government contracting. 

Recent years have seen a substantial increase in the number of new laws and regulations and the rate of change and enforcement of many of these 
types of laws and regulations. We cannot predict the nature, scope or impact of future laws, regulatory requirements or similar standards may have on our 
business, whether implemented through changes to existing laws or the way they are administered or interpreted, or through entirely new regulations. 
Future laws, regulations, and standards or any changed interpretation or administration of existing laws or regulations could limit the continued use or 
adoption of one or more of our solutions, require us to incur additional costs, impact our ability to develop and market new solutions or impact our ability 
to retain existing business and secure new business. We may not be able to respond in a reasonable or cost-effective manner, or at all. Even if we make what 
we believe are appropriate changes, there is no certainty those actions will comply.

Any alleged or actual violations of any law or regulation, change in law or regulation or changes in the interpretation of existing laws or regulations 
may subject us to government scrutiny, including government or regulatory investigations and enforcement actions, civil and criminal fines and penalties, 
and negative publicly, or otherwise have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Our failure to properly perform under our contracts or otherwise satisfy our customers could have a material adverse effect on our business.

Our business model depends in large part on our ability to retain existing work and attract new work from existing customers. If a customer is not 
satisfied with our products, services or solutions or the timeliness or quality of our work, we may incur additional costs to address the problem, the 
profitability of that contract may be impaired, we may experience payment delays, it could do harm to our reputation and hinder our ability to win new 
work from prospective customers. Failure to properly transition new customers to our systems or existing customers to our different systems, properly 
budget transition costs or accurately estimate contract costs could also result in delays and general customer dissatisfaction. Many of our contracts may be 
terminated by the customer upon specified advance notice without cause. Any failure to properly perform under our contracts or meet our customers’ 
expectations could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.
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Unanticipated changes in effective tax rates or adverse outcomes resulting from examination of our income or other tax returns could adversely affect 
our financial condition and results of operations.

We are subject to income taxes in numerous countries, and our domestic tax liabilities are subject to the allocation of expenses in differing 
jurisdictions. Our future effective tax rates could be subject to volatility or adversely affected by a number of factors, including:

• changes in the valuation of our deferred tax assets and liabilities; 

• expected timing and amount of the release of any tax valuation allowances;

• tax effects of stock-based compensation;

• costs related to intercompany restructurings;

• changes in tax laws, regulations or interpretations thereof; or

• lower than anticipated future earnings in jurisdictions where we have lower statutory tax rates and higher than anticipated future earnings 
in jurisdictions where we have higher statutory tax rates.

In addition, we are subject to audits of our income, sales and other transaction taxes by U.S. federal and state authorities, as well as foreign tax 
authorities. Outcomes from these audits could have an adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments

None.

Item 2. Properties

We lease all of the properties used in our business, including 108,956 square feet of office space for our corporate headquarters in Mesa, Arizona. In 
addition to the corporate headquarters, we lease office space in various locations for corporate and administrative purposes and multiple small warehouse 
locations. We do not consider any of these properties to be material to our overall business.

33



 

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

We are subject to legal and regulatory actions that arise from time to time in the ordinary course of business, and may be subject to similar or other 
claims in the future. Legal disputes and other claims and proceedings may relate to, among other things, intellectual property, commercial arrangements, 
negligence and fiduciary duty claims, vicarious liability based on conduct of individuals or entities outside of our control, including our third-party service 
providers, antitrust claims, deceptive trade practices, general fraud claims and employment law claims, including compliance with wage and hour 
regulations. In addition to more general litigation, at times we have also been a named party in claims made against our customers, including putative class 
actions challenging the legality and constitutionality of automated photo enforcement and other similar programs of our Government Solutions customers, 
and consumer fraud claims brought against us and our Commercial Services customers alleging faulty disclosures regarding our services. From time to 
time, we may also be reviewed or investigated by U.S. federal, state or local regulators or regulators in the foreign jurisdictions in which we operate 
regarding these and other matters, including proper licensing and tax assessments. All litigation is inherently unpredictable and we could incur judgments 
or enter into settlements or claims in the future that could materially impact our results. 

On November 2, 2020, PlusPass, Inc. (“PlusPass”) commenced an action in the United States District Court, Central District of California, against 
Verra Mobility, The Gores Group LLC, Platinum Equity LLC, and ATS Processing Services, Inc., alleging civil violations of federal antitrust statutes: 
Section 7 of the Clayton Antitrust Act of 1914 (the “Clayton Act”), and Sections 1 and 2 of the Sherman Act. On November 20, 2020, PlusPass filed a First 
Amended Complaint. On February 9, 2021, the defendants filed motions to dismiss, and PlusPass subsequently abandoned various theories and claims and 
dismissed The Gores Group LLC, Platinum Equity LLC, and ATS Processing Services, Inc. On April 27, 2021, PlusPass filed a Second Amended 
Complaint (“SAC”), alleging that Verra Mobility violated Section 7 of the Clayton Act through the merger of Highway Toll Administration, LLC (“HTA”) 
and American Traffic Solutions, Inc. (“ATS”) in 2018, and that Verra Mobility violated Sections 1 and 2 of the Sherman Antitrust Act of 1890 by using 
exclusive agreements in restraint of trade and other allegedly anticompetitive means to acquire and maintain monopoly power in the market for the 
administration of electronic toll payment collection for rental cars. PlusPass seeks injunctive relief, divestiture by Verra Mobility of HTA, damages in an 
amount to be determined, and attorneys’ fees and costs. On May 28, 2021, Verra Mobility filed a motion to dismiss the SAC in its entirety, which was 
denied in August 2021. Discovery is underway and trial has been set for November 2023. Verra Mobility believes that all of PlusPass' claims are without 
merit and will defend itself vigorously in this litigation.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures

Not applicable.
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PART II

Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

Market Information

Our Class A Common Stock is currently quoted on Nasdaq under the symbol “VRRM” and our warrants are currently quoted on OTC Pink under 
the symbol “VRRMW.”  

The following table sets forth the high and low sales prices per share of our Class A Common Stock as reported on Nasdaq for the two most recent 
fiscal years:
 

 Fiscal Year 2022   Fiscal Year 2021  
 High   Low   High   Low  
First Quarter $ 18.13   $ 14.10   $ 15.38   $ 12.54  
Second Quarter $ 16.73   $ 12.70   $ 15.94   $ 13.38  
Third Quarter $ 17.31   $ 14.92   $ 17.50   $ 14.26  
Fourth Quarter $ 17.60   $ 12.76   $ 17.01   $ 13.47  

 

Holders of Record

As of December 31, 2022, we had six holders of record of our Class A Common Stock. Because many of our shares of Class A Common Stock are 
held by brokers and other institutions on behalf of stockholders, we are unable to estimate the total number of stockholders represented by these record 
holders.

Warrants

As of December 31, 2022, there were warrants outstanding to acquire 19,999,967 shares of our Class A Common Stock including: (i) 6,666,666 
Private Placement Warrants; and (ii) 13,333,301 warrants issued in connection with the IPO (the “Public Warrants” and, together with the Private 
Placement Warrants, the “Warrants”). The Warrants entitle the registered holder to purchase one share of our Class A Common Stock at a price of $11.50 
per share, subject to certain adjustments.

The Warrants became exercisable on November 16, 2018, 30 days following the completion of the Business Combination, and expire five years after 
that date, or earlier upon redemption or liquidation. We may redeem the outstanding Warrants at a price of $0.01 per warrant, if the last sale price of our 
Class A Common Stock equals or exceeds $18.00 per share for any 20 trading days within a 30 trading-day period ending on the third business day before 
we send the notice of redemption to the Warrant holders. The Private Placement Warrants, however, are nonredeemable so long as they are held by Gores 
Sponsor II, LLC or its permitted transferees. 

Dividends

We have not paid any cash dividends on our Class A Common Stock to date. The payment of cash dividends in the future will be dependent upon 
our revenues and earnings, if any, capital requirements and general financial condition. The payment of any cash dividends is within the discretion of our 
Board. In addition, our Board is not currently contemplating and does not anticipate declaring any stock dividends in the foreseeable future. Further, our 
ability to declare dividends is limited by restrictive covenants in the agreements governing our indebtedness.

Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans

The information required by this item with respect to our equity compensation plans is incorporated by reference to our Proxy Statement for the 
2023 annual meeting of stockholders.
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Stock Performance Graph

 

The graph above compares the cumulative total return on our Class A Common Stock with that of the S&P 500 Index, the S&P Composite 1500 
Data Processing & Outsourced Services Index and the Russell 2000 Index. The period shown commences on October 18, 2018 and ends on December 31, 
2022, the end of our last fiscal year. The graph assumes an investment of $100 in each of the above on the close of market on October 18, 2018. We did not 
declare or pay any dividends on our Class A Common Stock during the comparison period. The stock performance graph is not necessarily indicative of 
future price performance. 

This performance graph is not deemed to be incorporated by reference into any of our other filings under the Exchange Act, or the Securities Act, 
except to the extent we specifically incorporate it by reference into such filings.

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities and Use of Proceeds

None.

Purchases of Equity Securities by the Issuer and Affiliated Purchasers

In May 2022, our Board of Directors authorized a share repurchase program for up to an aggregate amount of $125.0 million of our outstanding
shares of Class A common stock over a 12-month period in open market, accelerated share repurchase (“ASR”) or privately negotiated transactions, each as 
permitted under applicable rules and regulations, any of which may use pre-arranged trading plans that are designed to meet the requirements of Rule 10b5-
1 of the Exchange Act. 
 

We subsequently paid $50.0 million in May 2022 to repurchase outstanding shares of our Class A Common Stock through an ASR, and received an 
initial delivery of 2,739,726 shares. The final settlement occurred in August 2022, at which time we received 445,086 additional shares. In addition, during 
the second and third quarters, we paid $6.9 million and repurchased 445,791 shares of our Class A Common Stock through open market transactions. Our 
Board of Directors authorized a second ASR during the third quarter of 2022 for the remaining availability under the share repurchase program and we paid 
$68.1 million in August 2022 and received an initial delivery of 3,300,000 
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shares of our Class A Common Stock. The final settlement occurred in November 2022, at which time we received 943,361 additional shares.
 

In November 2022, our Board of Directors authorized a new share repurchase program for up to an aggregate amount of $100.0 million of our 
outstanding shares of Class A common stock over an 18-month period in open market, ASR or privately negotiated transactions, each as permitted under 
applicable rules and regulations, any of which may use pre-arranged trading plans that are designed to meet the requirements of Rule 10b5-1 of the 
Exchange Act. The Company has not yet repurchased shares under this repurchase program.
 

The following details the purchases of the Company's Class A Common Stock during the three months ended December 31, 2022:
 

Period  Total Number of 
Shares Purchased   Average Price Paid per 

Share   
Total Number of Shares 

Purchased as Part of Publicly 
Announced Plans or Programs

  
Maximum Dollar Value of Shares that May 

Yet to be Purchased Under the Plans or 
Programs

 

As of October 1, 2022   —   $ —    —   $ —  

Share repurchases   —   $ —    —   $ —  

As of October 31, 2022   —   $ —    —   $ —  
Share repurchases   943,361   $ 16.27    943,361   $ —  

As of November 30, 2022   943,361   $ —    943,361   $ 100,000,000  

Share repurchases   —   $ —    —   $ —  
As of December 31, 2022   943,361   $ —    943,361   $ 100,000,000  
 
(1) This relates to the final share settlement of the second ASR on November 4, 2022.

Earn-Out Agreement

Under the Merger Agreement, the Platinum Stockholder is entitled to receive additional shares of Class A Common Stock (the “Earn-Out Shares”) 
if the volume weighted average closing sale price of one share of Class A Common Stock on the Nasdaq exceeds certain thresholds for a period of at least 
10 days out of 20 consecutive trading days at any time during the five-year period following the closing of the Business Combination (the “Common Stock 
Price”). The expiration of the five-year period is October 17, 2023.

The Earn-Out Shares are issued by the Company to the Platinum Stockholder as follows: 

Common Stock Price Thresholds  One-time Issuance of Shares
> $13.00  2,500,000
> $15.50  2,500,000
> $18.00  2,500,000
> $20.50  2,500,000

 
(a) The first and second tranches of Earn-Out Shares have been issued, as discussed below.

 
If any of the Common Stock Price thresholds above (each, a “Triggering Event”) are not achieved within the five-year period following the closing 

of the Business Combination, the Company will not be required to issue the Earn-Out Shares in respect of such Common Stock Price threshold. In no event 
shall the Platinum Stockholder be entitled to receive more than an aggregate of 10,000,000 Earn-Out Shares.

If, during the earn-out period, there is a change of control (as defined in the Merger Agreement) that will result in the holders of our Class A 
Common Stock receiving a per share price equal to or in excess of the applicable Common Stock Price required in connection with any Triggering Event, 
then immediately prior to the consummation of such change of control: (a) any such Triggering Event that has not previously occurred shall be deemed to 
have occurred; and (b) the Company shall issue the applicable Earn-Out Shares to the cash consideration stockholders (as defined in the Merger 
Agreement) (in accordance with their respective pro rata cash share), and the recipients of the issued Earn-Out Shares shall be eligible to participate in such 
change of control.
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The Company estimated the original fair value of the contingently issuable shares to be $73.15 million, of which $36.6 million remains contingently 

issuable as of December 31, 2022. The estimated value is not subject to future revisions during the five-year period discussed above. The Company used a 
Monte Carlo simulation option-pricing model to arrive at its original estimate. Each tranche was valued separately giving specific consideration to the 
tranche’s price target. The simulation considered volatility and risk-free rates utilizing a peer group based on a five-year term. This was initially recorded as 
a distribution to shareholders and was presented as common stock contingent consideration. Upon the occurrence of a Triggering Event, any issuable shares 
are transferred from common stock contingent consideration to common stock and additional paid-in capital accounts. Any contingently issuable shares not 
issued as a result of a Triggering Event not being attained by the end of the earn-out period will be canceled.

On April 26, 2019 and on January 27, 2020, the Triggering Events for the issuance of the first and second tranches of Earn-Out Shares occurred, as 
the volume weighted average closing sale price per share of the Company’s Class A Common Stock as of that date had been greater than $13.00 and 
$15.50, respectively, for 10 out of 20 consecutive trading days. These Triggering Events resulted in the issuance of an aggregate 5,000,000 shares of the 
Company’s Class A Common Stock to the Platinum Stockholder and an increase in the Company’s common stock and additional paid-in capital accounts of 
$36.6 million, with a corresponding decrease to the common stock contingent consideration account. At December 31, 2022, the potential future shares 
issuable pursuant to the earn-out are between zero and 5.0 million. 

Item 6. Selected Financial Data
 

Not applicable.
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

 
The following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations should be read together with the consolidated financial 

statements and the related notes that are included in Item 8 of Part II of this Annual Report.

Business Overview

We are a leading provider of smart mobility technology solutions throughout the United States, Australia, Europe and Canada. We make 
transportation safer, smarter and more connected through our integrated, data-driven solutions, including toll and violations management, title and 
registration services, automated safety and traffic enforcement and commercial parking management. We bring together vehicles, hardware, software, data, 
and people to solve transportation challenges for customers around the world, including fleet owners such as RACs and FMCs, governments, universities,
parking operators, healthcare facilities, transportation hubs and other violation-issuing authorities.
 

Executive Summary 

We operate under long-term contracts and a highly reoccurring service revenue model. We continue to execute our strategy to grow revenue 
organically and expand offerings into adjacent markets through innovation or acquisition. During the periods presented, we:

• Increased total revenue by $191.0 million, or 35%, from $550.6 million in fiscal year 2021 to $741.6 million in fiscal year 2022. Redflex 
and T2 Systems contributed $113.9 million to revenue growth, and the remaining increase was mainly due to service revenue resulting from 
increased travel volume and tolling activity in 2022 in the Commercial Services segment and expansion of speed programs in the 
Government Solutions segment; and 
 

• Generated cash flows from operating activities of $218.3 million, $193.2 million, and $46.9 million for fiscal years 2022, 2021 and 2020, 
respectively. Our cash on hand was $105.2 million as of December 31, 2022. 

 
• Authorized two share repurchase programs, together totaling $225.0 million, during fiscal year 2022. We used existing cash on hand of 

$125.0 million to repurchase shares under the first repurchase program and have not yet repurchased shares under the second repurchase 
program.

 
• Entered into an interest rate swap agreement to hedge our exposure to interest rate fluctuations associated with the LIBOR portion of the 

variable interest rate on our 2021 Term Loan.

Significant Events Impacting Our Business
 
Share Repurchase and Retirement

On May 7, 2022, our Board of Directors authorized a share repurchase program for up to an aggregate amount of $125.0 million of our outstanding 
Class A Common Stock over the next 12 months from time to time in open market, ASR or privately negotiated transactions, each as permitted under 
applicable rules and regulations, any of which may use pre-arranged trading plans that are designed to meet the requirements of Rule 10b5-1 of the 
Exchange Act. 

On May 12, 2022, we paid $50.0 million for an ASR, and received an initial delivery of 2,739,726 shares of our Class A Common Stock in 
accordance with an ASR agreement with a third-party financial institution. The final settlement occurred on August 3, 2022, at which time, we received 
445,086 additional shares calculated using a volume-weighted average price over the term of the ASR agreement. In addition, we paid $6.9 million and 
repurchased 445,791 shares of our Class A Common Stock through open market transactions during the year ended December 31, 2022. Our Board of 
Directors authorized a second ASR during the third quarter of 2022 for the remaining availability under the share repurchase program. On August 19, 2022, 
we paid $68.1 million for this second ASR and received an initial delivery of 3,300,000 shares of our Class A Common Stock in accordance with an ASR 
agreement with a third-party financial institution. The final settlement occurred on November 4, 2022, at which time, we received 943,361 additional shares
calculated using a volume-weighted average price over the term of the ASR agreement. We used 
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existing cash on hand and paid a total of $125.0 million for shares repurchases and $0.1 million for direct costs during the year ended December 31, 2022.
 

In November 2022, our Board of Directors authorized a new share repurchase program for up to an aggregate amount of $100.0 million of our 
outstanding shares of Class A Common Stock over an 18-month period in open market, ASR or privately negotiated transactions, each as permitted under 
applicable rules and regulations, any of which may use pre-arranged trading plans that are designed to meet the requirements of Rule 10b5-1 of the 
Exchange Act. The Company has not yet repurchased shares under this repurchase program.

 
Interest Rate Swap Agreement
 

In December 2022, we entered into a cancellable interest rate swap agreement to hedge our exposure to interest rate fluctuations associated with the 
LIBOR portion of the variable interest rate on our 2021 Term Loan. Under the interest rate swap agreement, we pay a fixed rate and the counterparty pays a 
variable interest rate which is net settled. The notional amount on the interest rate swap is $675 million. We have the option to terminate the interest rate 
swap agreement starting in December 2023, and monthly thereafter until December 2025, in the event interest rates decrease. Any changes in the fair value 
of the derivative instrument (including accrued interest) are recorded in the consolidated statements of operations within the gain on interest rate swap line 
item, and we recorded a $1.0 million gain for the year ended December 31, 2022. See Note 2, Significant Accounting Policies, in Item 8, Financial 
Statements and Supplementary Data, for additional information on the interest rate swap. 

Segments 

We have three operating and reportable segments, Commercial Services, Government Solutions and Parking Solutions:

• Our Commercial Services segment offers toll and violation management solutions and title and registration services for RACs and FMCs in 
North America. In Europe, we provide tolling and violations processing services.

 
• Our Government Solutions segment offers photo enforcement solutions and services to its customers. We provide complete, end-to-end 

speed, red-light, school bus stop arm and bus lane enforcement solutions within the United States and Canada. The international operations 
through Redflex primarily involve the sale of traffic enforcement products and related maintenance services. 

• Our Parking Solutions segment provides an integrated suite of parking software and hardware solutions to universities, municipalities, 
parking operators, healthcare facilities and transportation hubs in the United States and Canada. 

Segment performance is based on revenues and income from operations before depreciation, amortization, and stock-based compensation. The 
measure also excludes interest expense, net, income taxes and certain other transactions and is inclusive of other income, net. 

During the third quarter of 2022, we changed our measure of segment profit to include (gain) loss on disposal of assets, net, and to exclude 
transaction and transformation expenses that were previously included within the selling, general and administrative expenses and other income, net line 
items.  The comparable periods have been recast to conform to the revised presentation, although the impact of this revision to previously reported segment 
profit was not material. See Note 18, Segment Reporting.

Primary Components of Our Operating Results

Revenues
 

Service Revenue. Our Commercial Services segment generates service revenue primarily through the operation and management of tolling programs 
and processing violations for RACs, FMCs and other large fleet customers. These solutions are full-service offerings by which we enroll the license plates 
of our customers’ vehicles and transponders with tolling authority accounts, pay tolls and violations on the customers’ behalf and, through proprietary 
technology, integrate with customer data to match the toll or violation to the driver and then bill the driver (or our 
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customer, as applicable) for use of the service. The cost of certain tolls, violations and our customers’ share of administration fees are netted against 
revenue. We also generate service revenue in our Commercial Services segment through processing titles and registrations.

 
Our Government Solutions segment generates service revenue through the operation and maintenance of photo enforcement systems. Revenue 

drivers in this segment include the number of systems installed and the monthly revenue per system. Ancillary service revenue is generated in our 
Government Solutions segment from payment processing, pass-through fees for collection expense, and other fees.

 
Our Parking Solutions segment generates service revenue mainly from offering software as a service, subscription fees, professional services and 

citation processing services related to parking management solutions to its customers. 
 
Product Sales.  Product sales are generated by the sale of photo enforcement equipment in the Government Solutions segment and specialized 

hardware in the Parking Solutions segment. Customer buying patterns vary greatly from period to period related to product sales. 

Costs and Expenses

Cost of Service Revenue. Cost of service revenue consists of recurring service costs, collection and other third-party costs in our segments.

Cost of Product Sales. Cost of product sales consists of the cost to acquire and install photo enforcement equipment purchased by Government 
Solutions customers and costs to develop and install hardware sold to Parking Solutions customers.

Operating Expenses. Operating expenses primarily include payroll and payroll-related costs (including stock-based compensation), subcontractor 
costs, payment processing and other operational costs, including print, postage and communication costs.

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses. Selling, general and administrative expenses include payroll and payroll-related costs (including 
stock-based compensation), real estate lease expense, insurance costs, professional services fees, acquisition costs and general corporate expenses.

Depreciation, Amortization and (Gain) Loss on Disposal of Assets, Net. Depreciation, amortization and (gain) loss on disposal of assets, net includes 
depreciation on property, plant and equipment, and amortization of definite-lived intangible assets. This line item also includes any one-time gains or losses 
incurred in connection with the disposal of certain assets.

Interest Expense, Net. This includes interest expense and amortization of deferred financing costs and discounts and is net of interest income.

Change in Fair Value of Private Placement Warrants. Change in fair value of private placement warrants consists of liability adjustments related to 
the 6,666,666 Private Placement Warrants originally issued to Gores Sponsor II, LLC  re-measured to fair value at the end of each reporting period.

Tax Receivable Agreement Liability Adjustment. This consists of adjustments made to our Tax Receivable Agreement liability due to changes in 
estimates.

Gain on Interest Rate Swap.  Gain on interest rate swap relates to the gain associated with the derivative instrument re-measured to fair value at the 
end of each reporting period.

(Gain) Loss on Extinguishment of Debt.  (Gain) loss on extinguishment of debt generally consists of early payment penalties and the write-off of 
original issue discounts and deferred financing costs associated with debt extinguishment, and any gains recognized as a result of loan forgiveness.
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Other Income, Net. Other income, net primarily consists of volume rebates earned from total spend on purchasing cards, gains or losses on foreign 
currency transactions and other non-operating expenses.

Results of Operations

Fiscal Year 2022 Compared to Fiscal Year 2021 

The following table sets forth our statements of operations data and expresses each item as a percentage of total revenue for the periods presented as 
well as the changes between periods. The tables and information provided in this section were derived from exact numbers and may have immaterial 
rounding differences.

 
  Year Ended December 31,  

        Percentage of Revenue   
Increase (Decrease)

  2022 vs 2021  
($ in thousands)  2022   2021   2022   2021   $   %  
Service revenue  $ 695,218   $ 492,846    93.7 %  89.5 % $ 202,372    41.1 %
Product sales   46,380    57,744    6.3 %  10.5 %  (11,364 )   (19.7 )%

Total revenue   741,598    550,590    100.0 %  100.0 %  191,008    34.7 %
Cost of service revenue   16,330    5,337    2.2 %  1.0 %  10,993    206.0 %
Cost of product sales   30,932    29,809    4.2 %  5.4 %  1,123    3.8 %
Operating expenses   226,324    163,370    30.5 %  29.7 %  62,954    38.5 %
Selling, general and administrative expenses   163,133    123,407    22.0 %  22.4 %  39,726    32.2 %
Depreciation, amortization and (gain) loss on 
disposal of assets, net   140,174    116,801    18.9 %  21.2 %  23,373    20.0 %

Total costs and expenses   576,893    438,724    77.8 %  79.7 %  138,169    31.5 %
Income from operations   164,705    111,866    22.2 %  20.3 %  52,839    47.2 %

Interest expense, net   69,372    44,942    9.4 %  8.1 %  24,430    54.4 %
Change in fair value of private placement 
warrants   (14,400 )   7,600    (2.0 )%  1.4 %  (22,000 )   (289.5 )%
Tax receivable agreement liability adjustment   (720 )   (1,016 )   (0.1 )%  (0.2 )%  296    (29.1 )%
Gain on interest rate swap   (996 )   —    (0.1 )%  —    (996 )  n/a  
(Gain) loss on extinguishment of debt   (3,005 )   5,334    (0.4 )%  1.0 %  (8,339 )   (156.3 )%
Other income, net   (12,654 )   (12,895 )   (1.7 )%  (2.3 )%  241    (1.9 )%

Total other expenses   37,597    43,965    5.1 %  8.0 %  (6,368 )   (14.5 )%
Income before income taxes   127,108    67,901    17.1 %  12.3 %  59,207    87.2 %
Income tax provision   34,633    26,452    4.6 %  4.8 %  8,181    30.9 %

Net income  $ 92,475   $ 41,449    12.5 %  7.5 % $ 51,026    123.1 %
 
Service Revenue.  Service revenue increased by $202.4 million, or 41.1%, to $695.2 million for fiscal year 2022 from $492.8 million in fiscal year 

2021, representing 93.7% and 89.5% of total revenue, respectively. The following table depicts service revenue by segment:
 

  Year Ended December 31,  

        Percentage of Revenue   
Increase (Decrease)

  2022 vs 2021  
($ in thousands)  2022   2021   2022   2021   $   %  
Service revenue                   

Commercial Services  $ 325,971   $ 260,899    44.0 %  47.4 % $ 65,072    24.9 %
Government Solutions   307,639    227,992    41.4 %  41.4 %  79,647    34.9 %
Parking Solutions   61,608    3,955    8.3 %  0.7 %  57,653    1457.7 %

Total service revenue  $ 695,218   $ 492,846    93.7 %  89.5 % $ 202,372    41.1 %
 
Commercial Services service revenue includes mainly toll and violation management revenues from RACs and FMCs. Commercial Services service 

revenue increased by $65.1 million, or 24.9%, from $260.9 million in fiscal year 
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2021 to $326.0 million in fiscal year 2022. This increase was primarily due to the increase in travel volume in 2022 compared to 2021 which was 
negatively impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic, especially in the first three months of 2021. The volume of tolls incurred by RAC vehicles increased 
along with a shift towards an all-inclusive fee structure from an incidental or daily usage rate and higher pricing for certain products contributed to a $45.4 
million increase, and the tolling related revenue generated by our FMC customers contributed to a $11.8 million increase during the year ended December 
31, 2022 compared to the same period in 2021.

Government Solutions service revenue includes revenue from speed, red-light, school bus stop arm and bus lane photo enforcement systems. Service 
revenue was $307.6 million and $228.0 million for the years ended December 31, 2022, and 2021, respectively, and it increased by $79.6 million. Redflex 
operations contributed $37.4 million to our growth year-over-year. Organic growth excluding Redflex was $42.2 million, which was primarily driven by the 
expansion of school zone speed programs, and speed is the largest product in this segment. We added 752 speed cameras in 2021, excluding Redflex, which 
provided for service revenue growth in 2022, and added 632 speed cameras in 2022 which provided growth in the current period and will continue to 
provide growth for 2023 and beyond. The remaining growth is attributable to other expansions and improvement in variable rate programs that recovered 
from COVID-19 to more normalized volumes.

 
Parking Solutions service revenue increased to $61.6 million in fiscal year 2022 compared to $4.0 million in 2021 due to only 23 days of activity 

being included in fiscal year 2021 since the date of acquisition. 

Product Sales.  Product sales decreased $11.4 million year over year and were $46.4 million and $57.7 million for fiscal years 2022 and 2021, 
respectively. The product sales for the Government Solutions business decreased by $26.1 million largely from a single customer whose buying patterns 
varied from period to period. This decrease was offset by a $14.8 million growth generated from T2 Systems' product sales year over year.

Cost of Service Revenue.  Cost of service revenue increased from $5.3 million for fiscal year 2021 to $16.3 million for fiscal year 2022. The $11.0 
million increase was mainly attributable to the inclusion of costs in the Parking Solutions segment for the full year compared to only 23 days in the prior 
year. The costs in this line item will be higher in future periods due to higher recurring service costs for the Parking Solutions business.

Cost of Product Sales.  Cost of product sales increased slightly year over year and was $30.9 million and $29.8 million for the fiscal years 2022 and 
2021, respectively. This was mainly due to increased costs from the inclusion of T2 Systems for the full year compared to only 23 days in the prior year, 
offset by the reduced costs resulting from the decrease in product sales to Government Solutions customers.

Operating Expenses.  Operating expenses increased by $63.0 million, or 38.5%, from $163.4 million for fiscal year 2021 to $226.3 million in fiscal 
year 2022. This was primarily due to an aggregate $56.0 million increase in costs in the Government Solutions and Parking Solutions segments resulting 
from increased wages expense, subcontractor expenses, recurring services and information technology costs from the inclusion of Redflex for the full fiscal 
year in 2022 compared to approximately two hundred days in 2021 and T2 Systems' operations for the full fiscal year in 2022 compared to only 23 days in 
the prior year. Operating expenses as a percentage of total revenue increased from 29.7% to 30.5% in fiscal years 2021 and 2022, respectively. The 
following table presents operating expenses by segment:

 
  Year Ended December 31,  

        Percentage of Revenue   
Increase (Decrease)

  2022 vs 2021  
($ in thousands)  2022   2021   2022   2021   $   %  
Operating expenses                   

Commercial Services  $ 72,328   $ 65,718    9.8 %  12.0 % $ 6,610    10.1 %
Government Solutions   139,961    96,284    18.9 %  17.5 %  43,677    45.4 %
Parking Solutions   12,905    553    1.7 %  0.1 %  12,352    2233.6 %

Total operating expenses before stock-based 
compensation   225,194    162,555    30.4 %  29.6 %  62,639    38.5 %
Stock-based compensation   1,130    815    0.1 %  0.1 %  315    38.7 %
Total operating expenses  $ 226,324   $ 163,370    30.5 %  29.7 % $ 62,954    38.5 %

 
Selling, General and Administrative Expenses.  Selling, general and administrative expenses increased by $39.7 million to $163.1 million for fiscal 

year 2022 compared to $123.4 million for fiscal year 2021. The increase is primarily due to an aggregate $35.9 million increase due to the inclusion of 
Redflex for the full fiscal year in 2022 as compared to approximately two hundred days in the prior year and T2 Systems' operations included for the full 
fiscal 
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year in 2022 compared to only 23 days in the prior year. In addition, we had an increase of $13.7 million in the Commercial Services segment from 
increased wages expense, professional services and credit loss expenses year over year, and a $2.6 million increase in total stock-based compensation 
expense compared to the prior year. These increases were partially offset by a $12.5 million decrease in certain transaction and transformation costs 
compared to 2021. Selling, general and administrative expenses as a percentage of total revenue decreased slightly from 22.4% to 22.0% in fiscal years 
2021 and 2022, respectively. The following table presents selling, general and administrative expenses by segment:
 

  Year Ended December 31,  

        Percentage of Revenue   
Increase (Decrease)

 2022 vs 2021  
($ in thousands)  2022   2021   2022   2021   $   %  
Selling, general and administrative 
expenses                   

Commercial Services  $ 56,105   $ 42,386    7.5 %  7.7 % $ 13,719    32.4 %
Government Solutions   61,235    51,052    8.3 %  9.3 %  10,183    19.9 %
Parking Solutions   27,104    1,361    3.7 %  0.2 %  25,743    1891.5 %
Corporate and other   3,156    15,639    0.4 %  2.8 %  (12,483 )   (79.8 )%

Total selling, general and administrative 
expenses before stock-based compensation   147,600    110,438    19.9 %  20.0 %  37,162    33.6 %
Stock-based compensation   15,533    12,969    2.1 %  2.4 %  2,564    19.8 %
Total selling, general and administrative 
expenses  $ 163,133   $ 123,407    22.0 %  22.4 % $ 39,726    32.2 %

 
Depreciation, Amortization and (Gain) Loss on Disposal of Assets, Net.  Depreciation, amortization and (gain) loss on disposal of assets, net, 

increased by $23.4 million to $140.2 million for 2022 from $116.8 million for 2021. This was mainly due to increased amortization and depreciation 
expense from the inclusion of T2 Systems' operations for the full fiscal year in 2022 compared to only 23 days in the prior year and Redflex for the full 
fiscal year in 2022 as compared to approximately two hundred days in the prior year.

Interest Expense, Net.  Interest expense, net increased by approximately $24.4 million from $44.9 million in fiscal year 2021 to $69.3 million in 
fiscal year 2022. This increase is due to higher outstanding debt in 2022 which included the $250 million of incremental term loan borrowing, and higher 
interest rates on our variable debt for six months of fiscal year 2022. See “Liquidity and Capital Resources” below.

Change in Fair Value of Private Placement Warrants.  We recorded a $14.4 million gain and a $7.6 million loss in fiscal years 2022 and 2021, 
respectively, related to the changes in fair value of our Private Placement Warrants which are accounted for as liabilities on our consolidated balance sheets. 
The change in fair value is the result of re-measurement of the liability at the end of each reporting period. 

Tax Receivable Agreement Liability Adjustment.  We recorded $0.7 million and $1.0 of tax benefits in fiscal years 2022 and 2021, respectively, as a 
result of lower estimated state tax rates due to changes in apportionment.

Gain on Interest Rate Swap.  We recorded a $1.0 million gain related to the interest rate swap associated with mark-to-market adjustments from re-
measuring to fair value at the end of the reporting period. 

(Gain) Loss on Extinguishment of Debt.  We recorded a $3.0 million gain on extinguishment of debt during the year ended December 31, 2022 
related to the forgiveness of the PPP loan, which is further discussed below.  Loss on extinguishment of debt was $5.3 million for the year ended December 
31, 2021 consisting of a $4.0 million write-off of pre-existing deferred financing costs and discounts and $1.3 million of lender and third-party costs 
associated with the issuance of the 2021 Term Loan, as discussed and defined below.

Other Income, Net.  Other income, net was $12.7 million in fiscal year 2022 compared to $12.9 million in fiscal year 2021. The slight decrease was 
primarily due to income resulting from volume rebates earned from total spend on purchasing cards from increased tolling activity, especially in the RAC 
industry, offset by a $1.3 million impairment related to an equity investment and the remaining due to other non-operating expenses incurred in 2022.
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Income Tax Provision.  Income tax provision was $34.6 million representing an effective tax rate of 27.2% for fiscal year 2022 compared to $26.5 
million, representing an effective tax rate of 39.0% for fiscal year 2021. The Company’s effective tax rate for 2022 was lower compared to 2021 primarily 
due to an increase in pre-tax income in 2022 combined with the permanent differences related to the mark-to-market adjustment on the private placement 
warrants and the adjustments to the carrying value of the Company’s tax receivable agreement liability.

Net Income.  We had net income of $92.5 million for fiscal year 2022 compared to a net income of $41.4 million for 2021. The $51.0 million 
increase in net income was primarily due to the increase in service revenue and the other statement of operations activity discussed above.

 
Fiscal Year 2021 Compared to Fiscal Year 2020
 

The following table sets forth our statements of operations data and expresses each item as a percentage of total revenue for the periods presented as 
well as the changes between periods. The tables and information provided in this section were derived from exact numbers and may have immaterial 
rounding differences.

 
  Year Ended December 31,  

        Percentage of Revenue   
Increase (Decrease)

  2021 vs 2020  
($ in thousands)  2021   2020   2021   2020   $   %  
Service revenue  $ 492,846   $ 336,274    89.5 %  85.4 % $ 156,572    46.6 %
Product sales   57,744    57,319    10.5 %  14.6 %  425    0.7 %

Total revenue   550,590    393,593    100.0 %  100.0 %  156,997    39.9 %
Cost of service revenue   5,337    3,967    1.0 %  1.0 %  1,370    34.5 %
Cost of product sales   29,809    29,573    5.4 %  7.5 %  236    0.8 %
Operating expenses   163,370    115,729    29.7 %  29.4 %  47,641    41.2 %
Selling, general and administrative expenses   123,407    89,664    22.4 %  22.8 %  33,743    37.6 %
Depreciation, amortization and (gain) loss on 
disposal of assets, net   116,801    116,844    21.2 %  29.7 %  (43 )   (0.0 )%

Total costs and expenses   438,724    355,777    79.7 %  90.4 %  82,947    23.3 %
Income from operations   111,866    37,816    20.3 %  9.6 %  74,050    195.8 %

Interest expense, net   44,942    40,865    8.1 %  10.4 %  4,077    10.0 %
Change in fair value of private placement 
warrants   7,600    1,133    1.4 %  0.3 %  6,467    570.8 %
Tax receivable agreement liability adjustment   (1,016 )   6,850    (0.2 )%  1.7 %  (7,866 )   (114.8 )%
Loss on extinguishment of debt   5,334    —    1.0 %  —    5,334   n/a  
Other income, net   (12,895 )   (11,885 )   (2.3 )%  (3.0 )%  (1,010 )   8.5 %

Total other expenses   43,965    36,963    8.0 %  9.4 %  7,002    18.9 %
Income before income taxes   67,901    853    12.3 %  0.2 %  67,048    7860.3 %
Income tax provision   26,452    5,431    4.8 %  1.4 %  21,021    387.1 %

Net income (loss)  $ 41,449   $ (4,578 )   7.5 %  (1.2 )% $ 46,027    1005.4 %
 
Service Revenue.  Service revenue increased by $156.6 million, or 46.6%, to $492.8 million for fiscal year 2021 from $336.3 million in fiscal year 

2020, representing 89.5% and 85.4% of total revenue, respectively. The following table depicts service revenue by segment:
 

  Year Ended December 31,  

        Percentage of Revenue   
Increase (Decrease)

  2021 vs 2020  
($ in thousands)  2021   2020   2021   2020   $   %  
Service revenue                   

Commercial Services  $ 260,899   $ 180,856    47.4 %  46.0 % $ 80,043    44.3 %
Government Solutions   227,992    155,418    41.4 %  39.4 %  72,574    46.7 %
Parking Solutions   3,955    —    0.7 %  —    3,955   n/a  

Total service revenue  $ 492,846   $ 336,274    89.5 %  85.4 % $ 156,572    46.6 %
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Commercial Services service revenue includes toll and violation management revenues from RACs and FMCs. Commercial Services service 

revenue increased by $80.0 million, or 44.3%, from $180.9 million in fiscal year 2020 to $260.9 million in fiscal year 2021. This increase was primarily 
due to the wide distribution of COVID-19 vaccines and the lifting of travel restrictions that positively impacted the travel industry in 2021. Our RAC 
customers experienced a rebound in leisure travel that impacted our volume in 2021 compared to the prior year which was negatively impacted by the 
COVID-19 pandemic.

 
          Government Solutions service revenue includes revenue from speed, red-light, school bus stop arm and bus lane photo enforcement systems. Service 
revenue was $228.0 million and $155.4 million for the years ended December 31, 2021, and 2020, respectively, and it increased by $72.6 million. The 
acquisition of Redflex on June 17, 2021 contributed $33.0 million to our year-over-year growth. Organic growth excluding Redflex was $39.6 million 
which was primarily driven by the expansion of school zone speed programs. Speed is our largest product in this segment and grew $33.5 million in 2021 
excluding Redflex. We added 805 speed cameras in 2020 which provided year-over-year growth in 2021 and 752 speed cameras in 2021 which provided 
growth in the 2021 and will continue to provide growth into 2022. The remaining growth can be attributable to improvement in variable rate programs that 
returned to more normalized volume as COVID-19 restrictions lifted throughout 2021.
 

Parking Solutions service revenue of $4.0 million resulted from the December 7, 2021 acquisition of T2 systems with no revenue in the comparable 
period. 
 

Product Sales.  Product sales increased slightly year over year and were $57.7 million and $57.3 million for fiscal years 2021 and 2020, respectively, 
which relate to revenue generated from Government Solutions and Parking Solutions customers who purchase their equipment. We generated product 
revenue of $8.1 million from the Redflex and T2 Systems acquisitions for which there was no revenue in the comparable period. Prior to these acquisitions, 
product revenue was limited to a few large customers whose buying patterns vary greatly from period to period. Product sales for these customers 
decreased by $7.7 million due to a decline of 60 units sold and to a lesser extent from product mix. 
 

Cost of Service Revenue.  Cost of service revenue increased from $4.0 million for fiscal year 2020 to $5.3 million for fiscal year 2021. The $1.3 
million increase resulted from increased costs from third-party professional services associated with the delivery of certain ancillary services, a portion of 
which related to the Parking Solutions segment with no comparable costs in the prior year. 
 

Cost of Product Sales.  Cost of product sales increased slightly year over year and was $29.8 million and $29.6 million for fiscal years 2021 and 
2020, respectively. This was mainly due to a decrease from the timing of installations at a single customer that is expanding its school zone speed program, 
offset by an increase from the inclusion of Redflex and T2 Systems product sales in the 2021 period with no comparable amounts in the prior year.

 
Operating Expenses.  Operating expenses increased by $47.6 million, or 41.2%, from $115.7 million for fiscal year 2020 to $163.4 million in fiscal 

year 2021. The increase was primarily attributable to increases of $20.4 million in wages expense, $13.4 million for subcontractor expenses and $9.4 
million of recurring services resulting from increased operations in 2021, which were lower in the 2020 year due to the impact from the COVID-19 
pandemic. Operating expenses as a percentage of total revenue increased from 29.4% to 29.7% in fiscal years 2020 and 2021, respectively. This slight 
increase represents improved operating leverage corresponding to the revenue improvement in the Commercial Services segment and decreased operating 
leverage for the Government Solutions business with the addition of Redflex which historically had lower margins than the Verra Mobility business. The 
following table presents operating expenses by segment:
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  Year Ended December 31,  

        Percentage of Revenue   
Increase (Decrease)

 2021 vs 2020  
($ in thousands)  2021   2020   2021   2020   $   %  
Operating expenses                   

Commercial Services  $ 65,718   $ 52,505    12.0 %  13.3 % $ 13,213    25.2 %
Government Solutions   96,284    62,387    17.5 %  15.9 %  33,897    54.3 %
Parking Solutions   553    —    0.1 %  —    553   n/a  

Total operating expenses before stock-based 
compensation   162,555    114,892    29.6 %  29.2 %  47,663    41.5 %
Stock-based compensation   815    837    0.1 %  0.2 %  (22 )   (2.6 )%
Total operating expenses  $ 163,370   $ 115,729    29.7 %  29.4 % $ 47,641    41.2 %
 

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses.  Selling, general and administrative expenses increased by $33.7 million to $123.4 million for fiscal 
year 2021 compared to $89.7 million for fiscal year 2020. The increase was primarily due to $12.4 million in transaction costs incurred related to the 
Redflex and T2 systems acquisitions, increased wages expense due to the reinstatement of employee bonus accrual in 2021, and increased wages, rent, 
information technology and other professional expenses from the inclusion of Redflex operations for approximately 200 days in 2021 with no comparable 
amounts in prior year. These increases were partially offset by a $4.9 million reduction to the credit loss expense resulting from changes in loss rate 
estimates based on improved economic conditions. Selling, general and administrative expenses as a percentage of total revenue decreased from 22.8% to 
22.4% in fiscal years 2020 and 2021, respectively. The following table presents selling, general and administrative expenses by segment:
 

  Year Ended December 31,  

        Percentage of Revenue   
Increase (Decrease)

 2021 vs 2020  
($ in thousands)  2021   2020   2021   2020   $   %  
Selling, general and administrative 
expenses                   

Commercial Services  $ 42,386   $ 40,462    7.7 %  10.3 % $ 1,924    4.8 %
Government Solutions   51,052    34,465    9.3 %  8.8 %  16,587    48.1 %
Parking Solutions   1,361    —    0.2 %  —    1,361   n/a  
Corporate and other   15,639    2,985    2.8 %  0.7 %  12,654    423.9 %

Total selling, general and administrative 
expenses before stock-based compensation   110,438    77,912    20.0 %  19.8 %  32,526    41.7 %
Stock-based compensation   12,969    11,752    2.4 %  3.0 %  1,217    10.4 %
Total selling, general and administrative 
expenses  $ 123,407   $ 89,664    22.4 %  22.8 % $ 33,743    37.6 %
 

Depreciation, Amortization and (Gain) Loss on Disposal of Assets, Net.  Depreciation, amortization and (gain) loss on disposal of assets, net, 
remained consistent at $116.8 million for both fiscal years 2021 and 2020. This was mainly due to a decrease from certain trademark intangibles being fully 
amortized for ten months in fiscal year 2021, offset by increased depreciation and amortization expense resulting from the Redflex and T2 Systems 
acquisitions in 2021 with no comparable amounts in the prior year.
  

Interest Expense, Net.    Interest expense, net increased by $4.0 million from $40.9 million in fiscal year 2020 to $44.9 million in fiscal year 2021. 
This increase was primarily a result of the additional borrowing of $350 million in unsecured notes at a higher fixed rate, offset by the reduction in the 
variable rate on our first lien term loan facility. See “Liquidity and Capital Resources” below.
 

Change in Fair Value of Private Placement Warrants.  We recorded losses of $7.6 million and $1.1 million in fiscal years 2021 and 2020, 
respectively, related to the changes in fair value of our Private Placement Warrants which are accounted for as liabilities on our consolidated balance sheets. 
The change in fair value is the result of re-measurement of the liability at the end of each reporting period. 
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Tax Receivable Agreement Liability Adjustment.  We recorded a $1.0 million tax benefit in fiscal year 2021 and a $6.8 million tax expense in fiscal 

year 2020. The liability adjustment in 2021 was a result of lower estimated state tax rates due to changes in apportionment, whereas in 2020 it was a result 
of higher state tax rates due to changes in apportionment.
 
        Loss on Extinguishment of Debt.  Loss on extinguishment of debt was $5.3 million for fiscal year 2021 consisting of a $4.0 million write-off of pre-
existing deferred financing costs and discounts and $1.3 million of lender and third-party costs associated with the issuance of the new 2021 Term Loan.

 
Other Income, Net.  Other income, net was $12.9 million in fiscal year 2021 compared to $11.9 million in fiscal year 2020. The increase of $1.0 

million was primarily due to increased tolling activity as a result of COVID-19 recovery in the travel industry, offset by a total of $2.8 million in gains 
recorded in fiscal year 2020 from a settlement agreement and related insurance proceeds.

 
Income Tax Provision.  Income tax provision was $26.5 million representing an effective tax rate of 39.0% for fiscal year 2021 compared to $5.4 

million, representing an effective tax rate of 636.7% for fiscal year 2020. The Company’s effective tax rate for 2021 was lower compared to 2020 primarily 
due to an increase in pretax income in 2021, resulting in the Company’s permanent book and tax differences having a proportionately lesser impact on the 
effective tax rate for 2021.

 
Net Income (Loss).  We had net income of $41.4 million for fiscal year 2021 compared to a net loss of $4.6 million for 2020. The $46.0 million 

increase in net income was primarily due to the significant recovery in the travel industry positively impacting our RAC customers and from the other 
statement of operations activity discussed above.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Our principal sources of liquidity are cash flows from operations and the available borrowing under our Revolver (defined below). 

We have incurred significant long-term debt as a result of acquisitions completed in prior years.

We believe that our existing cash and cash equivalents, cash flows provided by operating activities and our ability to borrow under our Revolver (as 
defined below) will be sufficient to meet operating cash requirements and service debt obligations for at least the next 12 months. Our ability to generate 
sufficient cash from our operating activities depends on our future performance, which is subject to general economic, political, financial, competitive and 
other factors beyond our control. In addition, our future capital expenditures and other cash requirements could be higher than currently expected due to 
various factors, including any expansion of our business or strategic acquisitions. Should we pursue strategic acquisitions, we may need to raise additional 
capital, which may be in the form of additional long-term debt, borrowing on our Revolver, or equity financings, all of which may not be available to us on 
favorable terms or at all.

We have the ability to borrow under our Revolver to meet obligations as they come due. As of December 31, 2022, we had $74.8 million available 
for borrowing, net of letters of credit, under our Revolver.

Share Repurchases

In May 2022, our Board of Directors authorized a share repurchase program for up to an aggregate amount of $125.0 million of our outstanding
shares of Class A Common Stock over a 12-month period in open market, ASR or privately negotiated transactions, each as permitted under applicable 
rules and regulations.
 

We subsequently paid $50.0 million in May 2022 to repurchase outstanding shares of our Class A Common Stock through an ASR, and received an 
initial delivery of 2,739,726 shares. The final settlement occurred in August 2022, at which time we received 445,086 additional shares. In addition, during 
the second and third quarters, we paid $6.9 million and repurchased 445,791 shares of our Class A Common Stock through open market transactions. Our 
Board of Directors authorized a second ASR during the third quarter of 2022 for the remaining availability under the 
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share repurchase program and we paid $68.1 million in August 2022 and received an initial delivery of 3,300,000 shares of our Class A Common Stock. 
The final settlement occurred in November 2022, at which time we received 943,361 additional shares.
 

In November 2022, our Board of Directors authorized a new share repurchase program for up to an aggregate amount of $100.0 million of our 
outstanding shares of Class A Common Stock over an 18-month period in open market, ASR or privately negotiated transactions, each as permitted under 
applicable rules and regulations. The Company has not yet repurchased shares under this repurchase program.

Concentration of Credit Risk

The City of New York Department of Transportation (“NYCDOT”) represented 22% and 39% of total accounts receivable, net as of December 31, 
2022 and 2021, respectively. There is no material reserve related to NYCDOT open receivables as amounts are deemed collectible based on current 
conditions and expectations. 

The following table sets forth certain captions on our statements of cash flows for the respective periods:
 

  For the Year Ended December 31,  
($ in thousands)  2022   2021   2020  
Net cash provided by operating activities  $ 218,337   $ 193,171   $ 46,909  
Net cash used in investing activities   (48,592 )   (475,970 )   (24,153 )
Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities   (164,932 )   268,722    (34,004 )
 

Cash Flows from Operating Activities

Cash provided by operating activities increased by $25.2 million, from $193.2 million in 2021 to $218.3 million in 2022. Net income increased 
$51.0 million from $41.4 million in 2021 compared to $92.5 million in 2022. The adjustments to net income included decreases of $37.1 million for the 
changes in the fair value of private placement warrants, (gain) loss on extinguishment of debt and changes in deferred income taxes year over year, partially 
offset by increases of $29.7 million from depreciation and amortization, credit loss expense, and stock-based compensation expense year over year. The 
aggregate changes in operating assets and liabilities decreased by $20.8 million in 2022 primarily due to increased accounts receivable balances mainly in 
the Commercial Services business.

Cash provided by operating activities in 2021 increased by $146.3 million, from $46.9 million in 2020 to $193.2 million in 2021. Net income 
increased $46.0 million from a $4.6 million loss in 2020 compared to $41.4 million income in 2021. The adjustments to net income (loss) included 
increases of $6.5 million for the changes in the fair value of private placement warrants year over year and $5.3 million loss on extinguishment of debt, 
partially offset by decreases from lower credit loss expense, changes in deferred income taxes and the tax receivable agreement liability adjustments year 
over year. Changes in operating assets and liabilities were mainly driven by a significant reduction in the accounts receivable balance from $182 million in 
payments received from NYCDOT in 2021, and increases in accounts payable and accrued liabilities resulting from increases in accrued interest at the end 
of 2021, reinstatement of the bonus accrual in 2021 and increased liabilities related to Redflex which were not in the comparable prior period.

Cash Flows from Investing Activities 

Cash used in investing activities in 2022 and in 2020 was primarily related to purchases of installation and service parts and property and 
equipment. Cash used in investing activities in 2021 was mainly related to acquisitions of Redflex, T2 Systems and NuPark. We acquired one hundred 
percent of the outstanding equity of Redflex on June 17, 2021 at A$0.96 per share for total consideration of A$152.5 million, or approximately US$117.9 
million. On December 7, 2021, we acquired all of the outstanding shares of T2 Systems for $353.2 million, net of $14.1 million of cash acquired. On 
December 13, 2021, we acquired NuPark for $7.0 million, which included approximately $5.0 million of cash paid.

Cash Flows from Financing Activities

Cash used in financing activities was $164.9 million in 2022 mainly due to the repurchases of approximately 7.9 million shares of the Company's 
Class A Common Stock for $125.1 million in the second and third quarters of 

49



 

2022 as discussed further in Note 13, Stockholders' Equity, the repayment of $25.0 million of borrowing on the Revolver (defined below) in January 2022 
and the quarterly principal payments on the 2021 Term Loan.

Cash provided by financing activities was $268.7 million in 2021. We had aggregate borrowings of $1.3 billion during 2021 consisting of the 2021 
Term Loan (which included $250 million incremental borrowing), Senior Notes and the Revolver and repayments of $884.5 million on outstanding debt 
related to the 2018 and 2021 Term Loans, and debt assumed as part of the Redflex and T2 acquisitions that was subsequently paid. The 2018 Term Loan 
had been fully repaid in March 2021. The aggregate borrowings net of the repayments along with existing cash on hand were used to fund the close of the 
Redflex and T2 systems acquisitions in June 2021 and December 2021, respectively, and the share repurchase and retirement for $100 million in August 
2021. 

The cash used in financing activities in 2020 of $34.0 million was primarily due to the $19.7 million mandatory prepayment of excess cash flows 
made pursuant to the terms of the 2018 Term Loan and the quarterly principal payments on the 2018 Term Loan.

Long-term Debt 
 
2021 Term Loan and Senior Notes  

In March 2021, VM Consolidated, Inc., the Company’s wholly owned subsidiary (“VM Consolidated”), entered into an Amendment and 
Restatement Agreement No.1 to the First Lien Term Loan Credit Agreement (the “2021 Term Loan”) with a syndicate of lenders. The 2021 Term Loan has 
an aggregate borrowing of $650.0 million, maturing on March 26, 2028, and an accordion feature providing for an additional $250.0 million of term loans, 
subject to satisfaction of certain requirements. In connection with the 2021 Term Loan, the Company had an offering discount cost of $3.3 million and $0.7 
million of deferred financing costs, both of which were capitalized and are amortized over the remaining life of the 2021 Term Loan.

In addition, in March 2021, VM Consolidated issued an aggregate principal amount of $350.0 million in Senior Unsecured Notes (the “Senior 
Notes”), due on April 15, 2029. In connection with the issuance of the Senior Notes, the Company incurred $5.7 million in lender and third-party costs, 
which were capitalized as deferred financing costs and are being amortized over the remaining life of the Senior Notes.

The net proceeds from both the 2021 Term Loan and the Senior Notes were used in March 2021 to repay in full all outstanding debt which was 
represented by the First Lien Term Loan Credit Agreement (as amended, the “2018 Term Loan”) with a balance of $865.6 million. 

On December 7, 2021, VM Consolidated entered into an agreement to exercise the accordion feature under the 2021 Term Loan, borrowing $250.0 
million in incremental term loans (“Incremental Term Loan”). The proceeds from the Incremental Term Loan were used, along with cash on hand, to fund 
the acquisition of T2 Systems, including repayment in full all outstanding debt for T2 Systems. In connection with the Incremental Term Loan, the 
Company had an offering discount cost of $1.3 million and $3.8 million of deferred financing costs, both of which were capitalized and are amortized over 
the remaining life of the 2021 Term Loan. The Incremental Term Loan accrued interest from the date of borrowing until December 31, 2021, at which time, 
it was combined with the 2021 Term Loan to be a single tranche of term loan borrowings. The total principal outstanding under the 2021 Term Loan, which 
includes the Incremental Term Loan, was $886.1 million at December 31, 2022.

The 2021 Term Loan is repayable at 1.0% per annum of the amount initially borrowed, paid in quarterly installments. It bears interest based, at the 
Company’s option, on either (1) LIBOR plus an applicable margin of 3.25% per annum, or (2) an alternate base rate plus an applicable margin of 2.25% per 
annum. As of December 31, 2022, the interest rate on the 2021 Term Loan was 7.6%. 
 

In addition, the 2021 Term Loan requires mandatory prepayments equal to the product of the excess cash flows of the Company (as defined in the 
2021 Term Loan agreement) and the applicable prepayment percentages (calculated as of the last day of the fiscal year, beginning with the year ending 
December 31, 2022), as set forth in the following table:
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Consolidated First Lien Net Leverage Ratio (As Defined by the 2021 Term Loan Agreement)  

Applicable
Prepayment
Percentage

> 3.70:1.00  50%
< 3.70:1.00 and > 3.20:1.00  25%

< 3.20:1.00  0%
 
The Company will make a $12.9 million mandatory prepayment of excess cash flows during the first quarter of fiscal year 2023, which was 

classified as current portion of long-term debt in the consolidated balance sheet at December 31, 2022. We did not have a mandatory prepayment of excess 
cash flow for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2021.
  

Interest on the Senior Notes is fixed at 5.50% per annum and is payable on April 15 and October 15 of each year. On or after April 15, 2024, the 
Company may redeem all or a portion of the Senior Notes at the redemption prices set forth below in percentages by year, plus accrued and unpaid interest:
 

Year   Percentage
2024   102.750%
2025   101.375%

2026 and thereafter   100.000%
 

In addition, the Company may redeem up to 40% of the Senior Notes before April 15, 2024, with the net cash proceeds from certain equity 
offerings.

The Company evaluated the March 2021 refinancing transactions on a lender-by-lender basis and accounted for the portion of the transaction that 
did not meet the accounting criteria for debt extinguishment as a debt modification. Accordingly, the Company recognized a loss on extinguishment of debt 
of $5.3 million on the 2018 Term Loan during the year ended December 31, 2021, consisting of a $4.0 million write-off of pre-existing deferred financing 
costs and discounts and $1.3 million of lender and third-party costs associated with the issuance of the 2021 Term Loan.
 
PPP Loan

During fiscal year 2020, Redflex received a $2.9 million loan from the U.S. Small Business Administration (“SBA”) as part of the Paycheck 
Protection Program (“PPP Loan”) to offset certain employment and other allowable costs incurred as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic. In early 2021, 
Redflex applied for forgiveness of this loan, and on September 23, 2022, the Company was notified by the SBA that the loan, together with accrued 
interest, had been fully forgiven under the provisions of the PPP Loan program. Accordingly, the Company recognized a $3.0 million gain on 
extinguishment of debt in the consolidated statement of operations for the year ended December 31, 2022.
 
The Revolver

The Company has a Revolving Credit Agreement (the “Revolver”) with a commitment of up to $75.0 million available for loans and letters of credit. 
The Revolver matures on December 20, 2026. Borrowing eligibility under the Revolver is subject to a monthly borrowing base calculation based on (i) 
certain percentages of eligible accounts receivable and inventory, less (ii) certain reserve items, including outstanding letters of credit and other reserves. 
The Revolver bears interest on either (1) LIBOR plus an applicable margin, or (2) an alternate base rate, plus an applicable margin. The margin percentage 
applied to (1) LIBOR is either 1.25%, 1.50%, or 1.75%, or (2) the base rate is either 0.25%, 0.50%, or 0.75%, depending on the Company’s average 
availability to borrow under the commitment. At December 31, 2021, the Company had $25.0 million in outstanding borrowings on the Revolver, which 
was repaid in full in January 2022. At December 31, 2022, the availability to borrow was $74.8 million, net of $0.2 million of outstanding letters of credit.

Interest on the unused portion of the Revolver is payable quarterly at 0.375% and the Company is also required to pay participation and fronting fees 
at 1.38% on $0.2 million of outstanding letters of credit as of December 31, 2022.
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All borrowings and other extensions of credits under the 2021 Term Loan, Senior Notes and the Revolver are subject to the satisfaction of customary 
conditions and restrictive covenants including absence of defaults and accuracy in material respects of representations and warranties. Substantially all of 
the Company’s assets are pledged as collateral to secure the Company’s indebtedness under the 2021 Term Loan. At December 31, 2022, the Company was 
compliant with all debt covenants.  
 
Interest Expense
 

The Company recorded interest expense, including amortization of deferred financing costs and discounts, of $69.4 million, $44.9 million and $40.9 
million for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020 respectively. 

 
See Note 2, Significant Accounting Policies, in Item 8, Financial Statements and Supplementary Data for additional information on the interest rate 

swap entered into in December 2022 to hedge our exposure against rising interest rates. 

Critical Accounting Policies 

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States of America 
(“GAAP”) requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the consolidated financial statements and 
accompanying notes. Management believes that its estimates and assumptions are reasonable in the circumstances; however, actual results could differ 
materially from those estimates.

 
Our significant accounting policies are described in Note 2, Significant Accounting Policies, in Item 8, Financial Statements and Supplementary 

Data, of this Annual Report. We believe that the critical accounting policies listed below involve our more significant judgments, assumptions, and 
estimates and, therefore, could have the greatest potential impact on the financial statements.

Revenue Recognition

Judgment is required for the estimation of the standalone selling price ("SSP") and the allocation of the transaction price by relative SSPs. Within 
our Government Solutions and Parking Solutions operating segments, some customer arrangements include multiple performance obligations. Government 
Solutions’ customer arrangements containing multiple performance obligations typically include the sale and installation of photo-enforcement cameras and 
the performance of maintenance services on such cameras over a contractual term.  Parking Solutions’ customer arrangements containing multiple 
performance obligations typically include the sale and installation of parking access hardware systems, the licensing of SaaS products and/or the 
performance of maintenance services over a contractual term. In most instances, we have determined these performance obligations qualify as distinct 
performance obligations, as the customer can benefit from the service on its own or together with other resources that are readily available to the customer, 
and our promise to transfer the service is separately identifiable from other promises in the contract. For arrangements that contain multiple performance 
obligations, we exercise judgement in allocating the transaction price based on the relative SSP method by comparing the SSP of each distinct performance 
obligation to the total value of the contract. We determine the SSP based on our historical pricing and discounting practices for the distinct performance 
obligation when sold separately. If the SSP is not directly observable, we estimate the SSP by considering information such as market conditions and 
information about the customer.  

Allowance for Credit Losses
 

We review historical credit losses and customer payment trends on receivables and develop loss rate estimates as of the balance sheet date, which 
includes adjustments for current and future expectations using probability-weighted assumptions about potential outcomes. Receivables are written off 
against the allowance for credit losses when it is probable that amounts will not be collected based on the terms of the customer contracts, and subsequent 
recoveries reverse the previous write-off and apply to the receivable in the period recovered. The Company periodically evaluates the adequacy of its 
allowance for expected credit losses by comparing its actual historical write-offs to its previously 
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recorded estimates and adjusts appropriately. This includes evaluation by portfolio segment the changes in expectations based on the newest information 
available on customer payment trends and risk characteristics, and adjusting the probability-weighting either upward or downward that is most 
representative of the expected credit losses. 

Acquisitions

We apply the acquisition method to account for business combinations. We allocate the fair value of the purchase price consideration to assets 
acquired and liabilities assumed based on their estimated fair values. The excess of the purchase consideration over the fair value of the identifiable assets 
and liabilities is recorded as goodwill. 

The determination and allocation of fair values to the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed is based on various assumptions and 
valuation methodologies requiring considerable management judgment and includes the use of independent valuation specialists to assist us in estimating
fair values of acquired tangible and intangible assets. Fair values of acquired assets and their respective useful lives are based on, among other factors, 
critical estimates of expected cash flows, customer turnover and anticipated growth from acquired customers, discount rates and royalty cost savings. 
Although we believe that the assumptions applied in the determination are reasonable based on information available at the date of acquisition, actual 
results may differ from estimates. Differences between estimates and actual results may result in adjustment to goodwill and acquisition date fair values of 
assets and liabilities during a measurement period or upon a final determination of asset and liability fair values, whichever occurs first. Adjustments to fair 
values of assets and liabilities made after the end of the measurement period are recognized within our consolidated statements of operations as a current 
period gain or loss. 

Impairment of Goodwill and Long-Lived Assets 
 

We assess goodwill for impairment annually on October 1, or more frequently if events or circumstances indicate that the carrying amounts may not 
be fully recoverable. We first consider the option to assess qualitative factors to determine whether it is more likely than not that the fair value of the 
reporting unit is less than its carrying amount. If we conclude that it is more likely than not that the fair value is less than the carrying amount, we then 
perform a one-step quantitative impairment test by comparing the reporting unit’s fair value with its carrying value. An impairment loss is recognized for 
the amount by which the reporting units’ carrying value exceeds its fair value, up to the total amount of goodwill allocated to the reporting unit. No 
impairment is recognized if the fair value of the reporting unit exceeds its carrying value.  
 

The process of evaluating goodwill requires significant judgment including the identification of reporting units and the determination of the fair 
value of each reporting unit. If necessary, we determine fair values of our reporting units based on an income approach or more specifically, a discounted 
cash flow method (“DCF Method”). The DCF Method is based on projected future cash flows and terminal value estimates discounted to their present 
values. Terminal value represents the present value an investor would pay on the valuation date for the rights to the cash flows of the business for the years 
subsequent to the discrete cash flow projection period. We consider the DCF Method to be the most appropriate valuation technique since it is based on our 
long-term financial projections. In addition to determining the fair value of our reporting units based on the DCF method, we also compare the aggregate 
values of our net corporate assets and the reporting unit fair values to our overall market capitalization and use certain market-based valuation techniques to 
assess the reasonableness of the reporting unit fair values determined in accordance with the DCF Method. The key inputs used in the DCF Method include 
revenue growth rates, gross margin percentage, selling, general and administrative expense percentage, terminal growth rates and discount rates that are at 
or above our weighted-average cost of capital. We apply discount rates that are commensurate with the risks and uncertainties inherent in the respective 
reporting units and our internally developed projections of future cash flows.
 

In connection with our 2022 assessment of goodwill impairment, we qualitatively concluded that our Commercial Services and Government 
Solutions North America reporting units did not have indicators of impairment. We did however perform quantitative impairment reviews on our Parking 
Solutions and Government Solutions International reporting units, both of which were acquired in 2021. The fair values of these reporting units were 
determined in accordance with the DCF Method described above using currently available financial forecasts. Based on the results of our quantitative 
review, we concluded no adjustment to goodwill was necessary because the estimated fair values exceeded their reporting unit carrying values and the fair 
values were consistent with the operating values 

53



 
estimated in 2021 as part of the respective purchase price allocations. Moreover, we utilized earnings multiples to estimate the fair values of our 
Commercial Services and Government Solutions reporting units and corroborated the reasonableness of the reporting unit fair values by reconciling to the 
Company’s market capitalization as of October 1, 2022. Our qualitative analyses performed as of October 1 for fiscal years 2021 and 2020 did not have 
indicators of impairment.
 

We review our long-lived assets other than goodwill for impairment whenever events or circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset 
or asset group may not be fully recoverable. We assess recoverability by comparing the estimated undiscounted future cash flows expected to be generated 
by the asset or asset group with its carrying value. If the carrying value of the asset or asset group exceeds the estimated undiscounted future cash flows, an 
impairment loss is recognized for the difference between the estimated fair value and the carrying value. Our estimates of cash flows are subjective 
judgments based on past experiences adjusted for trends and future expectations, and can be significantly impacted by changes in our business or economic 
conditions. The determination of asset group' fair value is also subject to significant judgment and utilizes valuation techniques including discounting 
estimated future cash flows and market-based analyses. If our estimates or underlying assumptions change in the future, our operating results may be 
materially impacted. We did not have any indicators of impairment related to long-lived assets for the years ended December 31, 2021 or 2020. We 
recorded $0.7 million of impairment related to certain photo enforcement programs that ended during the year ended December 31, 2022 within the 
depreciation, amortization and (gain) loss on disposal of assets, net line item on the consolidated statements of operations.

Income Taxes 

We account for income taxes under the asset and liability method. This approach requires the recognition of deferred tax assets and liabilities for the 
expected future tax consequences of differences between the tax basis of assets or liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements. Deferred 
tax assets generally represent items that can be used as a tax deduction or credit in our tax return in future years, while deferred tax liabilities generally 
represent items that generate a future tax liability for items where deductions have been accelerated for tax purposes. We provide a valuation allowance for 
deferred tax assets if it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the tax assets will not be realized. We calculate the valuation allowance in 
accordance with the authoritative guidance relating to income taxes, which requires an assessment of both positive and negative evidence regarding the 
realizability of these deferred tax assets when measuring the need for a valuation allowance. Significant judgment is required in determining any valuation 
allowance against deferred tax assets. The realization of deferred tax assets can be affected by, among other things, the nature, frequency, and severity of 
current and cumulative losses, forecasts of future profitability, the length of statutory carryforward periods, our experience with utilizing operating losses 
and tax credit carryforwards by jurisdiction, the reversal of existing taxable temporary differences and tax planning alternatives and strategies that may be 
available.

Our effective tax rate is based on income, statutory tax rates, differences in the deductibility of certain expenses and inclusion of certain income 
items between financial statement and tax return purposes, and tax planning opportunities available to us in the various jurisdictions in which we operate. 
Under GAAP, if we determine that a tax position is more likely than not of being sustained upon audit, based solely on the technical merits of the position, 
we recognize the benefit. Tax code and regulations require certain items to be included in the tax return at different times than when those items are 
required to be recorded in the consolidated financial statements. As a result, our effective tax rate reflected in our consolidated financial statements is 
different from that reported in our tax returns. Some of these differences are permanent, such as meals and entertainment expenses that are not fully 
deductible on our tax returns, and some are temporary differences, such as depreciation expense.  Temporary differences create deferred tax assets and 
liabilities.

Our policy is to recognize interest and penalties related to the underpayment of income taxes as a component of income tax provision or benefit.

Private Placement Warrant Liabilities
 

We account for warrants as either equity-classified or liability-classified instruments based on an assessment of the warrant’s specific terms and 
applicable authoritative guidance. For warrants that meet all of the criteria for equity 
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classification, the warrants are required to be recorded as a component of additional paid-in capital at the time of issuance. For warrants that do not meet all 
the criteria for equity classification, the warrants are required to be recorded at their fair value on the date of issuance, and each balance sheet date 
thereafter. Changes in the estimated fair value of the warrants are recognized as a non-cash gain or loss on the statements of operations. Our Public 
Warrants meet the criteria for equity classification and accordingly, are reported as a component of shareholders’ equity while our Private Placement 
Warrants do not meet the criteria for equity classification and are instead classified as a liability. The fair value of the Private Placement Warrants is 
estimated at period-end using a Black-Scholes option pricing model, which is a Level 3 fair value measurement exposed to valuation risk. The risk of 
exposure is estimated using a sensitivity analysis of potential changes in the significant unobservable inputs, primarily the volatility input that is the most 
susceptible to valuation risk. A 5% increase to the volatility input at December 31, 2022 would increase the estimated fair value of $3.61 by $0.19 per unit. 
A 5% decrease to the volatility input at December 31, 2022 would decrease the estimated fair value by $0.18 per unit.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements 
 

For a discussion of recent accounting pronouncements, refer to Note 2, Significant Accounting Policies, in Item 8, Financial Statements and 
Supplementary Data.
 

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk
We are exposed to interest rate market risk due to the variable interest rate on the 2021 Term Loan described in “Item 7. Management’s Discussion

and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Liquidity and Capital Resources.”

Interest rate risk represents our exposure to fluctuations in interest rates associated with the variable rate debt represented by the 2021 Term Loan, 
which has an outstanding balance of $886.1 million at December 31, 2022. The 2021 Term Loan presently bears interest based, at our option, on either (1) 
LIBOR plus an applicable margin of 3.25% per annum, or (2) an alternate base rate plus an applicable margin of 2.25% per annum. At December 31, 2022, 
the interest rate on the 2021 Term Loan was 7.6%. Based on the December 31, 2022 balance outstanding, each 1% movement in interest rates will result in 
an approximately $8.9 million change in annual interest expense.

 
In December 2022, we entered into a cancellable interest rate swap agreement to hedge our exposure to interest rate fluctuations associated with the 

LIBOR portion of the variable interest rate on our 2021 Term Loan. Under the interest rate swap agreement, we pay a fixed rate and the counterparty pays a 
variable interest rate which is net settled. The notional amount on the interest rate swap is $675 million. We have the option to terminate the interest rate 
swap agreement starting in December 2023, and monthly thereafter until December 2025, in the event interest rates decrease. We recorded a $1.0 million 
gain on interest rate swap for the year ended December 31, 2022. See Note 2, Significant Accounting Policies, in Item 8, Financial Statements and 
Supplementary Data for additional information on the interest rate swap. 
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
  
To the Stockholders and the Board of Directors of Verra Mobility Corporation
  
Opinion on the Financial Statements
  
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Verra Mobility Corporation (the Company) as of December 31, 2022 and 2021, and the 
related consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss), stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the 
period ended December 31, 2022, and the related notes and the financial statement schedule listed in the Index at Item 15(a) (collectively referred to as the 
“consolidated financial statements”). In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the 
Company at December 31, 2022 and 2021, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 
2022, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. 
  
We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the Company’s 
internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2022, based on criteria established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the 
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (2013 framework) and our report dated March 1, 2023 expressed an unqualified 
opinion thereon.
  
Basis for Opinion
  
These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s financial 
statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the 
Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the 
PCAOB. 
  
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable 
assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. Our audits included performing 
procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to 
those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits 
also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the 
financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.
  
Critical Audit Matter
  
The critical audit matter communicated below is a matter arising from the current period audit of the financial statements that was communicated or 
required to be communicated to the audit committee and that: (1) relates to accounts or disclosures that are material to the financial statements and (2) 
involved our especially challenging, subjective or complex judgments. The communication of the critical audit matter does not alter in any way our opinion 
on the consolidated financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matter below, providing a separate opinion 
on the critical audit matter or on the accounts or disclosures to which it relates.
  

Commercial Services Revenue
 

 
Description of the 
Matter

As described in Notes 2 and 18 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company generated commercial services revenue of 
$326.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2022. 
  
The Company’s commercial services revenue recognition process involves several applications and data sources needed for the 
initiation, processing, and recording of transactions from the Company’s various commercial services revenue sources, as well as 
the calculation of commercial 
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 services revenue in accordance with the Company’s accounting policy.  Auditing the Company's accounting for commercial

services revenue from contracts with customers was challenging and complex primarily due to the high volume of transactions, as 
well as the multiple applications and data sources associated with the commercial services revenue recognition process.
  

How We 
Addressed the 
Matter in Our 
Audit

We obtained an understanding, evaluated the design and tested the operating effectiveness of the Company’s controls over the 
commercial services revenue recognition process. This included testing controls over the completeness and accuracy of data within 
the commercial services revenue systems, the interfaces of data between relevant systems, testing of relevant IT application 
controls and testing of relevant IT general controls over the IT applications supporting the commercial services revenue recognition 
process.
 
To test the Company’s accounting for commercial services revenue from contracts with customers, we performed substantive audit 
procedures that included, among others, testing on a sample basis the completeness and accuracy of the underlying data within the 
commercial services revenue systems, performing data analytics to test recorded revenue amounts, tracing a sample of sales 
transactions to supporting documentation, and testing a sample of cash to billings reconciliations.

  
/s/ Ernst & Young LLP
  
We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2013.  
  
Phoenix, Arizona
March 1, 2023
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
  
To the Stockholders and the Board of Directors of Verra Mobility Corporation
  
Opinion on Internal Control over Financial Reporting
 
We have audited Verra Mobility Corporation’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2022, based on criteria established in Internal 
Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (2013 framework) (the COSO 
criteria). In our opinion, Verra Mobility Corporation (the Company) maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting 
as of December 31, 2022, based on the COSO criteria.
  
We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the consolidated 
balance sheets of the Company as of December 31, 2022 and 2021, and the related consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss), 
stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2022, and the related notes and the financial statement 
schedule listed in the Index at Item 15(a) and our report dated March 1, 2023 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.
  
Basis for Opinion
 
The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of 
internal control over financial reporting included in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. Our 
responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm 
registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the 
applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.
  
We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable 
assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. 
  
Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, testing and 
evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we considered 
necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.
  
Definition and Limitations of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 
 
A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting 
and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control 
over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly 
reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit 
preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are 
being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding 
prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial 
statements. 
  
Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of 
effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of 
compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.
  
/s/ Ernst & Young LLP
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Phoenix, Arizona
March 1, 2023
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VERRA MOBILITY CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
 

(In thousands, except per share data)  
December 31,

2022   
December 31,

2021  
Assets       
Current assets:       

Cash and cash equivalents  $ 105,204   $ 101,283  
Restricted cash   3,911    3,149  
Accounts receivable (net of allowance for credit losses of $15.9 million and $12.1 million at December 
31, 2022 and 2021, respectively)   163,786    160,979  
Unbilled receivables   30,782    29,109  
Inventory   19,307    12,093  
Prepaid expenses and other current assets   39,604    41,456  

Total current assets   362,594    348,069  
Installation and service parts, net   22,923    13,332  
Property and equipment, net   109,775    96,066  
Operating lease assets   37,593    38,862  
Intangible assets, net   377,420    487,299  
Goodwill   833,480    838,867  
Other non-current assets   12,484    14,561  

Total assets  $ 1,756,269   $ 1,837,056  
Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity       
Current liabilities:       

Accounts payable  $ 79,869   $ 67,556  
Deferred revenue   31,164    27,141  
Accrued liabilities   48,847    38,435  
Tax receivable agreement liability, current portion   4,994    5,107  
Current portion of long-term debt   21,935    36,952  

Total current liabilities   186,809    175,191  
Long-term debt, net of current portion   1,190,045    1,206,802  
Operating lease liabilities, net of current portion   33,362    34,984  
Tax receivable agreement liability, net of current portion   50,900    56,615  
Private placement warrant liabilities   24,066    38,466  
Asset retirement obligations   12,993    11,824  
Deferred tax liabilities, net   21,149    47,524  
Other long-term liabilities   5,875    5,686  

Total liabilities   1,525,199    1,577,092  
Commitments and contingencies (Note 17)       
Stockholders' equity       
Preferred stock, $0.0001 par value, 1,000 shares authorized with no shares issued and outstanding at 
December 31, 2022 and 2021   —    —  
Common stock, $0.0001 par value, 260,000 shares authorized with 148,962 and 156,079 shares issued 
and outstanding at December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively   15    16  
Common stock contingent consideration   36,575    36,575  
Additional paid-in capital   305,423    309,883  
Accumulated deficit   (98,078 )   (81,416 )
Accumulated other comprehensive loss   (12,865 )   (5,094 )

Total stockholders' equity   231,070    259,964  
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity  $ 1,756,269   $ 1,837,056  

 
See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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VERRA MOBILITY CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS) 

 
  For the Year Ended December 31,  
($ in thousands, except per share data)  2022   2021   2020  
Service revenue  $ 695,218   $ 492,846   $ 336,274  
Product sales   46,380    57,744    57,319  
Total revenue   741,598    550,590    393,593  

Cost of service revenue   16,330    5,337    3,967  
Cost of product sales   30,932    29,809    29,573  
Operating expenses   226,324    163,370    115,729  
Selling, general and administrative expenses   163,133    123,407    89,664  
Depreciation, amortization and (gain) loss on disposal of assets, net   140,174    116,801    116,844  
Total costs and expenses   576,893    438,724    355,777  
Income from operations   164,705    111,866    37,816  

Interest expense, net   69,372    44,942    40,865  
Change in fair value of private placement warrants   (14,400 )   7,600    1,133  
Tax receivable agreement liability adjustment   (720 )   (1,016 )   6,850  
Gain on interest rate swap   (996 )   —    —  
(Gain) loss on extinguishment of debt   (3,005 )   5,334    —  
Other income, net   (12,654 )   (12,895 )   (11,885 )
Total other expenses   37,597    43,965    36,963  

Income before income taxes   127,108    67,901    853  
Income tax provision   34,633    26,452    5,431  
Net income (loss)  $ 92,475   $ 41,449   $ (4,578 )

Other comprehensive (loss) income:          
Change in foreign currency translation adjustment   (7,771 )   (5,305 )   2,788  
Total comprehensive income (loss)  $ 84,704   $ 36,144   $ (1,790 )

Net income (loss) per share:          
Basic  $ 0.61   $ 0.26   $ (0.03 )
Diluted  $ 0.50   $ 0.25   $ (0.03 )
Weighted average shares outstanding:          
Basic   152,848    159,983    161,632  
Diluted   159,026    163,778    161,632  
 

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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VERRA MOBILITY CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
 

 

 
Common

Stock   

Common
Stock

Contingent   
Additional

Paid-in   Accumulated   

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive   
Total

Stockholders'  
(In thousands)  Shares   Amount   Consideration   Capital   Deficit   (Loss) Income   Equity  
Balance as of December 31, 2019   159,150   $ 16   $ 54,862   $ 346,891   $ (89,578 )  $ (2,577 )  $ 309,614  
Net loss   —    —    —    —    (4,578 )   —    (4,578 )
Cumulative effect of adoption of the 
credit loss accounting standard, net of 
tax   —    —    —    —    (694 )   —    (694 )
Earn-out shares issued to Platinum 
Stockholder   2,500    —    (18,287 )   18,287    —    —    —  
Vesting of restricted stock units 
("RSUs")   619    —    —    —    —    —    —  
Payment of employee tax withholding 
related to RSUs vesting   —    —    —    (4,147 )   —    —    (4,147 )
Stock-based compensation   —    —    —    12,589    —    —    12,589  
Other comprehensive income, net of tax   —    —    —    —    —    2,788    2,788  
Balance as of December 31, 2020   162,269   $ 16   $ 36,575   $ 373,620   $ (94,850 )  $ 211   $ 315,572  
Net income   —    —    —    —    41,449    —    41,449  
Share repurchases and retirement   (6,849 )   —    —    (71,985 )   (28,015 )   —    (100,000 )
Vesting of RSUs   647    —    —    —    —    —    —  
Exercise of stock options   12    —    —    155    —    —    155  
Payment of employee tax withholding 
related to RSUs vesting   —    —    —    (5,691 )   —    —    (5,691 )
Stock-based compensation   —    —    —    13,784    —    —    13,784  
Other comprehensive loss, net of tax   —    —    —    —    —    (5,305 )   (5,305 )
Balance as of December 31, 2021   156,079   $ 16   $ 36,575   $ 309,883   $ (81,416 )  $ (5,094 )  $ 259,964  
Net income   —    —    —    —    92,475    —    92,475  
Share repurchases and retirement   (7,874 )   (1 )   —    (15,933 )   (109,137 )   —    (125,071 )
Vesting of RSUs   654    —    —    —    —    —    —  
Exercise of stock options   103    —    —    1,334    —    —    1,334  
Payment of employee tax withholding 
related to RSUs vesting   —    —    —    (6,524 )   —    —    (6,524 )
Stock-based compensation   —    —    —    16,663    —    —    16,663  
Other comprehensive loss, net of tax   —    —    —    —    —    (7,771 )   (7,771 )
Balance as of December 31, 2022   148,962   $ 15   $ 36,575   $ 305,423   $ (98,078 )  $ (12,865 )  $ 231,070  
 
 

 
See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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VERRA MOBILITY CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
 

  For the Year Ended December 31,  
($ in thousands)  2022   2021   2020  
Cash Flows from Operating Activities:          
Net income (loss)  $ 92,475   $ 41,449   $ (4,578 )
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by operating activities:          
Depreciation and amortization   138,684    116,753    116,570  
Amortization of deferred financing costs and discounts   5,472    5,170    5,437  
Change in fair value of private placement warrants   (14,400 )   7,600    1,133  
Tax receivable agreement liability adjustment   (720 )   (1,016 )   6,850  
Gain on interest rate swap   (996 )   —    —  
(Gain) loss on extinguishment of debt   (3,005 )   5,334    —  
Credit loss expense   14,481    9,588    14,391  
Deferred income taxes   (17,355 )   (10,640 )   (4,746 )
Stock-based compensation   16,663    13,784    12,589  
Impairment on a privately-held equity investment   1,340    —    —  
Other   1,654    308    1,210  

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:          
Accounts receivable   (17,685 )   14,946    (90,592 )
Unbilled receivables   (1,936 )   (7,753 )   5,964  
Inventory   (10,310 )   2,798    —  
Prepaid expenses and other assets   4,306    (5,097 )   3,829  
Deferred revenue   4,591    (3,966 )   58  
Accounts payable and other current liabilities   6,513    8,296    (16,925 )
Other liabilities   (1,435 )   (4,383 )   (4,281 )

Net cash provided by operating activities   218,337    193,171    46,909  
Cash Flows from Investing Activities:          
Acquisitions, net of cash and restricted cash acquired   —    (451,237 )   —  
Payment of contingent consideration   (647 )   —    —  
Purchases of installation and service parts and property and equipment   (48,186 )   (24,998 )   (24,260 )
Cash proceeds from the sale of assets   241    265    107  

Net cash used in investing activities   (48,592 )   (475,970 )   (24,153 )
Cash Flows from Financing Activities:          
Borrowings on revolver   —    25,000    —  
Repayment on revolver   (25,000 )   —    —  
Borrowings of long-term debt   —    1,245,500    —  
Repayment of long-term debt   (9,019 )   (884,530 )   (28,779 )
Payment of debt issuance costs   (447 )   (10,646 )   (1,078 )
Payment of debt extinguishment costs   —    (1,066 )   —  
Share repurchases and retirement   (125,071 )   (100,000 )   —  
Proceeds from exercise of stock options   1,334    155    —  
Payment of employee tax withholding related to RSUs vesting   (6,524 )   (5,691 )   (4,147 )
Payment of contingent consideration   (205 )   —    —  

Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities   (164,932 )   268,722    (34,004 )
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents   (130 )   (2,383 )   (290 )
Net increase (decrease) in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash   4,683    (16,460 )   (11,538 )
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash - beginning of period   104,432    120,892    132,430  

Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash - end of period  $ 109,115   $ 104,432   $ 120,892  
          

 
See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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VERRA MOBILITY CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)
 

 For the Year Ended December 31,  
 2022   2021   2020  
Supplemental cash flow information:         
Interest paid $ 63,663   $ 35,786   $ 35,822  
Income taxes paid, net of refunds  47,623    35,774    12,638  

Supplemental non-cash investing and financing activities:         
Earn-out shares issued to Platinum Stockholder  —    —    18,287  
Additions related to asset retirement obligations and property and equipment  946    1,397    133  
Purchases of installation and service parts and property and equipment in accounts payable and 
accrued liabilities at year-end  10,421    1,714    1,289  
Contingent consideration related to NuPark acquisition  —    1,450    —  

(a)   Asset retirement obligations of $3.9 million assumed as part of the Redflex acquisition in 2021 are excluded from these additions.
 

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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VERRA MOBILITY CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
 

1. Description of Business

Verra Mobility Corporation (collectively with its subsidiaries, the “Company” or “Verra Mobility”), formerly known as Gores Holdings II, Inc. 
(“Gores”), was originally incorporated in Delaware on August 15, 2016, as a special purpose acquisition company formed for the purpose of effecting a 
merger, capital stock exchange, asset acquisition, stock purchase, reorganization, or other similar business combination with one or more target businesses. 
On January 19, 2017, the Company consummated its initial public offering (the “IPO”), following which its shares began trading on the Nasdaq Capital 
Market (“Nasdaq”). On June 21, 2018, Gores entered into an Agreement and Plan of Merger (as amended, the “Merger Agreement”) with Greenlight 
Holding II Corporation (“Greenlight”), PE Greenlight Holdings, LLC (the “Platinum Stockholder”), AM Merger Sub I, Inc., a direct, wholly owned 
subsidiary of Gores and AM Merger Sub II, LLC, a direct, wholly owned subsidiary of Gores. On October 17, 2018, the transactions contemplated by the 
Merger Agreement (the “Business Combination”) were consummated. In connection with the closing of the Business Combination, Gores changed its 
name to Verra Mobility Corporation. As a result of the Business Combination, Verra Mobility Corporation became the owner, directly or indirectly, of all of 
the equity interests of Verra Mobility Holdings, LLC and its subsidiaries.

Verra Mobility offers integrated technology solutions and services to its customers who are located throughout the world, primarily within the 
United States, Australia, Canada and Europe. The Company is organized into three operating segments: Commercial Services, Government Solutions and 
Parking Solutions (see Note 18. Segment Reporting).

The Commercial Services segment offers toll and violation management solutions for the commercial fleet and rental car industries by partnering 
with the leading fleet management and rental car companies in North America. Electronic toll payment services enable fleet drivers and rental car 
customers to use high-speed cashless toll lanes or all-electronic cashless toll roads. The service helps commercial fleets reduce toll management costs, 
while it provides rental car companies with a revenue-generating, value-added service for their customers. Electronic violation processing services reduce 
the cost and risk associated with vehicle-issued violations, such as toll, parking or camera-enforced tickets. Title and registration services offer title and 
registration processing for individuals, rental car companies and fleet management companies. In Europe, the Company provides violations processing 
through Euro Parking Collection plc and consumer tolling services through Pagatelia S.L.U.

The Government Solutions segment offers photo enforcement solutions and services to its customers. Through its acquisition of Redflex Holdings 
Limited (“Redflex”) in June 2021, the Company expanded its current footprint in the United States and gained access to international markets (see Note 3. 
Acquisitions). The Government Solutions segment provides complete, end-to-end speed, red-light, school bus stop arm and bus lane enforcement solutions 
within the United States and Canada. These programs are designed to reduce traffic violations and resulting collisions, injuries, and fatalities. The Company 
implements and administers traffic safety programs for municipalities, counties, school districts and law enforcement agencies of all sizes. The international 
operations acquired through Redflex primarily involve the sale or license of traffic enforcement products and related maintenance services.

The Parking Solutions segment offers an integrated suite of parking software and hardware solutions to its customers which include universities, 
municipalities, parking operators, healthcare facilities and transportation hubs. The Company added this operating segment as a result of the acquisition of 
T2 Systems Parent Corporation (“T2 Systems”) in December 2021, which allows the Company to diversify its operations into the parking solutions space 
(see Note 3. Acquisitions). The Parking Solutions segment develops specialized hardware and parking management software that provides a platform for 
the issuance of parking permits, enforcement, gateless vehicle counting, event parking and citation services. T2 Systems also produces and markets its 
proprietary software as a service to its customers throughout the United States and Canada.

2. Significant Accounting Policies

Principles of Consolidation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company prepared in accordance with generally accepted 
accounting principles in the United States of America (“GAAP”). All 
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intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. In the opinion of the Company’s management, the consolidated financial 
statements reflect all adjustments, which are normal and recurring in nature, necessary for fair financial statement presentation.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect 
the amounts reported in the consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes. Significant estimates and assumptions include those related to the 
fair values assigned to net assets acquired (including identifiable intangibles) in business combinations, allocating the transaction price for revenue 
recognition, inventory valuation, allowance for credit losses, fair value of the private placement warrant liabilities, fair value of the interest rate swap, self 
insurance liability, valuation allowance on deferred tax assets, uncertain tax positions, apportionment for state income taxes, the tax receivable agreement 
liability, fair value of privately-held securities, impairment assessments of goodwill, intangible assets and other long-lived assets, asset retirement 
obligations, contingent consideration and the recognition and measurement of loss contingencies.

Management believes that its estimates and assumptions are reasonable in the circumstances; however, actual results could differ materially from 
those estimates.

Cash and Cash Equivalents 

The Company considers all highly liquid investments purchased with a remaining maturity of three months or less when acquired to be cash 
equivalents.

Restricted Cash

The Company collects cash on behalf of customers under certain contracts which it deposits daily into Company bank accounts and transfers 
regularly to customer bank accounts. Restricted cash represents customer cash collected but not yet remitted to the customer. Restricted cash is classified as 
a current asset and the corresponding liability is classified in current liabilities. 

Concentration of Credit Risk

Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credit risk are primarily cash and cash equivalents, accounts 
receivable and unbilled receivables. The Company limits cash and cash equivalents to highly rated financial institutions.  

 
Significant customers are those which represent more than 10% of the Company’s total revenue or accounts receivable, net. Revenue from the single 

Government Solutions customer exceeding 10% of total revenue is presented below:

  For the Year Ended December 31,  
  2022   2021   2020  
City of New York Department of Transportation   19.5 %   26.6 %  31.3 %

 
The City of New York Department of Transportation (“NYCDOT”) represented 22% and 39% of total accounts receivable, net as of December 31, 

2022 and 2021, respectively. There is no material reserve related to NYCDOT open receivables as amounts are deemed collectible based on current 
conditions and expectations. No other Government Solutions customer exceeded 10% of total accounts receivable, net as of any period presented.

Significant customer revenue concentrations generated through the Company’s Commercial Services partners as a percent of total revenue are 
presented below:
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  For the Year Ended December 31,  

  2022   2021   2020  
Hertz Corporation   11.1 %  12.6 %  12.0 %
Avis Budget Group, Inc.   13.0 %  12.3 %  9.5 %
Enterprise Holdings, Inc.   9.3 %  11.4 %  11.3 %

 
The Avis Budget Group, Inc. was 10.2% of total accounts receivable, net as of December 31, 2022. No other Commercial Services customer 

exceeded 10% of total accounts receivable, net as of any period presented. 

There were no significant customer concentrations that exceeded 10% of total revenue or accounts receivables, net for the Parking Solutions 
segment.

Allowance for Credit Losses

Accounts receivable and unbilled receivables are uncollateralized customer obligations arising from the sale of products or services. Accounts 
receivable and unbilled receivables have normal trade terms of less than one year and are initially stated at the amounts billed to the customers and 
subsequently measured at amortized cost net of allowance for credit losses. Unbilled receivables are recorded when revenues have been earned but have not 
been included on a customer invoice through the end of the current period. 

The Company reviews historical credit losses and customer payment trends on receivables and develops loss rate estimates as of the balance sheet 
date, which includes adjustments for current and future expectations using probability-weighted assumptions about potential outcomes. Receivables are 
written off against the allowance for credit losses when it is probable that amounts will not be collected based on the terms of the customer contracts, and 
subsequent recoveries reverse the previous write-off and apply to the receivable in the period recovered. No interest or late fees are charged on delinquent 
accounts. The Company evaluates the adequacy of its allowance for expected credit losses by comparing its actual write-offs to its previously recorded 
estimates and adjusts appropriately.

The Company identified portfolio segments based on the type of business, industry in which the customer operates and historical credit loss patterns. 
The following presents the activity in the allowance for credit losses for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2022, respectively:

 

($ in thousands)
Commercial Services 

 (Driver-billed)  
Commercial Services 

 (All other)  
Government 

 Solutions  
Parking 

 Solutions  Total  
Balance at January 1, 2021 $ 3,210  $ 4,277  $ 3,984  $ —  $ 11,471  
Credit loss expense (income)  11,040   (1,138 )  (314 )  —   9,588  
Write-offs, net of recoveries  (8,853 )  (47 )  (21 )  —   (8,921 )
Balance at December 31, 2021 $ 5,397  $ 3,092  $ 3,649  $ —  $ 12,138  
Credit loss expense  11,739   1,307   950  485   14,481  
Write-offs, net of recoveries  (7,536 )  (2,822 )  (26 )  (328 )  (10,712 )
Balance at December 31, 2022 $ 9,600  $ 1,577  $ 4,573  $ 157  $ 15,907  

(1) Driver-billed consists of receivables from drivers of rental cars and fleet management companies for which the Company bills on behalf of its 
customers. Receivables not collected from drivers within a defined number of days are transferred to customers subject to applicable bad debt 
sharing agreements.

The Commercial Services (Driver-billed) portfolio segment’s credit loss estimate as of December 31, 2021 and 2022 increased compared to the prior 
years due to increased revenue that impacted the volume of transactions as a result of recovery from COVID-19. The Company adjusted down its estimate 
for credit loss as of December 31, 2021 for the Commercial Services (All other) portfolio segment to reflect improved economic conditions based on 
customer payment trends from the preceding twelve months. The credit loss estimate for this portfolio segment decreased as of December 31, 2022 mainly 
due to a $1.7 million write-off for a rental car customer who filed for bankruptcy.
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Inventory

Inventories consist of parts and electronic components used in the production of parking management related hardware sold to certain Parking 
Solutions customers and photo enforcement equipment sold to certain Government Solutions customers. Inventories are stated at cost on a first-in, first-out 
basis or net realizable value. The Company assesses the value of its inventory and writes down the cost to net realizable value upon evaluation of historical 
experience and assumptions regarding future usage, and any such write down establishes a new cost basis for the items. Finished goods were approximately 
$5.1 million and $2.5 million as of December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively.

Installation and Service Parts

Installation and service parts consist of components used in the construction and maintenance of our photo enforcement systems. Installation and 
service parts are stated at cost and are reclassified to property and equipment upon initiation of construction. Installation and service parts used in repairs 
and maintenance are recorded as operating expenses. 

Property and Equipment 

Property and equipment is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation. All repairs and maintenance costs are expensed as incurred. Depreciation is 
recorded on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the related assets as follows:

Equipment installed at customer sites  3-7 years
Computer equipment  3-5 years
Furniture  3-10 years
Automobiles  3-7 years
Software  3-7 years
Leasehold improvements  Shorter of lease term or estimated useful life

 
Equipment installed at customer sites includes certain installation costs that qualify for capitalization. Software costs include certain internal and 

external costs associated with the development of software that are incurred during the application development stage. In addition, a modification or 
upgrade to existing software is capitalized only to the extent it results in additional functionality to existing software. Software maintenance and training 
costs are expensed as incurred. The Company capitalized internally developed software costs of $7.5 million, $3.0 million and $5.1 million during fiscal 
years 2022, 2021, and 2020 respectively.

Investment in Privately-held Securities

The Company holds an investment in privately-held equity securities which is recorded at cost and adjusted based on observable transactions for 
same or similar investments or for impairment. Investment gains and losses are recorded in other income, net.

Valuation of privately-held securities requires judgment due to the lack of readily available observable market data. The carrying value is not 
adjusted if there are no identified events that would indicate a need for upward or downward adjustments or changes in circumstances that may indicate 
impairment. In determining the estimated fair value of its investment, the Company utilizes the most recent data available. The Company assesses it 
investment for impairment quarterly using both qualitative and quantitative factors. If an investment is considered impaired, an impairment loss is 
recognized and a new carrying value is established for the investment. 

The Company considered the existence of impairment indicators by evaluating the financial and liquidity position and as a result, a $1.3 million 
impairment during the year ended December 31, 2022 was recorded within other income, net on the consolidated statements of operations. There were no 
indicators of impairment during the year ended December 31, 2021. See Note 16, Other Significant Transactions for more information.

Goodwill 

Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price over the estimated fair value of net tangible and identifiable intangible assets acquired in 
business combinations. Goodwill is assessed for impairment at least annually at the reporting unit level or more frequently if events or changes in 
circumstances indicate the carrying value may not be recoverable. If, based on a qualitative analysis, it is determined more-likely-than-not that the fair 
value of the reporting 
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unit is less than its carrying amount, a one-step quantitative impairment test is performed. Reporting units are identified by assessing whether the 
components of the Company’s operating segments constitute businesses for which discrete financial information is available and if segment management 
regularly reviews the operating results of those components. Application of the goodwill impairment test requires judgment, including the identification of 
reporting units, the assignment of assets (including goodwill) to those reporting units and the determination of the fair value of each reporting unit. The date 
of the Company’s annual impairment analysis is October 1. The Company has four reporting units for the purposes of assessing potential impairment of 
goodwill.

 
In connection with the Company's 2022 assessment of goodwill impairment, it qualitatively concluded that the Commercial Services and 

Government Solutions North America reporting units did not have indicators of impairment. It did however, perform quantitative impairment reviews on 
the Parking Solutions and Government Solutions International reporting units, both of which were acquired in 2021. The fair values of these reporting units 
were determined in accordance with the discounted cash flow method using currently available financial forecasts. Based on the results of the Company's 
quantitative review, it concluded no adjustment to goodwill was necessary for fiscal year 2022. Moreover, the Company utilized earnings multiples to 
estimate the fair values of its Commercial Services and Government Solutions reporting units and corroborated the reasonableness of the reporting unit fair 
values by reconciling to the Company’s market capitalization as of October 1, 2022. The qualitative analyses performed as of October 1 for fiscal years 
2021 and 2020 did not have indicators of impairment.

Intangible Assets

Intangible assets represent existing customer relationships, trademarks, developed technology (hardware and software) and non-compete 
agreements. Intangible assets are amortized over their respective estimated useful lives on a straight-line basis, which approximates the utilization of their 
expected future benefits. Amortization of intangible assets is included in depreciation, amortization and (gain) loss on disposal of assets, net in the 
consolidated statements of operations.

The Company annually evaluates the estimated remaining useful lives of its intangible assets to determine whether events or changes in 
circumstances warrant a revision to the remaining period of amortization.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

The Company reviews its long-lived assets (including intangible assets with finite useful lives and installation and service parts) for impairment 
whenever events or circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset or an asset group may not be fully recoverable. The Company assesses 
recoverability by comparing the estimated undiscounted future cash flows expected to be generated by the asset or asset group with its carrying value. If the 
carrying value of the asset or asset group exceeds the estimated undiscounted future cash flows, an impairment loss is recognized for the difference between 
the estimated fair value and the carrying value.

The Company did not have any indicators of impairment related to long-lived assets for the years ended December 31, 2021 or 2020. The Company 
had $0.7 million of impairment related to certain photo enforcement programs that ended during the year ended December 31, 2022 within the depreciation, 
amortization and (gain) loss on disposal of assets, net line item on the consolidated statements of operations.

Self-Insurance

The Company is self-insured for medical costs and has stop-loss insurance policies to limit its exposure to individual and aggregate claims made. 
Liabilities for these programs are estimated based on outstanding claims and claims estimated to be incurred but not yet reported using historical loss 
experience. These estimates are subject to variability due to changes in trends of losses for outstanding claims and incurred but not reported claims, 
including external factors such as the number, and cost of, claims, benefit level changes and claim settlement patterns. 

Warrants

As of December 31, 2022, there were warrants outstanding to acquire 19,999,967 shares of the Company’s Class A Common Stock including: (i) 
6,666,666 Private Placement Warrants and (ii) 13,333,301 warrants issued in connection with the IPO (the “Public Warrants” and, together with the Private 
Placement Warrants, the “Warrants”). 
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The Warrants entitle the registered holder to purchase one share of our Class A Common Stock at a price of $11.50 per share, subject to certain 
adjustments.

 
The Warrants became exercisable on November 16, 2018, 30 days following the completion of the Business Combination, and expire five years after 

that date, or earlier upon redemption or liquidation. The Company may redeem the outstanding Public Warrants at a price of $0.01 per warrant, if the last 
sale price of its Class A Common Stock equals or exceeds $18.00 per share for any 20 trading days within a 30 trading-day period ending on the third 
business day before it sends the notice of redemption to the Warrant holders. The Private Placement Warrants, however, are nonredeemable so long as they 
are held by Gores Sponsor II, LLC or its permitted transferees.

 
The Company accounts for warrants as either equity-classified or liability-classified instruments based on an assessment of the warrant’s specific 

terms and applicable authoritative guidance under FASB ASC 480, Distinguishing Liabilities from Equity (“ASC 480”) and ASC 815, Derivatives and 
Hedging (“ASC 815”). The assessment considers whether the warrants are freestanding financial instruments pursuant to ASC 480, meet the definition of a 
liability pursuant to ASC 480, and whether the warrants meet all of the requirements for equity classification under ASC 815, including whether the 
warrants are indexed to the Company’s own common shares, among other conditions for equity classification. 

  
For warrants that meet all of the criteria for equity classification, the warrants are required to be recorded as a component of additional paid-in 

capital at the time of issuance. For warrants that do not meet all the criteria for equity classification, the warrants are required to be recorded at their initial 
fair value on the date of issuance, and each balance sheet date thereafter. Changes in the estimated fair value of the warrants are recognized as a non-cash 
gain or loss on the statements of operations. The Company’s Public Warrants meet the criteria for equity classification and accordingly, are reported as a 
component of shareholders’ equity while the Company’s Private Placement Warrants do not meet the criteria for equity classification because the holder of 
the instrument is not an input into the pricing of a fixed-for-fixed option on equity shares and are instead classified as a liability. The fair value of the 
Private Placement Warrants is estimated at period-end using a Black-Scholes option pricing model. Shares issuable under the Warrants are considered for 
inclusion in the diluted share count in accordance with GAAP. As the shares issuable under the Warrants are issuable shares when exercised by the holders, 
they are included when computing diluted income (loss) per share, if such exercise is dilutive to income (loss) per share.

Interest Rate Swap
 
In December 2022, the Company entered into a cancellable interest rate swap agreement to hedge its exposure to interest rate fluctuations associated 

with the LIBOR portion of the variable interest rate on its 2021 Term Loan. Under the interest rate swap agreement, the Company pays a fixed rate and the 
counterparty pays a variable interest rate. The Company entered into an International Swaps and Derivatives Association, Inc. Master Agreement with the 
counterparty which provides for the net settlement of all, or a specified group, of derivative transactions through a single payment. The notional amount on 
the interest rate swap is $675 million. The Company has the option to terminate the interest rate swap agreement starting in December 2023, and monthly 
thereafter until December 2025. The Company is treating the interest rate swap as an economic hedge for accounting purposes and any changes in the fair 
value of the derivative instrument (including accrued interest) are recorded in the consolidated statements of operations within the gain on interest rate swap 
line item. The Company recorded a $1.0 million gain on interest rate swap for the year ended December 31, 2022, which is recorded within operating 
activities on the consolidated statements of cash flows. The fair value of cash flows of approximately $1.0 million due within one year are presented in the 
accrued liabilities line item and the fair value of cash flows of $2.0 million received greater than one year are within the other non-current assets line item 
on the consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2022. See below for discussion on the fair value measurement of the interest rate swap, and Note 9, 
Long-term Debt, for additional information on the Company's mix of fixed and variable debt. 

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

ASC Topic 820, Fair Value Measurement, includes a single definition of fair value to be used for financial reporting purposes, provides a framework 
for applying this definition and for measuring fair value under GAAP, and 
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establishes a fair value hierarchy that categorizes into three levels the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value. The three levels of the fair 
value hierarchy are summarized as follows:

Level 1 – Fair value is based on observable inputs such as quoted prices for identical assets or liabilities in active markets.

Level 2 – Fair value is determined using quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets, quoted prices for identical or similar assets or 
liabilities in markets that are not active or inputs other than quoted prices that are directly or indirectly observable.

Level 3 – Fair value is determined using one or more significant inputs that are unobservable in active markets at the measurement date, such as a 
pricing model, discounted cash flow, or similar technique.

The carrying amounts reported in the Company’s consolidated balance sheets for cash, accounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued expenses 
approximate fair value due to the immediate to short-term maturity of these financial instruments. The estimated fair value of the Company’s long term debt 
was calculated based upon available market information. The carrying value and the estimated fair value are as follows:

 
  Level in  December 31, 2022   December 31, 2021  
  Fair Value  Carrying   Estimated   Carrying   Estimated  

($ in thousands)  Hierarchy  Amount   Fair Value   Amount   Fair Value  
2021 Term Loan  2  $ 866,365   $ 883,891   $ 871,467   $ 895,125  
Senior Notes  2   345,615    313,250    344,918    355,250  
Revolver  2   —    —    24,435    25,000  
 

The fair value of the private placement warrant liabilities is measured on a recurring basis and is estimated using the Black-Scholes option pricing 
model using significant unobservable inputs, primarily related to estimated volatility, and is therefore classified within level 3 of the fair value hierarchy.
The key assumptions used were as follows:

 
  December 31, 2022   December 31, 2021  
Stock price  $ 13.83   $ 15.43  
Strike price  $ 11.50   $ 11.50  
Volatility   44.0 %   48.0 %
Remaining life (in years)   0.8    1.8  
Risk-free interest rate   4.74 %   0.66 %
Expected dividend yield   0.0 %   0.0 %
Estimated fair value  $ 3.61   $ 5.77  

 
The Company is exposed to valuation risk on these Level 3 financial instruments. The risk of exposure is estimated using a sensitivity analysis of 

potential changes in the significant unobservable inputs, primarily the volatility input that is the most susceptible to valuation risk. A 5% increase to the 
volatility input at December 31, 2022 would increase the estimated fair value by $0.19 per unit. A 5% decrease to the volatility input at December 31, 2022 
would decrease the estimated fair value by $0.18 per unit. The following summarizes the changes in fair value of private placement warrant liabilities 
included in net income (loss) for the respective periods:

 
($ in thousands)  December 31, 2022   December 31, 2021  
Beginning balance  $ 38,466   $ 30,866  
Change in fair value of private placement warrants   (14,400 )   7,600  

Ending balance  $ 24,066   $ 38,466  
 

The Company has an equity investment measured at cost which is only adjusted to fair value if there are identified events that would indicate a need 
for an upward or downward adjustment or changes in circumstances that may indicate impairment. The estimation of fair value requires the use of 
significant unobservable inputs, such as voting rights and obligations in the securities held, and is therefore classified within level 3 of the fair value 
hierarchy. The carrying value of the investment was $2.1 million and $3.7 million as of December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively. The Company 
considered  the existence of impairment indicators by evaluating the financial and liquidity position and as a result, remeasured the equity investment to fair 
value and recorded an impairment of $1.3 million 
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during the year ended December 31, 2022. There were no identified events that required a fair value adjustment as of December 31, 2021.

 
The fair value of the contingent consideration payable in connection with the NuPark acquisition was $1.5 million at December 13, 2021 acquisition 

date and was classified within level 3 of the fair value hierarchy. The valuation of the contingent consideration was measured using a discounted cash flow 
model and the significant unobservable inputs used in the measurement relate to forecasts of annualized revenue developed by the Company. During fiscal 
year 2022, the Company made payments to settle in full the contingent consideration payable to Passport Labs Inc, and there was no remaining payable as 
of December 31, 2022.

 
The recurring fair value measurement of the interest rate swap was valued based on observable inputs for similar assets and liabilities including 

swaption values and other observable inputs for interest rates and yield curves and is classified within level 2 of the fair value hierarchy.  

Asset Retirement Obligation

The Company records obligations to perform certain retirement activities on camera and speed enforcement systems in the period that the related 
assets are placed in service. Asset retirement obligations are contractual obligations to restore property to its initial state. These obligations, which are 
initially estimated based on discounted cash flow estimates, are accreted to full value over time through charges to operating expenses in the consolidated 
statements of operations. The associated asset retirement obligation is capitalized as part of the related asset’s carrying value and is depreciated over the 
asset’s estimated remaining useful life. When events and circumstances indicate that the original estimates used for asset retirement obligations may need 
revision, the Company reassesses the assumptions used and adjusts the liability appropriately.

Deferred Financing Costs

Deferred financing costs consist of the costs incurred to obtain long-term financing, including the Company’s credit facilities (See Note 9). These 
costs, which are a reduction to long-term debt on the consolidated balance sheets, are amortized over the term of the related debt, using the effective interest 
method for term debt and the straight-line method for revolving credit facilities. Amortization of deferred financing costs for fiscal years 2022, 2021 and 
2020 was $5.5 million, $5.2 million, and $5.4 million respectively. 

Income Taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes under the asset and liability method. This approach requires the recognition of deferred tax assets and 
liabilities for the expected future tax consequences of differences between the tax basis of assets or liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial 
statements. Deferred tax assets generally represent items that can be used as a tax deduction or credit in tax returns in future years, while deferred tax 
liabilities generally represent items that generate a future tax liability for items where deductions have been accelerated for tax purposes. The Company 
provides a valuation allowance for deferred tax assets if it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the tax assets will not be realized. The 
Company calculates the valuation allowance in accordance with the authoritative guidance relating to income taxes, which requires an assessment of both 
positive and negative evidence regarding the realizability of these deferred tax assets when measuring the need for a valuation allowance. Significant 
judgment is required in determining any valuation allowance against deferred tax assets. The realization of deferred tax assets can be affected by, among 
other things, the nature, frequency, and severity of current and cumulative losses, forecasts of future profitability, the length of statutory carryforward 
periods, our experience with utilizing operating losses and tax credit carryforwards by jurisdiction, the reversal of existing taxable temporary differences 
and tax planning alternatives and strategies that may be available.

The Company’s effective tax rate is based on income, statutory tax rates, differences in the deductibility of certain expenses and inclusion of certain 
income items between financial statement and tax return purposes, and tax planning opportunities available to it in the various jurisdictions in which it 
operates. Under GAAP, if the Company determines that a tax position is more likely than not of being sustained upon audit, based solely on the technical 
merits of the position, the Company recognizes the benefit. Tax code and regulations require certain items to be included in the tax return at different times
than when those items are required to be recorded in the consolidated 
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financial statements. As a result, the effective tax rate reflected in its consolidated financial statements is different from that reported in its tax returns. 
Some of these differences are permanent, such as meals and entertainment expenses that are not fully deductible on the Company’s tax returns, and some 
are temporary differences, such as depreciation expense. Temporary differences create deferred tax assets and liabilities.

The Company’s policy is to recognize interest and penalties related to the underpayment of income taxes as a component of income tax provision or 
benefit.

Stock-based Compensation

In October 2018, the Company established the Verra Mobility 2018 Equity Incentive Plan (the “2018 Plan”) which provides for a variety of stock-
based awards for issuance to employees and directors. The Company grants RSUs, stock options and performance share units (“PSUs”).

The Company recognizes the fair value of RSUs based on the Company’s common stock price at market close on the date of the grant. The 
Company uses the Black-Scholes option pricing model to determine the fair value of stock options, and uses the Monte Carlo simulation model to 
determine the fair value of PSUs containing market conditions. The Black-Scholes model requires an assumption regarding the expected life of the stock
option, which the Company estimated to be 6.25 years by applying the short-cut method permitted under SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 110. The 
expected term of PSUs granted was three years, which matches the awards’ performance period. RSUs and stock options vest based on the continued 
service of the recipient. PSUs are issued upon continued service along with the relative satisfaction of a market condition that measures the Company’s total 
stockholder return relative to a comparably calculated return for a peer group during the performance period. In addition, the Black-Scholes and the Monte 
Carlo models require assumptions to be made regarding the expected volatility of the Company’s stock price. Stock price volatility is determined by 
averaging an implied volatility with the measure of historical volatility.

The following represents our weighted average assumptions for stock options and PSUs granted for the respective periods:

 
  For the Year Ended December 31,  
  2022   2021   2020  

Stock options          
Weighted average expected volatility   45.1 %  47.7 %  34.5 %
Weighted average risk-free interest rate   2.94 %  0.94 %  0.73 %
PSUs          
Weighted average expected volatility   48.0 %  50.4 %  34.0 %
Weighted average risk-free interest rate   2.78 %  0.33 %  0.61 %

  
Compensation expense for share-based awards is determined based on the grant date fair value. The Company recognizes these compensation costs 

on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period of the award, which is generally the vesting term of the share-based award. The compensation 
expense for the PSUs is recognized over the requisite service period regardless of whether the market condition is satisfied. Forfeitures are accounted for as 
they occur. See Note 14, Equity Incentive Plan, for more information on the Company’s share-based awards. 

Revenue Recognition

Nature of Goods and Services
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The following is a description of principal activities, separated by reportable segments, from which the Company generates revenue:

Commercial Services.    The Commercial Services segment offers toll and violation management solutions for the commercial fleet and rental car 
industries. The Company determined its performance obligation is a distinct stand-ready obligation, as there is an unspecified quantity of services provided 
that does not diminish, and the customer is being charged only when it uses the Company’s services, such as toll payment, title and registration, etc. 
Payment terms for contracts with commercial fleet and rental car companies vary, but are usually billed as services are performed. The Company 
recognizes revenue from these services over time.

Government Solutions.    The Government Solutions segment principally generates revenue by providing complete, end-to-end speed, red-light, 
school bus stop arm, and bus lane enforcement solutions. Products, when sold, are typically sold together with the services in a bundle for a majority of 
customers. The average initial term of a contract is 3 to 5 years. Payment terms for contracts with government agencies vary depending on whether the 
consideration is fixed or variable. Payment terms for contracts with fixed consideration are usually based on equal installments over the duration of the
contract. Payment terms for contracts with variable consideration are usually billed and collected as citations are issued or paid. In instances when the 
consideration expected from the customer is subject to variation, any variable consideration affecting revenue recognition is allocated to the distinct period 
(the monthly period) that it relates to. 

For bundled offerings, the Company accounts for individual products and services separately if they are distinct – i.e., if a product or service is 
separately identifiable from other items in the bundle and if a customer can benefit from it as a stand-alone item. The consideration is allocated between 
separate products and services in a bundle based on their stand-alone selling prices (“SSP”). The Company estimates the SSP for its services based upon 
observable evidence, market conditions and other relevant inputs. If products are sold without the related services, no allocation is required.

• Product sales (sale of camera systems and installation) – the camera systems and related installation services are highly interdependent and 
interrelated and are accounted for as a single performance obligation. The revenues for this performance obligation are generally recognized 
at the point in time when the installation process is completed and the camera system is ready to perform the services as expected by the 
customer. Generally, this occurs at site acceptance or first citation. 

• Service revenue – the Company has determined its performance obligation is to provide a complete end-to-end safety and enforcement 
solution. Promises include providing a system to capture images, processing images taken by the camera, forwarding eligible images to the 
police department and processing payments on behalf of the municipality. The Company has determined that certain of the promises to its 
customers are capable of being distinct as they are capable of providing some measure of benefit to the customer either on their own or 
together with other resources that are readily available to the customer. However, the Company has determined the promises to its customers 
do not meet the criterion of being distinct within the context of its contracts. The Company would not be able to fulfill its promises 
individually as its customers could not obtain the intended benefit from the contract without the Company fulfilling all promises. 
Accordingly, the Company concluded that each contract represents one service offering and is a single performance obligation to the 
customer. Further, the Company accounts for all the services as a single continuous service. The Company applied the series guidance for 
those services as it stands ready to deliver those services over the contract period. The Company recognizes revenue from services over time, 
as they are performed.

Parking Solutions.   The T2 Systems business offers an integrated suite of parking software and hardware solutions to its customers. Revenue is 
derived primarily from the sale of software as a service (“SaaS”) and specialized hardware. For bundled offerings, the Company accounts for individual 
products and services separately if they are distinct and allocate the transaction price based on the relative SSP. For substantially all performance 
obligations except SaaS subscriptions, the Company is able to establish the SSP based on the observable prices of products or services sold separately in 
comparable transactions. The Company’s estimates of SSP are reassessed on a periodic basis or when facts and circumstances change. The Company is 
unable to establish the SSP for its software licenses based on observable prices given the same products are sold at a broad range of prices and a 
representative SSP is not discernible from past transactions or other observable evidence, as such, the SSP for  software licenses included in a contract with 
multiple performance obligations is generally determined by applying a residual approach.
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• The Company’s hosted parking management software products provide customers the ability to manage access to their parking lots and 
garages, issue physical or virtual parking permits and manage citations issued through enforcement devices. Revenue derived from these 
SaaS products is recognized ratably over the contractual service period beginning on the date the service is made available to the customer.

• Service revenue derived from the Company’s professional services are recognized over time as the services are performed. Revenues for 
fixed-price service projects are generally recognized over time applying input methods to estimate progress to completion.

• Revenue from product sales is recognized at a point in time when a customer takes control of the hardware, which typically occurs when the 
product is delivered to the customer and ownership is transferred to the customer. 

  
Deferred Revenue

Deferred revenue represents amounts that have been invoiced in advance which are expected to be recognized as revenue in future periods, and it 
primarily relates to the Government Solutions and Parking Solutions customers. As of December 31, 2021 and 2022, the Company had approximately $8.9 
million and $12.2 million of deferred revenue in the Government Solutions segment. The majority of the remaining performance obligations as of 
December 31, 2022 are expected to be completed and recognized in 2023 and $4.7 million is expected to be recognized between 2024 through 2027. As of 
December 31, 2021 and 2022, the Company had approximately $20.9 million and $21.2 million of deferred revenue in the Parking Solutions segment. The 
majority of the remaining performance obligations as of December 31, 2022 are expected to be completed and recognized as revenue in 2023 and $0.5 
million is expected to be recognized in 2024.

Credit Card Rebates

The Company earns volume rebates from total spend on purchasing cards and recognizes the income in other income, net in the consolidated 
statements of operations. For the fiscal years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020, the Company recorded $14.5 million, $11.3 million, and $8.5 
million respectively, related to rebates.

Advertising Costs

The Company expenses advertising costs as incurred. Advertising costs for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020, were $1.0 
million, $0.7 million and $0.8 million, respectively, and were included in selling, general, and administrative expenses in the consolidated statements of 
operations. 

Foreign Currency

Assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that differ from their functional currencies are re-measured at the exchange rate on the 
balance sheet date. The foreign currency effect of the re-measurement is included in other income, net in the consolidated statements of operations. The 
impact of foreign currency re-measurement was (losses) gains of $(0.7) million, $(0.2) million and $0.4 million for the fiscal years ended December 31, 
2022, 2021 and 2020, respectively.

The assets and liabilities of our foreign subsidiaries whose functional currency is not the U.S. dollar are translated into U.S. dollars at current 
exchange rates while revenue and expenses are translated from functional currencies at average monthly exchange rates. The resulting translation 
adjustments are recorded in accumulated other comprehensive loss in stockholders’ equity.  

Acquisitions

The Company applies the acquisition method to account for business combinations. The Company allocates the fair value of the purchase price 
consideration to assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on their estimated fair values. The excess of the purchase consideration over the fair value of 
the identifiable assets and liabilities is recorded as goodwill. The Company includes the results of operations of businesses acquired from the date of the 
respective acquisition. Any transaction costs associated with acquisitions are expensed as incurred.
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Measurement period adjustments to preliminary purchase price allocations are recognized in the period in which they are determined, with the effect 
on earnings of any changes in depreciation, amortization or other income resulting from such changes calculated as if the accounting had been completed at 
the acquisition date. If applicable, we estimate the fair value of contingent consideration payments in determining the purchase price. Contingent 
consideration is adjusted to fair value in subsequent periods as an increase or decrease in selling, general and administrative expenses. 

The determination and allocation of fair values to the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed is based on various assumptions and 
valuation methodologies requiring considerable management judgment, and includes the use of independent valuation specialists to assist the Company in 
estimating fair values of acquired tangible and intangible assets. Although the Company believes that the assumptions applied in the determination are 
reasonable based on information available at the date of acquisition, actual results may differ from estimates.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

Accounting Standards Adopted

In May 2021, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) 2021-04, Earnings Per Share 
(Topic 260), Debt—Modifications and Extinguishments (Subtopic 470-50), Compensation—Stock Compensation (Topic 718), and Derivatives and Hedging
—Contracts in Entity’s Own Equity (Subtopic 815-40): Issuer’s Accounting for Certain Modifications or Exchanges of Freestanding Equity-Classified 
Written Call Options. This ASU provides guidance for a modification or an exchange of a freestanding equity-classified written call option that is not 
within the scope of another topic. It specifically addresses the measurement and recognition of the effect of a modification of the terms or conditions or an 
exchange of a freestanding equity-classified written call option if it remains equity-classified after the modification or exchange. The Company adopted this 
standard as of January 1, 2022, which did not have an impact on its financial statements and related disclosures, as the Company had no transactions subject 
to the standard. If the Company were to have modifications or exchanges in the future, such guidance would apply.

In November 2021, the FASB issued ASU 2021-10, Government Assistance (Topic 832): Disclosures by Business Entities about Government 
Assistance, to increase transparency in financial reporting by requiring business entities to disclose information about certain types of government 
assistance they receive. The amendments require annual disclosures regarding the nature of any transactions with a government accounted for by applying a 
grant or contribution accounting model by analogy and the related accounting policy used, the effect of the assistance on the entity’s financial statements, 
and the significant terms and conditions of the transactions. The Company adopted the ASU as of January 1, 2022, which did not have a material impact on 
its financial statements or related disclosures.

 

Accounting Standards Not Yet Adopted 

In March 2020, the FASB issued ASU 2020-04, Reference Rate Reform (Topic 848): Facilitation of the Effects of Reference Rate Reform on 
Financial Reporting. The ASU provides temporary optional guidance to ease the potential burden in accounting for reference rate reform. It provides 
optional expedients and exceptions for applying GAAP to contract modifications, subject to meeting certain criteria, that reference LIBOR or another 
reference rate expected to be discontinued. In January 2021, the FASB issued ASU 2021-01, Reference Rate Reform (Topic 848): Scope, which clarifies that 
certain optional expedients and exceptions in Topic 848 for contract modifications and hedge accounting apply to derivatives that are affected by the 
discounting transition. In December 2022, the FASB issued ASU 2022-06, Reference Rate Reform (Topic 848): Deferral of the Sunset Date of Topic 848 
which extended the period of time stakeholders can utilize the reference rate reform relief guidance for two additional years until December 31, 2024. 

Under the terms of the 2021 Term Loan (as defined below) discussed in Note 9, Long-term Debt, in the event there is a benchmark transition away 
from LIBOR, a benchmark replacement rate has been defined in the 2021 Term Loan agreement along with the mechanism for such a transition to take 
place. The Company does not anticipate this transition will have a material impact on its consolidated financial statements.

On June 30, 2022, the FASB issued ASU 2022-03, Fair Value Measurement (Topic 820): Fair Value Measurement of Equity Securities Subject to 
Contractual Sale Restrictions. The ASU clarifies that a contractual 
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restriction on the sale of an equity security is not considered part of the unit of account of the equity security and, therefore, is not considered in measuring 
fair value. It also requires entities with investments in equity securities subject to contractual sale restrictions to disclose certain qualitative and quantitative 
information about such securities. The guidance is effective for fiscal years, including interim periods beginning after December 15, 2023. Early adoption is 
permitted. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of this standard on its financial statements.

3. Acquisitions

Redflex Acquisition 
 

On June 17, 2021, the Company completed the acquisition of Redflex, an Australian public company formerly listed on the Australian Securities 
Exchange. At the closing of the Redflex acquisition, VM Consolidated, Inc., an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, purchased one hundred 
percent of the outstanding equity of Redflex at A$0.96 per share at consideration of A$152.5 million, or approximately US$117.9 million. Transaction costs 
for Redflex were $9.7 million which primarily related to professional fees and other expenses related to the acquisition. At the date of acquisition, Redflex 
was a provider of intelligent traffic management products and services that are sold and managed in the Asia Pacific, North America, Europe, and Middle 
East regions. Redflex designed, manufactured, and operated a range of platform-based solutions, utilizing advanced sensor and image capture technologies 
to enable active management of state and local motorways. The Company has included the financial results of Redflex in the financial statements from the 
date of acquisition.

 
The final allocation of the purchase consideration is summarized as follows:

  
($ in thousands)    
Assets acquired    

Cash and cash equivalents  $ 8,760  
Restricted cash   2,163  
Accounts receivable   6,870  
Unbilled receivables   5,283  
Property and equipment   29,809  
Deferred tax assets   10,315  
Other assets   19,247  
Trademark   900  
Customer relationships   25,900  
Developed technology   18,200  

Total assets acquired   127,447  
    
Liabilities assumed    

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities   31,936  
Deferred revenue   8,048  
Long-term debt   14,014  
Other long-term liabilities   11,736  

Total liabilities assumed   65,734  
Goodwill   56,214  
Total purchase consideration  $ 117,927  
  

The Company finalized the evaluation of historical Redflex tax positions and the impact on assumed uncertain tax positions and other tax attributes 
during the three months ended March 31, 2022 which did not result in any changes to the previously disclosed amounts at December 31, 2021.

 
Goodwill consists largely of the expected cash flows and future growth anticipated for the Company and was assigned to the Company’s 

Government Solutions segment. The goodwill is not deductible for tax purposes. The customer relationships value was based on the multi-period excess 
earnings methodology utilizing projected cash flows. The significant assumptions used to value customer relationships included, among others, customer 
churn rates, forecasted revenue growth rates attributable to existing customers, forecasted EBITDA margins and the discount rate. 
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The values for the trademark and the developed technology related assets were based on a relief-from-royalty method. The significant assumptions used to 
value these intangible assets included, among others, forecasted revenue growth rates, royalty rates and the expected obsolescence curve. The trademark, 
customer relationships and the developed technology related assets were assigned useful lives of 5.0 years, 10.0 years, and 8.7 years, respectively.

T2 Systems Acquisition

On December 7, 2021, the Company acquired all of the outstanding shares of T2 Systems, which offers an integrated suite of parking software and 
hardware solutions to its customers. This acquisition supports the Company’s strategy to expand and diversify into new markets within the mobility sector. 
The Company has included the financial results of T2 Systems in the consolidated financial statements from the date of acquisition, and reported within the 
Parking Solutions segment. 

 
The Company paid a purchase price of $353.2 million. Transaction costs for T2 Systems were $3.4 million which primarily related to professional 

fees and other expenses related to the acquisition.
 

The final allocation of the purchase consideration is summarized as follows:
 
($ in thousands)    
Assets acquired    

Cash and cash equivalents  $ 13,866  
Restricted cash   228  
Accounts receivable   9,673  
Unbilled receivables   2,153  
Inventory   7,467  
Property and equipment   3,336  
Prepaid and other assets   7,031  
Trademark   3,200  
Customer relationships   164,300  
Developed technology   19,300  

Total assets acquired   230,554  
    
Liabilities assumed    

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities   10,379  
Deferred revenue   21,002  
Deferred tax liabilities   37,690  
Other liabilities   4,228  

Total liabilities assumed   73,299  
Goodwill   195,982  
Total assets acquired and liabilities assumed  $ 353,237  
 

(a)  The Company adjusted the fair values from the initial valuation as of December 31, 2021 to reflect new information obtained about facts and 
circumstances that existed as of the T2 Systems acquisition date. The measurement period adjustments include an increase of $0.6 million to the deferred 
tax liabilities, a $0.4 million decrease to deferred tax assets included within prepaid and other assets, a $0.2 million decrease in deferred revenue, and a net 
offsetting increase of $0.8 million to the goodwill line item. There was no impact to the consolidated statement of operations as a result of these 
adjustments.

 
Goodwill consists largely of the expected cash flows and future growth anticipated for the Company and was assigned to the Company’s Parking 

Solutions segment. The goodwill is not deductible for tax purposes. The customer relationships value was based on the multi-period excess earnings 
methodology utilizing projected cash flows. The significant assumptions used to value customer relationships included, among others, customer upsell and 
churn rates, forecasted revenue growth rates attributable to existing customers, forecasted EBITDA margins and the discount rate. The values for the 
trademark and the developed technology related assets were based on a relief-from-royalty method. The significant assumptions used to value these 
intangible assets included, among others, forecasted revenue growth 
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rates, royalty rates and the expected obsolescence curve. The trademark, customer relationships and the developed technology related assets were assigned 
useful lives of 10.0 years, 10.0 years, and 6.1 years, respectively.

 
NuPark Acquisition

 
On December 13, 2021, the Company completed the acquisition of NuPark (“NuPark”), a provider of parking services and permit management 

product platform from Passport Labs, Inc., which expanded the Company’s presence in the United States in the Parking Solutions segment. The acquisition 
date fair value of the consideration transferred to Passport Labs, Inc. was approximately $7.0 million, which consisted primarily of $5.5 million of cash 
(inclusive of a $0.5 million indemnity holdback) and $1.5 million of contingent consideration payable. The Company recorded $0.3 million of tangible 
assets, $4.9 million of customer relationships intangible assets valued using a multi-period excess earnings methodology, with an estimated useful life of 
10.0 years, and $1.3 million of assumed liabilities, which was primarily deferred revenue. Goodwill recorded was $3.2 million for future growth anticipated 
for the Company and is deductible for tax purposes. The Company has included the financial results of NuPark in the consolidated financial statements 
from the date of acquisition, which were not material. The transaction costs for the acquisition were not material.

 
During fiscal year 2022, the Company recorded a measurement period adjustment to reduce the customer relationship intangible assets’ value by 

$0.6 million. Additionally, the Company made payments that totaled approximately $0.9 million to settle in full the contingent consideration payable to 
Passport Labs Inc.
 
Pro Forma Financial Information (Unaudited)

The pro forma information below gives effect to the Redflex and T2 systems acquisitions as if they had been completed on the first day of each 
period presented. Pro forma information for NuPark was not provided as it was not material. The pro forma results of operations are presented for 
information purposes only. As such, they are not necessarily indicative of the Company’s results had the Redflex and T2 systems acquisitions been 
completed on the first day of each period presented, nor do they intend to represent the Company’s future results. The pro forma information does not 
reflect any cost savings from operating efficiencies or synergies that could result from the acquisitions and does not reflect additional revenue opportunities 
following the acquisition of Redflex and T2 Systems. The pro forma information includes adjustments to record the assets and liabilities associated with the 
Redflex and T2 Systems acquisitions at their respective fair values and to give effect to the financing of the acquisitions.
  

  For the Year Ended December 31,  
($ in thousands)  2021   2020  
Revenue  $ 650,567   $ 530,807  
Net income (loss)   30,099    (58,695 )
  

The pro forma results primarily include adjustments related to amortization of intangibles, depreciation expense, interest expense and related debt 
extinguishment costs from the debt refinancing transactions and exclusion of acquisition-related costs and certain capitalized costs related to operating 
leases and developed technology.

4. Prepaid Expenses and Other Current Assets

Prepaid expenses and other current assets consist of the following at December 31:
 
($ in thousands)  2022   2021  
Prepaid tolls  $ 9,978   $ 7,539  
Prepaid services   9,171    8,643  
Prepaid income taxes   4,629    5,324  
Prepaid computer maintenance   5,492    3,742  
Costs to fulfill a customer contract   3,193    3,364  
Prepaid insurance   3,112    4,293  
Deposits   2,057    6,742  
Other   1,972    1,809  

Total prepaid expenses and other current assets  $ 39,604   $ 41,456  
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5. Property and Equipment, Net

Property and equipment, net, consists of the following at December 31:
 
($ in thousands)  2022   2021  
Equipment installed at customer sites  $ 122,507   $ 112,770  
Software   30,288    24,207  
Leasehold improvements   9,806    9,255  
Computer equipment   20,274    14,215  
Furniture   2,648    2,662  
Automobiles   12,933    4,761  
Construction in progress   19,357    12,169  
Property and equipment   217,813    180,039  
Less: accumulated depreciation   (108,038 )   (83,973 )

Property and equipment, net  $ 109,775   $ 96,066  

Depreciation expense was $32.2 million, $26.8 million and $23.1 million for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020, 
respectively, including depreciation related to costs to develop or implement software for internal use of $3.4 million, $4.4 million and $4.3 million for the 
fiscal years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020, respectively.

6. Goodwill and Intangible Assets

The following table presents the changes in the carrying amount of goodwill by reportable segment:

 
  Commercial   Government   Parking     

($ in thousands)  Services   Solutions   Solutions   Total  
Balance at December 31, 2020  $ 426,689   $ 159,746   $ —   $ 586,435  
Acquisition of Redflex   —    56,214    —    56,214  
Acquisition of T2 Systems   —    —    195,226    195,226  
Acquisition of NuPark   —    —    3,160    3,160  
Foreign currency translation adjustment   (1,608 )   (560 )   —    (2,168 )
Balance at December 31, 2021   425,081    215,400    198,386    838,867  
Measurement period adjustment   —    —    756    756  
Foreign currency translation adjustment   (5,361 )   (782 )   —    (6,143 )

Balance at December 31, 2022  $ 419,720   $ 214,618   $ 199,142   $ 833,480  
 
(a) This is a measurement period adjustment related to the T2 Systems acquisition, see Note 3. Acquisitions for additional information.
 
Intangible assets consist of the following as of the respective period-ends:
 

  Weighted  Weighted  At December 31, 2022  
  Average  Average  Gross     
  Remaining  Amortization  Carrying   Accumulated  
($ in thousands)  Useful Life  Period  Amount   Amortization  
Trademarks  0.4 years  3.7 years  $ 36,151   $ 32,233  
Non-compete agreements  0.1 years  5.0 years   62,529    60,926  
Customer relationships  5.5 years  9.3 years   557,570    227,102  
Developed technology  1.2 years  5.8 years   201,548    160,117  

Gross carrying value of intangible assets       857,798   $ 480,378  

Less: accumulated amortization       (480,378 )    
Intangible assets, net      $ 377,420     
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  Weighted  Weighted  At December 31, 2021  
  Average  Average  Gross     
  Remaining  Amortization  Carrying   Accumulated  

($ in thousands)  Useful Life  Period  Amount   Amortization  
Trademarks  0.5 years  3.7 years  $ 36,225   $ 31,429  
Non-compete agreements  1.0 years  5.0 years   62,555    49,982  
Customer relationships  6.5 years  9.3 years   561,767    167,255  
Developed technology  2.2 years  5.8 years   202,768    127,350  

Gross carrying value of intangible assets       863,315   $ 376,016  

Less: accumulated amortization       (376,016 )    
Intangible assets, net      $ 487,299     

 
Amortization expense was $106.2 million, $89.9 million and $93.5 million for fiscal years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020, respectively. 
 
Estimated amortization expense in future years is expected to be:

 
($ in thousands)    
2023  $ 77,347  
2024   66,859  
2025   64,161  
2026   57,170  
2027   28,353  
Thereafter   83,530  

Total  $ 377,420  
 
 

7. Accrued Liabilities

Accrued liabilities consist of the following at December 31:
 
($ in thousands)  2022   2021  
Accrued salaries and wages  $ 19,109   $ 15,744  
Current deferred tax liabilities   7,559    —  
Current portion of operating lease liabilities   6,355    5,760  
Accrued interest payable   4,459    4,209  
Restricted cash due to customers   3,541    3,062  
Payroll liabilities   2,136    1,876  
Advanced deposits   1,029    2,554  
Current portion of interest rate swap liability   977    —  
Other   3,682    5,230  

Total accrued liabilities  $ 48,847   $ 38,435  
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8. Asset Retirement Obligations 

The following summarizes the changes in the Company’s asset retirement obligations for the years ended December 31:
 

       
($ in thousands)  2022   2021  
Asset retirement obligations, beginning balance  $ 11,824   $ 6,409  
Liabilities incurred   944    5,210  
Accretion expense   445    308  
Liabilities settled   (220 )   (103 )

Asset retirement obligations, ending balance  $ 12,993   $ 11,824  
 

(a) For the year ended December 31, 2022, this includes approximately $0.4 million increase resulting from a change in estimate for the impact of 
inflation. For the year ended December 31, 2021, this includes $3.9 million of asset retirement obligations assumed as part of the Redflex acquisition in 
2021, and a $1.2 million increase resulting from a change in estimate for the impact of inflation. 

9. Long-term Debt

The following table provides a summary of the Company’s long-term debt at December 31:
 
($ in thousands)  2022   2021  
2021 Term Loan, due 2028  $ 886,106   $ 895,125  
Senior Notes, due 2029   350,000    350,000  
PPP Loan   —    2,933  
Revolver   —    25,000  
Less: original issue discounts   (5,637 )   (6,753 )
Less: unamortized deferred financing costs   (18,489 )   (22,551 )
Total long-term debt   1,211,980    1,243,754  
Less: current portion of long-term debt   (21,935 )   (36,952 )

Total long-term debt, net of current portion  $ 1,190,045   $ 1,206,802  

 
The following table presents the aggregate principal and interest payments in future years on long-term debt as of December 31, 2022:

 
($ in thousands)  Principal   Interest  
2023  $ 21,935   $ 87,755  
2024   9,019    87,056  
2025   9,019    86,172  
2026   9,019    85,474  
2027   9,019    84,775  
Thereafter   1,178,095    33,015  

Total  $ 1,236,106   $ 464,247  

(1) The variable interest rate in effect as of December 31, 2022 was used to calculate interest payments for the 2021 Term Loan.
 
2021 Term Loan and Senior Notes
 

In March 2021, VM Consolidated, Inc., the Company’s wholly owned subsidiary (“VM Consolidated”), entered into an Amendment and 
Restatement Agreement No.1 to the First Lien Term Loan Credit Agreement (the “2021 Term Loan”) with a syndicate of lenders. The 2021 Term Loan has 
an aggregate borrowing of $650.0 million, maturing on March 26, 2028, and an accordion feature providing for an additional $250.0 million of term loans, 
subject to satisfaction of certain requirements. In connection with the 2021 Term Loan, the Company had an offering discount cost of $3.3 million and $0.7 
million of deferred financing costs, both of which were capitalized and are amortized over the remaining life of the 2021 Term Loan.
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In addition, in March 2021, VM Consolidated issued an aggregate principal amount of $350 million in Senior Unsecured Notes (the “Senior 

Notes”), due on April 15, 2029. In connection with the issuance of the Senior Notes, the Company incurred $5.7 million in lender and third-party costs, 
which were capitalized as deferred financing costs and are being amortized over the remaining life of the Senior Notes.

 
The net proceeds from both the 2021 Term Loan and the Senior Notes were used in March 2021 to repay in full all outstanding debt which was 

represented by the First Lien Term Loan Credit Agreement (as amended, the “2018 Term Loan”) with a balance of $865.6 million. 
 

On December 7, 2021, VM Consolidated entered into an agreement to exercise the accordion feature under the 2021 Term Loan, borrowing $250.0 
million in incremental term loans (“Incremental Term Loan”). The proceeds from the Incremental Term Loan were used, along with cash on hand, to fund 
the acquisition of T2 Systems, including repayment in full all outstanding debt for T2 Systems. In connection with the Incremental Term Loan, the 
Company had an offering discount cost of $1.3 million and $3.8 million of deferred financing costs, both of which were capitalized and are amortized over 
the remaining life of the 2021 Term Loan. The Incremental Term Loan accrued interest from the date of borrowing until December 31, 2021, at which time, 
it was combined with the 2021 Term Loan to be a single tranche of term loan borrowings. The total principal outstanding under the 2021 Term Loan, which 
includes the Incremental Term Loan, was $886.1 million at December 31, 2022.

 
The 2021 Term Loan is repayable at 1.0% per annum of the amount initially borrowed, paid in quarterly installments. It bears interest based, at the 

Company’s option, on either (1) LIBOR plus an applicable margin of 3.25% per annum, or (2) an alternate base rate plus an applicable margin of 2.25% per 
annum. As of December 31, 2022, the interest rate on the 2021 Term Loan was 7.6%.

In addition, the 2021 Term Loan requires mandatory prepayments equal to the product of the excess cash flows of the Company (as defined in the 
2021 Term Loan agreement) and the applicable prepayment percentages (calculated as of the last day of the fiscal year, beginning with the year ending 
December 31, 2022), as set forth in the following table:

Consolidated First Lien Net Leverage Ratio (As Defined by the 2021 Term Loan Agreement)  

Applicable
 Prepayment
 Percentage

> 3.70:1.00  50%
< 3.70:1.00 and > 3.20:1.00  25%

< 3.20:1.00  0%
 
The Company will make a $12.9 million mandatory prepayment of excess cash flows during the first quarter of fiscal year 2023, which was 

classified as current portion of long-term debt in the consolidated balance sheet at December 31, 2022. We did not have a mandatory prepayment of excess 
cash flow for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2021.

 
Interest on the Senior Notes is fixed at 5.50% per annum and is payable on April 15 and October 15 of each year. On or after April 15, 2024, the 

Company may redeem all or a portion of the Senior Notes at the redemption prices set forth below in percentages by year, plus accrued and unpaid interest:
  

Year   Percentage
2024   102.750%
2025   101.375%

2026 and thereafter   100.000%
 
In addition, the Company may redeem up to 40% of the Senior Notes before April 15, 2024, with the net cash proceeds from certain equity 

offerings.
 
The Company evaluated the March 2021 refinancing transactions on a lender-by-lender basis and accounted for the portion of the transaction that 

did not meet the accounting criteria for debt extinguishment as a debt modification. 

84



 
Accordingly, the Company recognized a loss on extinguishment of debt of $5.3 million on the 2018 Term Loan during the year ended December 31, 2021, 
consisting of a $4.0 million write-off of pre-existing deferred financing costs and discounts and $1.3 million of lender and third-party costs associated with 
the issuance of the 2021 Term Loan.
 
PPP Loan
 

During fiscal year 2020, Redflex received a $2.9 million loan from the U.S. Small Business Administration (“SBA”) as part of the Paycheck 
Protection Program (“PPP Loan”) to offset certain employment and other allowable costs incurred as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic. In early 2021, 
Redflex applied for forgiveness of this loan, and on September 23, 2022, the Company was notified by the SBA that the loan, together with accrued 
interest, had been fully forgiven under the provisions of the PPP Loan program. Accordingly, the Company recognized a $3.0 million gain on 
extinguishment of debt in the consolidated statement of operations for the year ended December 31, 2022.
 
The Revolver
 

The Company has a Revolving Credit Agreement (the “Revolver”) with a commitment of up to $75.0 million available for loans and letters of credit. 
The Revolver matures on December 20, 2026. Borrowing eligibility under the Revolver is subject to a monthly borrowing base calculation based on (i) 
certain percentages of eligible accounts receivable and inventory, less (ii) certain reserve items, including outstanding letters of credit and other reserves. 
The Revolver bears interest on either (1) LIBOR plus an applicable margin, or (2) an alternate base rate, plus an applicable margin. The margin percentage 
applied to (1) LIBOR is either 1.25%, 1.50%, or 1.75%, or (2) the base rate is either 0.25%, 0.50%, or 0.75%, depending on the Company’s average 
availability to borrow under the commitment. At December 31, 2021, the Company had $25.0 million in outstanding borrowings on the Revolver, which 
was repaid in full in January 2022. At December 31, 2022, the availability to borrow was $74.8 million, net of $0.2 million of outstanding letters of credit.
 

Interest on the unused portion of the Revolver is payable quarterly at 0.375% and the Company is also required to pay participation and fronting fees 
at 1.38% on $0.2 million of outstanding letters of credit as of December 31, 2022.

 
All borrowings and other extensions of credits under the 2021 Term Loan, Senior Notes and the Revolver are subject to the satisfaction of customary 

conditions and restrictive covenants including absence of defaults and accuracy in material respects of representations and warranties. Substantially all of 
the Company’s assets are pledged as collateral to secure the Company’s indebtedness under the 2021 Term Loan. At December 31, 2022, the Company was 
compliant with all debt covenants.  
 
Interest Expense
 

The Company recorded interest expense, including amortization of deferred financing costs and discounts, of $69.4 million, $44.9 million and $40.9 
million for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020 respectively.
 

The weighted average effective interest rates on the Company’s outstanding borrowings were 7.0% and 4.1% at December 31, 2022 and December 
31, 2021, respectively.

 
See Note 2, Significant Accounting Policies, for additional information on the interest rate swap entered into in December 2022 to hedge the 

Company's exposure against rising interest rates. 

10. Leases

The Company’s operating leases primarily consist of office, equipment and vehicle leases expiring at various dates through April 2035. The 
Company has lease agreements with lease and non-lease components and has elected to account for such components as a single lease component. The 
Company recognizes and measures contracts containing a lease and determines lease classification at commencement. Right of use operating assets and 
lease liabilities are measured based on the estimated present value of lease payments over the lease term. In determining the present value of lease 
payments, the Company uses its estimated incremental borrowing rate when the rate implicit in 
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the lease cannot be readily determined. The estimated incremental borrowing rate is based upon information available at lease commencement including 
publicly available data for debt instruments. The lease term includes periods covered by options to extend when it is reasonably certain the Company will 
exercise such options as well as periods subsequent to an option to terminate the lease if it is reasonably certain the Company will not exercise the 
termination option. Certain of the lease agreements have rent abatement and escalating rental payment provisions. Operating lease costs are recognized on a 
straight-line basis over the lease term. Variable lease costs are recognized as incurred. The Company’s lease agreements do not contain any material 
residual value guarantees or material restrictive covenants. The Company does not have material short-term leases and does not engage in subleasing 
activities.

As of December 31, 2022, operating leases had a remaining weighted average lease term of 8.6 years and operating lease liabilities were measured 
using a weighted average discount rate of 5.0%. The total operating lease costs for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020 were $8.8 
million, $7.5 million and $5.3 million, respectively. Variable lease costs for fiscal years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020 were approximately $1.5 
million, $1.4 million and $1.1 million, respectively. Finance leases for the Company are not material.

The following is a summary of the operating lease liabilities as of December 31:
 

($ in thousands)  2022   2021  
Operating lease liabilities, net of current portion  $ 33,362   $ 34,984  
Current portion   6,202    5,760  
Total operating lease liabilities  $ 39,564   $ 40,744  

 
The following provides future maturities of operating lease liabilities as of December 31, 2022:
 

($ in thousands)    
2023  $ 8,107  
2024   7,736  
2025   5,329  
2026   4,440  
2027   3,341  
Thereafter   21,033  
Total minimum payments   49,986  
Less: amount representing interest   (10,422 )
Total  $ 39,564  

 

11. Net Income (Loss) Per Share

Basic net income (loss) per share is calculated by dividing net income (loss) by the weighted average shares outstanding during the period, without 
consideration of common stock equivalents. Diluted net income (loss) per share is calculated by adjusting the weighted average shares outstanding for the 
dilutive effect of common stock equivalents outstanding for the period, determined using the treasury-stock method.
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The components of basic and diluted net income (loss) per share are as follows:
 

  For the Year Ended December 31,  
(In thousands, except per share data)  2022   2021   2020  
Numerator:          

Net income (loss)  $ 92,475   $ 41,449   $ (4,578 )
Denominator:          

Weighted average shares - basic   152,848    159,983    161,632  
Common stock equivalents   6,178    3,795    —  
Weighted average shares - diluted   159,026    163,778    161,632  

Net income (loss) per share - basic  $ 0.61   $ 0.26   $ (0.03 )
Net income (loss) per share - diluted  $ 0.50   $ 0.25   $ (0.03 )
Antidilutive shares excluded from diluted net income (loss) per share:          

Contingently issuable shares   5,000    5,000    5,000  
Public warrants   —    —    13,333  
Private placement warrants   —    6,667    6,667  
Non-qualified stock options   1,149    1,018    614  
Performance share units   157    130    106  
Restricted stock units   742    432    2,203  

Total antidilutive shares excluded   7,048    13,247    27,923  

(1)  Contingently issuable shares relate to the earn-out agreement as discussed in Note 16, Other Significant Transactions.

12. Income Taxes

A provision of the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017 became effective on January 1, 2022. This provision requires companies to capitalize and amortize 
research and development (“R&D”) expenses over 5 years (and 15 years for non-U.S. R&D expenses) as opposed to deducting those expenses in the year 
they are incurred. The enacted provision did not have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

On August 16, 2022, the U.S. government enacted the Inflation Reduction Act of 2022, which is effective January 1, 2023 and contains provisions 
implementing a 15% minimum corporate income tax on book income of certain large corporations, a 1% excise tax on net stock repurchases and several tax 
incentives to promote clean energy. While the Company is continuing to evaluate the impact of these provisions, at this time, they are not expected to have 
a material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

Income before income taxes consisted of the following:

  For the Year Ended December 31,   
($ in thousands)  2022   2021   2020   
U.S.  $ 140,858   $ 77,101   $ 6,429   
Foreign   (13,750 )   (9,200 )   (5,576 )  

Total income before incomes taxes  $ 127,108   $ 67,901   $ 853   
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The income tax provision consisted of the following:
 

  For the Year Ended December 31,  
($ in thousands)  2022   2021   2020  
Current          
Federal  $ 34,071   $ 25,361   $ 4,169  
State   14,779    10,523    5,399  
Foreign   1,777    160    652  

Total current   50,627    36,044    10,220  
Deferred          
Federal   (8,069 )   (7,434 )   (1,308 )
State   (4,863 )   (1,627 )   (2,615 )
Foreign   (3,062 )   (531 )   (866 )

Total deferred   (15,994 )   (9,592 )   (4,789 )

Income tax provision  $ 34,633   $ 26,452   $ 5,431  

 
A reconciliation to the income tax provision from the amounts computed by applying the statutory U.S. federal income tax rate is as follows:
 

  For the Year Ended December 31,  
($ in thousands)  2022   2021   2020  
Income tax provision at statutory rate  $ 26,693   $ 14,259   $ 179  
State income taxes, net of federal income tax effect   8,588    6,748    1,188  
Tax rate changes/ valuation of deferred tax items   —    586    1,353  
162(m) limitation   1,766    1,325    1,179  
Non-deductible expenses   30    174    1,786  
Stock-based compensation   (545 )   (752 )   (38 )
Unrecognized tax benefits   1,215    174    (929 )
Tax impact for change in fair value of warrants   (3,024 )   1,596    237  
Change in valuation allowance   1,429    1,435    924  
Non-deductible transaction costs   —    1,078    19  
Research and development credits   (517 )   (125 )   (121 )
Other   (1,002 )   (46 )   (346 )

Total income tax provision  $ 34,633   $ 26,452   $ 5,431  
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Significant components of the Company’s deferred income tax assets and liabilities consist of the following at December 31:

 
($ in thousands)  2022   2021  
Deferred tax assets:       
Accrued expenses and other  $ 6,255   $ 7,334  
Allowance for credit losses   9,108    4,927  
Net operating loss carryforward   16,476    18,193  
Interest expense limitation carryforward   5,108    5,935  
Federal and state income tax credits   4,965    5,295  
ASC 842 operating lease liabilities   10,986    9,578  
R&D Section 174 capitalization   3,248    —  
Stock compensation   1,995    —  
Transaction costs   458    446  
Other   2,026    1,042  

Gross deferred tax assets   60,625    52,750  
Valuation allowance   (5,263 )   (3,785 )

Deferred tax assets, net of valuation allowance   55,362    48,965  
Deferred tax liabilities:       
Intangible assets and transaction costs   (42,206 )   (62,116 )
Property and equipment   (15,265 )   (13,562 )
Financing costs   (2,392 )   (3,077 )
Prepaid assets   (2,269 )   (1,235 )
ASC 842 operating lease assets   (10,403 )   (9,104 )
481(a) adjustment, net   —    (857 )

Gross deferred tax liabilities   (72,535 )   (89,951 )

Total deferred tax liabilities, net  $ (17,173 )  $ (40,986 )

 
As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, the Company presented $4.0 million and $6.5 million, respectively, of deferred tax assets, net, to reflect U.S. 

entity deferred taxes within other non-current assets in the Company's consolidated balance sheets.
 
As of December 31, 2022, the Company has provided income taxes on the earnings of foreign subsidiaries, except to the extent such earnings are 

considered indefinitely reinvested.  The amount of the unrecognized deferred tax liability related to these temporary differences is approximately $0.8 
million.

 
In accordance with ASC 740, Income Taxes, deferred tax assets are reduced by a valuation allowance if it is more likely than not that some portion 

or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. The realization of deferred tax assets can be affected by, among other things, the nature, frequency and 
severity of current and cumulative losses, forecasts of future profitability, limitations on the use of acquired tax attributes due to an ownership change under 
IRC section 382, the length of statutory carryforward periods, the Company’s experience with utilizing operating losses and tax credit carryforwards by 
jurisdiction, and tax planning alternatives and strategies that may be available.

The Company performed an analysis of the reversal of the deferred tax assets and considered the overall business environment, historical earnings, 
the outlook for future years and the impact of limitations on the use of acquired tax attributes due to an ownership change under IRC section 382. The 
Company determined that it is more likely than not that the benefit from certain foreign net operating loss carryforwards will not be realized as of the years 
ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, and as such provided a valuation allowance of $5.3 million and $3.8 million, respectively. The valuation allowance 
could be adjusted in future periods if estimates of future taxable income during the carryforward period are increased or if objective negative evidence in 
the form of cumulative losses is no longer present.
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The net operating loss carryforwards represent $124.4 million and $158.7 million of federal, state and foreign net operating losses at December 31,
2022 and 2021, respectively. The federal net operating loss carryforward at December 31, 2022 consists of $24.0 million of losses that were generated after 
2017 with no expiration date. The Company also has certain tax credits of $5.6 million and $6.4 million at December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively, 
which if unused will begin to expire in 2025.

The following table summarizes the activity related to the Company’s unrecognized tax benefits as of December 31:
 

($ in thousands)  2022   2021  
Balance at the beginning of the year  $ 2,878   $ 953  
Increases/(decreases) related to current year tax positions   8,076    447  
Increases/(decreases) related to prior year tax positions   (132 )   1,478  
Expiration due to statute of limitations   (147 )   —  

Balance at the end of the year  $ 10,675   $ 2,878  

 
Included in the balance of unrecognized tax benefits as of December 31, 2022 were $2.6 million of tax benefits that, if recognized, would impact the 

effective tax rate. The Company does not expect its unrecognized tax benefits to change significantly over the next 12 months.

The Company recognizes interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits as income tax expense. The Company recognized $0.5 million 
for fiscal year 2022 and less than $0.1 million for fiscal year 2021 in interest and penalties. The Company had accrued interest and penalties of $0.5 million 
and less than $0.1 million at December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively. The Company accounts for uncertain tax positions by recognizing the financial 
statement effects of a tax position only when, based on technical merits, it is more likely than not that the tax position will be sustained under examination.

The Company is subject to examination by the Internal Revenue Service and taxing authorities in various jurisdictions. The Company files U.S. 
federal and various foreign income tax returns which are subject to examination by the taxing authorities in the respective jurisdictions, generally for three 
or four years after they are filed. The Company’s state income tax returns are generally no longer subject to income tax examination by tax authorities prior 
to 2018; however, the Company’s net operating loss carryforwards and research credit carryforwards arising prior to that year are subject to adjustment. The 
Company is currently under audit by various state tax jurisdictions for the years 2018 and 2019, however, no material adjustments are anticipated. The 
Company regularly assesses the likelihood of tax deficiencies in each of the tax jurisdictions and, accordingly, makes appropriate adjustments to the tax 
provision as deemed necessary.

13. Stockholders’ Equity

The Company’s Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation authorizes the issuance of 261,000,000 shares of capital stock, consisting of (i) 
260,000,000 shares of Class A Common Stock, and (ii) 1,000,000 shares of preferred stock, each at par value of $0.0001 per share. The outstanding shares 
of the Company’s common stock are duly authorized, validly issued, fully paid and non-assessable. 
 
Share Repurchases and Retirement - 2022

 On May 7, 2022, the Company’s Board of Directors authorized a share repurchase program for up to an aggregate amount of $125.0 million of its 
outstanding shares of Class A Common Stock over the next twelve months from time to time in open market, accelerated share repurchase (“ASR”) or 
privately negotiated transactions, each as permitted under applicable rules and regulations, any of which may use pre-arranged trading plans that are 
designed to meet the requirements of Rule 10b5-1 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the “Exchange Act”).  

On May 12, 2022, the Company paid $50.0 million for an ASR and received an initial delivery of 2,739,726 shares of its Class A Common Stock in 
accordance with an ASR agreement with a third-party financial institution. The final settlement occurred on August 3, 2022, at which time, the Company 
received 445,086 additional shares calculated using a volume-weighted average price over the term of the ASR agreement. In addition, during the second 
and third quarters of 2022, the Company paid $6.9 million and repurchased 445,791 shares of its Class A Common 
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Stock through open market transactions. The Company’s Board of Directors authorized a second ASR during the third quarter of 2022 for the remaining 
availability under the share repurchase program. On August 19, 2022, the Company paid $68.1 million for a second ASR, and received an initial delivery of 
3,300,000 shares of its Class A Common Stock in accordance with an ASR agreement with a third-party financial institution. The final settlement occurred 
on November 4, 2022, at which time, the Company received 943,361 additional shares calculated using a volume-weighted average price over the term of 
the ASR agreement. The Company accounted for each ASR transaction as a common stock repurchase and a forward contract indexed to its own common 
stock. The Company determined that the equity classification criteria was met for the forward contracts, therefore, it did not account for them as derivative 
instruments. The Company incurred $0.1 million of direct costs in connection with share repurchase transactions during fiscal year 2022, which it included 
in the cost of the shares acquired.

The Company paid a total of $125.0 million for shares repurchases and $0.1 million for direct costs during fiscal year 2022 and accounted for the 
transactions by deducting the par value from the common stock account, reducing $15.9 million from additional paid-in capital calculated using an average 
share price, and by increasing accumulated deficit for the remaining cost of $109.1 million.

In November 2022, the Board of Directors authorized a new share repurchase program for up to an aggregate amount of $100.0 million of the 
Company's outstanding shares of Class A common stock over an 18-month period in open market, ASR or privately negotiated transactions, each as 
permitted under applicable rules and regulations, any of which may use pre-arranged trading plans that are designed to meet the requirements of Rule 10b5-
1 of the Exchange Act. The Company has not yet repurchased shares under this repurchase program.
 
Share Repurchase and Retirement - 2021

On August 9, 2021, the Company announced that its Board of Directors authorized a share repurchase program for up to an aggregate amount of 
$100 million of its outstanding shares of Class A Common Stock. On August 20, 2021, the Company repurchased and retired 6,849,315 shares of its Class 
A Common Stock from the Platinum Stockholder at a price per share of $14.60. The Company paid $100 million to fund the share repurchase using 
existing cash on hand. The Company accounted for the share repurchase and retirement under the cost method by deducting its par value from the common 
stock account, reducing $72.0 million from the additional paid-in-capital account using the share price when the stock was originally issued, and the 
remaining excess cost of $28.0 million by increasing the accumulated deficit account.

14. Equity Incentive Plan

In October 2018, the Company established the Verra Mobility 2018 Equity Incentive Plan (the “2018 Plan”) which provides for a variety of stock-
based awards including restricted stock units (“RSUs”), performance share units (“PSUs”) and non-qualified stock options to employees and non-employee 
directors. The maximum number of shares of the Company’s common stock that may be subject to awards under the 2018 Plan was 10,864,000 as of 
December 31, 2022, subject to adjustment in accordance with the terms of the 2018 Plan. At December 31, 2022, the Company had an aggregate of 
3,388,102 shares of common stock available for future grants under the 2018 Plan.
 
RSUs and PSUs
 

The Company’s RSUs consist of a right to receive shares on one or more vesting dates in the future. RSUs granted to employees vest ratably over 
four years from their individual award dates, subject to continued employment on the applicable vesting dates. RSUs granted to non-employee directors 
vest on the earlier of (a) the first anniversary of the vesting start date, or (b) the date immediately prior to the next annual stockholders meeting held by the 
Company occurring after the date of grant.

The Company grants PSUs to senior executives which consist of a right to receive shares at the end of a three-year period. PSUs are issued upon 
continued service along with the relative satisfaction of a market condition that measures the Company’s total stockholder return relative to a comparably 
calculated return for a peer group during the performance period. The level at which the performance condition is attained upon the completion of the 
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performance period determines the actual number of shares of the Class A Common Stock into which the PSUs will be converted. The conversion 
percentage ranges from 0% up to 150% of the target level.

 
The following table summarizes the activity of the Company’s RSUs and PSUs:

 
  RSUs   PSUs  

  
Shares

 (in thousands)   

Weighted Average
 Grant Date

 Fair Value   
Shares

 (in thousands)   

Weighted Average
 Grant Date

 Fair Value  
Balance at December 31, 2019   3,004   $ 10.28    —   $ —  
Granted   576   $ 12.12    116   $ 13.88  
Vested   (986 )  $ 10.35    —   $ —  
Forfeited   (391 )  $ 10.74    (10 )  $ 13.88  
Balance at December 31, 2020   2,203   $ 10.64    106   $ 13.88  
Granted   736   $ 14.12    154   $ 16.28  
Vested   (1,018 )  $ 10.41    —   $ —  
Forfeited   (229 )  $ 13.40    (31 )  $ 16.97  
Balance at December 31, 2021   1,692   $ 11.92    229   $ 15.07  
Granted   1,093   $ 14.09    179   $ 15.58  
Vested   (1,030 )  $ 11.10    —   $ —  
Forfeited   (260 )  $ 13.39    (94 )  $ 15.17  
Balance at December 31, 2022   1,495   $ 13.82    314   $ 15.33  
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The fair value of RSUs vested during fiscal years 2022, 2021 and 2020 was $11.4 million, $10.6 million and $10.2 million, respectively. There were 

no PSUs that vested to date. As of December 31, 2022, the Company had $15.4 million and $2.5 million of unrecognized stock-based compensation 
expense related to unvested RSUs and PSUs, respectively, which is expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of 2.8 years. 

Stock Options
 

Stock options granted vest ratably over four years from their individual award dates, subject to continued employment on the applicable vesting 
dates, with a contractual term of ten years. The following table summarizes the activity of the Company’s stock options:

 
  Stock Options Outstanding  

  
Shares

 (in thousands)   

Weighted Average
 Exercise Price 

 Per Share   

Weighted Average 
Remaining Contractual 

Term  

Aggregate 
 Intrinsic Value 

 ($ in thousands)  
Balance at December 31, 2019   —    —       
Granted   720   $ 12.56       
Exercised   —    —       
Forfeited   (106 )  $ 12.56       
Balance at December 31, 2020   614   $ 12.56       
Granted   731   $ 13.95       
Exercised   (12 )  $ 12.62     $ 36  
Forfeited   (170 )  $ 14.29       
Balance at December 31, 2021   1,163   $ 13.18   8.7 years  $ 2,636  
Granted   846   $ 13.97       
Exercised   (103 )  $ 12.98     $ 348  
Forfeited   (329 )  $ 13.59       
Balance at December 31, 2022   1,577   $ 13.53   8.5 years  $ 619  
            
Exercisable at December 31, 2022   324   $ 12.96   7.5 years  $ 293  
Unvested and expected to vest at December 31, 2022   1,253   $ 13.68   8.7 years  $ 326  
 

The weighted average fair value of options granted in fiscal years 2020, 2021 and 2022 was $4.36, $6.47 and $6.66 per share, respectively. There 
were no stock options that vested in fiscal year 2020. There were 141,218 and 324,173 of stock options that vested in fiscal years 2021 and 2022 with a 
total fair value of $0.6 million and $1.6 million, respectively. The Company received approximately $0.2 million and $1.3 million related to stock options 
exercised during fiscal years 2021 and 2022, respectively. As of December 31, 2022, the Company had $6.0 million of unrecognized stock-based 
compensation expense related to unvested stock options which is expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of 2.7 years.

The following details the components of stock-based compensation for the respective periods:
 
  For the Year Ended December 31,  
($ in thousands)  2022   2021   2020  
Operating expenses  $ 1,130   $ 815   $ 837  
Selling, general and administrative expenses   15,533    12,969    11,752  

Total stock-based compensation expense  $ 16,663   $ 13,784   $ 12,589  

 
Tax benefits attributable to stock-based compensation represented approximately $4.6 million, $4.6 million and $2.9 million, before limitations 

under section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code, during the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020, respectively.
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15. Employee Benefit Plan

The Company has a 401(k) plan that covers U.S. employees who meet certain eligibility requirements. Covered employees may elect to have a 
portion of their compensation withheld up to the statutory limit. The 401(k) plan includes a company match that vests immediately. The Company made 
employer contributions of $2.5 million, $1.9 million and $1.7 million during the fiscal years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020, respectively.

The Company also makes superannuation contributions for eligible non-U.S. based employees in accordance with the employer contribution rate set 
by the applicable country. The expense related to these contributions was $1.7 million and $1.1 million during the fiscal years ended December 31, 2022 
and 2021, respectively.

16. Other Significant Transactions

Tax Receivable Agreement

At the closing of the Business Combination, the Company entered into the Tax Receivable Agreement (“Tax Receivable Agreement”) with the 
Platinum Stockholder. On August 3, 2022, the Platinum Stockholder sold and transferred to Lakeside Smart Holdco L.P.(“Lakeside”), all of its rights, 
remaining interests and obligations as of that date under the agreement. The Tax Receivable Agreement generally provides for the payment to Lakeside of 
50.0% of the net cash savings, if any, in U.S. federal, state and local income tax that the Company actually realizes (or is deemed to realize in certain 
circumstances) in periods after the closing of the Business Combination as a result of the increased tax basis of certain acquired intangibles prior to the 
Business Combination. The Company generally retains the benefit of the remaining 50.0% of these cash savings. The Company estimated the potential 
maximum benefit to be paid will be approximately $70.0 million, and recorded an initial liability and corresponding charge to equity at the closing of the 
Business Combination.

At December 31, 2022, the Tax Receivable Agreement liability was approximately $55.9 million of which $5.0 million was the current portion and 
$50.9 million was the non-current portion, both of which are included in the respective tax receivable agreement liability line items on the consolidated 
balance sheets. The Company made a $5.1 million payment during the fourth quarter of 2022 related to the 2021 tax year.

The Company recorded tax benefits of $0.7 million and $1.0 million in fiscal years 2022 and 2021, respectively, as a result of lower estimated state 
tax rates due to changes in apportionment.

Earn-Out Agreement

Under the Merger Agreement, the Platinum Stockholder is entitled to receive additional shares of Class A Common Stock (the “Earn-Out Shares”) 
if the volume weighted average closing sale price of one share of Class A Common Stock on the Nasdaq exceeds certain thresholds for a period of at least 
10 days out of 20 consecutive trading days at any time during the five-year period following the closing of the Business Combination (the “Common Stock 
Price”).

The Earn-Out Shares are issued by the Company to the Platinum Stockholder as follows:
  

Common Stock Price Thresholds  One-time Issuance of Shares
> $13.00  2,500,000
> $15.50  2,500,000
> $18.00  2,500,000
> $20.50  2,500,000

 
(a) The first and second tranches of Earn-Out Shares have been issued, as discussed below.

 
If any of the Common Stock Price thresholds above (each, a “Triggering Event”) are not achieved within the five-year period following the closing 

of the Business Combination, the Company will not be required to issue the Earn-Out Shares in respect of such Common Stock Price threshold. In no event 
shall the Platinum Stockholder be entitled to receive more than an aggregate of 10,000,000 Earn-Out Shares.
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If, during the earn-out period, there is a change of control (as defined in the Merger Agreement) that will result in the holders of the Company's 
Class A Common Stock receiving a per share price equal to or in excess of the applicable Common Stock Price required in connection with any Triggering 
Event, then immediately prior to the consummation of such change of control: (a) any such Triggering Event that has not previously occurred shall be 
deemed to have occurred; and (b) the Company shall issue the applicable Earn-Out Shares to the cash consideration stockholders (as defined in the Merger 
Agreement) (in accordance with their respective pro rata cash share), and the recipients of the issued Earn-Out Shares shall be eligible to participate in such 
change of control.

 
The Company estimated the original fair value of the contingently issuable shares to be $73.15 million, of which $36.6 million remains contingently 

issuable as of December 31, 2022. The estimated value is not subject to future revisions during the five-year period discussed above. The Company used a 
Monte Carlo simulation option-pricing model to arrive at its original estimate. Each tranche was valued separately giving specific consideration to the 
tranche’s price target. The simulation considered volatility and risk-free rates utilizing a peer group based on a five-year term. This was initially recorded as 
a distribution to shareholders and was presented as common stock contingent consideration. Upon the occurrence of a Triggering Event, any issuable shares 
are transferred from common stock contingent consideration to common stock and additional paid-in capital accounts. Any contingently issuable shares not 
issued as a result of a Triggering Event not being attained by the end of the earn-out period will be canceled.

 
On April 26, 2019 and on January 27, 2020, the Triggering Events for the issuance of the first and second tranches of Earn-Out Shares occurred, as 

the volume weighted average closing sale price per share of the Company’s Class A Common Stock as of that date had been greater than $13.00 and 
$15.50, respectively, for 10 out of 20 consecutive trading days. These Triggering Events resulted in the issuance of an aggregate 5,000,000 shares of the 
Company’s Class A Common Stock to the Platinum Stockholder and an increase in the Company’s common stock and additional paid-in capital accounts of 
$36.6 million, with a corresponding decrease to the common stock contingent consideration account. At December 31, 2022, the potential future Earn-Out 
Shares issuable are between zero and 5.0 million.

Related Party Investment 

Redflex Irish Investments Pty Ltd, a wholly owned indirect subsidiary of the Company, owns a 16% non-voting equity interest in Road Safety 
Operations Holdings Unlimited, which has a subsidiary, Road Safety Operations Holdings T/A Go Safe Ireland ("Go Safe"), which provides speed and 
traffic enforcement services and related equipment to its customers in Ireland. The carrying value of this equity investment was approximately $2.1 million 
and $3.7 million as of December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively, and is presented within other non-current assets on the consolidated balance sheets. The 
Company is engaged as a vendor to supply equipment and services to Go Safe and related revenues earned were approximately $1.0 million and $0.5 
million, and dividend income was $0.2 million and $0.3 million for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively.

17. Commitments and Contingencies

The Company has $2.0 million of bank guarantees at December 31, 2022 required to support bids and contracts with certain international customers. 

The Company has non-cancelable purchase commitments to certain vendors. The aggregate non-cancelable purchase commitments outstanding at 
December 31, 2022 were $26.0 million. The majority of these outstanding commitments are expected to be incurred in 2023 and approximately $3.9 
million is expected to be incurred between 2024 and 2025.
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The Company is subject to tax audits in the normal course of business and does not have material contingencies recorded related to such audits.

The Company accrues for claims and contingencies when losses become probable and reasonably estimable. As of the end of each applicable 
reporting period, the Company reviews each of its matters and, where it is probable that a liability has been or will be incurred, the Company accrues for all 
probable and reasonably estimable losses. Where the Company can reasonably estimate a range of loss it may incur regarding such a matter, the Company 
records an accrual for the amount within the range that constitutes its best estimate. If the Company can reasonably estimate a range but no amount within 
the range appears to be a better estimate than any other, the Company uses the amount that is the low end of such range. 

Legal Proceedings

The Company is subject to legal and regulatory actions that arise from time to time in the ordinary course of business. The Company records a 
liability when it believes it is probable a loss will be incurred, and the amount of loss or range of loss can be reasonably estimated. The assessment as to 
whether a loss is probable, reasonably possible or remote, and as to whether a loss or a range of such loss is estimable, often involves significant judgment 
about future events. The Company has determined that resolution of pending matters is not probable to have a material adverse impact on its consolidated 
results of operations, cash flows, or financial position, and accordingly, no material contingency accruals are recorded. However, the outcome of litigation 
is inherently uncertain. As additional information becomes available, the Company reassesses the potential liability.
 

Brantley v. City of Gretna is a class action lawsuit filed in the 24th Judicial District Court of Jefferson Parish, Louisiana against the City of Gretna 
(“City”) and its safety camera vendor, Redflex Traffic Systems, Inc. in April 2016. The plaintiff class, which was certified on March 30, 2021, alleges that 
the City’s safety camera program was implemented and operated in violation of local ordinances and the state constitution, including that the City’s hearing 
process violated the plaintiffs’ due process rights for lack of a “neutral” arbiter of liability for traffic infractions. Plaintiffs seek recovery of traffic infraction 
fines paid. The City and Redflex Traffic Systems, Inc. appealed the trial court’s ruling granting class certification, which was denied and their petition for 
discretionary review of the certification ruling by the Louisiana Supreme Court was declined. The matter will return to the trial court for merits discovery. 
Based on the information available to the Company at present, it cannot reasonably estimate a range of loss for this action and, accordingly, it has not 
accrued any liability associated with this action.

18. Segment Reporting

The Company has three operating and reportable segments, Commercial Services, Government Solutions and Parking Solutions. Commercial 
Services offers toll and violation management solutions and title and registration services to commercial fleet vehicle owners, rental car companies and 
violation-issuing authorities. Government Solutions implements and administers traffic safety programs and products for municipalities and government 
agencies of all sizes. Parking Solutions provides an integrated suite of parking software and hardware solutions to its customers. The Company’s Chief 
Operating Decision Maker function (“CODM”) is comprised of the Company’s CEO and certain defined representatives of the Company’s executive 
management team. The Company’s CODM monitors operating performance, allocates resources and deploys capital based on these three segments. 

Segment performance is based on revenues and income from operations before depreciation, amortization, and stock-based compensation. The 
measure also excludes interest expense, net, income taxes and certain other transactions and is inclusive of other income, net. The tables below refer to this 
measure as segment profit. The aforementioned items are not indicative of operating performance, and, as a result are not included in the measures that are 
reviewed by the CODM for the segments. Other income, net included in segment profit below consists primarily of credit card rebates earned on the 
prepayment of tolling transactions and gains or losses on foreign currency transactions, and excludes certain non-operating expenses inapplicable to 
segments. 

The Company allocates certain corporate expenses to the three segments using several different factors depending on the item being allocated. These 
factors range from specific identification to headcount-based to allocate proportionately between the three segments. The corporate and other columns 
below include items that are designated by the CODM as corporate initiatives and are not included in segment profit.
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During the third quarter of 2022, the Company changed its measure of segment profit to include 
loss on disposal of assets, net, and to exclude transaction and transformation expenses that were previously included within the selling, general and 
administrative expenses and other income line items below. The comparable prior periods have been recast to conform to the revised presentation although 
the impact of this revision to previously reported segment profit was not material.

The Company does not disaggregate assets by segment other than equipment installed at customer sites and automobiles, which had carrying values 
of $58.3 million and $7.4 million, respectively, at December 31, 2022 and carrying values of $61.8 million and $2.7 million, respectively, at December 31, 
2021 all of which relate mainly to the Government Solutions segment. Refer to Note 6, Goodwill and Intangible Assets for goodwill balances by segment.

The following tables set forth financial information by segment for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020:

  For the Year Ended December 31, 2022  
  Commercial   Government   Parking   Corporate     
($ in thousands)  Services   Solutions   Solutions   and Other   Total  
Service revenue  $ 325,971   $ 307,639   $ 61,608   $ —   $ 695,218  
Product sales   —    29,028    17,352    —    46,380  
Total revenue   325,971    336,667    78,960    —    741,598  

Cost of service revenue   2,869    2,016    11,445    —    16,330  
Cost of product sales   —    17,436    13,496    —    30,932  
Operating expenses   72,328    139,961    12,905    —    225,194  
Selling, general and administrative expenses   56,105    61,235    27,104    —    144,444  
Loss on disposal of assets, net   522    931    37    —    1,490  
Other income, net   (14,387 )   (679 )   (266 )   —    (15,332 )
Segment profit  $ 208,534   $ 115,767   $ 14,239   $ —   $ 338,540  

Segment profit  $ 208,534   $ 115,767   $ 14,239   $ —   $ 338,540  
Depreciation and amortization   —    —    —    138,684    138,684  
Transaction and other related expenses   —    —    —    3,381    3,381  
Transformation expenses   —    —    —    1,113    1,113  
Change in fair value of private placement warrants   —    —    —    (14,400 )   (14,400 )
Tax receivable agreement liability adjustment   —    —    —    (720 )   (720 )
Gain on interest rate swap   —    —    —    (996 )   (996 )
Stock-based compensation   —    —    —    16,663    16,663  
Impairment on a privately-held equity investment   —    1,340    —    —    1,340  
Gain on extinguishment of debt   —    —    —    (3,005 )   (3,005 )
Interest expense, net   —    —    —    69,372    69,372  
Income before income taxes  $ 208,534   $ 114,427   $ 14,239   $ (210,092 )  $ 127,108  
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  For the Year Ended December 31, 2021  
  Commercial   Government   Parking   Corporate     
($ in thousands)  Services   Solutions   Solutions   and Other   Total  
Service revenue  $ 260,899   $ 227,992   $ 3,955   $ —   $ 492,846  
Product sales   —    55,163    2,581    —    57,744  
Total revenue   260,899    283,155    6,536    —    550,590  

Cost of service revenue   3,183    1,500    654    —    5,337  
Cost of product sales   —    28,381    1,428    —    29,809  
Operating expenses   65,718    96,284    553    —    162,555  
Selling, general and administrative expenses   42,386    51,052    1,361    —    94,799  
Loss on disposal of assets, net   —    48    —    —    48  
Other income, net   (10,837 )   (2,040 )   (18 )   —    (12,895 )
Segment profit  $ 160,449   $ 107,930   $ 2,558   $ —   $ 270,937  

Segment profit  $ 160,449   $ 107,930   $ 2,558   $ —   $ 270,937  
Depreciation and amortization   —    —    —    116,753    116,753  
Transaction and other related expenses   —    —    —    13,952    13,952  
Transformation expenses   —    —    —    1,687    1,687  
Change in fair value of private placement warrants   —    —    —    7,600    7,600  
Tax receivable agreement liability adjustment   —    —    —    (1,016 )   (1,016 )
Stock-based compensation   —    —    —    13,784    13,784  
Loss on extinguishment of debt   —    —    —    5,334    5,334  
Interest expense, net   —    —    —    44,942    44,942  
Income before income taxes  $ 160,449   $ 107,930   $ 2,558   $ (203,036 )  $ 67,901  

 

  For the Year Ended December 31, 2020  
  Commercial   Government   Corporate     
($ in thousands)  Services   Solutions   and Other   Total  
Service revenue  $ 180,856   $ 155,418   $ —   $ 336,274  
Product sales   —    57,319    —    57,319  
Total revenue   180,856    212,737    —    393,593  

Cost of service revenue   2,562    1,405    —    3,967  
Cost of product sales   —    29,573    —    29,573  
Operating expenses   52,505    62,387    —    114,892  
Selling, general and administrative expenses   40,462    34,465    —    74,927  
Loss on disposal of assets, net   16    258    —    274  
Other income, net   (11,774 )   (111 )   —    (11,885 )
Segment profit  $ 97,085   $ 84,760   $ —   $ 181,845  

Segment profit  $ 97,085   $ 84,760   $ —   $ 181,845  
Depreciation and amortization   —    —    116,570    116,570  
Transaction and other related expenses   —    —    1,895    1,895  
Transformation expenses   —    —    1,090    1,090  
Change in fair value of private placement warrants   —    —    1,133    1,133  
Tax receivable agreement liability adjustment   —    —    6,850    6,850  
Stock-based compensation   —    —    12,589    12,589  
Interest expense, net   —    —    40,865    40,865  
Income before income taxes  $ 97,085   $ 84,760   $ (180,992 )  $ 853  
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The Company primarily operates within the United States, Australia, Canada, United Kingdom and in various other countries in Europe and Asia. 

Revenues earned from goods transferred to customers at a point in time were approximately $46.4 million, $57.7 million and $57.3 million for the years 
ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020, respectively. Property and equipment, net located in foreign countries was $17.3 million as of December 31, 
2022, of which Canada represented $8.9 million and Australia represented $6.0 million. Property and equipment, net located in foreign countries was $14.8 
million as of December 31, 2021, of which Canada represented $6.7 million and Australia represented $6.1 million. 

 
The following table details the revenues from international operations for the respective periods:
 

  For the Year Ended December 31,  
($ in thousands)  2022   2021   2020  
Australia  $ 34,356   $ 13,948   $ —  
Canada   32,413    6,874    —  
United Kingdom   24,017    16,346    12,007  
All other   3,532    2,809    1,295  

Total international revenues  $ 94,318   $ 39,977   $ 13,302  
 

19. Guarantor/Non-Guarantor Financial Information (Unaudited)

VM Consolidated is the lead borrower of the 2021 Term Loan and Senior Notes. VM Consolidated is owned by the Company through a series of 
holding companies that ultimately end with the Company. VM Consolidated is wholly owned by Greenlight Acquisition Corporation, which is wholly 
owned by Greenlight Intermediate Holding Corporation, which is wholly owned by Greenlight Holding Corporation, which is wholly owned by Verra 
Mobility Holdings, LLC, which is wholly owned by Verra Mobility Corporation. The principal elimination entries relate to investments in subsidiaries and 
intercompany balances and transactions, including transactions with the Company’s wholly owned guarantor subsidiaries and non-guarantor subsidiaries.

The following financial information presents the consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2022 and the related consolidated statements of 
operations and comprehensive income (loss) and the consolidated statements of cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2022 for the Company, the 
combined guarantor subsidiaries and the combined non-guarantor subsidiaries.
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Verra Mobility Corporation and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Balance Sheets
at December 31, 2022

                
                

($ in thousands)  

Verra Mobility
Corporation

(Ultimate Parent)   
Guarantor

Subsidiaries   

Non-
guarantor

Subsidiaries   Eliminations   Consolidated  
Assets                

Current assets:                
Cash and cash equivalents  $ —   $ 64,979   $ 40,225   $ —   $ 105,204  
Restricted cash   —    3,863    48    —    3,911  
Accounts receivable (net of allowance for credit losses of 
$15.9 million)   —    151,882    11,904    —    163,786  
Unbilled receivables   —    25,342    5,440    —    30,782  
Investment in subsidiary   61,811    145,370    —    (207,181 )   —  
Inventory   —    1,976    17,331    —    19,307  
Prepaid expenses and other current assets   —    32,869    6,735    —    39,604  

Total current assets   61,811    426,281    81,683    (207,181 )   362,594  
Installation and service parts, net   —    22,923    —    —    22,923  
Property and equipment, net   —    92,434    17,341    —    109,775  
Operating lease assets   —    30,939    6,654    —    37,593  
Intangible assets, net   —    276,477    100,943    —    377,420  
Goodwill   —    689,697    143,783    —    833,480  
Due from affiliates   169,259    —    —    (169,259 )   —  
Other non-current assets   —    9,657    2,827    —    12,484  

Total assets  $ 231,070   $ 1,548,408   $ 353,231   $ (376,440 )  $ 1,756,269  
Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity                

Current liabilities:                
Accounts payable  $ —   $ 58,574   $ 21,295   $ —   $ 79,869  
Deferred revenue   —    20,353    10,811    —    31,164  
Accrued liabilities   —    37,740    11,107    —    48,847  
Tax receivable agreement liability, current portion   —    4,994    —    —    4,994  
Current portion of long-term debt   —    21,935    —    —    21,935  

Total current liabilities   —    143,596    43,213    —    186,809  
Long-term debt, net of current portion   —    1,190,045    —    —    1,190,045  
Operating lease liabilities, net of current portion   —    28,856    4,506    —    33,362  
Tax receivable agreement liability, net of current portion   —    50,900    —    —    50,900  
Private placement warrant liabilities   —    24,066    —    —    24,066  
Asset retirement obligations   —    12,942    51    —    12,993  
Due to affiliates   —    30,386    138,873    (169,259 )   —  
Deferred tax liabilities, net   —    —    21,149    —    21,149  
Other long-term liabilities   —    5,806    69    —    5,875  

Total liabilities   —    1,486,597    207,861    (169,259 )   1,525,199  
Total stockholders' equity   231,070    61,811    145,370    (207,181 )   231,070  
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity  $ 231,070   $ 1,548,408   $ 353,231   $ (376,440 )  $ 1,756,269  
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Verra Mobility Corporation and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income (Loss)
Year Ended December 31, 2022

 
 

  

($ in thousands)  

Verra Mobility
Corporation

(Ultimate 
Parent)   

Guarantor
Subsidiaries   

Non-
guarantor

Subsidiaries   Eliminations   Consolidated  
Service revenue  $ —   $ 620,605   $ 74,613   $ —   $ 695,218  
Product sales   —    26,675    19,705    —    46,380  
Sales to affiliates   —    (1,788 )   1,788    —    —  

Total revenue   —    645,492    96,106    —    741,598  
Cost of service revenue   —    11,047    5,283    —    16,330  
Cost of product sales   —    15,507    15,425    —    30,932  
Cost of sales to affiliates   —    (10 )   10    —    —  
Operating expenses   —    186,778    39,546    —    226,324  
Selling, general and administrative expenses   —    139,565    23,568    —    163,133  
Depreciation, amortization and (gain) loss on disposal of assets, net   —    119,617    20,557    —    140,174  

Total costs and expenses   —    472,504    104,389    —    576,893  
Income (loss) from operations   —    172,988    (8,283 )   —    164,705  

Income from equity investment   (92,475 )   4,039    —    88,436    —  
Interest expense, net   —    70,652    (1,280 )   —    69,372  
Change in fair value of private placement warrants   —    (14,400 )   —    —    (14,400 )
Tax receivable agreement liability adjustment   —    (720 )   —    —    (720 )
Gain on interest rate swap   —    (996 )   —    —    (996 )
Gain on extinguishment of debt   —    (3,005 )   —    —    (3,005 )
Other income, net   —    (10,794 )   (1,860 )   —    (12,654 )

Total other (income) expenses   (92,475 )   44,776    (3,140 )   88,436    37,597  
Income (loss) before income taxes   92,475    128,212    (5,143 )   (88,436 )   127,108  
Income tax provision (benefit)   —    35,737    (1,104 )   —    34,633  

Net income (loss)  $ 92,475   $ 92,475   $ (4,039 )  $ (88,436 )  $ 92,475  
Other comprehensive loss:                
Change in foreign currency translation adjustment   —    —    (7,771 )   —    (7,771 )

Total comprehensive income (loss)  $ 92,475   $ 92,475   $ (11,810 )  $ (88,436 )  $ 84,704  
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Verra Mobility Corporation and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
Year Ended December 31, 2022
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($ in thousands)  

Verra Mobility
Corporation

(Ultimate Parent)   
Guarantor

Subsidiaries   

Non-
guarantor

Subsidiaries   Eliminations   Consolidated  
Cash Flows from Operating Activities:                
Net income (loss)  $ 92,475   $ 92,475   $ (4,039 )  $ (88,436 )  $ 92,475  
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by 
operating activities:                

Depreciation and amortization   —    118,127    20,557    —    138,684  
Amortization of deferred financing costs and discounts   —    5,472    —    —    5,472  
Change in fair value of private placement warrants   —    (14,400 )   —    —    (14,400 )
Tax receivable agreement liability adjustment   —    (720 )   —    —    (720 )
Gain on interest rate swap   —    (996 )   —    —    (996 )
Gain on extinguishment of debt   —    (3,005 )   —    —    (3,005 )
Credit loss expense   —    13,744    737    —    14,481  
Deferred income taxes   —    (15,473 )   (1,882 )   —    (17,355 )
Stock-based compensation   —    16,663    —    —    16,663  
Impairment on a privately-held equity investment   —    1,340    —    —    1,340  
Other   —    1,654    —    —    1,654  
Income from equity investment   (92,475 )   4,039    —    88,436    —  

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:                
Accounts receivable   —    (15,445 )   (2,240 )   —    (17,685 )
Unbilled receivables   —    (1,123 )   (813 )   —    (1,936 )
Inventory   —    (3,510 )   (6,800 )   —    (10,310 )
Prepaid expenses and other assets   —    529    3,777    —    4,306  
Deferred revenue   —    3,433    1,158    —    4,591  
Accounts payable and other current liabilities   —    2,408    4,105    —    6,513  
Due to affiliates   —    7    (7 )   —    —  
Other liabilities   —    (581 )   (854 )   —    (1,435 )

Net cash provided by operating activities   —    204,638    13,699    —    218,337  
Cash Flows from Investing Activities:                

Payment of contingent consideration   —    (647 )   —    —    (647 )
Purchases of installation and service parts and property and equipment   —    (39,447 )   (8,739 )   —    (48,186 )
Cash proceeds from the sale of assets   —    241    —    —    241  

Net cash used in investing activities   —    (39,853 )   (8,739 )   —    (48,592 )
Cash Flows from Financing Activities:                

Repayment on revolver   —    (25,000 )   —    —    (25,000 )
Repayment of long-term debt   —    (9,019 )   —    —    (9,019 )
Payment of debt issuance costs   —    (447 )   —    —    (447 )
Share repurchases and retirement   —    (125,071 )   —    —    (125,071 )
Proceeds from exercise of stock options   —    1,334    —    —    1,334  
Payment of employee tax withholding related to RSUs vesting   —    (6,524 )   —    —    (6,524 )
Payment of contingent consideration   —    (205 )   —    —    (205 )

Net cash used in financing activities   —    (164,932 )   —    —    (164,932 )
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents   —    —    (130 )   —    (130 )
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Net (decrease) increase in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash   —    (147 )   4,830    —    4,683  
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash - beginning of period   —    68,989    35,443    —    104,432  
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash - end of period  $ —   $ 68,842   $ 40,273   $ —   $ 109,115  
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Verra Mobility Corporation and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows (Continued)
Year Ended December 31, 2022

 
 

                

  

Verra Mobility
Corporation

(Ultimate 
Parent)   

Guarantor
Subsidiaries   

Non-
guarantor

Subsidiaries   Eliminations   Consolidated  
Supplemental cash flow information:                

Interest paid  $ —   $ 63,663   $ —   $ —   $ 63,663  
Income taxes paid, net of refunds   —    46,326    1,297    —    47,623  

Supplemental non-cash investing and financing activities:                
Additions related to asset retirement obligations, property and equipment, and 
other   —    946    —    —    946  
Purchases of installation and service parts and property and equipment in 
accounts payable and accrued liabilities at year-end   —    10,421    —    —    10,421  
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure 

None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures
 
 
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management, with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer, evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure 
controls and procedures pursuant to Rules 13a-15 (e) and 15d-15(e) of the Exchange Act. In designing and evaluating the disclosure controls and 
procedures, our management recognizes that any controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable 
assurance of achieving the desired control objectives. In addition, the design of disclosure controls and procedures must reflect the fact that there are 
resource constraints and that our management is required to apply its judgment in evaluating the benefits of possible controls and procedures relative to 
their costs.

Based on this evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer concluded that, as of December 31, 2022, our disclosure 
controls and procedures are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in our periodic reports under the Exchange Act, is recorded,
processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms, and that such information is accumulated and 
communicated to our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions 
regarding required disclosures.

Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting. Internal control over financial 
reporting is a process designed by, or under the supervision of, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer to provide reasonable assurance 
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with GAAP and includes 
those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and 
dispositions of our assets; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in 
accordance with GAAP, and that our receipts and expenditures are being made only in accordance with authorizations of our management and directors and 
(3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of our assets that could have a 
material effect on the financial statements.

 
Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, we 

conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting based on criteria established in “Internal Control – Integrated 
Framework (2013)” issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Based on the results of our assessment, our 
management concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2022. The effectiveness of our internal control 
over financial reporting as of December 31, 2022 has been audited by our independent registered public accounting firm, Ernst & Young LLP, as stated in 
its report included in Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Inherent Limitations on the Effectiveness of Controls

Because of inherent limitations in all control systems, no internal control over financial reporting can prevent or detect all misstatements, and 
projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in 
conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.
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Changes in Internal Control over Financing Reporting 
 

We fully incorporated Redflex Holdings LLC and T2 Systems into our internal control framework during the year ended December 31, 2022. Other 
than the remediation and transition described below, there were no changes to our internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the quarter 
ended December 31, 2022 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

 
As described in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2021, we identified material weaknesses in our internal control 

over financial reporting related to monitoring and control activities over the acquisition of Redflex Holdings Limited, and certain revenue and reporting 
controls related to a third-party service organization. Following the discovery of the material weaknesses described above, we undertook remediation 
measures to address such material weaknesses. Based on the implementation work and the results of testing performed, our management concluded that the 
material weaknesses were remediated as of December 31, 2022.

Item 9B. Other Information

None.

Item 9C. Disclosure Regarding Foreign Jurisdictions that Prevent Inspections.

Not applicable.
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PART III
 

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

The information required by this Item is incorporated by reference from our Proxy Statement to be filed in connection with our 2023 Annual 
Meeting of Stockholders within 120 days after the end of the fiscal year ended December 31, 2022.

Item 11. Executive Compensation

The information required by this Item is incorporated by reference from our Proxy Statement to be filed in connection with our 2023 Annual 
Meeting of Stockholders within 120 days after the end of the fiscal year ended December 31, 2022.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters

The information required by this Item is incorporated by reference from our Proxy Statement to be filed in connection with our 2023 Annual 
Meeting of Stockholders within 120 days after the end of the fiscal year ended December 31, 2022.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence

The information required by this Item is incorporated by reference from our Proxy Statement to be filed in connection with our 2023 Annual 
Meeting of Stockholders within 120 days after the end of the fiscal year ended December 31, 2022.

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services

The information required by this Item is incorporated by reference from our Proxy Statement to be filed in connection with our 2023 Annual 
Meeting of Stockholders within 120 days after the end of the fiscal year ended December 31, 2022.
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PART IV 

Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules

(a) The following documents are filed as part of this Annual Report: 

1. Consolidated Financial Statements

The financial statements filed as part of this Annual Report are listed in the “Index to Consolidated Financial Statements” under Part II, Item 
8 of this Annual Report.

2. Financial Statement Schedules 

• Appendix A, Schedule II – Consolidated Valuation and Qualifying Accounts

Schedules not listed above are omitted as the required information is inapplicable or the information is presented in the consolidated financial 
statements or notes to the consolidated financial statements under Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report.

3. Exhibits.

The exhibits listed below are filed as part of this Annual Report. References under the caption “Incorporated by Reference” to exhibits or 
other filings indicate that the exhibit or other filing has been filed, that the indexed exhibit and the exhibit referred to are the same and that 
the exhibit referred to is incorporated by reference. 
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EXHIBIT INDEX

 
    Incorporated by Reference   

Exhibit
Number  Description  Form  File No.  Exhibit  Filing Date  

Filed
Herewith

             

  2.1  Merger Agreement, dated as of June 21, 2018, by and 
among Gores Holdings II, Inc., AM Merger Sub I, 
Inc., AM Merger Sub II, LLC, Greenlight Holding II 
Corporation and PE Greenlight Holdings, LLC, in its 
capacity as the Stockholder Representative.

 8-K  001-37979  2.1  June 21, 2018   

             

  2.2  Amendment No. 1 to Agreement and Plan of Merger, 
dated as of August 23, 2018, by and among Gores 
Holdings II, Inc., AM Merger Sub I, Inc., AM Merger 
Sub II, LLC, Greenlight Holding II Corporation and 
PE Greenlight Holdings, LLC, in its capacity as the 
Stockholder Representative.

 8-K  001-37979  2.2  Aug. 24, 2018   

             

  3.1  Second Amended and Restated Certificate of 
Incorporation of Verra Mobility Corporation.

 8-K  001-37979  3.1  Oct. 22, 2018   

             

  3.2  Amended and Restated Bylaws of Verra Mobility 
Corporation.

 8-K  001-37979  3.2  Oct. 22, 2018   

             

  4.1  Specimen Class A Common Stock Certificate.  S-1  333-21503  4.2  Dec. 9, 2016   
             

  4.2  Specimen Warrant Certificate.  S-1  333-21503  4.3  Dec. 9, 2016   
             

  4.3  Warrant Agreement, dated January 12, 2017, between 
the Registrant and Continental Stock Transfer & Trust 
Company, as warrant agent.

 8-K  001-37979  4.1  Jan. 19, 2017   

             

  4.4  First Amendment to Warrant Agreement, dated 
January 15, 2020, by and among the Registrant, 
Continental Stock Transfer & Trust Company and 
American Stock Transfer & Trust Company.

 10-K  001-37979  4.4  Mar. 2, 2020   

             

  4.5  Description of Verra Mobility Corporation’s 
Securities Registered Pursuant to Section 12 of the 
Exchange Act.

 10-K  001-37979  4.5  Mar. 2, 2020   

             

  4.6  Indenture, dated as of March 26, 2021, by and among 
VM Consolidated, Inc., the Guarantors party thereto 
and Wilmington Trust, National Association as 
Trustee.

 8-K  001-37979  4.1  Mar. 29, 2021   

             

  4.7  Form of 5.5% Senior Note Due 2029 (included in 
Exhibit 4.6).

 8-K  001-37979  4.2  Mar. 29, 2021   
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  10.1  Form of Indemnity Agreement.  S-1  333-21503  10.7  Dec. 9, 2016   
             

  10.2  Amended and Restated Registration Rights 
Agreement dated October 17, 2018, by and among 
Verra Mobility Corporation, Gores Sponsor II LLC, 
Randall Bort, William Patton, Jeffrey Rea and the 
stockholders of Greenlight Holding II Corporation.

 8-K  001-37979  10.2  Oct. 22, 2018   

             

  10.3  Investor Rights Agreement dated October 17, 2018, 
by and among Verra Mobility Corporation and PE 
Greenlight Holdings, LLC.

 8-K  001-37979  10.3  Oct. 22, 2018   

             

  10.4  Tax Receivable Agreement dated October 17, 2018, 
by and among Verra Mobility Corporation, the 
persons identified as “Stockholders” on Schedule 1 
thereto, and PE Greenlight Holdings, LLC, solely in 
its capacity as the stockholders’ representative 
thereunder.

 8-K  001-37979  10.4  Oct. 22, 2018   

             

  10.5  Revolving Credit Agreement dated as of March 1, 
2018, among Greenlight Acquisition Corporation, 
ATS Consolidated Inc., each of the other borrowers 
party thereto, the lenders party thereto and Bank of 
America, N.A. as Administrative Agent and 
Collateral Agent.

 8-K  001-37979  10.5  Oct. 22, 2018   

             

  10.6  Amendment No. 1 to Revolving Credit Agreement, 
dated as of July 24, 2018, among Greenlight 
Acquisition Corporation, VM Consolidated, Inc.  
(formerly known as ATS Consolidated Inc.), each of 
the other borrowers party thereto, the lenders party 
thereto and Bank of America, N.A. as Administrative 
Agent and Collateral Agent.

 8-K  001-37979  10.7  Oct. 22, 2018   

             

  10.7  Amendment No. 2 to Revolving Credit Agreement, 
dated as of October 29, 2021, by and among 
Greenlight Acquisition Corporation, VM 
Consolidated, Inc., each of the other borrowers party 
thereto, the lenders party thereto and Bank of 
America, N.A. as Administrative Agent and 
Collateral Agent.

 10-K  001-37979  10.7  April 22, 2022   

             

  10.8  Amendment No. 3 to Revolving Credit Agreement, 
dated as of December 20, 2021, by and among 
Greenlight Acquisition Corporation, VM 
Consolidated, Inc., each of the other borrowers party 
thereto, the lenders party thereto and Bank of 
America, N.A. as 

 8-K  001-37979  10.1  Dec. 20, 2021   
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  Administrative Agent and Collateral Agent.           
             

  10.9  Amendment and Restatement Agreement No. 1 to 
First Lien Term Loan Credit Agreement, dated as of 
March 26, 2021, by and among Greenlight 
Acquisition Corporation, VM Consolidated, Inc., 
American Traffic Solutions, Inc., Lasercraft, Inc. the 
subsidiary guarantors party thereto, the lenders party 
thereto and Bank of America, N.A., as Administrative 
Agent and Collateral Agent.

 8-K  001-37979  10.1  Mar. 29, 2021   

             

  10.10  Amendment No. 1 to Amendment and Restatement 
Agreement No. 1 to First Lien Term Loan Credit 
Agreement, dated as of March 26, 2021, by and 
among Greenlight Acquisition Corporation, VM
Consolidated, Inc., American Traffic Solutions, Inc., 
Lasercraft, Inc. the subsidiary guarantors party 
thereto, the lenders party thereto and Bank of 
America, N.A., as Administrative Agent and 
Collateral Agent.

 8-K  001-37979  10.1  Dec. 7, 2021   

             

  10.11#  Amended and Restated Executive Employment 
Agreement, dated as of March 25, 2021, by and 
between VM Consolidated, Inc. and David Roberts.

 10-Q  001-37979  10.3  May 17, 2021   

             

  10.12#  Amended and Restated Executive Employment 
Agreement, dated as of March 25, 2021, by and 
between VM Consolidated, Inc. and Patricia Chiodo.

 10-Q  001-37979  10.4  May 17, 2021   

             

  10.13#  Amended and Restated Executive Employment 
Agreement, dated as of March 25, 2021, by and 
between VM Consolidated, Inc. and Rebecca Collins.

 10-Q  001-37979  10.5  May 17, 2021   

             

  10.14#  Executive Employment Agreement by and between 
VM Consolidated, Inc. and Steven Lalla, dated as of 
January 31, 2021.

 10-K  001-37979  10.15  Mar. 1, 2021   

             

  10.15#  Executive Employment Agreement by and between 
VM Consolidated, Inc. and Craig Conti, dated as of 
January 29, 2022.

 

 10-K  001-37979  10.15  April 22, 2022   

             

  10.16#  Verra Mobility Corporation 2018 Equity Incentive 
Plan.

 8-K  001-37979  10.17  Oct. 22, 2018   

             

  10.17#  Form of Notice of Grant of Restricted Stock Unit and 
Agreement under the Verra Mobility Corporation 
2018 Equity Incentive Plan.

 8-K  001-37979  10.18  Oct. 22, 2018   
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  10.18#  Form of Notice of Grant of Restricted Stock Unit and 

Agreement for Non-U.S. Participants under the Verra 
Mobility Corporation 2018 Equity Incentive Plan.

 8-K  001-37979  10.19  Oct. 22, 2018   

             

  10.19#  Form of Greenlight Holding Corporation 2018 
Participation Plan Termination Agreement.

 8-K  001-37979  10.20  Oct. 22, 2018   

             

  10.20#  Form of Notice of Grant of Restricted Stock Unit for 
Non-Employee Directors under the Verra Mobility 
Corporation 2018 Equity Incentive Plan.

 10-K  001-37979  10.30  Mar. 18, 2019   

             

  10.21#  Form of Notice of Grant of Stock Option and 
Agreement under the Verra Mobility Corporation 
2018 Equity Incentive Plan.

 10-K  001-37979  10.24  Mar. 2, 2020   

             

  10.22#  Form of Notice of Grant of Performance Share Unit 
and Agreement under the Verra Mobility Corporation 
2018 Equity Incentive Plan.

 10-K  001-37979  10.26  Mar. 2, 2020   

             

  10.23#  2020 Form of Notice of Grant of Restricted Stock 
Unit and Agreement for Non-U.S. Participants under 
the Verra Mobility Corporation 2018 Equity Incentive 
Plan.

 10-Q  001-37979  10.1  Nov. 5, 2020   

             

  10.24#  Form of Notice of Grant of Stock Option and 
Agreement for Non-U.S. Participants under the Verra 
Mobility Corporation 2018 Equity Incentive Plan.

 10-Q  001-37979  10.2  Nov. 5, 2020   

             

  10.25#  Amended and Restated Verra Mobility Corporation 
Short-Term Incentive Plan.

 8-K  001-37979  10.1  April 28, 2022   

             

  10.26#  Verra Mobility Corporation Non-Employee Director 
Compensation Policy.

         X

             

  10.27#  Separation and Release Agreement, between Patricia 
Chiodo and Verra Mobility Corporation, dated April 
11, 2022.

 10-Q  001-37979  10.1  May 9, 2022   

             

  10.28#  Form of Notice of Grant of Performance Share Units 
and Award Agreement under the Verra mobility 
Corporation 2018 Equity Incentive Plan.

 8-K  001-37979  10.1  June 1, 2022   

             

  10.29#  Separation and Release Agreement, between Rebecca 
Collins and Verra Mobility Corporation, dated August 
29, 2022.

 10-Q  001-37979  10.1  Nov. 2, 2022   

             

  10.30#  Executive Employment Agreement by and between 
VM Consolidated, Inc. and Jonathan Baldwin, dated 
as of January 16, 2022.

         X
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  10.31#  Amended and Restated Executive Employment 

Agreement by and between VM Consolidated, Inc. 
and Adam Blake, dated as of October 20, 2021.

         X

             

  10.32#  Executive Employment Agreement by and between 
VM Consolidated, Inc. and Jonathan Keyser, dated as 
of November 8, 2022.

         X

             

  10.33#  Form of Notice of Grant of Restricted Stock Units 
(U.S. Participants) under the Verra Mobility 
Corporation 2018 Equity Incentive Plan.

 8-K  001-37979  10.1  Feb. 17, 2023   

             

  10.34#  Form of Notice of Grant of Restricted Stock Units 
(Non-U.S. Participants) under the Verra Mobility 
Corporation 2018 Equity Incentive Plan.

 8-K  001-37979  10.2  Feb. 17, 2023   

             

  10.35#  Form of Notice of Grant of Stock Option (U.S. 
Participants) under the Verra Mobility Corporation 
2018 Equity Incentive Plan.

 8-K  001-37979  10.3  Feb. 17, 2023   

             

  10.36#  Form of Notice of Grant of Stock Option (Non-U.S. 
Participants) under the Verra Mobility Corporation 
2018 Equity Incentive Plan.

 8-K  001-37979  10.4  Feb. 17, 2023   

             

  10.37#  Form of Notice of Grant of Performance Share Units 
and Award Agreement (U.S. Participants) under the 
Verra Mobility Corporation 2018 Equity Incentive 
Plan.

 8-K  001-37979  10.5  Feb. 17, 2023   

             

  10.38#  Form of Notice of Grant of Performance Share Units 
and Award Agreement (Non-U.S. Participants) under 
the Verra Mobility Corporation 2018 Equity Incentive 
Plan.

 8-K  001-37979  10.6  Feb. 17, 2023   

             

  10.39#  Verra Mobility Corporation Second Amended and 
Restated Short-Term Incentive Plan.

 8-K  001-37979  10.7  Feb. 17, 2023   

             

  21.1  List of Subsidiaries.          X
             

  23.1  Consent of Ernst & Young LLP, Independent 
Registered Public Accounting Firm.

         X

             

  24.1  Power of Attorney (included on the signature pages
herein).

         X

             

  31.1  Certification of Principal Executive Officer Pursuant 
to Rules 13a‑14(a) and 15d‑14(a) under the Securities 
Exchange Act of 1934, as Adopted Pursuant to 
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

         X
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  31.2  Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursuant 

to Rules 13a‑14(a) and 15d‑14(a) under the Securities 
Exchange Act of 1934, as Adopted Pursuant to 
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

         X

             

  32.1*  Certification of Principal Executive Officer Pursuant 
to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to 
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

         X

             

  32.2*  Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursuant 
to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to 
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

         X

             

99.1  Verra Mobility Insider Trading Policy.          X
             

  101.INS  Inline XBRL Instance Document.          X
             

  101.SCH  Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema 
Document.

         X

             

  101.CAL  Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation 
Linkbase Document.

         X

             

  101.DEF  Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition 
Linkbase Document.

         X

             

  101.LAB  Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Labels Linkbase 
Document.

         X

             

  101.PRE  Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation 
Linkbase document.

         X

             

  104  Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as Inline 
XBRL and contained in Exhibit 101).

         X

 
# Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.
* This certification is deemed not filed for purposes of Section 18 of the Exchange Act or otherwise subject to the liability of that section, nor shall it be 
deemed incorporated by reference into any filing under the Securities Act or the Exchange Act.
 

Item 16. Form 10-K Summary

None.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on 
its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

 
  VERRA MOBILITY CORPORATION
    
Date: March 1, 2023 By: /s/ David Roberts
    David Roberts
    President and Chief Executive Officer

    
(Principal Executive Officer)
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POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each individual whose signature appears below constitutes and appoints David Roberts and 
Craig Conti, and each of them, his or her true and lawful attorney-in-fact and agent, with full power of substitution and resubstitution, for him or her and in 
his or her name, place and stead, in any and all capacities, to sign any and all amendments to this Annual Report, and to file the same, with all exhibits 
thereto and other documents in connection therewith, with the SEC, granting unto said attorneys-in-fact and agents, and each of them, full power and
authority to do and perform each and every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done in and about the premises, as fully to all intents and purposes as 
he or she might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming all that said attorneys-in-fact and agents or any of them, or his or her or their 
substitute or substitutes, may lawfully do or cause to be done or by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the 
Registrant and in the capacities and on the date indicated:
 

  Signature   Capacity in Which Signed
 
 Date

      
  /s/ David Roberts  President, Chief Executive Officer and Director  March 1, 2023
  David Roberts (Principal Executive Officer)  
    

 /s/ Craig Conti  Chief Financial Officer  March 1, 2023
  Craig Conti (Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)  

    
 
  

 
   

 /s/ Patrick Byrne  
 Director

 
 March 1, 2023

 Patrick Byrne  
  

  

   
 
  

 
   

  /s/ Douglas Davis  
 Director

 
 March 1, 2023

  Douglas Davis    

    
 
  

 
   

  /s/ Sarah Farrell  
 Director

 
 March 1, 2023

  Sarah Farrell    
      

 /s/ Michael Huerta  Director  March 1, 2023
 Michael Huerta     

    
 
  

 
   

  /s/ John Rexford  
 Director

 
 March 1, 2023

  John Rexford    

    
 
  

 
   

  /s/ Cynthia Russo  
 Director

 
 March 1, 2023

  Cynthia Russo  
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Appendix A

Verra Mobility Corporation

Schedule II

Consolidated Valuation and Qualifying Accounts for the Years Ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020
 

  Beginning   
Charged/Credited 

to   Charged to Other   Charges Utilized/   Ending  
($ in thousands)  Balance   Net Income (Loss)   Account   Write-offs   Balance  
Allowance for Credit Losses                    

Year Ended December 31, 2022  $ 12,138   $ 14,481   $ —   $ (10,712 )  $ 15,907  
Year Ended December 31, 2021   11,471    9,588    —    (8,921 )   12,138  
Year Ended December 31, 2020   8,456    14,391    —    (11,376 )   11,471  

                 
Tax Valuation Allowance                     

Year Ended December 31, 2022  $ 3,785   $ 2,438   $ 63   $ (1,023 )  $ 5,263  
Year Ended December 31, 2021   3,422    363    —    —    3,785  
Year Ended December 31, 2020   2,564    858    —    —    3,422  

 
(1) This includes a $0.8 million increase to the beginning balance of allowance for credit losses as a result of adopting the credit loss standard.
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Exhibit 10.26

 
VERRA MOBILITY CORPORATION

NON-EMPLOYEE DIRECTOR COMPENSATION POLICY

Last updated December 8, 2022

Each member of the board of directors (the “Board”) of Verra Mobility Corporation, a Delaware corporation (the 
“Company”) who is not an employee of the Company or subsidiary of the Company (each “Non-Employee Director”) shall be 
subject to, and eligible to receive cash and equity compensation for their service on the Board and any committee thereof 
(“Committee”) in accordance with this Non-Employee Director Compensation Policy (the “Policy”). For the avoidance of doubt, 
the Policy shall not apply to members of the Board who are employees of the Company or any subsidiary of the Company. This 
Policy shall remain in effect until it is amended or rescinded by further action of the Board.

General
This Policy shall be followed in connection with all compensation paid by the Company to Non-Employee Directors, 

including, without limitation, amounts paid or awards granted under The Verra Mobility 2018 Equity Incentive Plan (the “Plan”). 
Non-Employee Directors shall not be entitled to any compensation for their service on the Board other than as described in this 
Policy and the Plan.

Cash Compensation
Each Non-Employee Director shall be entitled to the following cash compensation:

Annual Cash Retainers
Each Non-Employee Director shall receive an annual cash retainer of $65,000 for their service on the Board.

The Non-Executive Chairman of the Board shall receive an additional cash retainer of $70,000.

The Chairman of any Committee shall receive an additional annual cash retainer as follows:

· Chairman of the Audit Committee: 12,500.

· Chairman of the Compensation Committee: $10,000.

· Chairman of the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee: $6,000.

Members of each Committee shall receive additional annual cash retainers as follows:

· Member of the Audit Committee (other than the Chairman): $10,000.

· Member of the Compensation Committee (other than the Chairman): $7,500.

· Member of the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee (other than the Chairman): $4,000.

1

   



Each Non-Employee Director who serves on the Board or a Committee for less than a full quarterly period shall receive 
a prorated portion of the annual cash retainer for such quarterly period, determined based on the number of days served during the 
quarterly period.

The annual cash retainers, including any pro rata portion thereof, shall be paid either annually, in arrears, or quarterly in 
arrears at the election of the respective Non-Employee Director.

Equity Compensation
Annual Equity Grant

On the close of business on the date of each annual stockholders meeting of the Company, without further action by the 
Board, each Non-Employee Director then in office shall receive an equity award (the “Annual Award”). The Annual Award will 
have an estimated fair value of $170,000 using valuation methodologies deemed appropriate by the Compensation Committee of 
the Board or the Board from time to time, in light of commercial considerations deemed necessary to fulfill the goals set forth in 
this Policy and to align directors with stockholder interests. The Annual Award will be comprised of Restricted Stock Units 
which will vest in full upon the earlier of (i) the first anniversary of the vesting start date or (ii) the date immediately prior to the 
Company’s next annual meeting of stockholders.

Each Non-Employee Director who is appointed to the Board during the year shall be entitled to a pro-rated annual equity 
award, determined based on the number of days between the date the Non-Employee Director joins the Board and the anticipated 
date of the next annual shareholders meeting.

All equity awards will be made in accordance with the Plan and other applicable equity plan documents, including forms 
of award agreements approved by the Board for grants to Non-Employee Directors consistent with this Policy.

Travel Expense Reimbursement
Each Non-Employee Director shall be reimbursed for reasonable travel expenses in connection with their attendance at 

Board and Committee meetings. Each Non-Employee Director shall provide the Company with such receipts and other records 
related to such reimbursable expenses as the Company may require. Reimbursements shall be paid in accordance with the 
payment requirements set out in the Plan.

Insider Trading
Non-Employee Directors are subject to the Company’s Insider Trading Policy.

Hedging Stock Ownership
Non-Employee Directors are prohibited from entering into hedging transactions or similar arrangements regarding their 

Company securities pursuant to the Company’s Insider Trading Policy.

Interpretation
The Compensation Committee is authorized to interpret and construe this Policy and to make all determinations 

necessary, appropriate or advisable for the administration of this Policy. Any interpretation made by the Compensation 
Committee shall be final, conclusive and binding.

Review of Policy
2

   



The Compensation Committee shall review this Policy at least annually and may recommend any modifications to the 
Board. The Board will determine any changes to be made to this Policy based on the Compensation Committee’s 
recommendations.

 

 

Adopted by the Board of Directors of Verra Mobility Corporation on February 17, 2022
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Exhibit 10.30
 

EXECUTIVE EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT

THIS EXECUTIVE EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT (this “Agreement”) is entered into by and between VM 
Consolidated, Inc., a Delaware corporation having its principal offices in Mesa, Arizona and a wholly owned subsidiary of Verra 
Mobility Corporation (together with Verra Mobility Corporation, the “Company”), and Jonathan Baldwin (the “Executive”).  
This Agreement shall become effective on the date of the last signatory hereto, provided, however, that the Agreement is fully 
executed by January 17, 2022. If the Agreement is not fully executed by January 17, 2022, it shall become null and void.

WHEREAS, the Company desires to employ Executive as its Executive Vice President, Government Solutions, and 
Executive desires to serve in such capacity on behalf of the Company, upon the terms and conditions hereinafter set forth; and

WHEREAS, Executive acknowledges that he has had an opportunity to consider this Agreement and to consult with an 
independent advisor of his choosing with regard to the terms of this Agreement and enters into this Agreement voluntarily and 
with a full understanding of its terms. 

NOW, THEREFORE, the parties hereto, intending to be legally bound, hereby agree as follows: 
 

1. Employment.

 

1.1 Employment Period. Executive’s employment hereunder will commence on or before April 4, 2022 (the “Start 
Date”). Executive shall be employed by the Company (or a Company subsidiary or affiliate) on an “at will” basis, meaning either 
the Company or Executive may terminate Executive’s employment at any time, with or without cause or advance notice (such 
period of employment under this Agreement, the “Employment Period”). Any contrary representations that may have been made 
to Executive shall be superseded by this Agreement. This Agreement shall constitute the full and complete agreement between 
Executive and the Company on the “at will” nature of Executive’s employment with the Company, which may be changed only in 
an express written agreement signed by Executive and a duly authorized officer of the Company. Executive’s rights to any 
compensation following a termination shall be only as set forth in Section 3 herein.

 

1.2 Public Announcement. Prior to any public announcement made by the Company, Executive shall not make any 
public release, statement or communication concerning Executive’s acceptance of employment with the Company without the 
prior written approval of the Company’s Board of Directors (the “Board”) or its designee.  

 

1.3 Duties and Responsibilities. Commencing on the Start Date, Executive shall serve as the Executive Vice President, 
Government Solutions of the Company, reporting to the 
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Company’s Chief Executive Officer, and shall perform all duties and accept all responsibilities incident to such position and such 
other duties as may be reasonably assigned to Executive by the Company’s Chief Executive Officer consistent with such position.

 

1.4 Extent of Services. Executive shall use his best efforts to carry out Executive’s duties and responsibilities under 
Section 1.3 hereof and, consistent with the other provisions of this Agreement, shall devote substantially all of Executive’s 
business time, attention and energy thereto. In the performance of his duties, Executive shall observe and adhere to all applicable 
Company policies and procedures as may be interpreted, adopted, revised or deleted from time to time in the Company’s sole
discretion. During the Employment Period, Executive may engage in volunteer services for or on behalf of such religious, 
educational, non-profit and/or other charitable organization as Executive may wish to serve, in all such cases not interfering with 
Executive’s responsibilities and performance of Executive’s duties hereunder. The foregoing shall not be construed as preventing 
Executive from owning less than one percent (1%) of the total outstanding shares of a publicly traded company.

 

1.5 Principal Location of Services. Executive shall be permitted to telecommute from his current home location in the 
performance of his duties, and shall undertake travel within or outside of the United States as is necessary or advisable for the 
efficient operations of the Company and the performance of Executive’s duties hereunder, including such travel as is required to 
the Company’s corporate headquarters (presently located in Mesa, Arizona). Executive shall be reimbursed for his travel 
expenses in accordance with the Company’s Travel & Expense Policy. . 

  

1.6 Background Screening.  Executive’s employment is contingent upon completion of the Company’s Director & 
Officer Questionnaire to the Company’s satisfaction, verification of Executive’s eligibility to work in the United States, and the 
Company obtaining satisfactory results on a background investigation, reference check, and drug screening of Executive 
(collectively, the “Background Check”), which will be conducted at the Company’s expense and in compliance with applicable 
law.  If the results of Executive’s Background Check do not meet the Company’s satisfaction, the Agreement shall be null and 
void (even if executed by the Parties).

 

2. Compensation and Benefits.

 

2.1 Base Salary. For all the services rendered by Executive hereunder, the Company shall pay or cause to be paid to 
Executive a base salary (“Base Salary”) at the annualized rate of Three Hundred Eighty-Five Thousand Dollars ($385,000.00), 
subject to all required withholdings and authorized deductions and payable in installments at such times as the Company 
customarily pays its other senior level executives.  Executive’s Base Salary is subject to annual review by the Compensation 
Committee of the Board (the “Compensation Committee”) consistent with other members of the Company’s executive team. 
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2.2 Short-Term Discretionary Cash Bonus. For each fiscal year during the Employment Period, Executive shall be 
eligible to receive an annual discretionary cash bonus (the “STIP Bonus”) for the services rendered by Executive under this 
Agreement, subject to the terms and conditions as set forth in the Verra Mobility Short-Term Incentive Plan (or any successor 
plan) (the “STIP Plan”). Executive’s STIP Bonus target shall be seventy five percent (75%) of the Executive’s Base Salary paid 
during the applicable plan year. The payment and amount of the STIP Bonus, if any, will be determined by the Compensation 
Committee based on Executive’s performance and Company financial performance, in each case measured against performance 
goals and financial targets established by the Compensation Committee.    

 

2.3 Equity Compensation.  

 

(a) Equity Grants.  As soon as practical (but not more than two (2) business days) after the first Compensation 
Committee meeting immediately following Executive’s Start Date (or, if the Compensation Committee’s next such meeting 
occurs during a blackout period, then promptly after two (2) business days following the end of such blackout period), the 
Company will grant to Executive, pursuant to the terms of the Verra Mobility Corporation 2018 Equity Incentive Plan, as 
amended (the “Plan”), and applicable award agreements, the following equity grants:

 

(i) Time-Based Stock Option Grant. A grant of a non-
statutory stock option award under the Plan for a number of shares of Verra Mobility Class A Common Stock with a total value, 
as measured by the closing price of Verra Mobility’s Class A Common Stock on the Nasdaq Capital Market on the date of grant, 
equal to two hundred eighty thousand dollars ($280,000) (“Time-Based Option”), subject to the Plan and Executive Time-Based 
Option award agreement, which shall include an annual time-based vesting of twenty-five percent (25%) increments on each of 
the first four anniversaries of the grant date, including continued service through each applicable vesting date.  The Time-Based 
Option will have an exercise price per share equal to the Fair Market Value (as defined in the Plan) of a share of common stock of 
the Company on the date of grant.

 

(ii) Performance Share Unit Grant.  A grant of a 
performance share unit award under the Plan for a number of shares of Verra Mobility Class A Common Stock with a total value, 
as measured by the closing price of Verra Mobility’s Class A Common Stock on the Nasdaq Capital Market on the date of grant, 
equal to two hundred ten thousand dollars ($210,000) (“PSUs”), subject to the Plan and Executive’s PSU award agreement, 
which shall include the following vesting schedule: the PSUs shall vest based on Relative Total Stockholder Return (“Relative 
TSR”), meaning the difference, measured in percentage points (rounded to the nearest 1/100 of 1%), for the three (3) year 
performance period between the Company Annualized TSR and the Comparator Group Median Annualized TSR, all as 
determined in accordance with 
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Executive’s PSU award agreement, as well as Executive’s continued service through the end of the performance period.

 

(iii) Time-Based Restricted Stock Unit Grant.  A grant of 
a restricted stock unit award under the Plan for a number of shares of Verra Mobility Class A Common Stock with a total value, 
as measured by the closing price of Verra Mobility’s Class A Common Stock on the Nasdaq Capital Market on the date of grant, 
equal to two hundred ten thousand dollars ($210,000) (“RSUs”), subject to the Plan and Executive’s RSU award agreement, 
which shall include annual time-based vesting of twenty-five percent (25%) increments on each of the first four anniversaries of 
the grant date and the terms of the Plan and Executive’s RSU award agreement, including continued service through each 
applicable vesting date.

 

(iv) Make-Whole Restricted Stock Unit Grant.  A grant of 
a restricted stock unit award under the Plan for a number of shares of Verra Mobility Class A Common Stock with a total value, 
as measured by the closing price of Verra Mobility’s Class A Common Stock on the Nasdaq Capital Market on the date of grant, 
equal to four hundred thousand dollars ($400,000) (“Make-Whole RSUs”), which shall include annual time-based vesting of 
twenty-five percent (25%) increments on each of the first four anniversaries of the grant date and the terms of the Plan and 
Executive’s RSU award agreement, including continued service through each applicable vesting date. 
 

(b) Future Equity Compensation.  During the Employment Period, Executive shall be eligible from time to 
time to participate in the Company’s equity incentive programs, subject to the discretion of the Board or its authorized 
designee(s). The terms and conditions of the vesting, forfeiture, and all other matters related to any equity compensation granted 
to Executive shall be subject to and governed by the Plan and the applicable award agreements and grant documents provided to 
Executive in connection with such equity compensation. 

 

2.4 Retirement and Welfare Plans. Executive shall be eligible to participate in employee retirement and welfare benefit 
plans of the Company (or a Company subsidiary or affiliate) made available to the Company’s (or its subsidiaries’ or affiliates’) 
senior level executives as a group or to its employees generally, as such retirement and welfare plans may be in effect from time 
to time and subject to the eligibility requirements of the plans. Nothing in this Agreement shall prevent the Company from 
adopting, amending or terminating any retirement, welfare or other employee benefit plans or programs from time to time as the 
Company deems appropriate.

 

2.5 Vacation. Executive shall be entitled to paid vacation pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Company’s 
vacation and paid time off policies, as may be in effect from time to time.
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2.6 Reimbursement of Expenses. Executive shall be eligible to be reimbursed for all customary and appropriate 
business-related expenses actually incurred by Executive and documented in accordance with the Company’s policies applicable 
to senior level executives and as may be in effect from time to time.

 

3. Termination. Notwithstanding Section 1, Executive’s employment shall terminate, and the Employment Period 
shall terminate concurrently therewith, upon the occurrence of any of the following events:

 

3.1 Termination By Company Without Cause or Resignation by Executive for Good Reason. 

 

(a) The Company may terminate Executive’s employment at any time without Cause during the Employment 
Period from the position in which Executive is employed hereunder upon not less than thirty (30) days’ prior written notice to 
Executive. The Company shall have the discretion to terminate Executive’s employment during the notice period and pay 
continued Base Salary in lieu of notice. In addition, Executive may initiate a termination of employment under this Section 3.1 by 
resigning for Good Reason (in accordance with the notice and other provisions set forth in Section 3.7(b)). 

 

(b) Upon termination under this Section 3.1, Executive shall receive (i) Executive’s accrued but unpaid Base 
Salary through the date of termination (payable on the Company’s first (1st) payroll processing date after Executive’s date of 
termination or earlier if required by applicable law), (ii) any unreimbursed business expenses incurred by Executive and payable 
in accordance with the Company’s standard expense reimbursement policies and Section 20 of this Agreement, and (iii) benefits 
earned, accrued and due under any qualified retirement plan or health and welfare benefit plan in which Executive was a 
participant in accordance with applicable law and the provisions of such plan (collectively, the amounts in this Section 3.1(b) are 
“Guaranteed Payments”). 

 

(c) If Executive’s employment terminates as described in Section 3.1(a) above and if, upon such termination,
Executive (i) executes within twenty-one (21) days (or forty-five (45) days to the extent required by applicable law) after 
presentation to the Executive of, that he does not timely revoke, a written general release in a form provided by the Company 
releasing the Company from any and all claims (including with respect to all matters arising out of or related to Executive’s 
employment by the Company or the termination thereof) (the “Release”), and (ii) complies with the terms and conditions of the 
Release, including, without limitation, the terms and conditions of Sections 5, 6, 7, 8, and 9 of this Agreement (which shall be 
incorporated in the 
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Release by reference) below, Executive will be entitled to receive cash severance in an amount equal to twelve (12) months of 
Executive’s then-current Base Salary, plus a cash amount representing the total cost of the group healthcare premiums the 
Executive would have paid based on the coverages in effect at the time of Executive’s termination if the Executive elected 
continuation coverage under Title X of the Consolidated Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act of 1985, as amended, for a period
of twelve (12) months (the “Severance”). The Severance amount, less all required withholdings and authorized deductions, shall 
be paid in substantially equal installments consistent with the Company’s regularly scheduled payroll procedures until the 
Severance has been paid in full, subject to Section 3.1(d) below. 

 

(d) Except as otherwise required by Section 3.8, the benefits described in Section 3.1(c) shall begin within 
sixty (60) days after Executive’s termination date, provided Executive has timely executed and not revoked the Release within 
such sixty (60) day period; and provided that notwithstanding any provision of this Agreement to the contrary, in no event shall 
the timing of Executive’s execution of the Release, directly or indirectly, result in Executive’s designating the calendar year of 
payment, and if a payment that is “nonqualified deferred compensation” as defined under Section 409A of the Code (“Section 
409A”) is subject to execution of the Release could be made in more than one taxable year of Executive, payment shall be made 
on the earliest date permitted under the terms of the Release in the later such taxable year. 

 

(e) Executive agrees and acknowledges that the Severance provided to Executive pursuant to Section 3.1(c) is 
in lieu of, and is not in addition to, any benefits to which Executive may otherwise be entitled under any Company severance 
plan, policy, or program, other than the Guaranteed Payments.

 

(f) Executive agrees and acknowledges that if Executive fails to comply with Section 5, 6, 7, 8 or 9 below, or 
any obligation set forth in the Release, all payments under Section 3.1(c) shall immediately cease and Executive shall be required 
to immediately repay any cash Severance previously paid by the Company.

 

3.2 Termination by Reason of Disability. Subject to applicable state and federal law, the Company may terminate 
Executive’s employment if Executive has been unable to perform the material duties of Executive’s position for a period of ninety 
(90) consecutive days or one hundred eighty (180) days in the aggregate during any twelve (12) month period because of physical 
or mental injury or illness (“Disability”). Executive agrees, in the event of a dispute under this Section 3.2 relating to Executive’s 
Disability, to submit to a physical examination by a licensed physician jointly selected by the Board and Executive. If the 
Company terminates Executive’s employment for Disability, Executive shall be entitled to receive the Guaranteed Payments as 
set forth in Section 3.1(b). 
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3.3 Termination by Reason of Death. If Executive dies while employed by the Company, all obligations of the parties 
hereunder shall terminate immediately. The Company shall pay to Executive’s executor, legal representative, administrator or 
designated beneficiary, as applicable, the Guaranteed Payments as set forth in Section 3.1(b). 

 

3.4 Termination by Company for Cause or Resignation by Executive without Good Reason.  The Company may 
terminate Executive’s employment at any time for Cause upon written notice to Executive and Executive may initiate a 
termination of employment by resigning without Good Reason upon not less than thirty (30) days’ prior written notice to the 
Company, and in any such event all payments under this Agreement shall cease except that the Company shall pay to Executive 
the Guaranteed Payments.  In such event, Executive will not receive the Severance or any other severance compensation or 
benefits.

 

3.5 Notice of Termination. Any termination of Executive’s employment by either party shall be communicated by a 
written notice of termination to the other party hereto given in accordance with Section 13. The notice of termination shall (a) 
indicate the specific termination provision in this Agreement relied upon; (b) briefly summarize the facts and circumstances 
deemed to provide a basis for a termination of employment and the applicable provision hereof, provided, that no basis need be 
provided by the Company in connection with a termination without Cause by the Company or a termination without Good 
Reason by Executive; and (c) specify the termination date in accordance with the requirements of this Agreement.

 

3.6 Cooperation with the Company After Termination. During any notice period preceding termination of Executive’s 
employment for any reason, Executive agrees to cooperate with the Company in all matters relating to the winding up of 
Executive’s pending work and the orderly transfer and transition of any such pending work to such other employees as may be 
designated by the Company.  Following termination of employment, Executive agrees to cooperate with the Company, at 
reasonable times and locales and upon reasonable prior notice, in (a) responding to requests by the Company for information 
concerning work performed by Executive during the period of Executive’s employment with the Company and with regard to any 
matters that relate to or arise out of the business of the Company during the period of his employment and about which Executive 
may have knowledge; and (b) any investigation or review that may be performed by the Company or any government authority or 
in connection with any litigation or proceeding in which the Company may become involved. Executive’s obligations under this 
Section 3.6 include (without limitation) (i) making himself available to testify on behalf of the Company or any of its affiliates in 
any action, suit, or proceeding, whether civil, criminal, administrative, or investigative; (ii) assisting the Company or any of its 
affiliates in any such action, suit, or proceeding, by providing truthful and accurate information; (iii) and meeting and consulting 
with the Board or its representatives or counsel, or representatives or counsel to any of the Company’s affiliates as may be 
reasonably requested and after taking into account the Executive’s post-termination responsibilities and obligations.  The 
Company will reimburse Executive for any reasonable travel and out of pocket expenses incurred by Executive in providing such 
cooperation.
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3.7 Definitions. 

 
(a) “Cause” shall mean: (i) Executive being charged with a felony or misdemeanor criminal offense, other than a 

misdemeanor traffic offense; (ii) Executive’s engagement in any act involving gross misconduct or dishonesty that is materially 
injurious to the Company or any of its affiliates; (iii) Executive’s willful and continued breach of, or failure to substantially 
perform under or comply with any of the material terms and covenants of any written agreement with the Company or any of its 
affiliates; (iv) Executive’s willful and continued breach of, or refusal or failure substantially to perform under, any policy or 
reasonable performance goals set by the Company or any of its affiliates with respect to Executive’s job duties or responsibilities, 
the operation of the Company's or any of its affiliates’ business and affairs, or the management of the Company’s or any of its 
affiliates’ employees; or (v) Executive commits or has committed a breach of any laws or regulations which may affect or relate 
to the conduct of the Company’s or any of its affiliates’ business; provided, however, that with respect to (iii) and (iv) above, 
Executive will be provided notice of any misconduct and/or breach constituting Cause and be given a reasonable opportunity (not 
to exceed thirty (30) consecutive days) to cure the misconduct and/or breach (unless such misconduct and/or breach is determined 
by the Company not to be susceptible to cure, in which case the termination shall be deemed to be immediate), and provided 
further that such cure period shall only be available for the first such act of misconduct and/or breach of the same or substantially 
similar type, and subsequent acts of misconduct and/or breach of the same or substantially similar type shall constitute Cause 
without regard to Executive’s subsequent cure of same.

 
(b)  “Good Reason” shall mean the occurrence of any of the following events or conditions, unless Executive has 

expressly consented in writing thereto: 

 

(i) A material reduction in Executive’s Base Salary;

 

(ii) The material diminution of Executive’s duties, responsibilities, or authority, provided that Good Reason 
shall not exist under this clause (ii) if such diminution of authority, duties and responsibilities is a result of the hiring of additional 
subordinates to assume some of Executive’s duties and responsibilities which are in fact, in the aggregate from time to time, not a 
material diminution of such authority, duties and responsibilities as Executive Vice President, Government Solutions;

 

(iii) The Company requires that Executive’s principal office location be moved to a location more than fifty 
(50) miles from Executive’s principal office location immediately before the change without Executive’s prior consent; or
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(iv) A material breach by the Company of this Agreement or any other written agreement between the parties.

 
For purposes of this Agreement, Executive shall not have Good Reason for termination unless (i) Executive reasonably 
determines in good faith that a “Good Reason” condition has occurred; (ii) Executive notifies the Company in writing of the 
occurrence of the Good Reason condition within sixty (60) days of such occurrence; (iii) Executive cooperates in good faith with 
the Company’s efforts, for a period not less than thirty (30) days following such notice (the “Cure Period”), to cure the condition; 
(iv) notwithstanding such efforts, the Good Reason condition continues to exist following expiration of the Cure Period as 
determined by the Company; and (v) Executive terminates his employment within sixty (60) days after the end of the Cure 
Period. If the Company cures the Good Reason condition during the Cure Period, Good Reason shall be deemed not to have 
occurred.

 
3.8 Required Postponement for Specified Executives. If Executive is considered a “specified employee” (as defined 

under Section 409A) and payment of any amounts under this Agreement is required to be delayed for a period of six (6) months 
after separation from service pursuant to Section 409A, payment of such amounts shall be delayed as required by Section 409A, 
and the accumulated postponed amounts shall be paid in a lump-sum payment within five (5) days after the end of the six (6) 
month period. If Executive dies during the postponement period prior to the payment of benefits, the amounts postponed on 
account of Section 409A shall be paid to the personal representative of Executive’s estate within thirty (30) days after the date of 
Executive’s death. 

 
4. Non-Exclusivity of Rights. Nothing in this Agreement shall prevent or limit Executive’s continuing or future 

participation in or rights under any benefit, bonus, incentive or other plan or program provided by the Company and for which 
Executive may qualify; provided, however, that if Executive becomes entitled to and receives the Severance provided for in 
Section 3 of this Agreement, Executive hereby waives Executive’s right to receive payments under any severance plan or similar 
program that would otherwise apply to Executive.  In the event of any inconsistency between this Agreement and any other plan, 
program or agreement in which Executive is a participant or a party, this Agreement shall control unless such other plan, program 
or agreement specifically refers to this Agreement as not so controlling.

 

5. Confidentiality. Executive agrees that Executive’s services to the Company are of a special, unique and 
extraordinary character, and that Executive’s position places Executive in a position of confidence and trust with the Company’s 
customers, clients, vendors, suppliers, contractors, business partners and employees. Executive also recognizes that Executive’s 
position with the Company will give Executive substantial access to Confidential Information (as defined below), the 
unauthorized use or disclosure of which to competitors of the Company would cause the Company to suffer substantial and 
irreparable damage. Executive recognizes and agrees, therefore, that it is in the Company’s legitimate business interest to restrict 
Executive’s use of Confidential Information for any purposes other than the proper discharge of Executive’s employment duties 
for the Company, and to limit any potential appropriation of Confidential 
  _______
  Executive’s Initials

 



Information by Executive for the benefit of the Company’s competitors and/or to the detriment of the Company. Accordingly, 
Executive agrees as follows: 

 

(a) Executive shall not at any time, whether during or after the termination of Executive’s employment with the 
Company for any reason, reveal or disclose to any person or entity any of the trade secrets or confidential information of the 
Company, or the trade secrets or confidential information of any third party which the Company is under an obligation to keep 
confidential, including but not limited to trade secrets or confidential information respecting products, projects, designs, 
developmental or experimental work, computer programs, software, data bases, know-how, processes, formulas, customers, 
business partners, suppliers, business plans, marketing plans and strategies, finances, employee compensation, or personnel, 
information obtained from third parties under confidentiality agreements, and other business information (“Confidential 
Information”), except as may be required in the ordinary course of performing Executive’s duties as an employee of the 
Company, and Executive shall keep secret all Confidential Information entrusted to Executive and shall not use or attempt to use 
any such Confidential Information for personal gain or in any manner that may injure or cause loss, or could reasonably be 
expected to injure or cause loss, whether directly or indirectly, to the Company.

 

(b) The above restrictions shall not apply to: (i) information that at the time of disclosure is in the public domain 
through no fault of Executive; (ii) information received from a third party outside of the Company that was disclosed without a 
breach of any confidentiality obligation on the part of such third party; (iii) information released or disclosed by an authorized 
representative of the Company; or (iv) information that may be required by law or an order of any court, agency or proceeding to 
be disclosed; provided that Executive shall provide the Company prior written notice of any such required disclosure once 
Executive has knowledge of it and will help the Company to the extent reasonable to obtain an appropriate protective order. 
Moreover, the foregoing shall not limit Executive’s ability to (A) discuss the terms of Executive’s employment, wages and 
working conditions to the extent expressly protected by applicable law, (B) report possible violations of federal securities laws to 
the appropriate government enforcing agency and make such other disclosures that are expressly protected under federal or state 
“whistleblower” laws, or (C) respond to inquiries from, or otherwise cooperate with, any governmental or regulatory 
investigation or proceeding.

 

(c) Executive agrees that during Executive’s employment with the Company Executive shall not take, use or permit to 
be used any records, data, notes, reports, proposals, lists, correspondence, computer code, specifications, drawings, blueprints, 
sketches, flow diagrams, materials, equipment, devices or any other documents or property (including photocopies or other 
reproductions of any of the aforesaid items) or other materials of any nature constituting Confidential Information or 
Developments (as defined below) otherwise than for the benefit of the Company. Executive further agrees that Executive shall 
not, after the termination of Executive’s employment for any reason, use or permit to be used any such records, data, notes, 
reports, proposals, lists, correspondence, computer code, specifications, drawings, blueprints, sketches, flow diagrams, materials,
equipment, devices or any other documents or property (including 
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photocopies or other reproductions of any of the aforesaid items), it being agreed that all of the foregoing shall be and remain the 
sole and exclusive property of the Company and that, immediately upon the termination of Executive’s employment for any 
reason, Executive shall deliver all of the foregoing, and all copies thereof, to the Company, at its headquarters. 

 

(d) Executive agrees that upon the termination of Executive’s employment with the Company for any reason, 
Executive shall not take or retain without written authorization any documents, files or other property of the Company, and 
Executive will return promptly to the Company any such documents, files or property in Executive’s possession or custody, 
including any copies thereof maintained in any medium or format. Executive recognizes that all documents, files and property 
that Executive has received and will receive from the Company (with the exception of documents relating to benefits to which 
Executive might be entitled following the termination of Executive’s employment with the Company), are for the exclusive use of 
the Company and employees who are discharging their responsibilities on behalf of the Company, and that Executive has no 
claim or right to the continued use, possession or custody of such documents, files or property following the termination of 
Executive’s employment with the Company for any reason. 

 

(e) Pursuant to the Defend Trade Secrets Act of 2016, Executive acknowledges that Executive will not have criminal 
or civil liability under any federal or state trade secret law for the disclosure of a trade secret that (i) is made (A) in confidence to 
a federal, state, or local government official, either directly or indirectly, or to an attorney and (B) solely for the purpose of 
reporting or investigating a suspected violation of law; or (ii) is made in a complaint or other document filed in a lawsuit or other
proceeding, if such filing is made under seal. 

 

6. Intellectual Property. 

 

(a) If at any time or times during Executive’s employment with the Company Executive shall (either alone or with 
others) make, conceive, discover or reduce to practice any invention, modification, discovery, design, development, 
improvement, process, software program, work of authorship, documentation, formula, data, technique, know-how, secret or 
intellectual property right whatsoever or any interest therein (whether or not patentable or registrable under copyright or similar 
statutes or subject to analogous protection) (herein called “Developments”) that (i) relates to the business of the Company or any 
of the products or services being developed, manufactured or sold by the Company or which may be used in relation therewith, 
(ii) results from tasks assigned to Executive by the Company or (iii) results from the use of premises or personal property 
(whether tangible or intangible) owned, leased or contracted for by the Company, such Developments and the benefits thereof 
shall immediately become the sole and absolute property of the Company and its assigns, and Executive shall promptly disclose 
to the Company (or any persons designated by it) each such Development, and Executive hereby assigns any rights Executive 
may have or acquire in the Developments and benefits and/or rights 
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resulting therefrom to the Company and its assigns without further compensation and shall communicate, without cost or delay, 
and without publishing the same, all available information relating thereto (with all necessary plans and models) to the Company.

 

(b) Upon disclosure of each Development to the Company, Executive will, during Executive’s employment and at any
time thereafter, at the request and cost of the Company, sign, execute, make and do all such deeds, documents, acts and things as 
the Company and its duly authorized agents may reasonably require: 

 

(i) to apply for, obtain and vest in the name of the Company alone (unless the Company otherwise directs) 
letters patent, copyrights or other analogous protection in any country throughout the world and when so obtained or vested to 
renew and restore the same; and

 

(ii) to defend any opposition proceedings in respect of such applications and any opposition proceedings or 
petitions or applications for revocation of such letters patent, copyright or other analogous protection. 

 

(c) In the event the Company is unable, after reasonable effort, to secure Executive’s signature on any letters patent,
copyright or other analogous protection relating to a Development, whether because of Executive’s physical or mental incapacity 
or for any other reason whatsoever, Executive hereby irrevocably designates and appoints the Company and its duly authorized 
officers and agents as Executive’s agent and attorney-in-fact for the sole purpose of acting for and on Executive’s behalf and in 
his stead to execute and file any such application or applications and to do all other lawfully permitted acts to further the 
prosecution and issuance of letters patent, copyright and other analogous protection thereon with the same legal force and effect 
as if executed by Executive. 

 

7. Non-Competition.  During Executive’s employment with the Company and for a period of twelve (12) months 
after termination of Executive’s employment (for any reason whatsoever, whether voluntary or involuntary) (the “Non-
Competition Period”), Executive shall not, without the prior written approval of the Board, whether alone or as a partner, officer, 
director, consultant, agent, employee, representative or stockholder of any company, entity, or other commercial enterprise, or in 
any other capacity, directly or indirectly engage in the business of developing, manufacturing, marketing, selling and otherwise 
providing products, hardware, software, materials and support services relating to traffic control solutions, which include without 
limitation, photo, speed and red light automated enforcement technologies, parking systems, parking enforcement, electronic toll 
collection, toll and traffic violation enforcement management, automated revenue collection processing systems and software, 
related transaction processing operations for any of the foregoing, and any other products or services offered, conducted, 
authorized or provided by the Company during the last twelve (12) months of Executive’s employment (the “Business”), in 
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any geographic regions for which Executive was responsible, or performed duties, on behalf of the Company during the last 
twelve (12) months of Executive’s employment, or in any geographic region in which the Company engaged in such business, or 
had developed plans to engage in such business, during the last twelve (12) months of Executive’s employment . 

 

The foregoing Non-Competition prohibition shall not prevent Executive’s employment or engagement after termination of 
Executive’s employment by any company or business organization, so long as the activities of any such employment or 
engagement, in any capacity, do not involve work on matters related to the Business. Executive shall be permitted to own 
securities of a public company not in excess of five percent (5%) of any class of such securities and to own stock, partnership 
interests or other securities of any entity not in excess of five percent (5%) of any class of such securities and such ownership 
shall not be considered to be in competition with the Company. 

 

8. Non-Solicitation. During Executive’s employment with the Company and for a period of eighteen (18) months 
after termination of such employment (for any reason, whether voluntary or involuntary), Executive agrees that Executive will 
not: 

 

(a) directly or indirectly (i) solicit, entice or induce, or attempt to solicit, entice or induce, any customer or client to 
become a customer or client of any other person, firm or corporation with respect to any products or services then sold, offered, 
or under development by the Company, or (ii) solicit, entice or induce, or attempt to solicit, entice or induce any customer, client, 
vendor, supplier, contractor, or business development partner to cease doing business with or any in way reduce or impair its 
business relationship with the Company, and Executive shall not approach or contact any such person, firm or corporation for 
such purpose or authorize or knowingly approve the taking of such actions by any other person; or

 

(b) directly or indirectly (i) solicit or recruit, or attempt to solicit or recruit, any employee, consultant or contractor of 
the Company to terminate employment or otherwise cease providing services to the Company or (ii) solicit or recruit, or attempt 
to solicit or recruit, any employee to work for or provide services to a third party other than the Company; and Executive shall not 
approach any such person for such purpose or authorize or knowingly approve the taking of such actions by any other person. 

 

9. Non-Disparagement.  During Executive’s employment and at all times following Executive’s termination of 
employment for any reason, Executive agrees not to make, or knowingly cause to be made, any public disparaging statement or 
public communication, written or oral, concerning the Company, or otherwise impugn the business or management of, damage 
the reputation of, or interfere with the normal operations of the Company or any of its respective past or present employees, 
executives, officers, directors, shareholders, members, managers, 
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principals, or representatives.  The foregoing prohibitions include, without limitation, (i) non-verbal comments or statements 
made on the Internet, including without limitation, on blogs, forums, social media platforms, review or rating sites, or any 
Internet site or online message board (including but not limited to LinkedIn and GlassDoor); and (ii) comments or statements to 
any person or entity, including without limitation, to the press or media, the Company, or any entity, customer, client, vendor, 
supplier, consultant or contractor with whom the Company has, has had or may in the future have a business relationship, that 
would in any way adversely affect the conduct of the business of the Company (including but not limited to any business plans or 
prospects) or the reputation of the Company or the aforementioned persons (including without limitation former and present 
employees of the Company).  Nothing in this provision or elsewhere in this Agreement shall (a) affect the parties’ obligation to 
provide truthful information as may be required by law, rule, regulation or legal process, or as requested by any legal or 
regulatory authority, (b) unlawfully impair or interfere with Executive’s rights under Section 7 of the National Labor Relations 
Act, or (c) impair or in any way interfere with the Company’s ability to engage in intra-Company communications between or 
among officers, members of the Board, and/or their advisors related to Executive’s compensation, retention, and/or job 
performance.

 

10. General Provisions. 

 

(a) Executive acknowledges and agrees that, for purposes of Sections 5, 6, 7, 8, and 9 of this Agreement, the term 
“Company” shall include Verra Mobility Corporation, VM Consolidated, Inc., and their direct and indirect subsidiaries and 
affiliates. 

 

(b) Executive acknowledges and agrees that the type and periods of restrictions imposed in Sections 7 and 8 of this 
Agreement are fair, reasonable and no greater than necessary to protect the Company’s legitimate business interests, and that such 
restrictions are intended solely to protect the legitimate interests of the Company, including its Confidential Information, goodwill 
(client, customer, employee, and otherwise), and business interests, and shall not in any way prevent Executive from earning a 
livelihood or impose upon Executive undue hardship. Executive recognizes and agrees that the Company competes and provides 
its products and services in numerous jurisdictions throughout the word, and that Executive’s access to Confidential Information 
makes it both reasonable and necessary for the Company to restrict Executive’s post-employment activities in any geographic 
market in which the Company competes or is developing plans to compete, and in which Executive’s access to Confidential 
Information and other proprietary information could be used to the detriment of the Company and for which the Company would 
have no adequate remedy at law. In the event that any restriction set forth in this Agreement is determined by a court of 
competent jurisdiction to be overbroad or unenforceable with respect to scope, time (duration), or geographical coverage, 
Executive agrees that such restriction or restrictions shall be modified and narrowed, either by such court of competent 
jurisdiction, or by the Company, to the least extent possible under applicable law for such restriction or restrictions to be 
enforceable so as to preserve and protect the legitimate interests of the Company as described in this Agreement, and without 
negating or impairing any other restrictions or agreements set forth herein. 
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(c) Executive acknowledges and agrees that should Executive breach any of the covenants, restrictions and agreements 
contained herein, irreparable loss and injury would result to the Company, monetary relief would not compensate for such breach, 
and damages arising out of such a breach would be difficult to fully ascertain. Executive therefore agrees that, in addition to any 
and all other remedies available at law or at equity, the Company shall be entitled to have the covenants, restrictions and 
agreements contained in Sections 5, 6, 7, 8, and 9 specifically enforced (including, without limitation, by temporary, preliminary, 
and permanent injunctions and restraining orders), without the need to post any bond or security, by any state or federal court in 
the State of Arizona having equity jurisdiction, and Executive agrees to be subject to the jurisdiction of such court and hereby 
waives any objection to the jurisdiction or venue thereof. 

 

(d) Executive agrees that if the Company fails to take action to remedy any breach by Executive of this Agreement or 
any portion of the Agreement, such inaction by the Company shall not operate or be construed as a waiver of such breach or of 
any subsequent or other breach by Executive of the same or any other provision, agreement or covenant.

 

(e) Executive acknowledges and agrees that the payments and benefits to be provided to Executive under this 
Agreement are provided as, and constitute sufficient and adequate, consideration for the covenants in Sections 5, 6, 7, 8, and 9 
hereof. 
 

(f) Executive’s obligations under Sections 5, 6, 7, 8 and 9 shall survive the termination of Executive’s employment in 
accordance with their terms and shall remain in effect despite any change in position, title, duties, compensation, or other terms
and conditions of Executive’s employment. The existence of a claim by Executive against Company, whether predicated on this 
Agreement or otherwise, shall not relieve Executive of Executive’s obligations under Sections 5, 6, 7, 8 or 9 or make them 
unenforceable.

 

11. Representations and Warranties. Executive represents and warrants the following to the Company, each of 
which Executive acknowledges is a material inducement to the Company’s willingness to enter into this Agreement and a 
material provision of this Agreement:

 

(a) Other than as previously disclosed in writing or provided to the Company, Executive is not a party to or bound by 
any employment agreements, restrictive covenants, non-compete restrictions, non-solicitation restrictions, and/or confidentiality 
or non-disclosure agreements with any other person, business or entity, or any agreement or contract requiring Executive to 
assign inventions to another party (each, a “Restrictive Agreement”), and Executive has conducted a thorough review of any and 
all agreements he may have entered into with any current or former employer or any other relevant party to ensure that this 
representation and warranty is correct.
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(b) No Restrictive Agreement prohibits, restricts, limits or otherwise affects Executive’s employment with the 
Company as an executive or ability to perform any of Executive’s duties or responsibilities for the Company as contemplated 
herein. 

 

(c) Executive has not made any material misrepresentation or omission in the course of his communications with the 
Company regarding the Restrictive Agreements or other obligations to any current or former employer or other third party.

 
(d) Executive has not, directly or indirectly, removed, downloaded, or copied any confidential or proprietary 

information or records of any current or former employer (or their subsidiaries and/or affiliates) without the express written 
consent of an authorized representative of such entity, and shall not use or possess, as of the date Executive begins employment 
and at all times during his employment with the Company, any confidential or proprietary information or records of any current 
or former employer (or their subsidiaries and/or affiliates), whether in hard copy or electronic form, including, but not limited to, 
documents, files, disks, or other materials, all of which Executive is prohibited from using in connection with his employment 
with the Company.

 

12. Survivorship. The respective rights and obligations of the parties under this Agreement, including but not limited 
to those rights and obligations set forth in Sections 5, 6, 7, 8, and 9, shall survive termination of Executive’s employment and any 
termination of this Agreement for any reason to the extent necessary to the intended preservation of such rights and obligations.

 

13. Notices. All notices and other communications required or permitted under this Agreement or necessary or 
convenient in connection herewith shall be in writing and shall be deemed to have been given when hand-delivered or mailed by 
registered or certified mail, as follows (provided that notice of change of address shall be deemed given only when received): 

If to the Company, to: 

VM Consolidated, Inc. 
1150 North Alma School Road 
Mesa, AZ 85201 
Attn: General Counsel

If to Executive, to: 
 
The address of his principal residence most recently on file with the Company.
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or to such other names or addresses as the Company or Executive, as the case may be, shall designate by notice to each other 
person entitled to receive notices in the manner specified in this Section. 
 

14. Contents of Agreement, Amendment, Interpretation and Assignment. 

 

(a) This Agreement sets forth the entire understanding between the parties hereto with respect to the subject matter 
hereof and supersedes any and all prior agreements and understandings concerning Executive’s employment by the Company and 
cannot be changed or modified except upon written amendment approved by the Board and executed on its behalf by a duly 
authorized officer and by Executive.

 

(b) The headings in this Agreement are for convenience only, and both parties agree that they shall not be construed or 
interpreted to modify or affect the construction or interpretation of any provision of this Agreement. 

 

(c) All of the terms and provisions of this Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of and be 
enforceable by the respective heirs, executors, administrators, legal representatives, successors and assigns of the parties hereto, 
except that the duties and responsibilities of Executive under this Agreement are of a personal nature and shall not be assignable 
or delegable in whole or in part by Executive. 

 

15. Severability. If any provision of this Agreement or application thereof to anyone or under any circumstances is 
adjudicated by a court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid or unenforceable in any jurisdiction, such invalidity or 
unenforceability shall not affect any other provision or application of this Agreement that can be given effect without the invalid 
or unenforceable provision or application and shall not invalidate or render unenforceable such provision or application in any 
other jurisdiction. If any provision is held void, invalid or unenforceable with respect to particular circumstances, it shall 
nevertheless remain in full force and effect in all other circumstances.

 

16. Remedies Cumulative; No Waiver. No remedy conferred upon a party by this Agreement is intended to be 
exclusive of any other remedy, and each and every such remedy shall be cumulative and shall be in addition to any other remedy 
given under this Agreement or now or hereafter existing at law or in equity. No delay or omission by a party in exercising any 
right, remedy or power under this Agreement or existing at law or in equity shall operate or be construed as a waiver thereof, and 
any such right, remedy or power may be exercised by such party from time to time and as often as may be deemed expedient or 
necessary by such party in its sole discretion. 
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17. Withholding. All payments under this Agreement shall be made subject to applicable tax withholding, and the 
Company shall withhold from any payments under this Agreement all federal, state and local taxes as the Company is required to 
withhold pursuant to any law or governmental rule or regulation. Executive shall bear all expense of, and be solely responsible 
for, all federal, state and local taxes due with respect to any payment received under this Agreement other than such taxes that 
are, by their nature, obligations of the Company (for example, and without limitation, the employer portion of the Federal 
Insurance Contributions Act (FICA) taxes).

 

18. Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in counterparts, each of which is an original. It shall not be 
necessary in making proof of this Agreement or any counterpart hereof to produce or account for any of the other counterparts. 
Facsimile signatures and signatures transmitted by PDF shall be equivalent to original signatures.

 

19. Governing Law; Jurisdiction. This Agreement shall be governed by and interpreted under the laws of the State 
of Arizona without giving effect to (i) any conflicts-of-law provisions or choice of law provisions of the State of Arizona or of 
any other jurisdiction which provisions (if applied) would result in the application of the laws of any other jurisdiction other than 
of the State of Arizona, or (ii) canons of construction or principles of law that construe agreements against the draftsperson. Each 
party hereby irrevocably submits to the exclusive jurisdiction of the United States District Court located in Arizona or any state 
court located within such state, in respect of any claim, dispute, or controversy in any way arising out of or relating to this 
Agreement or Executive’s employment with the Company or the termination thereof, and each party hereby waives, and agrees 
not to assert as a defense in any action, suit or proceeding in which any such claim is made, that such party is not subject thereto 
or that such action, suit or proceeding may not be brought or is not maintainable in such courts or that the venue thereof may not 
be appropriate or that this Agreement may not be enforced in or by such courts. Any appellate proceedings shall take place in the 
appropriate courts having appellate jurisdiction over the courts set forth in this Section.

 

20. Section 409A. This Agreement is intended to comply with or otherwise be exempt from Section 409A and its 
corresponding regulations, to the extent applicable, and shall be so construed. Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the 
contrary, payments of “nonqualified deferred compensation” subject to Section 409A may only be made under this Agreement 
upon an event and in a manner permitted by Section 409A, to the extent applicable. For purposes of Section 409A, all payments 
of “nonqualified deferred compensation” subject to Section 409A to be made upon the termination of Executive’s employment 
under this Agreement may only be made upon a “separation from service” under Section 409A. Each payment made under this 
Agreement shall be treated as a separate payment and the right to a series of installment payments under this Agreement is to be 
treated as a right to a series of separate payments. In no event shall Executive, directly or indirectly, designate the calendar year of 
payment with respect to any amount that is 
  _______
  Executive’s Initials

 



“nonqualified deferred compensation” subject to Section 409A. All reimbursements provided under this Agreement that are 
“nonqualified deferred compensation” that is subject to Section 409A shall be made or provided in accordance with Section 
409A, including, where applicable, the requirements that (a) any reimbursement is for expenses incurred during the Employment 
Period (or during such other time period specified in this Agreement), (b) the amount of expenses eligible for reimbursement 
during a calendar year may not affect the expenses eligible for reimbursement in any other calendar year, (c) the reimbursement 
of an eligible expense will be made on or before the last day of the taxable year following the year in which the expense is 
incurred, and (d) the right to reimbursement is not subject to liquidation or exchange for another benefit. Nothing herein shall be 
construed as having modified the time and form of payment of any amounts or payments of “nonqualified deferred 
compensation” within the meaning Section 409A that were otherwise payable pursuant to the terms of any agreement between 
Company and Executive in effect prior to the date of this Agreement.

 

21. Section 280G of the Code. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement or any other plan, arrangement 
or agreement to the contrary, if any of the payments or benefits provided or to be provided by the Company or any of its affiliates 
to Executive or for Executive’s benefit pursuant to the terms of this Agreement or otherwise (the “Covered Payments”) constitute 
parachute payments (the “Parachute Payments”) within the meaning of Section 280G of the Code and, but for this Section 21, 
would be subject to the excise tax imposed under Section 4999 of the Code (or any successor provision thereto) or any similar tax 
imposed by state or local law or any interest or penalties with respect to such taxes (collectively, the “Excise Tax”), then prior to 
making the Covered Payments, a calculation shall be made comparing (i) the Net Benefit (as defined below) to Executive of the 
Covered Payments after payment of the Excise Tax to (ii) the Net Benefit to Executive if the Covered Payments are limited to the 
extent necessary to avoid being subject to the Excise Tax. Only if the amount calculated under (i) above is less than the amount 
under (ii) above will the Covered Payments be reduced to the minimum extent necessary to ensure that no portion of the Covered 
Payments is subject to the Excise Tax (that amount, the “Reduced Amount”). “Net Benefit” shall mean the present value of the 
Covered Payments net of all federal, state, local, foreign income, employment and excise taxes. 

 
(a) Any such reduction shall be made in accordance with Section 409A and the following:

(i) the Covered Payments consisting of cash severance benefits that do not constitute 
nonqualified deferred compensation subject to Section 409A shall be reduced first, in reverse chronological order; and
 

(ii) all other Covered Payments consisting of cash payments, and Covered Payments 
consisting of accelerated vesting of equity based awards to which Treas. Reg. §1.280G-1 Q/A-24(c) does not apply, and that in 
either case do not constitute nonqualified deferred compensation subject to Section 409A, shall be reduced second, in reverse 
chronological order;
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(iii) all Covered Payments consisting of cash payments that constitute nonqualified 
deferred compensation subject to Section 409A shall be reduced third, in reverse chronological order; and
 

(iv) all Covered Payments consisting of accelerated vesting of equity-based awards to 
which Treas. Reg. § 1.280G-1 Q/A-24(c) applies shall be the last Covered Payments to be reduced.
 

(b) Any determination required under this Section 21 shall be made in writing in good faith by an 
independent accounting firm selected by the Company and reasonably acceptable to the Executive (the “Accountants”). The 
Company and Executive shall provide the Accountants with such information and documents as the Accountants may reasonably 
request in order to make a determination under this Section 21. For purposes of making the calculations and determinations 
required by this Section 21, the Accountants may rely on reasonable, good-faith assumptions and approximations concerning the 
application of Section 280G and Section 4999 of the Code. The Accountants’ determinations shall be final and binding on the 
Company and Executive. The Company shall be responsible for all fees and expenses incurred by the Accountants in connection 
with the calculations required by this Section 21.
 

(c) It is possible that after the determinations and selections made pursuant to this Section 21 Executive 
will receive Covered Payments that are in the aggregate more than the amount intended or required to be provided after 
application of this Section 21 (“Overpayment”) or less than the amount intended or required to be provided after application of 
this Section 21 (“Underpayment”). 
 

(i) In the event that: (A) the Accountants determine, based upon the assertion of a 
deficiency by the Internal Revenue Service against either the Company or Executive that the Accountants believe has a high 
probability of success, that an Overpayment has been made or (B) it is established pursuant to a final determination of a court or 
an Internal Revenue Service proceeding that has been finally and conclusively resolved that an Overpayment has been made, then 
Executive shall pay any such Overpayment to the Company together with interest at the applicable federal rate (as defined in 
Section 7872(f)(2)(A) of the Code) from the date of Executive’s receipt of the Overpayment until the date of repayment.
 

(ii) In the event that: (A) the Accountants, based upon controlling precedent or substantial 
authority, determine that an Underpayment has occurred or (B) a court of competent jurisdiction determines that an 
Underpayment has occurred, any such Underpayment will be paid promptly by the Company to or for the benefit of Executive 
together with interest at the applicable federal rate (as defined in Section 7872(f)(2)(A) of the Code) from the date the amount 
should have otherwise been paid to Executive until the payment date. 

 

 

[Signature Page Follows.]

 
  _______
  Executive’s Initials

 



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned, intending to be legally bound, have executed this Agreement as of the date 
first above written.  
 

 
   
VM CONSOLIDATED, INC.
  
By:  /s/ David  Roberts 
Name:   David Roberts
Title:   Chief Executive Officer
Date:  January 12, 2022
 
 
 
/s/ Jonathan Baldwin
JONATHAN BALDWIN
 
Date: January 16, 2022
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Exhibit 10.31

AMENDED AND RESTATED EXECUTIVE EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT

THIS AMENDED AND RESTATED EXECUTIVE EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT (this “Agreement”) is entered into by 
and between VM Consolidated, Inc., a Delaware corporation having its principal offices in Mesa, Arizona and a wholly owned 
subsidiary of Verra Mobility Corporation (“VM Consolidated” and, together with Verra Mobility Corporation, the “Company”) 
and Adam Blake (the “Executive”).  This Agreement must be executed by Executive on or before October 20, 2021, and if so 
executed, shall become effective on, and is contingent upon the occurrence of, the Closing Date pursuant to, and as defined in, 
that certain Agreement and Plan of Merger (the “Merger Agreement”), by and between VM Consolidated, T2 Systems Parent 
Corporation, Merger Sub and the Representative (each as defined in the Merger Agreement).  If the Closing Date has not 
occurred on or before January 14, 2022 (the “Expiration Date”), then this Agreement shall become null and void, unless the 
Expiration Date is extended by mutual agreement of the parties.

WHEREAS, Executive currently serves as the President and Chief Executive Officer of T2 Systems, Inc., an Indiana 
corporation (“T2 Systems”) and wholly owned subsidiary of T2 Systems Parent Corporation, pursuant to that certain 
Employment Agreement (the “Prior Agreement”) dated [•], 2017 (sic); and

WHEREAS, the Company and Executive now wish to amend and restate the Prior Agreement in its entirety to provide for 
amended terms and conditions of Executive’s continued employment, pursuant to the terms and conditions set forth in this 
Agreement; and

WHEREAS, following the closing of the transaction described in the Merger Arrangement, the Company desires to employ 
Executive as President, T2 Systems, and Executive desires to serve in such capacity on behalf of the Company, upon the amended 
terms and conditions hereinafter set forth; and

WHEREAS, Executive acknowledges that he has had an opportunity to consider this Agreement and to consult with an 
independent advisor of his choosing with regard to the terms of this Agreement and enters into this Agreement voluntarily and 
with a full understanding of its terms. 

NOW, THEREFORE, the parties hereto, intending to be legally bound, hereby agree as follows: 
 

1. Employment.

 

1.1 Employment Period. Executive’s employment hereunder will commence on the Closing Date (the “Start Date”), 
subject to and contingent upon the Closing of the transaction described in the Merger Agreement.  Executive shall be employed 
by the Company (or a Company subsidiary or affiliate) on an “at will” basis, meaning either the Company or Executive may 
terminate Executive’s employment at any time, with or without cause or advance notice (such period of employment under this 
Agreement, the “Employment Period”). Any contrary representations that may have been made to Executive shall be superseded 
by this Agreement. This 
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Agreement shall constitute the full and complete agreement between Executive and the Company on the “at will” nature of 
Executive’s employment with the Company, which may be changed only in an express written agreement signed by Executive 
and a duly authorized officer of the Company. Executive’s rights to any compensation following a termination shall be only as set 
forth in Section 3 herein.

 

1.2 Public Announcement. The Company may, with advanced notice to Executive, publicly announce the existence of 
this Executive Employment Agreement at any time after it has been fully executed.  Prior to any public announcement made by 
the Company, Executive shall not make any public release, statement or communication concerning Executive’s acceptance of 
employment with the Company without the prior written approval of the Company’s Board of Directors (the “Board”) or its 
designee.  

 

1.3 Duties and Responsibilities. Commencing on the Start Date, Executive shall serve as President, T2 Systems, which 
is a Company Executive Vice President position, reporting to the Company’s Chief Executive Officer, and shall perform all duties 
and accept all responsibilities incident to such position and such other duties as may be reasonably assigned to Executive by the 
Company’s Chief Executive Officer consistent with such position. 

 

1.4 Extent of Services. Executive shall use his best efforts to carry out Executive’s duties and responsibilities under 
Section 1.3 hereof and, consistent with the other provisions of this Agreement, shall devote substantially all of Executive’s 
business time, attention and energy thereto. In the performance of his duties, Executive shall observe and adhere to all applicable 
Company policies and procedures as may be interpreted, adopted, revised or deleted from time to time in the Company’s sole
discretion. During the Employment Period, Executive may engage in volunteer services for or on behalf of such religious, 
educational, non-profit and/or other charitable organization as Executive may wish to serve, in all such cases not interfering with 
Executive’s responsibilities and performance of Executive’s duties hereunder. The foregoing shall not be construed as preventing 
Executive from owning less than one percent (1%) of the total outstanding shares of a publicly traded company.

 

1.5 Principal Location of Services. Executive shall perform his duties hereunder principally out of T2 Systems’ 
corporate headquarters (presently located in Indianapolis, Indiana) and shall undertake such travel within or outside of the United 
States as is necessary or advisable for the efficient operations of the Company and the performance of Executive’s duties 
hereunder, including such travel as is required to the Company’s corporate headquarters (presently located in Mesa, Arizona). 
Executive shall be reimbursed for his travel expenses in accordance with T2 Systems’ Travel & Expense Policy. 

2. Compensation and Benefits.
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2.1 Base Salary. For all the services rendered by Executive hereunder, the Company or T2 Systems shall pay or cause to 
be paid to Executive a base salary (“Base Salary”) at the annualized rate of three hundred forty thousand dollars ($340,000.00), 
subject to all required withholdings and authorized deductions and payable in installments at such times as the applicable 
payrolling entity pays its other employees.  Executive’s Base Salary is subject to annual review by the Compensation Committee 
of the Board (the “Compensation Committee”) consistent with other members of the Company’s executive team. 

 

2.2 Short-Term Discretionary Cash Bonus.  For each fiscal year during the Employment Period, Executive shall be 
eligible to receive an annual discretionary cash bonus (the “STIP Bonus”) for the services rendered by Executive under this 
Agreement, subject to the terms and conditions as set forth in the Verra Mobility Amended and Restated Short-Term Incentive
Plan (or any successor plan) (the “STIP Plan”). Executive’s STIP Bonus target shall be seventy five percent (75%) of the 
Executive’s Base Salary paid during the applicable plan year. The payment and amount of the STIP Bonus, if any, will be 
determined by the Compensation Committee based on Executive’s performance, T2 Systems’ financial performance and the 
Company’s financial performance, in each case measured against performance goals and financial targets established by the 
Compensation Committee.

 

2.3 Equity Compensation.  

 

(a) Equity Grants.  As soon as practical (but not more than two (2) business days) after the first Compensation 
Committee meeting immediately following Executive’s Start Date (or, if the Compensation Committee’s next such meeting 
occurs during a blackout period, then promptly after two (2) business days following the end of such blackout period), the 
Company will grant to Executive, pursuant to the terms of the Verra Mobility Corporation 2018 Equity Incentive Plan, as 
amended (the “Plan”), and applicable award agreements, the following equity grants:

(i) Time-Based Stock Option Grant. A grant of a non-
statutory stock option award under the Plan for a number of shares of Verra Mobility Class A Common Stock with a total value, 
as measured by the closing price of Verra Mobility’s Class A Common Stock on the Nasdaq Capital Market on the date of grant, 
equal to two-hundred seventy two thousand dollars ($272,000.00) (“Time-Based Option”), subject to the Plan and Executive 
Time-Based Option award agreement, which shall include an annual time-based vesting of twenty-five percent (25%) increments 
on each of the first four anniversaries of the grant date, including continued service through each applicable vesting date.  The 
Time-Based Option will have an exercise price per share equal to the Fair Market Value (as defined in the Plan) of a share of 
common stock of the Company on the date of grant.

 

(ii) Performance Share Unit Grant.  A grant of a 
performance share unit award under the Plan for a number of shares of Verra Mobility Class A Common Stock with a total value, 
as measured by the closing price of Verra Mobility’s Class A Common Stock on the 
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Nasdaq Capital Market on the date of grant, equal to two-hundred four thousand dollars ($204,000.00) (“PSUs”), subject to the 
Plan and Executive’s PSU award agreement, which shall include the following vesting schedule: the PSUs shall vest based on 
Relative Total Stockholder Return (“Relative TSR”), meaning the difference, measured in percentage points (rounded to the 
nearest 1/100 of 1%), for the three (3) year performance period between the Company Annualized TSR and the Comparator 
Group Median Annualized TSR, all as determined in accordance with Executive’s PSU award agreement, as well as Executive’s 
continued service through the end of the performance period.

 

(iii) Time-Based Restricted Stock Unit Grant.  A grant of 
a restricted stock unit award under the Plan for a number of shares of Verra Mobility Class A Common Stock with a total value, 
as measured by the closing price of Verra Mobility’s Class A Common Stock on the Nasdaq Capital Market on the date of grant, 
equal to two-hundred four thousand dollars ($204,000.00) (“RSUs”), subject to the Plan and Executive’s RSU award agreement, 
which shall include annual time-based vesting of twenty-five percent (25%) increments on each of the first four anniversaries of 
the grant date and the terms of the Plan and Executive’s RSU award agreement, including continued service through each 
applicable vesting date.
 

(iv) Onboarding Restricted Stock Unit Grant.  A grant of 
a restricted stock unit award under the Plan for a number of shares of Verra Mobility Class A Common Stock with a total value, 
as measured by the closing price of Verra Mobility’s Class A Common Stock on the Nasdaq Capital Market on the date of grant, 
equal to two-hundred thousand dollars ($200,000.00), which shall include annual time-based vesting of twenty-five percent 
(25%) increments on each of the first four anniversaries of the grant date and the terms of the Plan and Executive’s RSU award 
agreement, including continued service through each applicable vesting date.

 

(b) Future Equity Compensation.  During the Employment Period, Executive shall be eligible from time to 
time to participate in the Company’s equity incentive programs, subject to the discretion of the Board or its authorized 
designee(s). The terms and conditions of the vesting, forfeiture, and all other matters related to any equity compensation granted 
to Executive shall be subject to and governed by the Plan and the applicable award agreements and grant documents provided to 
Executive in connection with such equity compensation. 

 

2.4 Retirement and Welfare Plans. Executive shall be eligible to participate in employee retirement and welfare benefit 
plans of T2 Systems made available to T2 Systems employees generally, as such retirement and welfare plans may be in effect 
from time to time and subject to the eligibility requirements of the plans. Nothing in this Agreement shall prevent the Company 
from adopting, amending or terminating any T2 Systems’ retirement, welfare or other employee benefit plans or programs from 
time to time as the Company deems appropriate.
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2.5 Vacation. Executive shall be entitled to paid vacation pursuant to the terms and conditions of T2 Systems’ vacation 
and paid time off policies, as may be in effect from time to time.

 

2.6 Reimbursement of Expenses. Executive shall be eligible to be reimbursed for all customary and appropriate 
business-related expenses actually incurred by Executive and documented in accordance with T2 Systems’ policies as may be in 
effect from time to time.

 

3. Termination. Notwithstanding Section 1.1, Executive’s employment shall terminate, and the Employment Period 
shall terminate concurrently therewith, upon the occurrence of any of the following events:

 

3.1 Termination By Company Without Cause or Resignation by Executive for Good Reason. 

 

(a) The Company may terminate Executive’s employment at any time without Cause during the Employment 
Period from the position in which Executive is employed hereunder upon not less than thirty (30) days’ prior written notice to 
Executive. The Company shall have the discretion to terminate Executive’s employment during the notice period and pay 
continued Base Salary in lieu of notice. In addition, Executive may initiate a termination of employment under this Section 3.1(a) 
by resigning for Good Reason (in accordance with the notice and other provisions set forth in Section 3.7(b)). 

 

(b) Upon termination under Section 3.1(a), Executive shall receive (i) Executive’s accrued but unpaid Base 
Salary through the date of termination (payable on the  first (1st) payroll processing date after Executive’s date of termination or 
earlier if required by applicable law), (ii) any unreimbursed business expenses incurred by Executive and payable in accordance 
with the applicable expense reimbursement policies and Section 20 of this Agreement, and (iii) benefits earned, accrued and due 
under any qualified retirement plan or health and welfare benefit plan in which Executive was a participant in accordance with 
applicable law and the provisions of such plan (collectively, the amounts in this Section 3.1(b) are “Guaranteed Payments”). 

 

(c) If Executive’s employment terminates as described in Section 3.1(a) above and if, upon such termination,
Executive (i) executes within twenty-one (21) days (or forty-five (45) days to the extent required by applicable law) after 
presentation to the Executive of a written general release in a form provided by the Company releasing the Company from any 
and all claims (including with respect to all matters arising out of or related to Executive’s employment by the Company or the 
termination thereof), that he does not timely revoke (the “Release”), and (ii) 
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complies with the terms and conditions of the Release, including, without limitation, the terms and conditions of Sections 5, 6, 7, 
8  and 9 of this Agreement (which shall be incorporated in the Release by reference, Executive will be entitled to receive cash 
severance in an amount equal to twelve (12) months of Executive’s then-current Base Salary, plus a cash amount representing the 
total cost of the group healthcare premiums the Executive would have paid based on the coverages in effect at the time of 
Executive’s termination if the Executive elected continuation coverage under Title X of the Consolidated Omnibus Budget 
Reconciliation Act of 1985, as amended, for a period of twelve (12) months (the “Severance”). The Severance amount, less all 
required withholdings and authorized deductions, shall be paid in substantially equal installments consistent with the applicable 
regularly scheduled payroll procedures until the Severance has been paid in full, subject to Section 3.1(d) below. 

 

(d) Except as otherwise required by Section 3.8, the benefits described in Section 3.1(c) shall begin within 
sixty (60) days after Executive’s termination date, provided Executive has timely executed and not revoked the Release within 
such sixty (60) day period; and provided that notwithstanding any provision of this Agreement to the contrary, in no event shall 
the timing of Executive’s execution of the Release, directly or indirectly, result in Executive’s designating the calendar year of 
payment, and if a payment that is “nonqualified deferred compensation” as defined under Section 409A of the Code (“Section 
409A”) is subject to execution of the Release could be made in more than one taxable year of Executive, payment shall be made 
on the earliest date permitted under the terms of the Release in the later such taxable year. 

 

(e) Executive agrees and acknowledges that the Severance provided to Executive pursuant to Section 3.1(c) is 
in lieu of, and is not in addition to, any benefits to which Executive may otherwise be entitled under any Company or T2 Systems 
severance plan, policy, or program, other than the Guaranteed Payments.

 

(f) Executive agrees and acknowledges that if Executive fails to comply with Sections 5, 6, 7, 8 or 9 below, or 
any obligation set forth in the Release, all payments under Section 3.1(c) shall immediately cease and Executive shall be required 
to immediately repay any cash Severance previously paid by the Company.

 

3.2 Termination by Reason of Disability. Subject to applicable state and federal law, the Company may terminate 
Executive’s employment if Executive has been unable to perform the material duties of Executive’s position for a period of ninety 
(90) consecutive days or one hundred eighty (180) days in the aggregate during any twelve (12) month period because of physical 
or mental injury or illness (“Disability”). Executive agrees, in the event of a dispute under this Section 3.2 relating to Executive’s 
Disability, to submit to a physical examination by a licensed physician jointly selected by the Board and Executive. If the 
Company terminates Executive’s employment for Disability, Executive shall be entitled to receive the Guaranteed Payments as 
set forth in Section 3.1(b). Nothing in this Section 3.2 shall be construed to waive Executive’s rights, if any, 
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under existing law including, without limitation, the Family and Medical Leave Act of 1993, 29 U.S.C. §2601 et seq. and the 
Americans with Disabilities Act, 42 U.S.C. §12101 et seq.  

 

3.3 Termination by Reason of Death. If Executive dies while employed by the Company, all obligations of the parties 
hereunder shall terminate immediately. The Company shall pay to Executive’s executor, legal representative, administrator or 
designated beneficiary, as applicable, the Guaranteed Payments as set forth in Section 3.1(b). 

 

3.4 Termination by Company for Cause or Resignation by Executive without Good Reason.  The Company may 
terminate Executive’s employment at any time for Cause upon written notice to Executive and Executive may initiate a 
termination of employment by resigning without Good Reason upon not less than thirty (30) days’ prior written notice to the 
Company, and in any such event all payments under this Agreement shall cease except that the Company shall pay to Executive 
the Guaranteed Payments.  In such event, Executive will not receive the Severance or any other severance compensation or 
benefits.

 

3.5 Notice of Termination. Any termination of Executive’s employment by either party shall be communicated by a 
written notice of termination to the other party hereto given in accordance with Section 13. The notice of termination shall (a) 
indicate the specific termination provision in this Agreement relied upon; (b) briefly summarize the facts and circumstances 
deemed to provide a basis for a termination of employment and the applicable provision hereof, provided, that no basis need be 
provided by the Company in connection with a termination without Cause by the Company or a termination without Good 
Reason by Executive; and (c) specify the termination date in accordance with the requirements of this Agreement. 
Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the event that Executive gives a notice of termination to the Company, the Company may 
unilaterally accelerate the date of termination and such acceleration shall not result in a termination by the Company for purposes 
of this Agreement.

 

3.6 Cooperation with the Company After Termination. During any notice period preceding termination of Executive’s 
employment for any reason, Executive agrees to cooperate with the Company in all matters relating to the winding up of 
Executive’s pending work and the orderly transfer and transition of any such pending work to such other employees as may be 
designated by the Company.  Following termination of employment, Executive agrees to cooperate with the Company, at 
reasonable times and locales and upon reasonable prior notice, in (a) responding to requests by the Company for information 
concerning work performed by Executive during the period of Executive’s employment with the Company and with regard to any 
matters that relate to or arise out of the business of the Company during the period of his employment and about which Executive 
may have knowledge; and (b) any investigation or review that may be performed by the Company or any government authority or 
in connection with any litigation or proceeding in which the Company, or any of its direct or indirect subsidiaries and affiliates 
may become involved. Executive’s obligations under this Section 3.6 include (without limitation) (i) 
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making himself available to testify on behalf of the Company or any of its affiliates in any action, suit, or proceeding, whether 
civil, criminal, administrative, or investigative; (ii) assisting the Company or any of its affiliates in any such action, suit, or 
proceeding, by providing truthful and accurate information; (iii) and meeting and consulting with the Board or its representatives 
or counsel, or representatives or counsel to any of the Company’s affiliates as may be reasonably requested and after taking into 
account the Executive’s post-termination responsibilities and obligations.  The Company will reimburse Executive for any 
reasonable travel and out of pocket expenses incurred by Executive in providing such cooperation.

 

3.7 Definitions. 

 
(a) “Cause” shall mean: (i) Executive being charged with a felony or misdemeanor criminal offense, other than a 

misdemeanor traffic offense; (ii) Executive’s engagement in any act involving gross misconduct or dishonesty that is materially 
injurious to the Company or any of its affiliates; (iii) Executive’s willful and continued breach of, or failure to substantially 
perform under or comply with any of the material terms and covenants of any written agreement with the Company or any of its 
affiliates; (iv) Executive’s willful and continued breach of, or refusal or failure substantially to perform under, any policy or 
reasonable performance goals set by the Company or any of its affiliates with respect to Executive’s job duties or responsibilities, 
the operation of the Company's or any of its affiliates’ business and affairs, or the management of the Company’s or any of its 
affiliates’ employees; or (v) Executive commits or has committed a breach of any laws or regulations which may affect or relate 
to the conduct of the Company’s or any of its affiliates’ business; provided, however, that with respect to (iii) and (iv) above, 
Executive will be provided notice of any misconduct and/or breach constituting Cause and be given a reasonable opportunity (not 
to exceed thirty (30) consecutive days) to cure the misconduct and/or breach (unless such misconduct and/or breach is determined 
by the Company not to be susceptible to cure, in which case the termination shall be deemed to be immediate), and provided 
further that such cure period shall only be available for the first such act of misconduct and/or breach of the same or substantially 
similar type, and subsequent acts of misconduct and/or breach of the same or substantially similar type shall constitute Cause 
without regard to Executive’s subsequent cure of same.

 
(b)  “Good Reason” shall mean the occurrence of any of the following events or conditions, unless Executive has 

expressly consented in writing thereto: 

 

(i) A material reduction in Executive’s Base Salary;

 

(ii) The material diminution of Executive’s duties, responsibilities, or authority, provided that Good Reason 
shall not exist under this clause (ii) if such diminution of authority, duties and responsibilities is a result of the hiring of additional 
subordinates to assume some of Executive’s duties and responsibilities which are in fact, in the aggregate from time to time, not a 
material diminution of such authority, duties and responsibilities as President, T2 Systems;
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(iii) The Company requires that Executive’s principal office location be moved to a location more than fifty 
(50) miles from Executive’s principal office location immediately before the change without Executive’s prior consent; or

 

(iv) A material breach by the Company of this Agreement or any other written agreement between the 
parties.

 
For purposes of this Agreement, Executive shall not have Good Reason for termination unless (i) Executive reasonably 
determines in good faith that a “Good Reason” condition has occurred; (ii) Executive notifies the Company in writing of the 
occurrence of the Good Reason condition within sixty (60) days of such occurrence; (iii) Executive cooperates in good faith with 
the Company’s efforts, for a period not less than thirty (30) days following such notice (the “Cure Period”), to cure the condition; 
(iv) notwithstanding such efforts, the Good Reason condition continues to exist following expiration of the Cure Period as 
determined by the Company; and (v) Executive terminates his employment within sixty (60) days after the end of the Cure 
Period. If the Company cures the Good Reason condition during the Cure Period, Good Reason shall be deemed not to have 
occurred.

 
3.8 Required Postponement for Specified Executives. If Executive is considered a “specified employee” (as defined 

under Section 409A) and payment of any amounts under this Agreement is required to be delayed for a period of six (6) months 
after separation from service pursuant to Section 409A, payment of such amounts shall be delayed as required by Section 409A, 
and the accumulated postponed amounts shall be paid in a lump-sum payment within five (5) days after the end of the six (6) 
month period. If Executive dies during the postponement period prior to the payment of benefits, the amounts postponed on 
account of Section 409A shall be paid to the personal representative of Executive’s estate within thirty (30) days after the date of 
Executive’s death. 

 
4. Non-Exclusivity of Rights. Nothing in this Agreement shall prevent or limit Executive’s continuing or future 

participation in or rights under any benefit, bonus, incentive or other plan or program provided by the Company and for which 
Executive may qualify; provided, however, that if Executive becomes entitled to and receives the Severance provided for in 
Section 3 of this Agreement, Executive hereby waives Executive’s right to receive payments under any severance plan or similar 
program that would otherwise apply to Executive.  In the event of any inconsistency between this Agreement and any other plan, 
program or agreement in which Executive is a participant or a party, this Agreement shall control unless such other plan, program 
or agreement specifically refers to this Agreement as not so controlling.

5. Confidentiality. Executive agrees that Executive’s services to the Company are of a special, unique and 
extraordinary character, and that Executive’s position places Executive in a position of confidence and trust with the Company’s 
customers, clients, vendors, suppliers, contractors, business partners and employees. Executive also recognizes that Executive’s 
position with the Company will give Executive substantial access to Confidential Information (as defined 
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below), the unauthorized use or disclosure of which to competitors of the Company would cause the Company to suffer 
substantial and irreparable damage. Executive recognizes and agrees, therefore, that it is in the Company’s legitimate business 
interest to restrict Executive’s use of Confidential Information for any purposes other than the proper discharge of Executive’s 
employment duties for the Company, and to limit any potential appropriation of Confidential Information by Executive for the 
benefit of the Company’s competitors and/or to the detriment of the Company. Accordingly, Executive agrees as follows: 

 

(a) Executive shall not at any time, whether during or after the termination of Executive’s employment with the 
Company for any reason, reveal or disclose to any person or entity any of the trade secrets or confidential information of the 
Company, or the trade secrets or confidential information of any third party which the Company is under an obligation to keep 
confidential, including but not limited to trade secrets or confidential information respecting products, projects, designs, 
developmental or experimental work, computer programs, software, data bases, know-how, processes, formulas, customers, 
business partners, suppliers, business plans, marketing plans and strategies, finances, employee compensation, or personnel, 
information obtained from third parties under confidentiality agreements, and other business information (“Confidential 
Information”), except as may be required in the ordinary course of performing Executive’s duties as an employee of the 
Company, and Executive shall keep secret all Confidential Information entrusted to Executive and shall not use or attempt to use 
any such Confidential Information for personal gain or in any manner that may injure or cause loss, or could reasonably be 
expected to injure or cause loss, whether directly or indirectly, to the Company.

 

(b) The above restrictions shall not apply to: (i) information that at the time of disclosure is in the public domain 
through no fault of Executive; (ii) information received from a third party outside of the Company that was disclosed without a 
breach of any confidentiality obligation on the part of such third party; (iii) information released or disclosed by an authorized 
representative of the Company; or (iv) information that may be required by law or an order of any court, agency or proceeding to 
be disclosed; provided that Executive shall provide the Company prior written notice of any such required disclosure once 
Executive has knowledge of it and will help the Company to the extent reasonable to obtain an appropriate protective order. 
Moreover, the foregoing shall not limit Executive’s ability to (A) discuss the terms of Executive’s employment, wages and 
working conditions to the extent expressly protected by applicable law, (B) report possible violations of federal securities laws to 
the appropriate government enforcing agency and make such other disclosures that are expressly protected under federal or state 
“whistleblower” laws, or (C) respond to inquiries from, or otherwise cooperate with, any governmental or regulatory 
investigation or proceeding.

 

(c) Executive agrees that during Executive’s employment with the Company Executive shall not take, use or permit to 
be used any records, data, notes, reports, proposals, lists, correspondence, computer code, specifications, drawings, blueprints, 
sketches, flow diagrams, materials, equipment, devices or any other documents or property (including photocopies or other 
reproductions of any of the aforesaid items) or other materials of any nature constituting 
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Confidential Information or Developments (as defined below) otherwise than for the benefit of the Company. Executive further 
agrees that Executive shall not, after the termination of Executive’s employment for any reason, use or permit to be used any such 
records, data, notes, reports, proposals, lists, correspondence, computer code, specifications, drawings, blueprints, sketches, flow 
diagrams, materials, equipment, devices or any other documents or property (including photocopies or other reproductions of any 
of the aforesaid items), it being agreed that all of the foregoing shall be and remain the sole and exclusive property of the 
Company and that, immediately upon the termination of Executive’s employment for any reason, Executive shall deliver all of 
the foregoing, and all copies thereof, to the Company, at its main office. 

 

(d) Executive agrees that upon the termination of Executive’s employment with the Company for any reason, 
Executive shall not take or retain without written authorization any documents, files or other property of the Company, and 
Executive will return promptly to the Company any such documents, files or property in Executive’s possession or custody, 
including any copies thereof maintained in any medium or format. Executive recognizes that all documents, files and property 
that Executive has received and will receive from the Company (with the exception of documents relating to benefits to which 
Executive might be entitled following the termination of Executive’s employment with the Company), are for the exclusive use of 
the Company and employees who are discharging their responsibilities on behalf of the Company, and that Executive has no 
claim or right to the continued use, possession or custody of such documents, files or property following the termination of 
Executive’s employment with the Company for any reason. 

 

(e) Pursuant to the Defend Trade Secrets Act of 2016, Executive acknowledges that Executive will not have criminal 
or civil liability under any federal or state trade secret law for the disclosure of a trade secret that (i) is made (A) in confidence to 
a federal, state, or local government official, either directly or indirectly, or to an attorney and (B) solely for the purpose of 
reporting or investigating a suspected violation of law; or (ii) is made in a complaint or other document filed in a lawsuit or other
proceeding, if such filing is made under seal. 

 

(f) The obligations contained in this Section 5 are in addition to those set forth in Section 7(a) of the Prior Agreement, 
which expressly survive the amendment and restatement of the Prior Agreement.  

 

6. Intellectual Property. 

 

(a) If at any time or times during Executive’s employment with T2 Systems prior to the Start Date or thereafter with the 
Company (which, for purposes of this Section 6 shall be collectively referred to as the Company), Executive shall (either alone or 
with others) make, conceive, discover or reduce to practice any invention, modification, discovery, design, development, 
improvement, process, software program, work of authorship, documentation, 
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formula, data, technique, know-how, secret or intellectual property right whatsoever or any interest therein (whether or not 
patentable or registrable under copyright or similar statutes or subject to analogous protection) (herein called “Developments”) 
that (i) relates to the business of the Company or any of the products or services being developed, manufactured or sold by the 
Company or which may be used in relation therewith, (ii) results from tasks assigned to Executive by the Company or (iii) results 
from the use of premises or personal property (whether tangible or intangible) owned, leased or contracted for or by the 
Company, such Developments and the benefits thereof shall immediately become the sole and absolute property of the Company 
and its assigns, and Executive shall promptly disclose to the Company (or any persons designated by it) each such Development, 
and Executive hereby assigns any rights Executive may have or acquire in the Developments and benefits and/or rights resulting 
therefrom to the Company and its assigns without further compensation and shall communicate, without cost or delay, and 
without publishing the same, all available information relating thereto (with all necessary plans and models) to the Company.

 

(b) Upon disclosure of each Development to the Company, Executive will, during Executive’s employment and at any
time thereafter, at the request and cost of the Company, sign, execute, make and do all such deeds, documents, acts and things as 
the Company and its duly authorized agents may reasonably require: 

 

(i) to apply for, obtain and vest in the name of the Company alone (unless the Company otherwise directs) 
letters patent, copyrights or other analogous protection in any country throughout the world and when so obtained or vested to 
renew and restore the same; and

 

(ii) to defend any opposition proceedings in respect of such applications and any opposition proceedings or 
petitions or applications for revocation of such letters patent, copyright or other analogous protection. 

 

(c) In the event the Company is unable, after reasonable effort, to secure Executive’s signature on any letters patent,
copyright or other analogous protection relating to a Development, whether because of Executive’s physical or mental incapacity 
or for any other reason whatsoever, Executive hereby irrevocably designates and appoints the Company and its duly authorized 
officers and agents as Executive’s agent and attorney-in-fact for the sole purpose of acting for and on Executive’s behalf and in 
his stead to execute and file any such application or applications and to do all other lawfully permitted acts to further the 
prosecution and issuance of letters patent, copyright and other analogous protection thereon with the same legal force and effect 
as if executed by Executive. 
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(d) The obligations contained in this Section 6 are in addition to those set forth in Section 7(b) of the Prior Agreement, 
which expressly survive the amendment and restatement of the Prior Agreement.

 

7. Non-Competition.  During Executive’s employment with the Company and for a period of twelve (12) months 
after termination of Executive’s employment (for any reason whatsoever, whether voluntary or involuntary) (the “Non-
Competition Period”), Executive shall not, without the prior written approval of the Board, whether alone or as a partner, officer, 
director, consultant, agent, employee, representative or stockholder of any company, entity, or other commercial enterprise, or in 
any other capacity, directly or indirectly engage in the business of creating, developing, manufacturing, marketing, selling and 
otherwise providing products, hardware, software, materials, maintenance or support services relating to (i) traffic control 
solutions, which include without limitation, photo, speed and red light automated enforcement technologies, parking systems, 
electronic toll collection, toll and traffic violation enforcement management, automated revenue collection processing systems 
and software, and related transaction processing operations, or (ii) parking management or payment solutions (including but not 
limited to permitting, enforcement and Parking Revenue Control Systems (PARCS), software solutions, multi-space meters, and 
vehicle counting) or the provision of related services, or (iii) any other products or services offered, conducted, authorized or 
provided by the Company during the last twelve (12) months of Executive’s employment (the “Business”), in any geographic 
regions for which Executive was responsible, or performed duties, on behalf of the Company  during the last twelve (12) months 
of Executive’s employment, or in any geographic region in which the Company engaged in such business, or had developed plans 
to engage in such business, during the last twelve (12) months of Executive’s employment.

 

The foregoing Non-Competition prohibition shall not prevent Executive’s employment or engagement after termination of 
Executive’s employment by any company or business organization, so long as the activities of any such employment or 
engagement, in any capacity, do not involve work on matters related to the Business. Executive shall be permitted to own 
securities of a public company not in excess of five percent (5%) of any class of such securities and to own stock, partnership 
interests or other securities of any entity not in excess of five percent (5%) of any class of such securities and such ownership 
shall not be considered to be in competition with the Company. 

 

8. Non-Solicitation. During Executive’s employment with the Company and for a period of eighteen (18) months 
after termination of such employment (for any reason, whether voluntary or involuntary), Executive agrees that Executive will 
not: 

 

(a) directly or indirectly (i) solicit, entice or induce, or attempt to solicit, entice or induce, any customer or client to 
become a customer or client of any other person, firm or corporation with respect to any products or services then sold, offered, 
or under development by 
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the Company, or (ii) solicit, entice or induce, or attempt to solicit, entice or induce any customer, client, vendor, supplier, 
contractor, or business development partner to cease doing business with or any in way reduce or impair its business relationship 
with the Company, and Executive shall not approach or contact any such person, firm or corporation for such purpose or 
authorize or knowingly approve the taking of such actions by any other person; or

 

(b) directly or indirectly (i) solicit or recruit, or attempt to solicit or recruit, any employee, consultant or contractor of 
the Company to terminate employment or otherwise cease providing services to the Company or (ii) solicit or recruit, or attempt 
to solicit or recruit, any employee to work for or provide services to a third party other than the Company; and Executive shall not 
approach any such person for such purpose or authorize or knowingly approve the taking of such actions by any other person. 

 

9. Non-Disparagement.  During Executive’s employment and at all times following Executive’s termination of 
employment for any reason, Executive agrees not to make, or knowingly cause to be made, any public disparaging statement or 
public communication, written or oral, concerning the Company, or otherwise impugn the business or management of, damage 
the reputation of, or interfere with the normal operations of the Company or any of its respective past or present employees, 
executives, officers, directors, shareholders, members, managers, principals, or representatives.  The foregoing prohibitions 
include, without limitation, (i) non-verbal comments or statements made on the Internet, including without limitation, on blogs, 
forums, social media platforms, review or rating sites, or any Internet site or online message board (including but not limited to 
LinkedIn and GlassDoor); and (ii) comments or statements to any person or entity, including without limitation, to the press or 
media, the Company, or any entity, customer, client, vendor, supplier, consultant or contractor with whom the Company has, has 
had or may in the future have a business relationship, that would in any way adversely affect the conduct of the business of the 
Company (including but not limited to any business plans or prospects) or the reputation of the Company or the aforementioned 
persons (including without limitation former and present employees of the Company).  Nothing in this provision or elsewhere in 
this Agreement shall (a) affect the parties’ obligation to provide truthful information as may be required by law, rule, regulation 
or legal process, or as requested by any legal or regulatory authority, (b) unlawfully impair or interfere with Executive’s rights 
under Section 7 of the National Labor Relations Act, or (c) impair or in any way interfere with the Company’s ability to engage in 
intra-Company communications between or among officers, members of the Board, and/or their advisors related to Executive’s 
compensation, retention, and/or job performance.

 

10. General Provisions. 

 

(a) Executive acknowledges and agrees that, for purposes of Sections 5, 6, 7, 8 and 9 of this Agreement, the term 
“Company” shall include Verra Mobility Corporation, VM Consolidated, Inc., and their direct and indirect subsidiaries and 
affiliates. 
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(b) Executive acknowledges and agrees that the type and periods of restrictions imposed in Sections 5, 6, 7, 8 and 9 of 
this Agreement are fair, reasonable and no greater than necessary to protect the Company’s legitimate business interests, and that 
such restrictions are intended solely to protect the legitimate interests of the Company, including its Confidential Information, 
goodwill (client, customer, employee, and otherwise), and business interests, and shall not in any way prevent Executive from 
earning a livelihood or impose upon Executive undue hardship. Executive recognizes and agrees that the Company competes and 
provides its products and services in numerous jurisdictions throughout the word, and that Executive’s access to Confidential 
Information makes it both reasonable and necessary for the Company to restrict Executive’s post-employment activities in any 
geographic market in which the Company competes or is developing plans to compete, and in which Executive’s access to 
Confidential Information and other proprietary information could be used to the detriment of the Company and for which the 
Company would have no adequate remedy at law. In the event that any restriction set forth in this Agreement is determined by a 
court of competent jurisdiction to be overbroad or unenforceable with respect to scope, time (duration), or geographical coverage, 
Executive agrees that such restriction or restrictions shall be modified and narrowed, either by such court of competent 
jurisdiction, or by the Company, to the least extent possible under applicable law for such restriction or restrictions to be 
enforceable so as to preserve and protect the legitimate interests of the Company as described in this Agreement, and without 
negating or impairing any other restrictions or agreements set forth herein. 

 

(c) Executive acknowledges and agrees that should Executive breach any of the covenants, restrictions and agreements 
contained herein, irreparable loss and injury would result to the Company, monetary relief would not compensate for such breach, 
and damages arising out of such a breach would be difficult to fully ascertain. Executive therefore agrees that, in addition to any 
and all other remedies available at law or at equity, the Company shall be entitled to have the covenants, restrictions and 
agreements contained in Sections 5, 6, 7, 8 and 9 specifically enforced (including, without limitation, by temporary, preliminary, 
and permanent injunctions and restraining orders), without the need to post any bond or security, by any state or federal court in 
the State of Arizona having equity jurisdiction, and Executive agrees to be subject to the jurisdiction of such court and hereby 
waives any objection to the jurisdiction or venue thereof. 

 

(d) Executive agrees that if the Company fails to take action to remedy any breach by Executive of this Agreement or 
any portion of the Agreement, such inaction by the Company shall not operate or be construed as a waiver of such breach or of 
any subsequent or other breach by Executive of the same or any other provision, agreement or covenant.

 

(e) Executive acknowledges and agrees that the payments and benefits to be provided to Executive under this 
Agreement are provided as, and constitute sufficient and adequate, consideration for the covenants in Sections 5, 6, 7, 8 and 9 
hereof. 
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(f) Executive’s obligations under Sections 5, 6, 7, 8 and 9 shall survive the termination of Executive’s employment in 
accordance with their terms and shall remain in effect despite any change in position, title, duties, compensation, or other terms
and conditions of Executive’s employment. The existence of a claim by Executive against Company, whether predicated on this 
Agreement or otherwise, shall not relieve Executive of Executive’s obligations under Sections 5, 6, 7, 8 or 9, or make those 
obligations unenforceable.

 

11. Representations and Warranties. Executive represents and warrants the following to the Company, each of 
which Executive acknowledges is a material inducement to the Company’s willingness to enter into this Agreement and a 
material provision of this Agreement:

 

(a) Other than as previously disclosed in writing or provided to the Company, Executive is not a party to or bound by 
any employment agreements, restrictive covenants, non-compete restrictions, non-solicitation restrictions, and/or confidentiality 
or non-disclosure agreements with any other person, business or entity, or any agreement or contract requiring Executive to 
assign inventions to another party (each, a “Restrictive Agreement”), and Executive has conducted a thorough review of any and 
all agreements he may have entered into with any current or former employer or any other relevant party to ensure that this 
representation and warranty is correct.

 

(b) No Restrictive Agreement prohibits, restricts, limits or otherwise affects Executive’s employment with the 
Company as an executive or ability to perform any of Executive’s duties or responsibilities for the Company as contemplated 
herein. 

 

(c) Executive has not made any material misrepresentation or omission in the course of his communications with the 
Company regarding the Restrictive Agreements or other obligations to any current or former employer or other third party.

 
(d) Executive has not, directly or indirectly, removed, downloaded, or copied any confidential or proprietary 

information or records of any current or former employer (or their subsidiaries and/or affiliates) without the express written 
consent of an authorized representative of such entity, and shall not use or possess, as of the date Executive begins employment 
and at all times during his employment with the Company, any confidential or proprietary information or records of any current 
or former employer (or their subsidiaries and/or affiliates), whether in hard copy or electronic form, including, but not limited to, 
documents, files, disks, or other materials, all of which Executive is prohibited from using in connection with his employment 
with the Company.

 

12. Survivorship. The respective rights and obligations of the parties under this Agreement, including but not limited 
to those rights and obligations set forth in Sections 5, 6, 7, 8 
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and 9 hereof shall survive termination of Executive’s employment and any termination of this Agreement for any reason to the 
extent necessary to the intended preservation of such rights and obligations.

 

13. Notices. All notices and other communications required or permitted under this Agreement or necessary or 
convenient in connection herewith shall be in writing and shall be deemed to have been given when hand-delivered or mailed by 
registered or certified mail, as follows (provided that notice of change of address shall be deemed given only when received): 

If to the Company, to: 

VM Consolidated, Inc. 
1150 North Alma School Road 
Mesa, AZ 85201 
Attn: General Counsel

If to Executive, to the address of his principal residence most recently on file with the Company; or to such other names or 
addresses as the Company or Executive, as the case may be, shall designate by notice to each other person entitled to receive 
notices in the manner specified in this Section 13. 
 

14. Contents of Agreement, Amendment, Interpretation and Assignment. 

 

(a) This Agreement sets forth the entire understanding between the parties hereto with respect to the subject matter 
hereof and supersedes any and all prior agreements and understandings concerning Executive’s employment by the Company or 
its predecessors (including, for the avoidance of doubt, the Prior Agreement other than Section 7 of the Prior Agreement) and 
cannot be changed or modified except upon written amendment approved by the Board and executed on its behalf by a duly 
authorized officer and by Executive.

 

(b) The headings in this Agreement are for convenience only, and both parties agree that they shall not be construed or 
interpreted to modify or affect the construction or interpretation of any provision of this Agreement. 

 

(c) All of the terms and provisions of this Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of and be 
enforceable by the respective heirs, executors, administrators, legal representatives, successors and assigns of the parties hereto, 
except that the duties and responsibilities of Executive under this Agreement are of a personal nature and shall not be assignable 
or delegable in whole or in part by Executive. 
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15. Severability. If any provision of this Agreement or application thereof to anyone or under any circumstances is 
adjudicated by a court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid or unenforceable in any jurisdiction, such invalidity or 
unenforceability shall not affect any other provision or application of this Agreement that can be given effect without the invalid 
or unenforceable provision or application and shall not invalidate or render unenforceable such provision or application in any 
other jurisdiction. If any provision is held void, invalid or unenforceable with respect to particular circumstances, it shall 
nevertheless remain in full force and effect in all other circumstances.

 

16. Remedies Cumulative; No Waiver. No remedy conferred upon a party by this Agreement is intended to be 
exclusive of any other remedy, and each and every such remedy shall be cumulative and shall be in addition to any other remedy 
given under this Agreement or now or hereafter existing at law or in equity. No delay or omission by a party in exercising any 
right, remedy or power under this Agreement or existing at law or in equity shall operate or be construed as a waiver thereof, and 
any such right, remedy or power may be exercised by such party from time to time and as often as may be deemed expedient or 
necessary by such party in its sole discretion. 

 

17. Withholding. All payments under this Agreement shall be made subject to applicable tax withholding, and the 
Company shall withhold from any payments under this Agreement all federal, state and local taxes as the Company is required to 
withhold pursuant to any law or governmental rule or regulation. Executive shall bear all expense of, and be solely responsible 
for, all federal, state and local taxes due with respect to any payment received under this Agreement other than such taxes that 
are, by their nature, obligations of the Company (for example, and without limitation, the employer portion of the Federal 
Insurance Contributions Act (FICA) taxes).

 

18. Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in counterparts, each of which is an original. It shall not be 
necessary in making proof of this Agreement or any counterpart hereof to produce or account for any of the other counterparts. 
Facsimile signatures and signatures transmitted by PDF shall be equivalent to original signatures.

 

19. Governing Law; Jurisdiction. This Agreement shall be governed by and interpreted under the laws of the State 
of Arizona without giving effect to (i) any conflicts-of-law provisions or choice of law provisions of the State of Arizona or of 
any other jurisdiction which provisions (if applied) would result in the application of the laws of any other jurisdiction other than 
of the State of Arizona, or (ii) canons of construction or principles of law that construe agreements against the draftsperson. Each 
party hereby irrevocably submits to the exclusive jurisdiction of the United States District Court located in Arizona or any state 
court located within such state, in respect of any claim, dispute, or controversy in any way arising out of or relating to this 
Agreement or Executive’s employment with the Company or the termination thereof, and each 
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party hereby waives, and agrees not to assert as a defense in any action, suit or proceeding in which any such claim is made, that 
such party is not subject thereto or that such action, suit or proceeding may not be brought or is not maintainable in such courts or 
that the venue thereof may not be appropriate or that this Agreement may not be enforced in or by such courts. Any appellate 
proceedings shall take place in the appropriate courts having appellate jurisdiction over the courts set forth in this Section 19.

 

20. Section 409A. This Agreement is intended to comply with or otherwise be exempt from Section 409A and its 
corresponding regulations, to the extent applicable, and shall be so construed. Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the 
contrary, payments of “nonqualified deferred compensation” subject to Section 409A may only be made under this Agreement 
upon an event and in a manner permitted by Section 409A, to the extent applicable. For purposes of Section 409A, all payments 
of “nonqualified deferred compensation” subject to Section 409A to be made upon the termination of Executive’s employment 
under this Agreement may only be made upon a “separation from service” under Section 409A. Each payment made under this 
Agreement shall be treated as a separate payment and the right to a series of installment payments under this Agreement is to be 
treated as a right to a series of separate payments. In no event shall Executive, directly or indirectly, designate the calendar year of 
payment with respect to any amount that is “nonqualified deferred compensation” subject to Section 409A. All reimbursements 
provided under this Agreement that are “nonqualified deferred compensation” that is subject to Section 409A shall be made or 
provided in accordance with Section 409A, including, where applicable, the requirements that (a) any reimbursement is for 
expenses incurred during the Employment Period (or during such other time period specified in this Agreement), (b) the amount 
of expenses eligible for reimbursement during a calendar year may not affect the expenses eligible for reimbursement in any other 
calendar year, (c) the reimbursement of an eligible expense will be made on or before the last day of the taxable year following 
the year in which the expense is incurred, and (d) the right to reimbursement is not subject to liquidation or exchange for another 
benefit. Nothing herein shall be construed as having modified the time and form of payment of any amounts or payments of 
“nonqualified deferred compensation” within the meaning Section 409A that were otherwise payable pursuant to the terms of any 
agreement between Company and Executive in effect prior to the date of this Agreement.

 

21. Section 280G of the Code. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement or any other plan, arrangement 
or agreement to the contrary, if any of the payments or benefits provided or to be provided by the Company or any of its affiliates 
to Executive or for Executive’s benefit pursuant to the terms of this Agreement or otherwise (the “Covered Payments”) constitute 
parachute payments (the “Parachute Payments”) within the meaning of Section 280G of the Code and, but for this Section 21, 
would be subject to the excise tax imposed under Section 4999 of the Code (or any successor provision thereto) or any similar tax 
imposed by state or local law or any interest or penalties with respect to such taxes (collectively, the “Excise Tax”), then prior to 
making the Covered Payments, a calculation shall be made comparing (i) the Net Benefit (as defined below) to Executive of the 
Covered Payments after payment of the Excise Tax to (ii) the Net Benefit to Executive if the Covered Payments are limited to the 
extent necessary to avoid being subject to the Excise Tax. Only if the amount calculated under (i) above is less than the 
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amount under (ii) above will the Covered Payments be reduced to the minimum extent necessary to ensure that no portion of the 
Covered Payments is subject to the Excise Tax (that amount, the “Reduced Amount”). “Net Benefit” shall mean the present value 
of the Covered Payments net of all federal, state, local, foreign income, employment and excise taxes. 

 
(a) Any such reduction shall be made in accordance with Section 409A and the following:

(i) the Covered Payments consisting of cash severance benefits that do not constitute 
nonqualified deferred compensation subject to Section 409A shall be reduced first, in reverse chronological order; and
 

(ii) all other Covered Payments consisting of cash payments, and Covered Payments 
consisting of accelerated vesting of equity based awards to which Treas. Reg. §1.280G-1 Q/A-24(c) does not apply, and that in 
either case do not constitute nonqualified deferred compensation subject to Section 409A, shall be reduced second, in reverse 
chronological order;

 
(iii) all Covered Payments consisting of cash payments that constitute nonqualified 

deferred compensation subject to Section 409A shall be reduced third, in reverse chronological order; and
 

(iv) all Covered Payments consisting of accelerated vesting of equity-based awards to 
which Treas. Reg. § 1.280G-1 Q/A-24(c) applies shall be the last Covered Payments to be reduced.
 

(b) Any determination required under this Section 21 shall be made in writing in good faith by an 
independent accounting firm selected by the Company and reasonably acceptable to the Executive (the “Accountants”). The 
Company and Executive shall provide the Accountants with such information and documents as the Accountants may reasonably 
request in order to make a determination under this Section 21. For purposes of making the calculations and determinations 
required by this Section 21, the Accountants may rely on reasonable, good-faith assumptions and approximations concerning the 
application of Section 280G and Section 4999 of the Code. The Accountants’ determinations shall be final and binding on the 
Company and Executive. The Company shall be responsible for all fees and expenses incurred by the Accountants in connection 
with the calculations required by this Section 21.
 

(c) It is possible that after the determinations and selections made pursuant to this Section 21 Executive 
will receive Covered Payments that are in the aggregate more than the amount intended or required to be provided after 
application of this Section 21 (“Overpayment”) or less than the amount intended or required to be provided after application of 
this Section 21 (“Underpayment”). 
 

(i) In the event that: (A) the Accountants determine, based upon the assertion of a 
deficiency by the Internal Revenue Service against either the Company or Executive that the Accountants believe has a high 
probability of success, that an Overpayment has been made or (B) it is established pursuant to a final determination of a court or 
an Internal Revenue Service proceeding that has been finally and conclusively resolved that an Overpayment has been made, 
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then Executive shall pay any such Overpayment to the Company together with interest at the applicable federal rate (as defined in 
Section 7872(f)(2)(A) of the Code) from the date of Executive’s receipt of the Overpayment until the date of repayment.
 

(ii) In the event that: (A) the Accountants, based upon controlling precedent or substantial 
authority, determine that an Underpayment has occurred or (B) a court of competent jurisdiction determines that an 
Underpayment has occurred, any such Underpayment will be paid promptly by the Company to or for the benefit of Executive 
together with interest at the applicable federal rate (as defined in Section 7872(f)(2)(A) of the Code) from the date the amount 
should have otherwise been paid to Executive until the payment date. 

 

 

[Signature Page Follows.]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned, intending to be legally bound, have executed this Agreement as of the date 
first above written.  
 

 
   

COMPANY EMPLOYEE:

   

By: /s/ David Roberts By: /s/ Adam Blake

David Roberts Adam Blake 
Chief Executive Officer  

Dated: October 20, 2021 Dated: October 20, 2021

 

 



 Exhibit 10.32

EXECUTIVE EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT

THIS EXECUTIVE EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT (this “Agreement”) is entered into by and between VM 
Consolidated, Inc., a Delaware corporation having its principal offices in Mesa, Arizona and a wholly owned subsidiary of Verra 
Mobility Corporation (together with Verra Mobility Corporation, the “Company”), and Jon Keyser (the “Executive”).  This 
Agreement shall become effective on the date of the last signatory hereto, provided, however, that the Agreement is fully 
executed by November 8, 2022.  If the Agreement is not fully executed by November 8, 2022, it shall become null and void. 

WHEREAS, the Company desires to employ Executive as its Executive Vice President and Chief Legal Officer, and 
Executive desires to serve in such capacity on behalf of the Company, upon the terms and conditions hereinafter set forth; and

WHEREAS, Executive acknowledges that he has had an opportunity to consider this Agreement and to consult with an 
independent advisor of his choosing with regard to the terms of this Agreement, and enters into this Agreement voluntarily and 
with a full understanding of its terms. 

NOW, THEREFORE, the parties hereto, intending to be legally bound, hereby agree as follows: 
 

1. Employment.

 

1.1 Employment Period. Executive’s employment hereunder will commence on or before December 19, 2022 (the 
“Start Date”). Executive shall be employed by the Company (or a Company subsidiary or affiliate) on an “at will” basis; meaning 
either the Company or Executive may terminate Executive’s employment at any time, with or without cause or advance notice 
(such period of employment under the Agreement (the “Employment Period”). Any contrary representations that may have been 
made to Executive shall be superseded by this Agreement. This Agreement shall constitute the full and complete agreement 
between Executive and the Company on the “at will” nature of Executive’s employment with the Company, which may be 
changed only in an express written agreement signed by Executive and a duly authorized officer of the Company. Executive’s 
rights to any compensation following a termination shall be only as set forth in Section 3 herein.

 

1.2 Public Announcement.  Prior to any public announcement made by the Company, Executive shall not make any 
public release, statement or communication concerning Executive’s acceptance of employment with the Company without the 
prior written approval of the Company’s Board of Directors (the “Board”) or its designee. 

 

1.3 Duties and Responsibilities. Commencing on the Start Date, Executive shall serve as the Executive Vice President 
and Chief Legal Officer (“Title”) of the Company, reporting to 
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the Company’s Chief Executive Officer, and shall perform all duties and accept all responsibilities incident to such position and 
such other duties as may be reasonably assigned to Executive by the Company’s Chief Executive Officer consistent with such 
position.

 

1.4 Extent of Services. Executive shall use his best efforts to carry out Executive’s duties and responsibilities under 
Section 1.3 hereof and, consistent with the other provisions of this Agreement, shall devote substantially all of Executive’s 
business time, attention and energy thereto. In the performance of his duties, Executive shall observe and adhere to all applicable 
Company policies and procedures as may be interpreted, adopted, revised or deleted from time to time in the Company’s sole
discretion. During the Employment Period, Executive may engage in volunteer services for or on behalf of such religious, 
educational, non-profit and/or other charitable organization as Executive may wish to serve, in all such cases not interfering with 
Executive’s responsibilities and performance of Executive’s duties hereunder. The foregoing shall not be construed as preventing 
Executive from owning less than one percent (1%) of the total outstanding shares of a publicly traded company.

 

1.5 Principal Location of Services. Executive shall perform his duties hereunder principally out of the Company’s 
corporate headquarters (presently located in Mesa, Arizona) and shall undertake such travel within or outside of the United States 
as is necessary or advisable for the efficient operations of the Company and the performance of Executive’s duties hereunder.  For 
the first eight (8) months of Executive’s employment (the “Commuting Period”), Executive shall be permitted to telecommute 
from his current home location, with the expectation that Executive relocate to the greater Phoenix metropolitan area by the end 
of the Commuting Period (such relocation benefits to be governed by Section 2.8 of this Agreement).  During the Commuting 
Period, Executive shall be reimbursed for his travel expenses when required to attend meetings in person at the Company’s Mesa 
headquarters in accordance with the Company’s Travel & Expense Policy. 
 

1.6 Background Screening.  Executive’s employment is contingent upon completion of the Company’s Director & 
Officer Questionnaire to the Company’s satisfaction, verification of Executive’s eligibility to work in the United States, and the 
Company obtaining satisfactory results on a background investigation, reference check, and drug screening of Executive 
(collectively, the “Background Check”), which will be conducted at the Company’s expense and in compliance with applicable 
law.  If the results of Executive’s Background Check do not meet the Company’s satisfaction, the Agreement shall be null and 
void (even if executed by the Parties). 

  

2. Compensation and Benefits.

 

2.1 Base Salary. For all the services rendered by Executive hereunder, the Company shall pay or cause to be paid to 
Executive a base salary (“Base Salary”) at the annualized rate of Four Hundred Thousand Dollars ($400,000.00), subject to all 
required withholdings and 
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authorized deductions and payable in installments at such times as the Company customarily pays its other employees.  
Executive’s Base Salary is subject to annual review by the Compensation Committee (the “Compensation Committee”) of the 
Company’s Board of Directors (the “Board”) consistent with other members of the Company’s executive team. 

 

2.2 Short-Term Discretionary Cash Bonus. For each fiscal year during the Employment Period, Executive shall be 
eligible to receive an annual discretionary cash bonus (the “STIP Bonus”) for the services rendered by Executive under this 
Agreement, subject to the terms and conditions as set forth in the Verra Mobility Short-Term Incentive Plan (or any successor 
plan) (the “Incentive Plan”).  Executive’s STIP Bonus target shall be 70% of the Executive’s Base Salary for the applicable plan 
year as defined in the Incentive Plan. The payment and amount of the STIP Bonus, if any, will be determined by the 
Compensation Committee based on Executive’s individual performance and Company performance, in each case measured 
against performance goals and targets established by the Compensation Committee.

 

2.3 Equity Compensation. 
 

(a) As soon as practicable (but not more than two (2) business days after the first Compensation Committee 
meeting immediately following Executive’s Start Date (or, if the Compensation Committee’s next such meeting occurs during a 
blackout period, then promptly after two (2) business days following the end of such blackout period), the Company will grant to 
Executive, pursuant to the terms of the Verra Mobility Corporation 2018 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended (the “Equity Plan”), 
and applicable award agreements, the following equity grants:  
 

(i) Time-Based Stock Option Grant. A grant of a non-
statutory stock option award under the Equity Plan for a number of shares of Verra Mobility Class A Common Stock with a total 
value, as measured by the closing price of Verra Mobility’s Class A Common Stock on the Nasdaq Capital Market on the date of 
grant, equal to Two Hundred Thousand Dollars ($200,000.00) (the “Time-Based Option”), subject to the Equity Plan and 
Executive’s Time-Based Option award agreement, which shall include an annual time-based vesting of twenty-five percent (25%) 
increments on each of the first four anniversaries of the grant date, including continued service through each applicable vesting 
date. The Time-Based Option will have an exercise price per share equal to the Fair Market Value (as defined in the Equity Plan) 
of a share of common stock of the Company on the date of grant.

 

(ii) Performance Share Unit Grant. A grant of a 
performance share unit award under the Equity Plan for a number of shares of Verra Mobility Class A Common Stock with a total 
value, as measured by the closing price of Verra Mobility’s Class A Common Stock on the Nasdaq Capital Market on the date of 
grant, equal to One Hundred and Fifty Thousand Dollars ($150,000.00) (“PSUs”), subject to the Plan and Executive’s PSU award 
agreement, which shall include the following vesting schedule: the PSUs shall vest based on Relative Total 
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Stockholder Return (“Relative TSR”), meaning the difference, measured in percentage points (rounded to the nearest 1/100 of 
1%), for the three (3) year performance period between the Company Annualized TSR and the Comparator Group Median 
Annualized TSR, all as determined in accordance with Executive’s PSU award agreement, as well as Executive’s continued 
service through the end of the performance period. 

 

(iii) Time-Based Restricted Stock Unit Grant. A grant of a 
restricted stock unit award under the Equity Plan for a number of shares of Verra Mobility Class A Common Stock with a total 
value, as measured by the closing price of Verra Mobility’s Class A Common Stock on the Nasdaq Capital Market on the date of 
grant, equal to One Hundred and Fifty Thousand Dollars ($150,000.00) (“RSUs”), subject to the Equity Plan and Executive’s 
RSU award agreement, which shall include annual time-based vesting of twenty-five percent (25%) increments on each of the 
successive four anniversaries of the grant date and the terms of the Equity Plan and Executive’s RSU award agreement, including 
continued service through each applicable vesting date. 

 

(iv) Make-Whole Restricted Stock Unit Grant.  A grant of a 
restricted stock unit award under the Equity Plan for a number of shares of Verra Mobility Class A Common Stock with a total 
value, as measured by the closing price of Verra Mobility’s Class A Common Stock on the Nasdaq Capital Market on the date of 
grant, equal to Four Hundred and Fifty Thousand Dollars ($450,000.00) (the “Make-Whole RSUs”), which shall include annual 
time-based vesting of 33.33% increments on each of the three (3) anniversaries of the grant date and the terms of the Equity Plan 
and Executive’s RSU award agreement, including continued service through each applicable vesting date.  

 

(b) During the Employment Period, Executive shall be eligible from time to time to participate in the Company’s 
equity incentive programs, subject to the discretion of the Board or its authorized designee(s). The terms and conditions of the 
vesting, forfeiture, and all other matters related to any equity compensation granted to Executive shall be subject to and governed 
by the Equity Plan and the applicable award agreements and grant documents provided to Executive in connection with such 
equity compensation. 

2.4 Retirement and Welfare Plans. Executive shall be eligible to participate in employee retirement and welfare benefit 
plans of the Company (or a Company subsidiary or affiliate) made available to the Company’s (or its subsidiaries’ or affiliates’) 
senior level executives as a group or to its employees generally, as such retirement and welfare plans may be in effect from time 
to time and subject to the eligibility requirements of the plans. Nothing in this Agreement shall prevent the Company from 
adopting, amending or terminating any retirement, welfare or other employee benefit plans or programs from time to time as the 
Company deems appropriate.
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2.5 Vacation. Executive shall be entitled to paid vacation pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Company’s 
vacation and paid time off policies, as may be in effect from time to time.

 

2.6 Reimbursement of Expenses. Executive shall be eligible to be reimbursed for all customary and appropriate 
business-related expenses actually incurred by Executive and documented in accordance with the Company’s policies applicable 
to senior level executives and as may be in effect from time to time.

 

2.7 Sign-On Bonus.
 

(a) The Company shall provide a sign-on cash bonus of Two Hundred Thousand Dollars ($200,000.00) (the “Sign-
On Bonus”), subject to all required and authorized withholdings.  Such Sign-On Bonus shall be paid within 
thirty (30) days after the Executive’s Start Date. 

 

(b) Executive shall be obligated to immediately repay One Hundred Percent (100%) of the gross amount of the 
Sign-On Bonus if Executive is terminated by the Company for Cause (as defined in Section 3.7) or if Executive 
voluntarily terminates his employment other than for Good Reason (as defined in Section 3.7), and other than 
due to Disability (as defined in Section 3.2) or death, prior to the one-year anniversary of the Start Date. 
Executive shall be obligated to immediately repay Fifty Percent (50%) of the gross amount of the Sign-On 
Bonus if Executive is terminated by the Company for Cause (as defined in Section 3.7) or if Executive 
voluntarily terminates his employment other than for Good Reason (as defined in Section 3.7), and other than 
due to Disability (as defined in Section 3.2) or death, after the one-year anniversary of the Start Date but prior to 
the two-year anniversary of the Start Date.

 

2.8 Relocation Assistance.  In connection with Executive’s relocation to the greater Phoenix metropolitan area at the end
of the Commuting Period, Executive will be entitled to relocation assistance benefits, a summary of which is attached as Exhibit 
A hereto.  Executive shall be obligated to repay the actual expenses incurred by the Company related to shipment of household 
goods and home purchase expenses in the event Executive is terminated by the Company for Cause (as defined in Section 3.7) or 
if Executive voluntarily terminates his employment other than for Good Reason (as defined in Section 3.7), and other than due to 
Disability (as defined in Section 3.2) or death, within twenty (20) months after Executive’s Start Date. 
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3. Termination. Notwithstanding Section 1, Executive’s employment shall terminate, and the Employment Period 
shall terminate concurrently therewith, upon the occurrence of any of the following events:

 

3.1 Termination By Company Without Cause or Resignation by Executive for Good Reason. 

 

(a) The Company may terminate Executive’s employment at any time without Cause during the Employment 
Period from the position in which Executive is employed hereunder upon not less than thirty (30) days’ prior written notice to 
Executive. The Company shall have the discretion to terminate Executive’s employment during the notice period and pay 
continued Base Salary in lieu of notice. In addition, Executive may initiate a termination of employment under this Section 3.1 by 
resigning for Good Reason (in accordance with the notice and other provisions set forth in Section 3.7(b)).

 

(b) Upon termination under this Section 3.1, Executive shall receive (i) Executive’s accrued but unpaid Base 
Salary through the date of termination (payable with the first regular Company payroll processed after Executive’s date of 
termination or earlier if required by applicable law), (ii) any unreimbursed business expenses incurred by Executive and payable 
in accordance with the Company’s standard expense reimbursement policies and Section 20 of this Agreement, and (iii) benefits 
earned, accrued and due under any qualified retirement plan or health and welfare benefit plan in which Executive was a 
participant in accordance with applicable law and the provisions of such plan (collectively, the amounts in this Section 3.1(b) are 
“Guaranteed Payments”). 

 

(c) If Executive’s employment terminates as described in Section 3.1(a) above and if, upon such termination,
Executive (i) executes within twenty-one (21) days (or forty-five (45) days to the extent required by applicable law) after 
presentation to the Executive, that Executive does not timely revoke, a written general release in a form provided by the 
Company releasing the Company from any and all claims (including with respect to all matters arising out of or related to 
Executive’s employment by the Company or the termination thereof) (the “Release”), and (ii) complies with the terms and 
conditions of the Release, including, without limitation, the terms and conditions of Sections 5, 6, 7, 8, and 9 of this Agreement 
(which shall be incorporated in the Release by reference) below, Executive will be entitled to receive cash severance in an amount 
equal to twelve (12) months of Executive’s then-current Base Salary, plus a cash amount representing the total cost of the group 
healthcare premiums the Executive would have paid based on the coverages in effect at the time of Executive’s termination if the 
Executive elected continuation coverage under Title X of the Consolidated Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act of 1985, as 
amended, for a period of twelve (12) months (the “Severance”). The Severance amount, less all required withholdings and 
authorized deductions, shall be paid in substantially 
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equal installments consistent with the Company’s regularly scheduled payroll procedures until the Severance has been paid in 
full, subject to Section 3.1(d) below. 

 

(d) Except as otherwise required by Section 3.8, the benefits described in Section 3.1(c) shall begin within 
sixty (60) days after Executive’s termination date, provided Executive has timely executed and not revoked the Release within 
such sixty (60) day period; and provided that notwithstanding any provision of this Agreement to the contrary, in no event shall 
the timing of Executive’s execution of the Release, directly or indirectly, result in Executive’s designating the calendar year of 
payment, and if a payment that is “nonqualified deferred compensation” as defined under Section 409A of the Code (“Section 
409A”) is subject to execution of the Release could be made in more than one taxable year of Executive, payment shall be made 
on the earliest date permitted under the terms of the Release in the later such taxable year. 

 

(e) Executive agrees and acknowledges that the Severance provided to Executive pursuant to Section 3.1(c) is 
in lieu of, and is not in addition to, any benefits to which Executive may otherwise be entitled under any Company severance 
plan, guideline, policy, or program, other than the Guaranteed Payments.

 

(f) Executive agrees and acknowledges that if Executive fails to comply with Section 5, 6, 7, 8 or 9 below, or 
any obligation set forth in the Release, all payments under Section 3.1(c) shall immediately cease and Executive shall be required 
to immediately repay any cash Severance previously paid by the Company.

 

3.2 Termination by Reason of Disability. Subject to applicable state and federal law, the Company may terminate 
Executive’s employment if Executive has been unable to perform the material duties of Executive’s position for a period of ninety 
(90) consecutive days or one hundred eighty (180) days in the aggregate during any twelve (12) month period because of physical 
or mental injury or illness (“Disability”). Executive agrees, in the event of a dispute under this Section 3.2 relating to Executive’s 
Disability, to submit to a physical examination by a licensed physician jointly selected by the Board and Executive. If the 
Company terminates Executive’s employment for Disability, Executive shall be entitled to receive the Guaranteed Payments as 
set forth in Section 3.1(b). 

 

3.3 Termination by Reason of Death. If Executive dies while employed by the Company, all obligations of the parties 
hereunder shall terminate immediately. The Company shall pay to Executive’s executor, legal representative, administrator or 
designated beneficiary, as applicable, the Guaranteed Payments as set forth in Section 3.1(b). 
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3.4 Termination by Company for Cause or Resignation by Executive without Good Reason. The Company may 
terminate Executive’s employment at any time for Cause upon written notice to Executive and Executive may initiate a 
termination of employment by resigning without Good Reason upon not less than thirty (30) days’ prior written notice to the 
Company, and in any such event all payments under this Agreement shall cease upon the termination date except that the 
Company shall pay to Executive the Guaranteed Payments.  In such event, Executive will not receive the Severance or any other 
severance compensation or benefits.

 

3.5 Notice of Termination. Any termination of Executive’s employment by either party shall be communicated by a 
written notice of termination to the other party hereto given in accordance with Section 13. The notice of termination shall (a) 
indicate the specific termination provision in this Agreement relied upon; (b) briefly summarize the facts and circumstances 
deemed to provide a basis for a termination of employment and the applicable provision hereof, provided, that no basis need be 
provided by the Company in connection with a termination without Cause by the Company or a termination without Good 
Reason by Executive; and (c) specify the termination date in accordance with the requirements of this Agreement.

 

3.6 Cooperation with the Company After Termination. During any notice period preceding termination of Executive’s 
employment for any reason, Executive agrees to cooperate with the Company in all matters relating to the winding up of 
Executive’s pending work and the orderly transfer and transition of any such pending work to such other employees as may be 
designated by the Company.  Following termination of employment, Executive agrees to cooperate with the Company, at 
reasonable times and locales and upon reasonable prior notice, in (a) responding to requests by the Company for information 
concerning work performed by Executive during the period of Executive’s employment with the Company and with regard to any 
matters that relate to or arise out of the business of the Company during the period of his employment and about which Executive 
may have knowledge; and (b) any investigation, inquiry, audit, review, or the like that may be performed by the Company (or any 
subsidiary or affiliate) or any government authority or in connection with any litigation or proceeding in which the Company (or 
any subsidiary or affiliate) may become involved. Executive’s obligations under this Section 3.6 include (without limitation) (i) 
making himself available to testify on behalf of the Company or a Company subsidiary or affiliate in any action, suit, or 
proceeding, whether civil, criminal, administrative, or investigative; (ii) assisting the Company or a Company subsidiary or 
affiliate in any such action, suit, or proceeding, by providing truthful and accurate information; (iii) and meeting and consulting 
with the Board or its representatives or counsel, or representatives or counsel to any Company subsidiary or affiliate as may be 
reasonably requested and after taking into account the Executive’s post-termination responsibilities and obligations.  The 
Company will reimburse Executive for any reasonable travel and out of pocket expenses incurred by Executive in providing such 
cooperation.

 

3.7 Definitions. 
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(a) “Cause” shall mean: (i) Executive being charged with a felony or misdemeanor criminal offense, other than a 

misdemeanor traffic offense; (ii) Executive’s engagement in any act involving gross misconduct or dishonesty that is materially 
injurious to the Company or any Company subsidiary or affiliate; (iii) Executive’s willful and continued breach of, or failure to 
substantially perform under or comply with any of the material terms and covenants of any written agreement with the Company 
or any Company subsidiary or affiliate; (iv) Executive’s willful and continued breach of, or refusal or failure substantially to 
perform under, any policy or reasonable performance goals set by the Company or a Company subsidiary or affiliate with respect 
to Executive’s job duties or responsibilities, the operation of the Company's or its subsidiaries’ or affiliates’ business and affairs, 
or the management of the Company’s or employees of a Company subsidiary or affiliate; or (v) Executive commits or has 
committed a breach of any laws or regulations which may affect or relate to the conduct of the Company’s or the business of a 
Company subsidiary or affiliate; provided, however, that with respect to (iii) and (iv) above, Executive will be provided notice of 
any misconduct and/or breach constituting Cause and be given a reasonable opportunity (not to exceed thirty (30) consecutive 
days) to cure the misconduct and/or breach (unless such misconduct and/or breach is determined by the Company in its sole but 
reasonable discretion not to be susceptible to cure, in which case the termination shall be deemed to be immediate), and provided 
further that such cure period shall only be available for the first such act of misconduct and/or breach of the same or substantially 
similar type, and subsequent acts of misconduct and/or breach of the same or substantially similar type shall constitute Cause 
without regard to Executive’s subsequent cure of same.

 
(b)  “Good Reason” shall mean the occurrence of any of the following events or conditions, unless Executive has 

expressly consented in writing thereto: 

 

(i) A material reduction in Executive’s Base Salary;

 

(ii) The material diminution of Executive’s duties, responsibilities, or authority, provided that Good Reason 
shall not exist under this clause (ii) if such diminution of authority, duties and responsibilities is a result of the hiring of additional 
subordinates to assume some of Executive’s duties and responsibilities which are in fact, in the aggregate from time to time, not a 
material diminution of such authority, duties and responsibilities as Executive Vice President and General Counsel;

 

(iii) The Company requires that Executive’s principal office location be moved to a location more than fifty 
(50) miles from Executive’s principal office location immediately before the change without Executive’s prior consent; or

 

(iv) A material breach by the Company of this Agreement or any other written agreement between the parties.

 
  _______
  Executive’s Initials

 



 
For purposes of this Agreement, Executive shall not have Good Reason for termination unless (i) Executive reasonably 
determines in good faith that a “Good Reason” condition has occurred; (ii) Executive notifies the Company in writing of the 
occurrence of the Good Reason condition within sixty (60) days of such occurrence; (iii) Executive cooperates in good faith with 
the Company’s efforts, for a period not less than thirty (30) days following such notice (the “Cure Period”), to cure the condition; 
(iv) notwithstanding such efforts, the Good Reason condition continues to exist following expiration of the Cure Period as 
determined by the Company; and (v) Executive terminates his employment within sixty (60) days after the end of the Cure 
Period. If the Company cures the Good Reason condition during the Cure Period, Good Reason shall be deemed not to have 
occurred.

 
3.8 Required Postponement for Specified Executives. If Executive is considered a “specified employee” (as defined 

under Section 409A) and payment of any amounts under this Agreement is required to be delayed for a period of six (6) months 
after separation from service pursuant to Section 409A, payment of such amounts shall be delayed as required by Section 409A, 
and the accumulated postponed amounts shall be paid in a lump-sum payment within five (5) days after the end of the six (6) 
month period. If Executive dies during the postponement period prior to the payment of benefits, the amounts postponed on 
account of Section 409A shall be paid to the personal representative of Executive’s estate within thirty (30) days after the date of 
Executive’s death. 

 
4. Non-Exclusivity of Rights. Nothing in this Agreement shall prevent or limit Executive’s continuing or future 

participation in or rights under any benefit, bonus, incentive or other plan or program provided by the Company and for which 
Executive may qualify; provided, however, that if Executive becomes entitled to and receives the Severance provided for in 
Section 3 of this Agreement, Executive hereby waives Executive’s right to receive payments under any severance plan or similar 
program that would otherwise apply to Executive.  In the event of any inconsistency between this Agreement and any other plan, 
program or agreement in which Executive is a participant or a party, this Agreement shall control unless such other plan, program 
or agreement specifically refers to this Agreement as not so controlling.

 

5. Confidentiality. Executive agrees that Executive’s services to the Company are of a special, unique and 
extraordinary character, and that Executive’s position places Executive in a position of confidence and trust with the Company’s 
customers, clients, vendors, suppliers, contractors, business partners and employees. Executive also recognizes that Executive’s 
position with the Company will give Executive substantial access to Confidential Information (as defined below), the 
unauthorized use or disclosure of which to competitors of the Company would cause the Company to suffer substantial and 
irreparable damage. Executive recognizes and agrees, therefore, that it is in the Company’s legitimate business interest to restrict 
Executive’s use of Confidential Information for any purposes other than the proper discharge of Executive’s employment duties 
for the Company, and to limit any potential appropriation of Confidential Information by Executive for the benefit of the 
Company’s competitors and/or to the detriment of the Company. Accordingly, Executive agrees as follows: 
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(a) Executive shall not at any time, whether during or after the termination of Executive’s employment with the 
Company or any Company affiliate for any reason, reveal or disclose to any person or entity any of the trade secrets or 
confidential information of the Company, or the trade secrets or confidential information of any third party which the Company is 
under an obligation to keep confidential, including but not limited to trade secrets or confidential information respecting products, 
projects, designs, developmental or experimental work, computer programs, software, data bases, know-how, processes, 
formulas, customers, business partners, suppliers, business plans, marketing plans and strategies, finances, employee 
compensation, or personnel, information obtained from third parties under confidentiality agreements, and other business 
information (“Confidential Information”), except as may be required in the ordinary course of performing Executive’s duties as 
an employee of the Company, and Executive shall keep secret all Confidential Information entrusted to Executive and shall not 
use or attempt to use any such Confidential Information for personal gain or in any manner that may injure or cause loss, or could
reasonably be expected to injure or cause loss, whether directly or indirectly, to the Company.

 

(b) The above restrictions shall not apply to: (i) information that at the time of disclosure is in the public domain 
through no fault of Executive; (ii) information received from a third party outside of the Company that was disclosed without a 
breach of any confidentiality obligation on the part of such third party; (iii) information released or disclosed by an authorized 
representative of the Company; or (iv) information that may be required by law or an order of any court, agency or proceeding to 
be disclosed; provided that Executive shall provide the Company prior written notice of any such required disclosure once 
Executive has knowledge of it and will help the Company to the extent reasonable to obtain an appropriate protective order. 
Moreover, the foregoing shall not limit Executive’s ability to (A) discuss the terms of Executive’s employment, wages and 
working conditions to the extent expressly protected by applicable law, (B) report possible violations of federal securities laws to 
the appropriate government enforcing agency and make such other disclosures that are expressly protected under federal or state 
“whistleblower” laws, or (C) respond to inquiries from, or otherwise cooperate with, any governmental or regulatory 
investigation or proceeding.

 

(c) Executive agrees that during Executive’s employment with the Company Executive shall not take, use or permit to 
be used any records, data, notes, reports, proposals, lists, correspondence, computer code, specifications, drawings, blueprints, 
sketches, flow diagrams, materials, equipment, devices or any other documents or property (including photocopies or other 
reproductions of any of the aforesaid items) or other materials of any nature constituting Confidential Information or 
Developments (as defined below) otherwise than for the benefit of the Company. Executive further agrees that Executive shall 
not, after the termination of Executive’s employment for any reason, use or permit to be used any such records, data, notes, 
reports, proposals, lists, correspondence, computer code, specifications, drawings, blueprints, sketches, flow diagrams, materials,
equipment, devices or any other documents or property (including photocopies or other reproductions of any of the aforesaid 
items), it being agreed that all of the foregoing shall be and remain the sole and exclusive property of the Company and that, 
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immediately upon the termination of Executive’s employment for any reason, Executive shall deliver all of the foregoing, and all 
copies thereof, to the Company, at its main office. 

 

(d) Executive agrees that upon the termination of Executive’s employment with the Company for any reason, 
Executive shall not take or retain without written authorization any documents, files or other property of the Company, and 
Executive will return promptly to the Company any such documents, files or property in Executive’s possession or custody, 
including any copies thereof maintained in any medium or format. Executive recognizes that all documents, files and property 
that Executive has received and will receive from the Company (with the exception of documents relating to benefits to which 
Executive might be entitled following the termination of Executive’s employment with the Company), are for the exclusive use of 
the Company and employees who are discharging their responsibilities on behalf of the Company, and that Executive has no 
claim or right to the continued use, possession or custody of such documents, files or property following the termination of 
Executive’s employment with the Company for any reason. 

 

(e) Pursuant to the Defend Trade Secrets Act of 2016, Executive acknowledges that Executive will not have criminal 
or civil liability under any federal or state trade secret law for the disclosure of a trade secret that (i) is made (A) in confidence to 
a federal, state, or local government official, either directly or indirectly, or to an attorney and (B) solely for the purpose of 
reporting or investigating a suspected violation of law; or (ii) is made in a complaint or other document filed in a lawsuit or other
proceeding, if such filing is made under seal. 

 

6. Intellectual Property. 

 

(a) If at any time or times during Executive’s employment with the Company Executive shall (either alone or with 
others) make, conceive, discover or reduce to practice any invention, modification, discovery, design, development, 
improvement, process, software program, work of authorship, documentation, formula, data, technique, know-how, secret or 
intellectual property right whatsoever or any interest therein (whether or not patentable or registrable under copyright or similar 
statutes or subject to analogous protection) (herein called “Developments”) that (i) relates to the business of the Company or any 
of the products or services being developed, manufactured or sold by the Company or which may be used in relation therewith, 
(ii) results from tasks assigned to Executive by the Company or (iii) results from the use of premises or personal property 
(whether tangible or intangible) owned, leased or contracted for by the Company, such Developments and the benefits thereof 
shall immediately become the sole and absolute property of the Company and its assigns, and Executive shall promptly disclose 
to the Company (or any persons designated by it) each such Development, and Executive hereby assigns any rights Executive 
may have or acquire in the Developments and benefits and/or rights resulting therefrom to the Company and its assigns without 
further compensation and shall 
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communicate, without cost or delay, and without publishing the same, all available information relating thereto (with all 
necessary plans and models) to the Company.

 

(b) Upon disclosure of each Development to the Company, Executive will, during Executive’s employment and at any 
time thereafter, at the request and cost of the Company, sign, execute, make and do all such deeds, documents, acts and things as 
the Company and its duly authorized agents may reasonably require: 

 

(i) to apply for, obtain and vest in the name of the Company alone (unless the Company otherwise directs) 
letters patent, copyrights or other analogous protection in any country throughout the world and when so obtained or vested to 
renew and restore the same; and

 

(ii) to defend any opposition proceedings in respect of such applications and any opposition proceedings or 
petitions or applications for revocation of such letters patent, copyright or other analogous protection. 

 

(c) In the event the Company is unable, after reasonable effort, to secure Executive’s signature on any letters patent, 
copyright or other analogous protection relating to a Development, whether because of Executive’s physical or mental incapacity 
or for any other reason whatsoever, Executive hereby irrevocably designates and appoints the Company and its duly authorized 
officers and agents as Executive’s agent and attorney-in-fact for the sole purpose of acting for and on Executive’s behalf and in 
his stead to execute and file any such application or applications and to do all other lawfully permitted acts to further the 
prosecution and issuance of letters patent, copyright and other analogous protection thereon with the same legal force and effect 
as if executed by Executive. 

 

7. Non-Competition.  During Executive’s employment with the Company and for a period of twelve (12) months 
after termination of Executive’s employment (for any reason whatsoever, whether voluntary or involuntary) (the “Non-
Competition Period”), Executive shall not, without the prior written approval of the Board, whether alone or as a partner, officer, 
director, consultant, agent, employee, representative or stockholder of any company, entity, or other commercial enterprise, or in 
any other capacity, directly or indirectly engage in the business of developing, manufacturing, marketing, selling and otherwise 
providing products, hardware, software, materials and support services relating to traffic control solutions, which include without 
limitation, photo, speed and red light automated enforcement technologies, parking systems, electronic toll collection, toll and 
traffic violation enforcement management, automated revenue collection processing systems and software, related transaction 
processing operations for any of the foregoing, and any other products or services offered, conducted, authorized or provided by 
the Company during the last twelve (12) months of Executive’s employment (the “Business”), in any geographic regions for 
which Executive was responsible, or performed duties, on behalf of the 
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Company during the last twelve (12) months of Executive’s employment, or in any geographic region in which the Company 
engaged in such business, or had developed plans to engage in such business, during the last twelve (12) months of Executive’s 
employment. 

 

The foregoing Non-Competition prohibition shall not prevent Executive’s employment or engagement after termination of 
Executive’s employment by any company or business organization, so long as the activities of any such employment or 
engagement, in any capacity, do not involve work on matters related to the Business. Executive shall be permitted to own 
securities of a public company not in excess of five percent (5%) of any class of such securities and to own stock, partnership 
interests or other securities of any entity not in excess of five percent (5%) of any class of such securities and such ownership 
shall not be considered to be in competition with the Company. 

 

8. Non-Solicitation. During Executive’s employment with the Company and for a period of eighteen (18) months 
after termination of such employment (for any reason, whether voluntary or involuntary), Executive agrees that Executive will 
not: 

 

(a) directly or indirectly (i) solicit, entice or induce, or attempt to solicit, entice or induce, any customer or client to 
become a customer or client of any other person, firm or corporation with respect to any products or services then sold, offered, 
or under development by the Company, or (ii) solicit, entice or induce, or attempt to solicit, entice or induce any customer, client, 
vendor, supplier, contractor, or business development partner to cease doing business with or any in way reduce or impair its 
business relationship with the Company, and Executive shall not approach or contact any such person, firm or corporation for 
such purpose or authorize or knowingly approve the taking of such actions by any other person; or

 

(b) directly or indirectly (i) solicit or recruit, or attempt to solicit or recruit, any employee, consultant or contractor of 
the Company to terminate employment or otherwise cease providing services to the Company or (ii) solicit or recruit, or attempt 
to solicit or recruit, any employee to work for or provide services to a third party other than the Company; and Executive shall not 
approach any such person for such purpose or authorize or knowingly approve the taking of such actions by any other person. 

 

9. Non-Disparagement.  During Executive’s employment and at all times following Executive’s termination of 
employment for any reason, Executive agrees not to make, or knowingly cause to be made, any public disparaging statement or 
public communication, written or oral, concerning the Company, or otherwise impugn the business or management of, damage 
the reputation of, or interfere with the normal operations of the Company, or any of their respective past or present employees, 
executives, officers, directors, shareholders, members, managers, principals, or representatives.  The foregoing prohibitions 
include, without limitation, (i) 
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non-verbal comments or statements made on the Internet, including without limitation, on blogs, forums, social media platforms, 
review or rating sites, or any Internet site or online message board (including but not limited to LinkedIn, Indeed, Glassdoor, 
Facebook, and the like); and (ii) comments or statements to any person or entity, including without limitation, to the press or 
media, the Company, or any entity, customer, client, vendor, supplier, consultant or contractor with whom the Company has, has 
had or may in the future have a business relationship, that would in any way adversely affect the conduct of the business of the 
Company (including but not limited to any business plans or prospects) or the reputation of the Company, or the aforementioned 
persons (including without limitation former and present employees of the Company).  Nothing in this provision or elsewhere in 
this Agreement shall (a) affect the parties’ obligation to provide truthful information as may be required by law, rule, regulation 
or legal process, or as requested by any legal or regulatory authority, (b) unlawfully impair or interfere with Executive’s rights 
under Section 7 of the National Labor Relations Act, or (c) impair or in any way interfere with the Company’s ability to engage in 
intra-Company communications between or among officers, members of the Board, and/or their advisors related to Executive’s 
compensation, retention, and/or job performance.

 

10. General Provisions. 

 

(a) Executive acknowledges and agrees that, for purposes of Sections 5, 6, 7, 8, and 9 of this Agreement, the term 
“Company” shall include Verra Mobility Corporation, VM Consolidated, Inc., and their direct and indirect subsidiaries and 
affiliates.  

 

(b) Executive acknowledges and agrees that the type and periods of restrictions imposed in Sections 7 and 8 of this 
Agreement are fair, reasonable and no greater than necessary to protect the Company’s legitimate business interests, and that such 
restrictions are intended solely to protect the legitimate interests of the Company, including its Confidential Information, goodwill 
(client, customer, employee, and otherwise), and business interests, and shall not in any way prevent Executive from earning a 
livelihood or impose upon Executive undue hardship. Executive recognizes and agrees that the Company competes and provides 
its products and services in numerous jurisdictions throughout the world, and that Executive’s access to Confidential Information 
makes it both reasonable and necessary for the Company to restrict Executive’s post-employment activities in any geographic 
market in which the Company competes or is developing plans to compete, and in which Executive’s access to Confidential 
Information and other proprietary information could be used to the detriment of the Company and for which the Company would 
have no adequate remedy at law. In the event that any restriction set forth in this Agreement is determined by a court of 
competent jurisdiction to be overbroad or unenforceable with respect to scope, time (duration), or geographical coverage, 
Executive agrees that such restriction or restrictions shall be modified and narrowed, either by such court of competent 
jurisdiction, or by the Company, to the least extent possible under applicable law for such restriction or restrictions to be 
enforceable so as to preserve and protect the legitimate interests of the Company as described in this Agreement, and without 
negating or impairing any other restrictions or agreements set forth herein. 
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(c) Executive acknowledges and agrees that should Executive breach any of the covenants, restrictions and 
agreements contained herein, irreparable loss and injury would result to the Company, monetary relief would not compensate for 
such breach, and damages arising out of such a breach would be difficult to fully ascertain. Executive therefore agrees that, in 
addition to any and all other remedies available at law or at equity, the Company shall be entitled to have the covenants, 
restrictions and agreements contained in Sections 5, 6, 7, 8, and 9 specifically enforced (including, without limitation, by 
temporary, preliminary, and permanent injunctions and restraining orders), without the need to post any bond or security, by any 
state or federal court in the State of Arizona having equity jurisdiction, and Executive agrees to be subject to the jurisdiction of 
such court and hereby waives any objection to the jurisdiction or venue thereof. 

 

(d) Executive agrees that if the Company fails to take action to remedy any breach by Executive of this Agreement or 
any portion of the Agreement, such inaction by the Company shall not operate or be construed as a waiver of such breach or of 
any subsequent or other breach by Executive of the same or any other provision, agreement or covenant.

 

(e) The parties recognize that in order for Executive to perform duties on behalf of the Company, Executive needs to 
manage, use or otherwise have access to Confidential Information. Accordingly, the Company’s agreement to provide Executive 
with access to Confidential Information is subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, and Executive accepts all of the 
terms contained in Sections 5, 6, 7, 8 and 9 in exchange for being provided with such Confidential Information. Executive further 
acknowledges and agrees that his continued employment under the terms and with the payments and benefits to be provided to 
Executive under this Agreement constitute sufficient and adequate consideration for the covenants in Sections 5, 6, 7, 8, and 9 
hereof. 
 

(f) Executive’s obligations under Sections 5, 6, 7, 8 and 9 shall survive the termination of Executive’s employment in 
accordance with their terms and shall remain in effect despite any change in position, title, duties, compensation, or other terms
and conditions of Executive’s employment. The existence of a claim by Executive against Company, whether predicated on this 
Agreement or otherwise, shall not relieve Executive of Executive’s obligations under Sections 5, 6, 7, 8 or 9 or render them
unenforceable.

 

11. Representations and Warranties. Executive represents and warrants the following to the Company, each of 
which Executive acknowledges is a material inducement to the Company’s willingness to enter into this Agreement and a 
material provision of this Agreement:

 

(a) Other than as previously disclosed in writing or provided to the Company, Executive is not a party to or bound by 
any employment agreements, restrictive covenants, 
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non-compete restrictions, non-solicitation restrictions, and/or confidentiality or non-disclosure agreements with any other person, 
business or entity, or any agreement or contract requiring Executive to assign inventions to another party (each, a “Restrictive 
Agreement”), and Executive has conducted a thorough review of any and all agreements Executive may have entered into with 
any current or former employer or any other relevant party to ensure that this representation and warranty is correct.

 

(b) No Restrictive Agreement prohibits, restricts, limits or otherwise affects Executive’s employment with the 
Company as an executive or ability to perform any of Executive’s duties or responsibilities for the Company as contemplated 
herein. 

 

(c) Executive has not made any material misrepresentation or omission in the course of his communications with the 
Company regarding the Restrictive Agreements or other obligations to any current or former employer or other third party.

 
(d) Executive has not, directly or indirectly, removed, downloaded, or copied any confidential or proprietary 

information or records of any current or former employer (or their subsidiaries and/or affiliates) without the express written 
consent of an authorized representative of such entity, and shall not use or possess, as of the date Executive begins employment 
and at all times during his employment with the Company, any confidential or proprietary information or records of any current 
or former employer (or their subsidiaries and/or affiliates), whether in hard copy or electronic form, including, but not limited to, 
documents, files, disks, or other materials, all of which Executive is prohibited from using in connection with his employment 
with the Company.

 

12. Survivorship. The respective rights and obligations of the parties under this Agreement, including but not limited 
to those rights and obligations set forth in Sections 5, 6, 7, 8, and 9, shall survive termination of Executive’s employment and any 
termination of this Agreement for any reason to the extent necessary to the intended preservation of such rights and obligations.

 

13. Notices. All notices and other communications required or permitted under this Agreement or necessary or 
convenient in connection herewith shall be in writing and shall be deemed to have been given when hand-delivered or mailed by 
registered or certified mail, as follows (provided that notice of change of address shall be deemed given only when received): 

If to the Company, to: 

VM Consolidated, Inc. 
1150 North Alma School Road 
Mesa, AZ 85201 
Attn: Chief Executive Officer
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If to Executive, to: 
 
The address of his principal residence most recently on file with the Company.

 
or to such other names or addresses as the Company or Executive, as the case may be, shall designate by notice to each other 
person entitled to receive notices in the manner specified in this Section. 
 

14. Contents of Agreement, Amendment, Interpretation and Assignment. 

 

(a) This Agreement sets forth the entire understanding between the parties hereto with respect to the subject matter 
hereof and supersedes any and all prior offer letters, employment agreements and understandings concerning Executive’s 
employment by the Company and cannot be changed or modified except upon written amendment approved by the Board and 
executed on its behalf by a duly authorized officer and by Executive.

 

(b) The headings in this Agreement are for convenience only, and both parties agree that they shall not be construed or 
interpreted to modify or affect the construction or interpretation of any provision of this Agreement. 

 

(c) All of the terms and provisions of this Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of and be 
enforceable by the respective heirs, executors, administrators, legal representatives, successors and assigns of the parties hereto, 
except that the duties and responsibilities of Executive under this Agreement are of a personal nature and shall not be assignable 
or delegable in whole or in part by Executive. 

 

15. Severability. If any provision of this Agreement or application thereof to anyone or under any circumstances is 
adjudicated by a court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid or unenforceable in any jurisdiction, such invalidity or 
unenforceability shall not affect any other provision or application of this Agreement that can be given effect without the invalid 
or unenforceable provision or application and shall not invalidate or render unenforceable such provision or application in any 
other jurisdiction. If any provision is held void, invalid or unenforceable with respect to particular circumstances, it shall 
nevertheless remain in full force and effect in all other circumstances.

 

16. Remedies Cumulative; No Waiver. No remedy conferred upon a party by this Agreement is intended to be 
exclusive of any other remedy, and each and every such remedy shall be cumulative and shall be in addition to any other remedy 
given under this Agreement or now or hereafter existing at law or in equity. No delay or omission by a party in exercising any 
right, remedy or power under this Agreement or existing at law or in equity shall operate or be construed 
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as a waiver thereof, and any such right, remedy or power may be exercised by such party from time to time and as often as may 
be deemed expedient or necessary by such party in its sole discretion. 

 

17. Withholding. All payments under this Agreement shall be made subject to applicable tax withholding, and the 
Company shall withhold from any payments under this Agreement all federal, state and local taxes as the Company is required to 
withhold pursuant to any law or governmental rule or regulation. Executive shall bear all expense of, and be solely responsible 
for, all federal, state and local taxes due with respect to any payment received under this Agreement other than such taxes that 
are, by their nature, obligations of the Company (for example, and without limitation, the employer portion of the Federal 
Insurance Contributions Act (FICA) taxes).

 

18. Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in counterparts, each of which is an original. It shall not be 
necessary in making proof of this Agreement or any counterpart hereof to produce or account for any of the other counterparts. 
Facsimile signatures and signatures transmitted by PDF shall be equivalent to original signatures.

 

19. Governing Law; Jurisdiction. This Agreement shall be governed by and interpreted under the laws of the State 
of Arizona without giving effect to (i) any conflicts-of-law provisions or choice of law provisions of the State of Arizona or of 
any other jurisdiction which provisions (if applied) would result in the application of the laws of any other jurisdiction other than 
of the State of Arizona, or (ii) canons of construction or principles of law that construe agreements against the draftsperson. Each 
party hereby irrevocably submits to the exclusive jurisdiction of the United States District Court located in Arizona or the state 
courts of Maricopa County, Arizona, in respect of any claim, dispute, or controversy in any way arising out of or relating to this 
Agreement or Executive’s employment with the Company or the termination thereof, and each party hereby waives, and agrees 
not to assert as a defense in any action, suit or proceeding in which any such claim is made, that such party is not subject thereto 
or that such action, suit or proceeding may not be brought or is not maintainable in such courts or that the venue thereof may not 
be appropriate or that this Agreement may not be enforced in or by such courts. Any appellate proceedings shall take place in the 
appropriate courts having appellate jurisdiction over the courts set forth in this Section.

 

20. Section 409A. This Agreement is intended to comply with or otherwise be exempt from Section 409A and its 
corresponding regulations, to the extent applicable, and shall be so construed. Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the 
contrary, payments of “nonqualified deferred compensation” subject to Section 409A may only be made under this Agreement 
upon an event and in a manner permitted by Section 409A, to the extent applicable. For purposes of Section 409A, all payments 
of “nonqualified deferred compensation” subject to Section 409A to be made upon the termination of Executive’s employment 
under this Agreement may only be made upon a 
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“separation from service” under Section 409A. Each payment made under this Agreement shall be treated as a separate payment 
and the right to a series of installment payments under this Agreement is to be treated as a right to a series of separate payments. 
In no event shall Executive, directly or indirectly, designate the calendar year of payment with respect to any amount that is 
“nonqualified deferred compensation” subject to Section 409A. All reimbursements provided under this Agreement that are 
“nonqualified deferred compensation” that is subject to Section 409A shall be made or provided in accordance with Section 
409A, including, where applicable, the requirements that (a) any reimbursement is for expenses incurred during the Employment 
Period (or during such other time period specified in this Agreement), (b) the amount of expenses eligible for reimbursement 
during a calendar year may not affect the expenses eligible for reimbursement in any other calendar year, (c) the reimbursement 
of an eligible expense will be made on or before the last day of the taxable year following the year in which the expense is 
incurred, and (d) the right to reimbursement is not subject to liquidation or exchange for another benefit. Nothing herein shall be 
construed as having modified the time and form of payment of any amounts or payments of “nonqualified deferred 
compensation” within the meaning Section 409A that were otherwise payable pursuant to the terms of any agreement between 
Company and Executive in effect prior to the date of this Agreement.

 

21. Section 280G of the Code. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement or any other plan, arrangement 
or agreement to the contrary, if any of the payments or benefits provided or to be provided by the Company or a Company 
affiliate  to Executive or for Executive’s benefit pursuant to the terms of this Agreement or otherwise (the “Covered Payments”) 
constitute parachute payments (the “Parachute Payments”) within the meaning of Section 280G of the Code and, but for this 
Section 21, would be subject to the excise tax imposed under Section 4999 of the Code (or any successor provision thereto) or 
any similar tax imposed by state or local law or any interest or penalties with respect to such taxes (collectively, the “Excise 
Tax”), then prior to making the Covered Payments, a calculation shall be made comparing (i) the Net Benefit (as defined below) 
to Executive of the Covered Payments after payment of the Excise Tax to (ii) the Net Benefit to Executive if the Covered 
Payments are limited to the extent necessary to avoid being subject to the Excise Tax. Only if the amount calculated under (i) 
above is less than the amount under (ii) above will the Covered Payments be reduced to the minimum extent necessary to ensure 
that no portion of the Covered Payments is subject to the Excise Tax (that amount, the “Reduced Amount”). “Net Benefit” shall 
mean the present value of the Covered Payments net of all federal, state, local, foreign income, employment and excise taxes. 

 
(a) Any such reduction shall be made in accordance with Section 409A and the following:

(i) the Covered Payments consisting of cash severance benefits that do not constitute 
nonqualified deferred compensation subject to Section 409A shall be reduced first, in reverse chronological order; and
 

(ii) all other Covered Payments consisting of cash payments, and Covered Payments 
consisting of accelerated vesting of equity based awards to which Treas. Reg. §1.280G-1 
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Q/A-24(c) does not apply, and that in either case do not constitute nonqualified deferred compensation subject to Section 409A, 
shall be reduced second, in reverse chronological order;

 
(iii) all Covered Payments consisting of cash payments that constitute nonqualified 

deferred compensation subject to Section 409A shall be reduced third, in reverse chronological order; and
 

(iv) all Covered Payments consisting of accelerated vesting of equity-based awards to 
which Treas. Reg. § 1.280G-1 Q/A-24(c) applies shall be the last Covered Payments to be reduced.
 

(b) Any determination required under this Section 21 shall be made in writing in good faith by an 
independent accounting firm selected by the Company and reasonably acceptable to the Executive (the “Accountants”). The 
Company and Executive shall provide the Accountants with such information and documents as the Accountants may reasonably 
request in order to make a determination under this Section 21. For purposes of making the calculations and determinations 
required by this Section 21, the Accountants may rely on reasonable, good-faith assumptions and approximations concerning the 
application of Section 280G and Section 4999 of the Code. The Accountants’ determinations shall be final and binding on the 
Company and Executive. The Company shall be responsible for all fees and expenses incurred by the Accountants in connection 
with the calculations required by this Section 21.
 

(c) It is possible that after the determinations and selections made pursuant to this Section 21 Executive 
will receive Covered Payments that are in the aggregate more than the amount intended or required to be provided after 
application of this Section 21 (“Overpayment”) or less than the amount intended or required to be provided after application of 
this Section 21 (“Underpayment”). 
 

(i) In the event that: (A) the Accountants determine, based upon the assertion of a 
deficiency by the Internal Revenue Service against either the Company or Executive that the Accountants believe has a high 
probability of success, that an Overpayment has been made or (B) it is established pursuant to a final determination of a court or 
an Internal Revenue Service proceeding that has been finally and conclusively resolved that an Overpayment has been made, then 
Executive shall pay any such Overpayment to the Company together with interest at the applicable federal rate (as defined in 
Section 7872(f)(2)(A) of the Code) from the date of Executive’s receipt of the Overpayment until the date of repayment.
 

(ii) In the event that: (A) the Accountants, based upon controlling precedent or substantial 
authority, determine that an Underpayment has occurred or (B) a court of competent jurisdiction determines that an 
Underpayment has occurred, any such Underpayment will be paid promptly by the Company to or for the benefit of Executive 
together with interest at the applicable federal rate (as defined in Section 7872(f)(2)(A) of the Code) from the date the amount 
should have otherwise been paid to Executive until the payment date. 

 

 

[Signature Page Follows.]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned, intending to be legally bound, have executed this Agreement as of the date 

first above written.  
 

 
   
VM CONSOLIDATED, INC.
  
By:  /s/ David Roberts
Name:    David Roberts
Title:
Date:  

Chief Executive Officer
 November 8, 2022

   
/s/ Jon Keyser
JON KEYSER
 
November 7, 2022
Date:
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 



Exhibit 21.1
Subsidiaries of Verra Mobility Corporation

Entity  Jurisdiction of Formation
American Traffic Solutions Consolidated, L.L.C.  Delaware
American Traffic Solutions, Inc.  Kansas
American Traffic Solutions, L.L.C.  Delaware
ATS Processing Services, L.L.C.  Delaware
ATS Tolling LLC  Delaware
Auto Tag of America LLC  Delaware
Auto Titles of America LLC  Delaware
Canadian Highway Toll Administration Ltd.  British Columbia
Citation Collection Services, LLC  Indiana
Contractum Ltd  England & Wales
EPC Finance Limited  England & Wales
EPC Hungary Kft  Hungary
Euro Parking Collection PLC  England & Wales
Fourlev Limited  Israel
Greenlight Acquisition Corporation  Delaware
Greenlight Holding Corporation  Delaware
Greenlight Intermediate Holding Corporation  Delaware
Highway Toll Administration, LLC  New York
LaserCraft, Inc.  Georgia
Mulvihill ICS, Inc.  New York
Pagatelia, S.L.U.  Spain
PlatePass, L.L.C.  Delaware
Redflex Enforcement Services Pty Ltd  Victoria
Redflex Guardian, Inc.  Delaware
Redflex Holdings Pty Ltd  Victoria
Redflex Irish Investments Pty Ltd  Victoria
Redflex Pty Ltd  Victoria
Redflex Traffic Pty Ltd  Victoria
Redflex Traffic Systems (California), Inc.  California
Redflex Traffic Systems (Canada) Limited  British Columbia
Redflex Traffic Systems India Private Limited  India
Redflex Traffic Systems Limited  England & Wales
Redflex Traffic Systems Malaysia Sdn. Bhd.  Malaysia
Redflex Traffic Systems Pty Ltd  Victoria
Redflex Traffic Systems, Inc.  Delaware
Road Safety Operations Holdings Unlimited*  Ireland
RTS R&D Pty Ltd  Victoria
Sunshine State Tag Agency LLC  Delaware
T2 Holding Corp.  Delaware
T2 Systems Canada Inc.  British Columbia
T2 Systems Parent Corporation  Delaware
T2 Systems, Inc.  Indiana
Toll Buddy, LLC  Delaware

 



 
Traffic Operating Services (Saudi Arabia) LLC  Saudi Arabia
Transtoll Pty Ltd  Victoria
United Public Safety, Inc.  Pennsylvania
Verra Mobility B.V.  Netherlands
Verra Mobility Electrical Enterprises, Inc.  New York
Verra Mobility France SAS  France
Verra Mobility Holdings, LLC  Delaware
Verra Mobility Ireland Limited  Ireland
Violation Management Solutions, LLC  Delaware
VM Consolidated, Inc.  Delaware

 
* Where ownership of a subsidiary is less than 100% by Verra Mobility Corporation or a Verra Mobility Corporation subsidiary, such has been noted by an asterisk (*).
 



 
Exhibit 23.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

 

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the following Registration Statements:

(1) Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-230378) pertaining to the Verra Mobility Corporation 2018 Equity Incentive Plan;
 

(2) Registration Statement (Form S-1 No. 333-260822)

of our reports dated March 1, 2023, with respect to the consolidated financial statements and schedule of Verra Mobility Corporation, and the effectiveness 
of internal control over financial reporting of Verra Mobility Corporation, included in this Annual Report (Form 10-K) for the year ended December 31, 
2022.

 

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

Phoenix, Arizona

March 1, 2023

 

 
 



 
EXHIBIT 31.1

 
CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE

SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, David Roberts, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Verra Mobility Corporation;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make 
the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered 
by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material 
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the Registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The Registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined 
in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) 
and 15d-15(f)) for the Registrant and have:

a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our 
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the Registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us 
by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b. Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under 
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial 
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the Registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about 
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; 
and

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the Registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the Registrant’s 
most recent fiscal quarter (the Registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is 
reasonably likely to materially affect, the Registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The Registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, 
to the Registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the Registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are 
reasonably likely to adversely affect the Registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the Registrant’s 
internal control over financial reporting.

 
Date: March 1, 2023 By:/s/ David Roberts
  David Roberts

  
President, Chief Executive Officer, and Director
(Principal Executive Officer)

 
 
 



 
EXHIBIT 31.2

 
CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE

SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Craig Conti, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Verra Mobility Corporation;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make 
the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered 
by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material 
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the Registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The Registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined 
in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) 
and 15d-15(f)) for the Registrant and have:

a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our 
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the Registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us 
by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b. Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under 
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial 
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the Registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about 
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; 
and

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the Registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the Registrant’s 
most recent fiscal quarter (the Registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is 
reasonably likely to materially affect, the Registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The Registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, 
to the Registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the Registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are 
reasonably likely to adversely affect the Registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the Registrant’s 
internal control over financial reporting.

 
Date: March 1, 2023 By:/s/ Craig Conti
  Craig Conti

  
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

 
 
 



 
EXHIBIT 32.1

 
CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

 
I, David Roberts, President, Chief Executive Officer and Director of Verra Mobility Corporation, do hereby certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as 
adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to the best of my knowledge:

(1) the Annual Report on Form 10-K of Verra Mobility Corporation for the year ended December 31, 2022 (“Annual Report”), as filed with the 
Securities and Exchange Commission, fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; 
and

(2) the information contained in the Annual Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of 
Verra Mobility Corporation.

 
 
Date: March 1, 2023 By:  /s/ David Roberts
   David Roberts
   President, Chief Executive Officer, and Director
   (Principal Executive Officer)
 
 



 
EXHIBIT 32.2

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO

18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO

SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
 
I, Craig Conti, Chief Financial Officer of Verra Mobility Corporation, do hereby certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 
906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to the best of my knowledge:

(1) the Annual Report on Form 10-K of Verra Mobility Corporation for the year ended December 31, 2022 (“Annual Report”), as filed with the 
Securities and Exchange Commission, fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; 
and

(2) the information contained in the Annual Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of 
Verra Mobility Corporation.

 
 
Date: March 1, 2023 By:  /s/ Craig Conti
   Craig Conti
   Chief Financial Officer
   (Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)
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Purpose and Overview
This Insider Trading Policy (“Policy”) describes the standards of Verra Mobility Corporation and its subsidiaries (“VRRM” or the 
“Company”) on trading, and causing the trading of, the Company’s securities or securities of certain other publicly traded 
companies while in possession of confidential information. This Policy is divided into two parts: Part I prohibits trading in certain 
circumstances and applies to all directors, officers and employees and their respective immediate family members of the 
Company, and Part II imposes special additional trading restrictions and applies to all (i) directors of the Company, (ii) executive 
officers of the Company and (iii) the employees listed on Exhibit B hereto (collectively, the “Insiders”).

 

Part I
1. Applicability

This Policy applies to all employees, outside directors, officers, and consultants of Verra Mobility Corporation and 
its subsidiaries (“VRRM” or the “Company”), their family members and entities over which such individuals have 
or share voting or investment control. This Policy also applies to any other person who receives material 
nonpublic information from any VRRM insider or is otherwise designated by a VRRM Compliance Officer. For 
purposes of this policy, “family members” include people who live with you, or are financially dependent on you, 
and also include those whose transactions in securities are directed by you or are subject to your influence or 
control.

This Policy continues to apply following termination of employment or other relationship with VRRM until after the 
first trading day that any material 
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non-public information in your possession has become public or is no longer material. Each employee, officer, 
consultant and director is personally responsible for the actions of their family members and other persons with 
whom they have a relationship who are subject to this policy, including any pre-clearances required. 

2. General Policy: No Trading or Causing Trading while in Possession of Material Nonpublic Information
A. No person subject to this Policy may purchase or sell, or offer to purchase or sell, any Company security, whether or 

not issued by the Company, while in possession of material nonpublic information (as defined in Section 3 below) about 
the Company.

B. No person subject to this Policy who knows of any material nonpublic information about the Company may 
communicate that information to “tip” any other person, including family members and friends, or otherwise disclose 
such information without the Company’s authorization. Tipping includes passing information under circumstances that 
could suggest that you were trying to help another profit or avoid a loss. Exercise care when speaking with others who 
do not “need to know”, even if they are subject to this Policy, as well as when communicating with family, friends and 
others not associated with VRRM. To avoid the appearance of impropriety, refrain from discussing our business or 
prospects or making recommendations about buying or selling our securities or the securities of other companies with 
which we have a relationship. Inquiries about VRRM should be directed to our Investor Relations team.

C. No person subject to this Policy may purchase or sell any security of any other company, whether or not issued by the 
Company, while in possession of material nonpublic information about that company that was obtained in the course of 
his or her involvement with the Company. No person subject to this Policy who knows of any such material nonpublic 
information may communicate that information to, or tip, any other person, including family members and friends, or 
otherwise disclose such information without the Company’s authorization.

D. For compliance purposes, you should never trade, tip or recommend securities (or otherwise cause the purchase or 
sale of securities) while in possession of information that you have reason to believe is material and nonpublic unless 
you first consult with, and obtain the advance approval of, a Compliance Officer.

E. Insiders (as defined below) must “pre-clear” all trading in securities of the Company in accordance with the procedures 
set forth in Part II below.

3. Definitions
A. Material. Insider trading restrictions apply only if the information you possess is “material.” Materiality, however, 

involves a relatively low threshold. Information is generally regarded as “material” if it has market significance, that is, if 
its public dissemination is likely to affect the market price of securities, or if it otherwise is information that a reasonable 
investor would want to know before making an investment decision.

Information dealing with the following subjects is reasonably likely to be found material in particular situations:

i. significant changes in the Company’s prospects;
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ii. significant write-downs in assets or increases in reserves;

iii. developments regarding significant litigation or government agency investigations;

iv. liquidity problems;

v. changes in earnings estimates or unusual gains or losses in major operations;

vi. major changes in the Company’s management or the board of directors;

vii. changes in dividends;

viii. extraordinary borrowings;

ix. major changes in accounting methods or policies;

x. award or loss of a significant contract;

xi. cybersecurity risks and incidents, including vulnerabilities and breaches;

xii. changes in debt ratings;

xiii. proposals, plans or agreements, even if preliminary in nature, involving mergers, acquisitions, divestitures, 
recapitalizations, strategic alliances, licensing arrangements, or purchases or sales of substantial assets; and

xiv. offerings of Company securities.

Material information is not limited to historical facts but may also include projections and forecasts. With respect to a 
future event, such as a merger, acquisition or introduction of a new product, the point at which negotiations or product 
development are determined to be material is determined by balancing the probability that the event will occur against 
the magnitude of the effect the event would have on a company's operations or stock price should it occur. Thus, 
information concerning an event that would have a large effect on stock price, such as a merger, may be material even 
if the possibility that the event will occur is relatively small. When in doubt about whether particular nonpublic 
information is material, you should presume it is material. If you are unsure whether information is material, you 
should either consult a Compliance Officer before making any decision to disclose such information (other 
than to persons who need to know it) or to trade in or recommend securities to which that information relates 
or assume that the information is material.

B. Nonpublic. Insider trading prohibitions apply only when you possess information that is material and “nonpublic.” The 
fact that information has been disclosed to a few members of the public does not make it public for insider trading 
purposes. To be “public” the information must have been disseminated in a manner designed to reach investors 
generally, and the investors must be given the opportunity to absorb the information. Even after public disclosure of 
information about the Company, you must wait until the close of business on the first trading day after the information 
was publicly disclosed before you can treat the information as public.

Nonpublic information may include:
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i. information available to a select group of analysts or brokers or institutional investors; 

ii. undisclosed facts that are the subject of rumors, even if the rumors are widely circulated; and

iii. information that has been entrusted to the Company on a confidential basis until a public announcement of 
the information has been made and enough time has elapsed for the market to respond to a public 
announcement of the information (normally two trading days).

As with questions of materiality, if you are not sure whether information is considered public, you should either 
consult with a Compliance Officer or assume that the information is nonpublic and treat it as confidential.

4. Compliance Officer
Compliance Officer. The Company has designated Insider Trading Compliance Officers on Exhibit C (each, a “Compliance 
Officer”). The Company will amend Exhibit C from time to time as necessary to reflect the addition and departure of one or 
more Compliance Officers. The duties of each Compliance Officer will include the following:

A. administering, monitoring and enforcing compliance with the Policy;

B. responding to all inquiries relating to this policy and its procedures;

C. designating and announcing special trading blackout periods during which no Insiders may trade in Company 
securities;

D. providing copies of this Policy and other appropriate materials to all current and new directors, officers and employees, 
and such other persons as a Compliance Officer determines have access to material nonpublic information concerning 
the Company;

E. administering, monitoring and enforcing compliance with federal and state insider trading laws and regulations;

F. assisting in the preparation and filing of all required SEC reports relating to trading in Company securities, including 
without limitation Forms 3, 4, 5 and 144 and Schedules 13D and 13G;

G. maintaining as Company records originals or copies of all documents required by the provisions of this Policy or the 
procedures set forth herein, and copies of all required SEC reports relating to insider trading, including without limitation 
Forms 3, 4, 5 and 144 and Schedules 13D and 13G;

H. revising the Policy as necessary to reflect changes in federal or state insider trading laws and regulations; and

I. maintaining the accuracy of the list of Section 16 Individuals as set forth on Exhibit A and the list of Insider Employees 
as set forth on Exhibit B, and updating such lists periodically as necessary to reflect additions or deletions. 

Compliance Officers may designate one or more individuals who may perform the Compliance Officer’s duties in the event 
that a Compliance Officer is unable or unavailable to perform such duties. In fulfilling duties under this Policy, Compliance 
Officers shall be authorized to consult with VRRM outside counsel. 
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5. Only Designated Company Spokespersons Are Authorized to Disclose Material Nonpublic Information
U.S. federal securities laws prohibit the Company from selectively disclosing material nonpublic information. VRRM has 
established procedures for releasing material information in a manner that is designed to achieve broad dissemination of the 
information immediately upon its release. Employees may not, therefore, disclose material nonpublic information to anyone 
outside the Company, including family members and friends, other than in accordance with those established procedures. 
Any inquiries about the Company should be directed to our Investor Relations team. 

6. Employees Must Follow Company Guidelines Pertaining to Communications about the Company
Employees must follow the VRRM Disclosure and Regulation FD Policy and the communication guidelines contained in the 
Employee Handbook when communicating about the Company, including via social media or other Internet posting.

7. Other Transactions in Company Securities: Certain Exceptions to Policy
A. General Rule. This Policy applies to all transactions in VRRM securities, including any securities the Company may 

issue from time to time, such as preferred stock, warrants and convertible debentures, as well as to derivative securities 
relating to the Company’s stock, whether or not issued by VRRM, such as exchange-traded options.

B. Employee Benefit Plans.

i. Equity Incentive Plans. The trading restrictions set forth in this Policy do not apply to the exercise of stock 
options or other equity awards for cash, but do apply to all sales of securities acquired through the exercise of 
stock options or other equity awards, including “same-day sale” or cashless exercise of Company stock 
options. 

ii. Employee Stock Purchase Plans. The trading restrictions set forth in this Policy do not apply to purchases of 
Company securities pursuant to the employee’s advance instructions under employee stock purchase plans or 
employee benefit plans (e.g., a pension or 401(k) plan). However, no alteration to instructions regarding the 
level of withholding or the purchase of Company securities in such plans is permitted while in the possession of 
material nonpublic information. Any sale of securities acquired under such plans remains subject to the 
prohibitions and restrictions of this Policy.

8. Policy Violations Must Be Reported
Any person who violates this Policy, the Company’s Disclosure Policy or any federal or state laws governing insider trading, 
or knows of any such violation by any other person, must report the violation immediately to a Compliance Officer or the 
Audit Committee of VRRM Board of Directors, as the SEC can seek civil penalties against the Company, our directors and 
supervisory personnel for failing to take appropriate steps to prevent illegal trading. Upon learning of any such violation, a 
Compliance Officer or Audit Committee, in consultation with the Company’s legal counsel, will determine whether the 
Company should release any material nonpublic information or whether the Company should report the violation to the SEC 
or other appropriate governmental authority.
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9. VRRM May Suspend All Trading Activities by Employees
In order to avoid any questions and to protect both employees and the Company from any potential liability, from time to 
time VRRM may impose a “blackout” period during which some or all employees may not buy or sell VRRM securities. A 
Compliance Officer will impose such a blackout period if, in his or her judgment, there exists nonpublic information that 
would make trades by VRRM employees (or certain employees) inappropriate in light of the risk that such trades could be 
viewed as violating applicable securities laws. If you are made aware of such a blackout period, do not disclose its existence 
to anyone.

10. Violations of Insider Trading Laws or This Policy Can Result in Severe Consequences
A. Civil and Criminal Penalties. The consequences of prohibited insider trading or tipping can be severe. Persons violating 

insider trading or tipping rules may be required to disgorge profit made or loss avoided, pay civil penalties up to three 
times the profit made or loss avoided, face private action for damages, as well as be subject to criminal penalties, 
including up to 20 years in prison and fines of up to $5 million. The Company and/or the supervisors of the person 
violating the rules may also be required to pay major civil or criminal penalties.

B. Company Discipline. Violation of this Policy or federal or state insider trading laws by any director, officer or employee 
may subject the director to removal proceedings and the officer or employee to disciplinary action by the Company, 
including termination for cause.

11. This Policy is Subject to Revision
VRRM may change the terms of this Policy from time to time to respond to developments in law and practice, and will take 
steps to inform all affected persons of any material changes.

12. All Persons Must Acknowledge Their Agreement to Comply with This Policy
The Policy will be available on the Company’s internal website, delivered to all persons subject to this Policy upon adoption, 
and to all new other persons at the start of their employment or relationship with the Company. Upon first receiving a copy of 
the Policy or any revised versions, each such person must sign an acknowledgment that he or she has received a copy and 
agrees to comply with the Policy’s terms. This acknowledgment and agreement will constitute consent for VRRM to impose 
sanctions for violation of this Policy and to issue any necessary stop-transfer orders to the Company’s transfer agent to 
enforce compliance with this Policy.

Part II
13. Executive Officers, Directors and Certain Named Employees are Subject to Additional Restrictions

A. Section 16 Insiders. The Company has designated those persons listed on Exhibit A (each a “Section 16 Insider”) as 
the directors and executive officers who are subject to the reporting provisions and trading restrictions of Section 16 of 
the Exchange Act and the underlying rules and regulations promulgated by the SEC. The Company will 
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amend Exhibit A from time to time as necessary to reflect the addition and the resignation or departure of Section 16 
Insiders.

B. Insider Employees. VRRM has designated those persons listed on Exhibit B (“Insider Employees”) as employees who 
have frequent access to material nonpublic information concerning the Company. The Company will amend Exhibit B 
from time to time as necessary to reflect the addition and departure of Insider Employees.

C. Additional Restrictions. Because Section 16 Insiders and Insider Employees regularly possess material nonpublic 
information about the Company, and in light of the reporting requirements to which Section 16 Insiders are subject 
under Section 16 of the Exchange Act, Section 16 Insiders and Insider Employees are subject to the additional 
restrictions set forth in this Part II of the Policy. For purposes of this Policy, Section 16 Insiders and Insider Employees 
are each referred to as “Insiders.”

14. Trading Window
Any trade by an Insider that is subject to this Policy will be permitted only during an open “trading window.” Even when the 
window is open, all Company personnel are prohibited from trading in VRRM securities while in possession of material 
nonpublic information. The trading window generally opens following the close of trading on the first full trading day 
following the public issuance of the Company’s earnings release for the most recent fiscal quarter and closes at the close 
of trading fourteen (14) calendar days prior to the end of a fiscal quarter. In addition to when the trading window is 
scheduled to be closed, the Company may impose a special blackout period at its discretion due to the existence of material 
nonpublic information. A VRRM Compliance Officer will advise Insiders when the trading window opens and closes.

15. Trading Pre-Clearance Required
As part of this Policy, all purchases and sales of equity securities of the Company by Insiders, other than transactions that 
are not subject to the Policy or transactions pursuant to a Rule 10b5-1 trading plan authorized by a Compliance Officer, 
must be pre-cleared by a Compliance Officer. This requirement is intended to prevent inadvertent Policy violations, avoid 
trades involving the appearance of improper insider trading, facilitate timely Form 4 reporting by Section 16 Insiders and 
avoid transactions that are subject to disgorgement under Section 16(b) of the Exchange Act.

Requests for pre-clearance must be submitted on the form attached hereto as Exhibit D to a Compliance Officer at least two 
business days in advance of each proposed transaction. If the Insider does not receive a response from a Compliance 
Officer within 24 hours, the Insider must follow up to ensure that the message was received. Once the proposed transaction 
is pre-cleared, the Insider may proceed with it on the approved terms, provided that he or she complies with all other 
securities law requirements, such as Rule 144 and prohibitions regarding trading on the basis of inside information, and with 
any special trading blackout imposed by the Company prior to the completion of the trade.

16. Pre-Clearance of Rule 10b5-1 Plans Required
Pre-clearance is required for the establishment of a Rule 10b5-1 trading plan at least five full trading days prior to entry into 
or modification of the plan. However, pre-clearance 
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will not be required for individual transactions effected pursuant to a pre-cleared Rule 10b5-1 trading plan. All Section 16 
Insiders must immediately report the results of transactions effected under a trading plan to a Compliance Officer since they 
will be reportable on Form 4 within two business days following the execution of the trade, subject to an extension of not 
more than two additional business days where the Section 16 Insider is not immediately aware of the execution of the trade. 
Notwithstanding the foregoing, any transactions by a Compliance Officer who is also an Insider shall be subject to pre-
clearance by another Compliance Officer, the Chief Financial Officer or, in the event of their unavailability, the Chief 
Executive Officer.

17. Hardship Exemptions
Compliance Officers may, on a case-by-case basis, authorize a transaction in VRRM securities outside of the trading 
window (but in no event during a special blackout period) due to financial or other hardship. Any request for a hardship 
exemption must be in writing and must describe the amount and nature of the proposed transaction and the circumstances 
of the hardship. The Insider requesting the hardship exemption must also certify to a Compliance Officer within two business 
days prior to the date of the proposed trade that he or she is not in possession of material nonpublic information concerning 
VRRM. The existence of the foregoing procedure does not in any way obligate a Compliance Officer to approve any 
hardship exemption requested by an Insider.

18. Brokers
All Insiders must ensure that their broker does not to execute any transaction for the Insider (other than under a previously 
authorized Rule 10b5-1 trading plan) until the broker has verified with a Compliance Officer that the transaction has been 
precleared.

19. Reporting of Transactions Required
To facilitate timely reporting under Section 16 of the Exchange Act, Section 16 Insiders are required to on the same day as 
the trade date, or, with respect to transactions effected pursuant to a Rule 10b5-1 plan, on the day the Insider is advised of 
the terms of the transaction, (a) report the details of each transaction to a Compliance Officer and (b) arrange with persons 
whose trades must be reported by the Insider under Section 16 (such as immediate family members living in the Insider’s 
household) to immediately report directly to the Company and to the Insider the following transaction details:

 Transaction date (trade date).

 Number of shares involved. 

 Price per share at which the transaction was executed (before addition or deduction of brokerage commission and 
other transaction fees).

 For stock option exercises, the specific option exercised. 

 Contact information for the broker who executed the transaction.

The transaction details must be reported to a Compliance Officer, with copies to VRRM personnel who will assist the 
Section 16 Insider in preparing his or her Form 4.
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20. Oversight by the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee
The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee (the “Committee”) of the Board of Directors will be responsible for 
monitoring and recommending any modification to this Policy, if necessary or advisable, to the Board of Directors. The 
Committee will also review, at least annually, those individuals who are deemed to be executive officers for purposes of Section 
16 and will recommend any changes regarding such status to the Board of Directors.

21. Named Employees Considered Insiders
The Committee will review, at least annually, those individuals deemed to be “Insiders” for purposes of this Part II. Insiders shall 
include persons subject to Section 16 and such other persons as the Committee deems to be Insiders. Generally, Insiders shall 
be any person who by function of their employment is consistently in possession of material nonpublic information or performs 
an operational role, such as head of a division or business unit, that is material to the Company as a whole.

22. Special Guidelines for 10b5-1 Transactions
Notwithstanding the foregoing, an Insider will not be deemed to have violated this Policy for transactions that meet all of the 
enumerated criteria below:

A. Plan Requirements and Cooling-Off Periods. The transaction must be made pursuant to a documented plan (the 
“Plan”) entered into in good faith that complies with all provisions of Rule 10b5‑1 (the “Rule”), including, without 
limitation:

i. Each Plan adopted by a Section 16 Insider must provide that trading under the plan cannot begin until the 
later of: (a) ninety days after the adoption of the Plan; or (b) two business days following the disclosure of the 
Company’s financial results in a Form 10-Q or 10-K for the fiscal quarter in which the plan was adopted 
(subject to a maximum of 120 days after adoption of the Plan).

ii. Each Plan adopted by a Section 16 Insider must include a representation in such Plan certifying, at the time 
of adoption, that the adopting Section 16 Insider: (a) is not aware of material non-public information about the 
Company or its securities; and (b) is adopting the plan in good faith and not as part of a plan or scheme to 
evade the prohibitions of the Rule.

iii. Each Plan adopted by a person other than a Section 16 Insider must provide that trading under the plan 
cannot begin until the later of: (a) thirty days after the adoption of the Plan; or (b) two business days following 
the disclosure of the Company’s financial results in a Form 10-Q or 10-K for the fiscal quarter in which the plan 
was adopted.

iv. Each Plan must:

a. specify the amount of securities to be purchased or sold and the price at which and the date on which the 
securities are to be purchased or sold, or include a written formula or algorithm, or computer program, for 
determining the amount of securities to be purchased or sold and the price at which and the date on which 
the securities were to be purchased or sold;
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b. prohibit the Insider and any other person who possesses material nonpublic information from exercising 
any subsequent influence over how, when, or whether to effect purchases or sales;

c. provide appropriate mechanisms to ensure that the Insider complies with all rules and regulations, 
including Rule 144, Rule 701 and Section 16(b), applicable to securities transactions under the Plan by the 
Insider; and

d. provide for the suspension of all transactions under such Plan in the event that the Company, in its sole 
discretion, deems such suspension necessary and advisable, including suspensions necessary to comply 
with trading restrictions imposed in connection with any lock-up agreement required in connection with a 
securities issuance transaction or other similar events.

B. Authorization by Compliance Officer. Each Plan must be authorized prior to the effective time of any transactions under 
such Plan by the Company’s Compliance Officer. The Company reserves the right to withhold authorization of any Plan 
that a Compliance Officer determines, in his or her sole discretion,

i. fails to comply with the Rule, or

ii. would permit a transaction to occur before the cooling off periods set forth in Section 22A, or

iii. is established during a “closed” window period or a special “blackout” period, or the Insider is unable to 
represent to the satisfaction of the Compliance Officer that the Insider is not in possession of material nonpublic 
information regarding the Company, or

iv. lacks appropriate mechanisms to ensure that the Insider complies with all rules and regulations, including 
Rule 144, Rule 701, Form S-8, and Section 16 of the Exchange Act, applicable to securities transactions by the 
Insider, or

v. does not provide the Company the right to suspend all transactions under the Plan if the Compliance Officer, 
in his or her sole discretion, deems such suspension necessary or advisable, including suspensions to comply 
with any “lock-up” agreement the Company agrees to in connection with a financing or other similar events, or

vi. exposes the Company or the Insider to liability under any other applicable state or federal rule, regulation or 
law, or

vii. creates any appearance of impropriety, or

viii. fails to meet the guidelines established by the Company, or

ix. otherwise fails to satisfy review by the Compliance Officer for any reason, in the sole discretion of the 
Compliance Officer.

C. Timing for Establishing New Plan. Each Plan must be established at a time when the trading window is open, and the 
person is not in possession of material nonpublic information.

D. Special Certification for Section 16 Insiders. Prior to adopting a Plan, any Section 16 Insider must submit the 
certification on the from attached hereto as Exhibit E to the 
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Company’s Compliance Officer at least two business days in advance of adopting such Plan.

E. Limitations on Single-Trade and Overlapping Plans. No Insider may (i) adopt a new Plan, or (ii) enter into a single trade 
plan (i.e., a plan to affect the purchase or sale of the total amount of securities in a single transaction where the agent’s 
future trades do not depend on events or data unknown at the time the plan is entered into), if such Insider already has 
another Plan outstanding (each, a “Pre-Existing Trading Plan”); provided, however, that the Insiders may transact 
directly with the Company while there is a Pre-Existing Trading Plan (the “Prohibition on Overlapping Trading 
Plans”). Below is a list of exceptions to the Prohibition on Overlapping Trading Plans:

i. Trades with Different Broker-Dealers under a Single “Plan”:  Insiders may use multiple brokers, through a 
series of separate contracts with different broker-dealers or agents acting on behalf of the Insider (other than 
the Company), to execute trades under a single Plan that covers securities held in different accounts, if each 
contract, when taken together as a whole, meets all of the requirements of the Rule. Any modification of one 
plan, contract or arrangement will be treated as a modification of the other contracts that are part of the single 
Plan.

ii. Consecutive 10b5-1 Plans: An Insider may maintain two separate Plans at the same time if trading under 
the later-commencing Plan is not authorized to begin until after all trades under the Pre-Existing Trading Plan 
are completed or expired. This exception is not available if the first trade under the later Plan is scheduled to 
occur during the “cooling off period” described in Section 22A applicable to the later Plan had it been adopted 
on the date the Pre-Existing Trading Plan terminated.

iii. “Sell-to-Cover” Transactions:  Insiders may have a second Plan in addition to the Pre-Existing Trading Plan 
if the Plan only authorizes qualified sell-to-cover transactions that instruct the Insider’s agents to sell securities 
in order to satisfy tax withholding obligations at the time an award vests.

F. Modifications to a Plan. 

a. Any modifications to the Plan or deviations from the Plan without prior authorization of a Compliance Officer is 
a violation of this Policy. Any such modifications or deviations are subject to the authorization of a Compliance 
Officer in accordance with Section B above.

b. Upon entering into or amending a Plan, the director or officer must promptly provide a copy of the plan to the 
Company and, upon request, confirm the Company’s planned disclosure regarding the entry into or termination 
of a plan (including the date of adoption or termination of the plan, duration of the plan, and aggregate number 
of securities to be sold or purchased under the plan)

G. Termination of a Plan. Any termination of a Plan must be immediately reported to the Compliance Officer. If an Insider 
has pre-cleared a new Plan (the “Second Plan”) intended to succeed an earlier pre-cleared Plan (the “First Plan”), the 
Insider may 
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not affirmatively terminate the First Plan without pre-clearance pursuant to Section C above, because such termination 
is deemed to be entering into the Second Plan.

H. No Liability. None of the Company, Compliance Officers, nor any of the Company’s officers, employees or other 
representatives shall be deemed, solely by their authorization of an Insider’s Plan, to have represented that any Plan 
complies with the Rule or to have assumed any liability or responsibility to the Insider or any other party if such Plan 
fails to comply with the Rule.

23. Certain Types of Transactions Are Prohibited
A. Short Sales. Short sales of VRRM securities are prohibited, as short sales evidence the seller’s expectation that VRRM 

securities will decline in value, signal to the market that the seller has no confidence in the Company or its short-term 
prospects, and may reduce the seller’s incentive to improve VRRM performance. In addition, Section 16(c) of the 
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the “Exchange Act”) prohibits executive officers and directors from engaging in short 
sales.

B. Publicly Traded Options. Transactions in puts, calls or other derivative securities involving VRRM stock are prohibited, 
as such transaction is, in effect, a bet on the short-term movement of the Company’s stock, creates the appearance of 
trading based on inside information, and may focus attention on short-term performance at the expense of VRRM long-
term objectives.

C. Hedging Transactions. Hedging or monetization transactions (including but not limited to zero-cost collars, prepaid 
variable forwards, equity swaps, puts, calls, collars, forwards and other derivative instruments) are prohibited, as such 
transactions allow you to continue to own VRRM securities without the full risks and rewards of ownership and as a 
result, you may not have the same objectives as other  stockholders.

D. Margin Accounts and Pledges. Directors, officers and other employees are prohibited from holding Company securities 
in a margin account or pledging Company securities as collateral for a loan, as such securities may be traded without 
your consent (for failing to meet a margin call or if you default on the loan) at a time when you possess material 
nonpublic information or otherwise are not permitted to trade.

E. Short-Term Trading. Executive officers and directors who purchase VRRM securities in the open market may not sell 
any VRRM securities of the same class during the six months following the purchase (or vice versa), as short-term 
trading of the Company’s securities may be distracting and may unduly focus the person on short-term stock market 
performance, instead of VRRM long-term business objectives, and may result in the disgorgement of any short swing 
profits.
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